
Mrs J Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700

Date: 27 April 2018

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE
Town Hall Bideford

Thursday 10 May 2018 at 9.30 am

                          NOTICE OF MEETING

To: Councillor R Lock (Chair)
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: P Christie, K Davis, P Hackett, R Julian, M Langmead, J Langton-
Lockton and P Watson

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting

AGENDA

1.  Apologies For Absence 
To receive apologies of absence from the meeting.

2.  Minutes (Pages 6 - 10)
To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 5 March 2018.

3.  Declaration of Interest 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.

Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh.



- 2 -

4.  Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II 

5.  Urgent Matters 
Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair.

6.  Future Site Visits 
The Chair to advise the Committee of any future site visits.

7.  Public Participation 
The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme.

8.  Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 11 - 33)
Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate

Summary

Appeal Decision 1/0614/2017/OUTM
Appeal Decision 1/0032/2017/AGMB
Appeal Decision 1/0067/2017/FUL
Appeal Decision 1/1133/2016/SEC106
Appeal Decision 1/0547/2017/FUL

9.  Costs on Appeals 
There are no Cost on Appeal

10.  Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Pages 34 - 37)

11.  Planning Applications 
The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting.

(a)  Planning Application 1/0256/2017/FULM (Pages 38 - 73)
New development comprising of 58 holiday units, a Reception Building (admin, 
swimming pool, etc.) & associated infrastructure to replace the existing Caravan Park 
at Knapp House - Knapp House Activity Centre, Churchill Way, Northam.

(b)  Planning Application 1/1246/2017/FUL (Pages 74 - 109)
Removal of Condition 6 (Agricultural occupancy condition) of application 
1/1278/76/41/5   - Mouna, Bidna Lane, Northam.



- 3 -

(c)  Planning Application 1/0153/2018/FUL (Pages 110 - 128)
Three dwellings (re-submission of 1/0095/2017/FUL with amended access) - Land To 
The West Of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford.

(d)  Planning Application 1/0221/2018/FUL (Pages 129 - 143)
Change of use of agricultural land to a public pay and display car park with 171 
spaces including 8 disabled and 8 private spaces and associated access and 
allocated space for 5 motorcycles - Wilkeys Field, Pebbleridge Road, Westward Ho!

(e)  Planning Application 1/1289/2017/FUL (Pages 144 - 154)
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of a single storey residential dwelling - 
Land West Of Deer Parks, Springfield, Hartland.

AFTERNOON SESSION – Commencing at 2pm

(f)  Planning Application 1/1165/2017/OUTM (Pages 155 - 184)
Outline application for erection of up to 143 dwellings, 1040 square metres of 
commercial freehold land for B1, B2 and B8 employment and public open space - 
Land At Grid Reference 249583 119849 (Former Meat Factory Site), Torrington, 
Devon.

(g)  Planning Application 1/0702/2017/OUT (Pages 185 - 200)
Outline application (with all matters reserved) for car park and associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary infrastructure (affecting a public right of way) - Land At 
Caddywell Lane, Torrington, Devon.

(h)  Planning Application 1/0246/2017/OUTM (Pages 201 - 233)
Outline application for residential development of up to 181 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular access off Hoopers Way, Burwood Lane and Caddywell 
Lane (affecting a public right of way) - Land At Burwood Lane, Torrington, Devon

(i)  Planning Application 1/1105/2017/OUT (Pages 234 - 256)
Outline application for three dwellings with all matters reserved (REVISED 
INFORMATION) - Monkleigh Barton Barns, Monkleigh, Devon.

(j)  Planning Application 1/0053/2018/LBC (Pages 257 - 262)
Infilling a Tuscan porch with glass panels - North Devon Maritime Museum, Odun 
House, Odun Road

12.  Planning Decisions (Pages 263 - 277)
List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 16 February 2018 to 27 April 2018.



- 4 -

13.  Exclusion of Public 
The Chair to move:-

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

14.  Part II - Closed Session 
There are no Part II items.

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents:

The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case)
Torridge District Local Plan 1997-2011 (Adopted September 2004)
Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements
Any other documents specifically referred to in the report.

All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours.

Note to Members

All letters of representation are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.   If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly.

Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received.

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey

For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact:

Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING

Town Hall Bideford

Thursday, 8 March 2018 - 9.30 am

PRESENT Councillor R Lock (Chair)
Councillors P Christie, K Davis, P Hackett, M Langmead, 
J Langton-Lockton and P Watson

ALSO PRESENT J Hollis - Senior Solicitor
L Andrews - Planning Team Leader
H Smith - Principal Planning Officer
S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer
S Kearney               -  Commercial & Leisure Services Manager

Councillors A Inch, R Hicks and D Hurley

Approximately 30 members of the public

APOLOGIES Councillor M Brown and R Julian

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

107.  MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2018 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record.

(Vote: For 5, Abstentions 2)

108.  DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members.

109.  AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II 

That the Agenda as circulated be agreed.

110.  URGENT MATTERS 

There were no urgent matters, but the Chair advised that Members would be 
notified of the re arranged date for the Planning Evidence Gathering meeting that 
had been scheduled to take place today.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2

111.  FUTURE SITE VISITS 

The Chair informed the Committee that there were currently no site visits planned. 

112.  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council’s public participation scheme. 

113.  APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 

Councillor Christie referred to the Appeal Decision – Land at Newton Road, 
Bideford which had subsequently been withdrawn.  He explained that the 
Environment Agency had originally said no to the application due to flooding, but 
had now agreed to the proposal due to the garages now being re sited at ground 
level.  A letter confirming this had been sent by the Environment Agency to 
Westward Housing.   The Planning Department were asked to contact Westward 
Housing for further information.   This information to then be circulated to all 
Members of Plans Committee.  

The Committee noted the Appeal Decisions.

114.  COSTS ON APPEALS 

There were no Costs on Appeals.

115.  DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS 

The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions.

116.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

Prior to the presentation of the planning applications, the Chair asked that respect 
be shown for the views of the speakers, even if their views differed.

(a)  Implications Report

Application 1/0795/2017/OUT  -  Outline planning permission for up 
to 8 dwellings with all matters reserved - Field Known As 'Dougies 
Field', Shebbear, Devon

Interests:   Councillor Langmead declared a prejudicial interest – 
works closely at TDC with the applicant – left the table and took no 
part in the debate and decision making

Officer Recommendation:   Refuse

The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Langmead for the following reasons:

Page 6



3

“Sustainable delivery; affordable housing and the provision of self 
build plots as prescribed by the Housing Act”.

The applicant is also an employee of Torridge District Council.

The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee for 
Members to consider the implications of a resolution to grant planning 
permission, contrary to Officer recommendation.    The application 
having originally been considered and provisionally approved at 
Plans Committee on 1 February 2018.   

The Planning Team Leader presented a summary of the report, 
Members having received a full presentation at the previous meeting.    
Members were also advised of the main planning considerations.    

The Senior Solicitor presented the Implications Report outlining the 
Planning Officers justification for recommending refusal, and the 
likely risk associated with an unsubstantiated decision contrary to the 
recommendation. 

Members who were in support of the application considered the 
proposal to be in accordance with Policies DVT2C, DVT11, DVT18, 
DVT24 and paragraphs 14, 55 and 112 of the NPPF.

It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor 
Watson that the application be approved.

Resolved:

That the application be Granted in accordance with the Policies 
as stated above and the conditions outlined in the report.

(Vote:  For 3, Against 3)

The Chair, using a casting vote, voted for the application.

The application was approved.

(b)  Planning Application - 1/1246/2017/FUL  -  Removal of condition 6 
(Agricultural occupancy condition) of application 1/1278/76/41/5
 - Mouna, Bidna Lane, Northam.

Interests:   Councillor Davis declared a personal interest – dual 
hatted – Northam Town Council

Officer recommendation:    Grant

Page 7



4

The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Christie for the following reasons:

“This has an agricultural tie and I would like the removal of this 
discussed at Plans Committee”.

Members were informed of the following updates:

 A late letter of objection which had been uploaded to the 
Council’s website. The issues raised were consistent with the 
representations already received how ever the main points 
were summarised as follows: landscape impact, no valid 
reason why the tie should be removed, the land is currently 
being used for agricultural purposes, and it is incorrectly priced 
for agricultural workers.

 Additional information was presented in terms of local famers 
who had been contacted in respect of the sale of the 
application site and the fact that no agriculturally tied 
properties have been approved within the parish in the past 2 
years

The Planning Officer presented the report and informed Members of 
the main planning considerations.

Councillor Christie raised concerns that on the Authority’s website the 
Statement of Case submitted by the applicant had been redacted by 
the Planning Department.   The Senior Solicitor advised it is a legal 
requirement that all sensitive information not be published on the 
website.  The paragraph in question contained financial information, 
which is redacted by default when the document is posted online.

The speaker, Mr Sherry, Agent for the applicant, referred the 
Committee to page 49 of the report, where details of the financial 
information had been included. 

During the discussion, the following matters were raised:

 History to the site, the conditions imposed on the original 
decisions and unclear records as to what extent amendments 
had been approved

 No evidence to support the removal of the agricultural tie
 Questions were asked and concerns raised as to whether the 

land is currently being used for agricultural purposes.  
Therefore, prior to any decision being made, a formal 
independent Agricultural Assessment to be undertaken.

 Policy DM28 is in the emerging Local Plan which, at present, 
does not hold weight.  This Policy is similar to the adopted 
Policy HSC9.

Page 8



5

The Senior Solicitor gave legal advice, stating that the land was likely 
to be too small to generate an agricultural income that would support 
a dwelling of this size, and therefore should not require an agricultural 
tie to be attached.  He also advised Members that if they were 
minded to refuse the application robust reasons would be required.

It was proposed by Councillor Christie, seconded by Councillor Davis 
that the application be deferred to enable a formal Agricultural 
Assessment to be undertaken.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Lock 
that the application be approved.

A vote was taken on the first proposal, that the application be 
deferred.

Resolved:

That the application be deferred to enable a formal Agricultural 
Assessment to be undertaken.

(Vote:   For – Unanimous)

Mr P Hames, on behalf of Northam Town Council, addressed the 
meeting objecting to the application.

Mr S Sherry addressed the meeting in support of the application.

117.  PLANNING DECISIONS 

A brief discussion took place relating to the monitoring of agricultural and holiday 
occupancy conditions.  The Planning Team Leader advised that resources dictate 
that Officer’s do not have the procedures to register every occupancy condition.  
Councillor Christie felt this was a matter that Members could assist with, and 
reiterated his request for Members and Parish Councils to be provided with a list of 
those within their Wards.   

RESOLVED

That the Planning decisions for the period 22 January 2018 and 16 February 2018 
be noted.

The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 10.45am.

Chair: Date:

Page 9



APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
 

Plans Committee - 10 May 2018 
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Appeal 
Decision 

Officer 
Recommendation 

Committee/
Delegated 

Costs 

1/0614/2017/OUTM Land At Torridge Road, Appledore - Outline application for 
the erection of up to 10 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure with all matters reserved except access. 

ALLOWED REFUSAL DELEGATED NO 

1/0032/2017/AGMB Gypsy Brake, East Greadon, Bradworthy, Holsworthy, 
EX22 7RB - Prior notification for the change of use of 
agricultural building to 1 No. dwelling under Class Q. 

DISMISSED REFUSAL DELEGATED NO 

1/0067/2017/FUL The White House, Abbotsham, Bideford, EX39 5BG - 
Construction of three bedroom holiday letting. 

DISMISSED REFUSAL DELEGATED NO 

1/1133/2016/SEC106 Mantre, Yarnscombe, Barnstaple, EX31 3LP - Removal of 
local needs informative (Section 106) in relation to 
application 1/0174/2004/FUL. 

DISMISSED REFUSAL DELEGATED NO 

1/0547/2017/FUL 3 Silford Cottages, Bideford, EX39 3PS – Two storey rear 
extension and alterations to windows. 

DISMISSED REFUSAL DELEGATED NO 

 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 22 January 2018 

by Thomas Bristow BA MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 28th February 2018 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
Land at Torridge Road, Appledore, EX39 1SG 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Ford against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0614/2017/OUTM, dated 23 June 2017, was refused by notice 

dated 28 September 2017. 

 The development proposed is described on the application form as ‘the erection of up to 

10 dwellings and associated infrastructure’.  
 

 
Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the erection of up 
to 10 dwellings and associated infrastructure at land at Torridge Road, 

Appledore EX39 1SG in accordance with the terms of the application Ref 
1/0614/2017/OUTM, dated 23 June 2017, subject to the conditions below. 

Preliminary matters 

2. The proposal is in outline with matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale reserved for future consideration (the ‘reserved matters’). I have 

therefore treated the supporting plans as illustrative, other than in relation to 
details of access. A Unilateral Undertaking, dated 12 January 2018, contains 

obligations related to the proposal (the ‘UU’). This does not significantly alter 
the original scheme and Torridge District Council (‘TDC’) have commented on it 
at appeal.   

 
3. Each proposal must be determined on its particular merits in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Noting 
the emerging Joint North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (‘JLP’), currently at 
examination, the development plan includes saved policies of the Torridge 

District Local Plan (adopted originally in September 2004, the ‘LP’). 
 

4. The appeal site falls within the Parish of Northam which is designated as an 
area for the purposes of preparing a neighbourhood plan. However I 
understand that no significant preparatory milestones have been reached in 

that process, and I cannot accord the intention to bring forward a 
neighbourhood plan substantive weight.  

Policy context and main issue 

5. Regardless of the assessment of the appeal site in TDC’s Strategic Land 
Availability Assessment (‘SHLAA’),1 it falls outside the established built form of 

Appledore and settlement boundary proposed in the JLP. The appellants’ 

                                       
1 SHA/NOR/109. 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

supporting Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (‘LVIA’) finds that the 

proposal would have a slight to negligible effect on landscape character.  
 

6. For these reasons, which I will expand upon, the proposal does not comply with 
certain provisions of LP policies DVT1 ‘Development in Strategic Centres’, 
DVT2C ‘Development in the Open Countryside’ or ENV6 ‘Designated Landscape 

Areas’. The main issue is therefore whether or not other material 
considerations justify allowing development that does not accord with certain 

provisions of the development plan, with particular regard to the effect of the 
proposal on the character and appearance of the area.  

Reasons 

7. The village of Appledore arcs around the headland at the confluence of the Taw 
and Torridge Rivers. The appeal site is an open untended field abutting 

Appledore, at some distance from its historic maritime core and outside the 
North Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (‘AONB’). The cluster of 
properties comprising Watertown also falls a short distance away. 

 
8. From the coastal path and Torridge Road the topography rises through the 

appeal site towards a high point in the landscape beyond around Mariner’s 
Way. Looking westwards from the appeal site towards the Atlantic, there are 
expansive views of the rugged surrounding landscape and seascape, of which 

the Northam Burrows Country Park is part. There are reciprocal views from the 
latter of the appeal site and its surroundings, and many local residents have 

explained that they place significant value on local landscape character.   

Policy context 

9. Falling outside the established built form of Appledore, residential development 

here is not supported via LP policy DVT1. Notwithstanding that the north-
eastern boundary of the appeal site represents the extent of the village, on 

account of its location and natural open qualities the site may reasonably be 
described as open countryside.  
 

10. LP policy DVT2C accord support only to certain types of development in the 
open countryside (new housing is not expressly one). In a similar vein to LP 

policy DVT1, DVT2C establishes that development should not detract from 
character and appearance. The appeal site also falls within the Coastal 
Preservation Area (‘CPA’). This is a local designation originating from 1966 and 

iterations of the Devon County Structure Plan (a plan ultimately revoked in 
2013). LP policy ENV6 requires a ‘particular and proven’ need to grant consent 

for development within the CPA where ‘the need outweighs any harm to the 
unspoilt nature of the area’. As detailed in supporting LP paragraph 6.58, the 

primary purpose of ENV6 is to protect the open rural character of the coast.  
 

11. Since the adoption of the LP, the National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’) 

and the Planning Practice Guidance (‘PPG’) have been published and are 
material. In this context TDC acknowledge that they are presently unable to 

demonstrate a five year land supply of deliverable housing sites in accordance 
with paragraph 47 of the NPPF (‘5YLS’). Therefore, with regard to paragraphs 
49 and 14 of the NPPF, relevant policies for the supply of housing should be 

considered out-of-date, and permission withheld only if the adverse impacts of 
the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits.  

 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. Whilst case law has moved on since the two appeals brought to my attention 

by TDC,2 I agree with the observation of the inspector who determined those 
cases that LP policy ENV6 is not primarily concerned with the supply of housing 

but rather with the protection of landscape character. In part LP policies DVT1 
and DVT2C seek to preserve character and appearance, however they 
principally relate to establishing where housing growth is supported or 

restricted. Accordingly LP policy ENV6 should not be considered out of date by 
virtue of the absence of a 5YLS, unlike LP policies DVT1 and DVT2C.  

 
13. Nonetheless the statutory basis for decision taking remains unaltered by the 

NPPF or the PPG. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF explains that it is the degree of 

consistency of older development plan policies with relevant elements of the 
NPPF that is determinative of their weight in the present (rather than whether a 

5YLS can be demonstrated). The NPPF variously sets out that planning should 
recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, reinforce local 
distinctiveness, and protect valued landscapes.3 As these objectives are shared 

with LP policy ENV6, I accord that policy substantial weight.  
 

14. Policies DVT1 and DVT2C are also to some extent consistent with elements of 
the NPPF.4 However they were established in a different policy context, i.e. of 
delivering housing relative to the former Devon Structure Plan requirement. 

The process of examining the JLP has indicated that a higher annual housing 
target is now required.5 I therefore accord policies DVT1 and DVT2C moderate 

weight.       

Effect on character and appearance 

15. The appeal site falls within landscape type 5B ‘Coastal Undulating Farmland’ as 

defined in the Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon and 
Torridge Districts (8 January 2011, the ‘JLCA’). This is described as 

characterised primarily by a rolling landscape comprising a patchwork of 
pastoral fields, with prominent hilltops and open coastal views. Being an 
untended parcel of land demarcated by traditional hedgerows, the appeal site is 

consistent with local landscape character.  
 

16. The erection of 10 dwellings, of whatever design, would inevitably reduce the 
natural qualities and openness of the appeal site. This would not preserve 
landscape character in itself, and would also affect scenic views from the 

coastal path, Northam Burrows, the setting of the North Devon AONB, and 
reduce the visible separation currently present between Appledore and 

Watertown.6  
 

17. However from most, if not all, vantage points the development proposed would 
be seen in conjunction with adjacent properties accessed via Polywell. It would 
also broadly reflect the prevailing pattern of development at Appledore of 

                                       
2 Ref APP/W1145/W/14/3001553 and APP/W1145/W/14/3001008.  
3 Paragraphs 17, 60 and 109.  
4 In particular paragraph 17 which sets out that planning should actively manage patterns of growth to make the 
fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and that planning should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside.   
5 Noting in particular the examining Inspector’s Note to the Councils following the closure of hearings on the 6 
November 2016.  
6 TDC do not specifically object to the effect of the proposal on the AONB. Nevertheless I have determined this 
appeal with regard to conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB (pursuant to the duty placed on 

me by Section 85(1) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, with regard to paragraph 115 of the NPPF). 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

properties arranged close to the water’s edge.7 Whilst the proposal would 

effectively extend the built form of Appledore towards Watertown, it would not 
lead to coalescence between the two on account of the presence of further 

intervening fields.  
 

18. Looking landwards from the coastal path or Northam Burrows, the dwellings 

proposed would also be seen in connection with others visible beyond the site 
at the crest of the headland. Moreover, given expansive views towards the 

west in this location, the eye is naturally drawn to the coastline and seascape 
to a greater degree than inland. A careful approach to landscaping, layout and 
scale, including preserving or enhancing boundary features and planting, could 

furthermore ensure that the dwellings are partially screened from nearby 
vantage points and the overall effect of the proposal moderated.   

 
19. Whilst the JLP cannot yet be accorded full weight, it is nevertheless material 

that it proposes allocations amounting to the provision of approximately 1,630 

dwellings in Northam (with a significant proportion thereof within the CPA).8 
Although each proposal must be considered individually, the approach in the 

JLP serves to qualify the visual effect that would result from a proposal of up to 
10 dwellings. For the above reasons, I find that the proposal would result in 
only a limited degree of harm to character and appearance.  

Planning balance 

20. The proposal would conflict with the approach to locating development and to 

preserving character and appearance as established in LP policies DVT1, DVT2C 
and ENV6 (and with relevant elements of the NPPF which seek to achieve 
similar objectives as these policies). However the environmental harm arising 

from the proposal in terms of its effect on local character would, as established 
above, be limited.  

 
21. TDC cannot presently demonstrate a 5YLS. This situation may be altered by the 

emerging JLP. However the examination of that plan has yet to conclude, and 

that process has identified a record of persistent under delivery of housing 
relative to needs.9 Accordingly it is accurate to describe the housing supply 

situation in Torridge as serious and significant.   
 

22. The NPPF sets out that to achieve sustainable development, economic, social 

and environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously (with no 
one element thereof automatically outweighing any other). Given the housing 

supply situation, I accord moderate weight to the benefits of the provision of 
10 new homes and the social and economic benefits that would result from 

development.10  
 

                                       
7 This distinguishes the proposal here from that considered by the inspector in appeal Ref 
APP/W1145/W/14/3001553. In that instance the appeal site was at an elevated position in the topography, off 
Staddon Road close to Mariner’s Way, noting that ‘prominent hilltops’ are a characteristic feature of the area as set 
out in the JLCA. The appeal site in this instance is at a lower level alongside Torridge Road.    
8 As set out in emerging JLP policies ST08 ‘Scale and Distribution of New Development in Northern Devon’ and 
NOR ‘Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy’ in the submission draft of the JLP dated May 2016 and 
associated inset policies maps 8A and 8B.   
9 With regard to the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Topic Paper: Establishing an Objectively Assessed Need 
(OAN) and Housing Requirement, dated May 2016, and the examining Inspector’s Note to the Councils following 
the closure of hearings on the 6 November 2016.  
10 Notably in supporting employment during construction and future occupants would also make use of nearby 

services and facilities. 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

23. Accordingly as only limited environmental harm would result, any adverse 

impacts of the proposal would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh its 
benefits (when assessed against the NPPF as a whole). I therefore conclude 

that the other material considerations in favour of the proposal justify taking a 
decision which does not accord with relevant provisions of the development 
plan, with particular regard to the effect of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the area.  
 

24. I acknowledge that housing delivery and supply across the District do not 
represent a ‘proven need’ for development to be located within the CPA. 
However the approach in the JLP above clearly demonstrates that housing 

growth within the CPA will be required to meet requirements in the light of 
current policy circumstances. Moreover, inherent in my reasoning above is that 

the need for the development outweighs the harm to the nature of the area 
within the terms of LP policy ENV6 itself.  

Other matters 

25. I have carefully considered the additional concerns raised by local residents 
including the potential effects of the development proposed on highway safety 

and capacity, ecology, flooding and to the living conditions of those nearby. 
However supporting plan 4190-001 Revision A shows that suitable visibility 
would be achieved from the proposed access, and there is no robust evidence 

before me to indicate that observed traffic speeds or volume are cause for 
concern.   

 
26. With regard to the appellants’ Preliminary Ecology Appraisal in particular, and 

subject to an appropriate approach to reserved matters applications, the 

proposal would not detrimentally affect ecology. The site is in flood zone 1, at 
low risk of flooding, and any relevant development must, independently of 

planning, comply with the relevant provisions of Building Regulations related to 
securing appropriate drainage. As the level of density would broadly reflect that 
of the wider area, and as detailed matters of design are reserved for future 

consideration, I am not of the view that undue effects would necessarily result 
from the proposal to the living conditions of those nearby.   

 
27. I note TDC’s concern that the level of density proposed may be artificially 

lowered from that which could be achieved. However their SHLAA assessment 

of the site found that it had a potential yield of 10 dwellings, a density 
described as reflecting the ‘rural setting and surrounding character’. Moreover I 

must determine the acceptability of the proposal before me, rather any 
alternative scheme. Accordingly neither this, nor any other matter, is sufficient 

to outweigh or alter my conclusion in respect of the main issue in this case.   

Obligations 

28. Notwithstanding that the appellants dispute their necessity, the UU contains 

financial obligations related to education provision (Schedule 1). Clause 12.1 of 
the UU explains that these obligations are void where they are not compliant 

with relevant statute,11 or where I do not accord them weight. Therefore with 
regard to relevant statute and to paragraphs 203 and 204 of the NPPF in 
particular, I now consider whether the obligations before me are necessary in 

order to render the development proposed acceptable.  

                                       
11 Regulations 122 and 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

 

29. Where development has a ‘directly attributable and measurable impact’ on 
infrastructure, LP policy DVT16 ‘Infrastructure Provision’ requires that relevant 

contributions will be sought. TDC explain in their associated officer report that 
the proposal would generate the need for additional early years (academic 
years 2, 3 and 4), primary and secondary school provision.  

 
30. However there is no substantive evidence before me as to how the early years 

provision figure of £2,500 has been established. There is, for example, no 
benchmark for this set out in TDC’s Code of Practice No4: Education and 
Libraries Provision in New Development (adopted September 2004, ‘the Code’). 

This obligation is furthermore stated by TDC to be based on a ‘per dwelling’ 
basis rather than relating to the precise need for provision that would likely 

arise from the development proposed in this location. I am not therefore 
satisfied that this contribution would be directly, or fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind, to the proposal.   

 
31. The anticipated uplift forecast to arise from the proposal by TDC in respect of 

primary and secondary school provision are, however, largely consistent with 
the approach in the Code (which in turn refers to Department for Education 
methodologies). On this basis TDC state that the proposal would likely generate 

the need for an additional 2.5 primary school places. Associated contributions 
relate to the cost of land and construction of a primary school.  

 
32. However the PPG sets out that planning obligations should not be sought to 

contribute to the pooled funding ‘pots’ intended to fund the provision of general 

infrastructure in the wider area,12 which is clearly the intention of the primary 
education obligations. There is also no evidence before me to indicate the 

number of similar obligations that have been received, or would need to be 
received, in order to enable the provision of a new school. I am therefore not 
satisfied that the contributions related to primary school provision would be 

compliant with regulation 123(3) of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

 
33. I acknowledge that the proposal would generate some need to travel to 

secondary school provision in the wider area. However there is no robust 

evidence before me as to how the figure of £6,365 for school transport has 
been established (for example were pupils to reach Bideford Community 

College via private modes of transport, or why this should relate to a period of 
five years as opposed to any other given timeframe). I cannot therefore 

conclude that this obligation would be fairly and reasonable related to the 
development proposed.  
 

34. In correspondence dated 29 January 2017, TDC raise, with regard to LP policies 
DVT16, DVT9 ‘Open Space’ and HSC13 ‘Play Facilities in New Housing 

Development’ that the development would result in a requirement of 0.06 
hectares of on-site informal play space. As this correspondence post-dates the 
UU, and is the first occasion where this matter has been raised, unsurprisingly 

there is no obligation before me in this respect. Even were I to consider this 
matter, TDC’s position in this regard is supported by no substantive evidence 

related to the distinctive characteristics of the area or the population profile of 

                                       
12 Reference ID: 23b-014-20160519  

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

the locality that, within the terms of LP policy DVT9, are necessary to establish 

open space needs. 
 

35. I am therefore not satisfied that the obligations within the UU are complaint 
with relevant statutory provisions, the NPPF or the PPG (as set out above). 
Accordingly they are not necessary to render the development acceptable in 

planning terms. Similarly the absence of an obligation in respect of on-site 
open space provision has not affected my determination of this appeal given 

the lack of appropriate justification for it.  

Conclusion 

36. For the above reasons, and having taken all other relevant matters into 

account, the other material considerations in favour of the development 
proposed justify taking a decision which is not in accordance with certain 

provisions of the development plan. Therefore, having had regard to the 
development plan as whole, the JLP, and to the approach in the NPPF, I 
conclude that the appeal should be allowed subject to the conditions below.    

Conditions 

37. It is necessary to impose conditions limiting the life of the planning permission 

and setting out requirements for the reserved matters in accordance with 
relevant legislation, and requiring compliance with supporting plans in the 
interests of certainty (conditions 1, 2 and 3). 

 
38. As the appeal site lies in an area where archaeological remains are potentially 

present, with regard to paragraph 141 of the NPPF, I have imposed a condition 
requiring that any such remains are identified and recorded (condition 4). In 
order to prevent adverse effects arising from construction traffic and to ensure 

that disturbance to those nearby is minimised, with regard to the fourth bullet 
point of NPPF paragraph 17, conditions related to compliance with a 

construction management plan and limiting hours of construction are necessary 
(conditions 5 and 6). To ensure that suitable foul drainage provision is made in 
connection with the development proposed I have imposed condition 7.  

 
39. Notwithstanding that the appellants’ Phase 1 Desk Study assessment of the site 

indicates that there are no physical or environmental issues of sufficient 
magnitude to indicate that the development proposed could not safely be 
undertaken, as a precautionary approach and with regard to paragraph 120 of 

the NPPF I have imposed conditions related to investigating, remediating, and 
reporting any contamination (conditions 8, 9, and 10).  

 
40. I have further imposed a condition establishing that development must proceed 

in accordance with an agreed access and highways scheme to mitigate adverse 
effects that might otherwise arise to highway or pedestrian safety or 
convenience (condition 11). This consolidates various conditions proposed by 

the appellants in this regard, omitting that which is unnecessary.  
 

41. I have not, however, imposed conditions proposed by the appellants which 
relate primarily to reserved matters of landscaping and site layout as opposed 
to the scheme before me for determination.13 Conditions 4, 5, 7, 8, and 11 

                                       
13 Conditions numbered by the appellants 4 and 7.   

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

must apply before any development takes place, as any has the potential to 

affect the matters that those conditions seek to address. 
 

42. In imposing conditions I have had regard to the tests within the NPPF, the PPG 

and relevant statute,14 and have accordingly amended the wording of certain 
conditions proposed without altering their aim.  

Thomas Bristow 
 
INSPECTOR 
 

 
 

 
SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 

1) Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (the ‘reserved 

matters’) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority before any development takes place, and the 

development shall be carried out as approved.  
 
2) Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 

planning authority not later than three years from the date of this decision, 
and the development hereby permitted shall begin not later than two years 

from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.  
 

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans, except in respect of any details related to the 
reserved matters: Site Location Plan 1640 01, Proposed Site Access Plan 

4190-001 Revision A.  
 

4) No development hereby permitted shall be undertaken until a programme of 
archaeological work has been agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority (including details of how any relevant archaeological features 

identified will be recorded). The development hereby permitted shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the programme of archaeological work thus 

agreed.  
 
5) No development hereby permitted shall be undertaken until a Construction 

Management Plan (‘CMP’) has been agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  

 
The CMP shall include details of: (i) a timetable of the works, (ii) daily hours 
of construction, (iii) any road closures, (iv) the number, size and frequency 

of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the undertaking of the 
development hereby permitted, (v) the compound/ location where all 

buildings materials, plant and machinery and waste will be stored during the 
course of undertaking development, (vi) areas on site where delivery 
vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload materials, plant and 

machinery and waste, (vii) the means of enclosure of the site during 
construction works, (viii) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 

                                       
14 Including paragraph 206 of the Framework, Guidance Reference ID: 21a-004-20140306 and Article 35(1)(a) of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.  

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

(ix) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes, (x) 

details of the amount and location of construction worker parking, and (xi) 
photographic evidence of the condition of the adjacent public highway prior 

to undertaking any development hereby permitted. 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with 

the details of the CMP thus agreed.  
 

6) No construction works related to the development hereby permitted, 
including any construction traffic entering or leaving the site, shall take place 
outside of the following hours: 0800 – 1800 Mondays to Fridays, 0900 – 

1300 on Saturdays. No construction works related to the development 
hereby permitted, including any construction traffic entering or leaving the 

site, shall take place on Sundays, on public holidays, or on bank holidays. 
 
7) No development hereby permitted shall be undertaken until a Foul Drainage 

Scheme (‘FDS’) has been agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
The FDS shall be implemented before any relevant dwelling hereby 

permitted is first occupied and thereafter retained and maintained in 
accordance with the details thus agreed. 

 

8) No development hereby permitted shall be undertaken until an assessment 
of the risks (the ‘risk assessment’) posed by any contamination has been 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority in accordance with the 
recommendations in section 5.0 of the Phase 1 Desk Study supporting 
application Ref 1/0614/2017/OUTM (dated February 2017, Ref 

GCE00752/R1). This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
contaminated land practitioner, in accordance with British Standard 10175: 

2011 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites (or equivalent British 
Standards if replaced), and shall identify any and all potential sources of 
ground contamination on any part of the site. 

 
9) No development shall take place where (following the risk assessment) land 

affected by contamination is found which poses risks identified as 
unacceptable in the risk assessment, until a detailed remediation scheme 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options, 
identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives 

and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to 
be undertaken including a verification plan. The remediation scheme shall be 

sufficiently detailed and thorough to ensure that upon completion the site 
will not qualify as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to its intended use. The approved remediation 

scheme shall be carried out before the development, or any relevant phase 
of development, is occupied.  

 
10) Any contamination that is found in undertaking the development hereby 

permitted that was not previously identified shall be reported immediately to 

the local planning authority. Development on the part of the site affected 
shall be suspended and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. Where unacceptable 
risks are found, remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These approved 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3188135 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

schemes shall be carried out before the development, or relevant phase of 

development, is resumed or continued.  
 

11) Notwithstanding conditions 1,2 and 3, no development hereby permitted 
shall be carried out until an access and highways scheme (‘AHS’) has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  

The AHS shall include details of: (i) site access construction, (ii) visibility 
splay creation, (iii) public footpath provision, (iv) a site compound and 

parking provisions during construction (v) the layout and construction of all 
roads, pedestrian routes, parking provision and vehicle manoeuvring space 
within the site, (vi) all kerbing, draining, lighting and street furniture, (vii) a 

schedule of construction, implementation and maintenance of (i) to (vi) 
inclusive.  

The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the details of the CMP thus agreed.  

 

 
 

 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decisions 
Site visit made on 13 February 2018 

by Mike Robins  MSc BSc(Hons) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 1st March 2018. 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3182201 
Gypsy Brake, East Greadon, Bradworthy, Devon EX22 7RD 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the 

Town and Country (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015. 

 The appeal is made by Mrs Sue McLaren against the decision of Torridge District 

Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0032/2017/AGMB, dated 13 December 2016, was refused by 

notice dated 10 July 2017. 

 The development proposed is the conversion of an existing agricultural building into a 

single residential dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. I consider that the main issue in this case is whether or not the proposal 
represents permitted development with regard to Paragraph Q.1(a) of the 

Town and Country (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 
(GPDO), and if so, whether it would provide adequate living conditions for 
future occupiers with regard to noise, odours and disturbance. 

Reasons 

3. The appeal site comprises a partly open barn of relatively recent and simple 

construction reported to have been erected in 2010.  Divided into a number of 
bays it provides for storage and livestock shelter and forms part of a group of 

buildings providing similar facilities, along with a locked workshop/store.  The 
buildings are currently accessed by a single entrance gate off the road, and are 
set within a small field reported to be approximately 3.3 Hectares (Ha). 

4. Although apparently not available at the time of the application, the appellant 
has provided a map indicating the ownership of a further 3.4 Ha and 

approximately 14.7 Ha of rented land, albeit these are dispersed over quite a 
large area. 

5. Class Q of the GPDO grants permission for the change of use of a building and 

any land within its curtilage from a use as an agricultural building to a use 
falling within class C3 (dwellinghouses). Paragraph Q.1 states that 

development is not permitted if the site was not solely used for an agricultural 
use as part of an established agricultural unit: i) on the 20 March 2013; ii) if 
not in use on that date, when it was last in use; or iii) if brought into use after 

20 March 2013 for a period of at least 10 years.  

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/W1145/W/17/3182201 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The GPDO sets out definitions in paragraph X to Part 3 of the Order. In this, an 

‘agricultural building’ means a building used for agriculture and which is so 
used for the purposes of a trade or business; ‘agricultural use’ refers to such 

uses. An ‘established agricultural unit’ is stated to mean agricultural land 
occupied as a unit for the purposes of agriculture. 

7. Following submission of further information, the Council would appear to accept 

that the building was in use in 2013, but they maintain their concerns as to 
whether the site is or was part of an established agricultural unit. 

8. The building is currently in use and evidence bears out that it was in use for 
machinery storage or the sheltering of livestock on 20 March 2013.  The issue 
is therefore whether it formed part of an established agricultural unit on that 

date, as set out in Paragraph Q.1(i). 

9. Evidence pertaining to this is provided by the appellant in their original 

application details, their appeal statement and in their final comments to the 
appeal.  This includes: a map indicating other lands; statements relating to 
their association with the land; movement books; statements regarding 

accounts and tax returns; supporting statements from neighbours and a local 
vet and a copy of a single payment scheme claim from 2013. 

10. The land directly associated with the building is relatively small and while the 
map is indicative of a greater land holding, very limited information has been 
provided detailing ownership or evidence of secure tenancy, nor has 

information been provided to indicate how the dispersed lands operate as an 
established unit, nor that such lands were part of any operation in 2013. 

11. I accept that the appellant has a long association with the small parcel of land 
associated with the building; this is borne out by the supporting statements, 
albeit realistically they are indicative of livestock activity only.  There is no 

evidence in relation to accounts or tax returns to indicate that the activity here 
has been carried out for the purpose of a trade or business, despite the 

assertions made.  Furthermore, while the movement books are indicative of a 
level of livestock held, they date from 2001 and 2002, notwithstanding 
assertions that movement books have been kept up to the present day.  I also 

note that the building itself was only constructed in 2010. 

12. I accept that the evidence is indicative of Rural Payments eligibility in 2013, 

but this could be claimed from very small landholdings as it related to the land 
and is decoupled from production, requiring only that cross-compliance 
requirements are met.  It cannot, on its own, be indicative of an agricultural 

business. 

13. Under paragraph W of the GPDO, the local planning authority may refuse an 

application where the developer has provided insufficient information to 
establish whether the development complies with any conditions, limitations or 

restrictions in Part 3.  The burden of proof is on the applicant and in this case, 
on the basis of the evidence before me, I find there is uncertainty as to 
whether the site was used solely for an agricultural use as part of an 

established agricultural unit on the 20 March 2013, and as such the proposal 
would not be development permitted by Class Q. 

   

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/W1145/W/17/3182201 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

14. As I am dismissing this appeal for these reasons I have no need to consider the 

further issues in terms of the criteria contained within Q.2(1) (a) to (f) 
inclusive of the GPDO.  However, I do note that the Council’s reasoning dealt 

solely with the matter of the living conditions of potential future occupants with 
regard to the proximity of other agricultural buildings nearby. 

15. For the reasons given above and having regard to all other matters raised, I 

conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

Mike Robins 

INSPECTOR 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 13 February 2018 

by Mike Robins MSc BSc(Hons) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 1st March 2018 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3183795 
The White House, road from Cornborough Road to Whitehouse Cross, 

Abbotsham EX39 5BG 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mrs Rebecca Garrett against the decision of Torridge District 

Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0067/2017/FUL, dated 20 January 2017, was refused by notice 

dated 14 July 2017. 

 The development proposed is a three bedroom holiday letting. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. Although not referred to in their original decision, in their statement the Council 
raise conflict with the emerging Torridge and North Devon Local Plan (TNDLP).  I 

am satisfied that the appellant was able to respond to this in their final comments.  
The TNDLP was submitted for examination in June 2016 and has been subject to 
an initial set of Hearings.  It would appear that a further set of Hearings are 

planned based predominantly on housing land supply issues.   

3. I note the Council consider that weight can be afforded to policies in this plan, 

notably Policy DM14, relating to rural development, which is reported to have had 
no objections, and  Policy DM18, relating to tourism development, which has more 
substantial further modifications proposed. 

4. I must consider the degree of progress of this plan in accordance with paragraph 
216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  The plan is 

advanced in its preparation, and these policies are unlikely to be central to the 
further Hearing sessions.  Consequently, in absence of objections I consider that 
considerable weight can be afforded to Policy DM14 and moderate weight to Policy 

DM18, which has further modifications; while adoption may not be imminent, 
these policies are strong indicators of the Council’s approach to rural and tourism 

development. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues in this case are whether or not the proposal would accord with 

national and local planning policies concerning tourism development in the 
countryside, with regard to the location, the scale of development and the effect of 

the proposal on the character and appearance of the area. 

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3183795 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

6. The appeal site lies behind the Grade II listed White House on a terraced grassed 
area next to a recently completed stable building.  As a result of an earlier 

permission access is available to this rear area off a side road just beyond a 
conversion attached to the main property providing for a small holiday let. 

7. The White House lies a short distance outside of the village of Abbotsham, in an 

area of countryside where sporadic housing is evident in most views.  This includes 
a small hamlet on the road approaching the site from the village identified as 

Rickard’s Down. 

8. The proposal would introduce a large, new build holiday let divided into an upper, 
above ground section connected to a lower, sedum-roofed section with bedrooms 

set back into the grassed bank.  Although only one-storey, the proposed 
accommodation would have three large bedrooms with reception rooms and would 

occupy a large footprint.  It would be separated from the stables and the 
equestrian field behind by a newly planted, but not yet established hedge. 

9. The existing development plan consists of the saved policies of the Torridge 

District Local Plan (the Local Plan) including Policy DVT2C, which deals with 
development in the open countryside, and Policy ECD6, which addresses criteria 

for tourist development.  Taken together these policies are not supportive of new 
build holiday accommodation, being focussed on ‘acceptable types’ of 
development, initially set out in the now abolished Structure Plan, but summarised 

within the accompanying text in the Local Plan. 

10. This plan is of some age and these policies must also be considered according to 

their degree of consistency with the Framework.  In this case, paragraph 28 of the 
Framework addresses new tourism development and supports the growth of 
enterprises in the rural areas through conversion, as supported by the Local Plan, 

but also through well-designed new buildings, where such sustainable rural 
tourism development respects the character of the countryside.  While this reduces 

the weigh I can give to Policy ECD6, I note that new developments are accepted 
within emerging policy, which allows for small-scale economic development, as 
well as the development of new accommodation outside of Main and Local Centres 

where it improves facilities and is of a scale appropriate to the size of the 
attraction or settlement and is designed to respect the key characteristics of the 

landscape.   

11. I am satisfied that the proposal would provide high quality accommodation in an 
area where tourism forms an important part of the local economy.  There is an 

absence of detail on accommodation needs for tourism in the area, but I note the 
success of the existing unit and the positive recommendation from the letting 

company.  The key issues are therefore around the accessibility of the site, the 
scale of the proposal and whether it respects the character and appearance of the 

countryside here. 

12. The site is well-related to various tourism attractions, the local beaches and 
coastal path, but at a distance where most would chose to access these by car.  

While the Council highlight the lack of lighting and footways as a reason why the 
facilities available in nearby Abbotsham would not be easily accessible, I did note 

that for much of the route, from Rickard’s Down, there is a path worn in the grass 
verge suggesting it is a walkable route.  The proximity to attractions and local 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3183795 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

facilities leads me to conclude that the site, as a location for tourist 

accommodation, is relatively accessible. 

13. In terms of scale, a three bedroom holiday let would be a modest addition to 

accommodation in the area, albeit a significant addition to the accommodation 
offered by the White House.  However, the scale contributes to the critical 
assessment of the effect on the character and appearance of the countryside here.  

As I have noted above, the proposed unit would have a large footprint.  Although 
part is underground, a considerable length of façade would look out from the 

raised site towards the south, with extensive glazing and contrasting detailing 
between the pitched slate roof and the mono-pitch sedum roof. 

14. While the countryside here is not uninhabited, dwellings are sporadic other than at 

the hamlet, and are generally large houses set in substantial plots and separated 
by open fields.  On leaving the village of Abbotsham and descending the hill the 

appeal site is prominent and open to views, with fields and treed boundaries 
forming a strong and characteristic farmed landscape as a backdrop.  Sitting 
alongside the substantial stable block, the large scale of the proposal would be 

clearly visible and would contribute to a massing of buildings, which, despite the 
appellant’s views, would have a considerably more domestic appearance than for 

example, agricultural buildings associated with a farmstead. 

15. I note the appellant’s suggestions that the design reflects an entrance ‘lodge’ style 
addition to the White House, and I appreciate that there has been some design 

considerations taken in the approach here.  However, while accepting that the site 
is visually enclosed to immediate local views, in part due to the walled boundaries 

of the main house, it is prominent in these longer views and such a position for a 
lodge to a Georgian House is not typical.  In this wider vista the proposal would 
establish a large scale cluster of buildings at odds with the prevailing character, 

with both the scale and the design leading to harm to the appearance of the 
countryside.  This would conflict with the environmental dimension of sustainable 

development. 

16. I accept that the proposal would generate income and this would represent some 
economic benefit to the area as a whole, and I give this moderate weight in favour 

of the scheme.  I also note that the appellant suggests the holiday let would 
contribute as supporting development to allow for the upkeep of the listed 

building.  However, other than the expenditure report and estimates of costs, I 
have little detail on whether such enabling development is necessary to ensure 
that the listed building be conserved.  Accordingly I can give this little weight.  

Overall these matters would not outweigh the harm that I have identified. 

17. Thus the proposal would not represent sustainable tourist accommodation and 

would conflict with Policy DVT2c and Policy ECD6 of the Local Plan, and emerging 
Policies DM14 and DM18 of the TNDLP.  These policies seek development of 

appropriate scale which does not detract from the character and appearance of the 
area.   

18. For the reasons given above and having regard to all other matters raised, I 

conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

Mike Robins 

INSPECTOR 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 13 February 2018 

by Mike Robins  MSc BSc(Hons) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 1st March 2018 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/Q/17/3176794 
Mantre, road from Sunnybank to Ley Park, Yarnscombe EX31 3LP 

 The appeal is made under Section 106B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to discharge a planning obligation. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Trevor Avery against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The development to which the planning obligation relates is a dwelling and car parking 

space on land at Cobbler’s Cottage, Yarnscombe. 

 The planning obligation, dated 28 February 2005, was made between Torridge District 

Council and Graham Steven James and Lyn Margaret James. 

 The application Ref 1/1133/2016/SEC106, dated 11 November 2016, was refused by 

notice dated 11 April 2017. 

 The application sought to have the planning obligation discharged. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issue 

2. Whether or not the obligation continues to serve a useful purpose and should be 

discharged. 

Reasons 

3. Planning permission was originally granted for Mantre in 2005 with an 

accompanying planning obligation made under s106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  This restricted occupation to those registered as in Housing 

Need and who met local needs requirements, specifically: 

(a) a minimum continuous residence by an applicant of 5 years in the Parish of at least 

one adult in the Household immediately prior to the identification of need; or 

(b) residence by at least one member of the Household in the Parish for a minimum 

continuous period of five years within the ten years preceding the identification of need; 

or 

(c) where one or both parents or guardians of at least one adult in the Household have 

resided in the Parish for a minimum period of ten years prior to the identification of 

need; or 

(d) where of at least one adult in the Household has had continuous employment in the 

Parish for the past five years prior to the identification of need; or 

(e) a key worker under a scheme approved by the Council; or 

(f) a person to whom a Mortgagee sells a dwelling under Clause [9.4], shall be deemed 

to have a Local Requirement. 

4. The appellant purchased the property in 2008 and these restrictions were bound 
to successors in title and remain relevant to the appeal property.  Three grounds 
are set out in the appeal statement.  These can be summarised as: that 

insufficient consideration was given by the Council to the rural needs of 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/Q/17/3176794 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Yarnscombe, which, when considering their later decisions that did not seek 

such local needs restrictions, indicate that the need no longer exists; that the 
Council were inconsistent in their approach; and that there is resulting 

disproportionate impact against the appellant from unequal treatment. 

5. The reasons for seeking to discharge the obligation would appear to arise from 
the financial implications of seeking to re-mortgage the property.  

6. At my site visit I was able to observe that the appeal dwelling, set alongside 
Cobbler’s Cottage, has started to assimilate into its plot and I note that the 

2005 decision was made in accordance with the planning policy at that time.  
Yarnscombe is identified as a village for which Policy DVT2 of the Torridge 
District Local Plan 1997-2011 (the Local Plan) notes that development will be 

limited to that which seeks to address local social or economic needs.  However, 
the appellant points to four subsequent decisions where it is stated that such 

local needs restrictions were not required1. 

7. I do not have full details on these schemes, and consequently cannot comment 
in any detail on the position as regards the decision from 2005.  However, those 

decisions from 2013 onwards would have had to be considered under both the 
time expired Local Plan and its saved policies, and the National Planning Policy 

Framework (the Framework).  This introduced a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development where a Council was unable to demonstrate a five year 
housing land supply, as is the case here.  In such cases, relevant policies for the 

supply of housing should be considered out of date and any adverse effects of a 
development must be shown to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits of housing.  Furthermore, from November 2014, a Written Ministerial 
Statement2 (WMS) set out a threshold below which affordable housing should 
not be sought, such that developments of up to five, or 10 houses depending on 

the location, should not fall to be considered for such contributions. 

8. While I note the appellant’s reference to one of these decisions involving a s106 

requirement that was lifted, I have no detail on this, although I note a reference 
to the removal of a condition.  Obligations are not addressed through conditions, 
so I cannot draw any conclusion from this reference.  Accordingly, while the 

development plan has remained consistent, and I am conscious that the 
emerging North Devon and Torridge Local Plan has not yet been adopted, 

planning circumstances have nonetheless changed.  I have insufficient evidence 
to conclude that the Council have been inconsistent in their decision making, or 
that their subsequent decisions, responding also to the Framework and the 

WMS, necessarily demonstrate that affordable housing for those in local housing 
need is no longer required. 

9. When considering the question of whether the obligation continues to serve a 
useful purpose, the financial implications on the appellant, which I recognise 

may be a very significant personal issue, cannot be definitive in assessing that 
purpose.  The Council have provided evidence from their 2016 Housing and 
Economic Needs Assessment that there are currently 478 households in housing 

need with 274 households falling into housing need each year up until 2031.  
They set out that the supply of affordable housing availabile through re-lets and 

new provision is only about 120 units per year.  A need for housing generally, 
and affordable housing in particular, remains in this District. 

                                       
1 1/1576//FUL, 1/0923/2013/FUL, 1/1078/2015/FUL and 1/0647/2017/FUL 
2 Written Statement to Parliament - Small-scale developers, 28 November 2014 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/Q/17/3176794 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. This district-wide need would suggest that the loss of existing housing retained 

for those in local housing need would be harmful.  In the absence of specific 
information available for Yarnscombe, I cannot therefore conclude that the 

obligation no longer serves a useful purpose and should be retained.  

11. I note the appellant considers that the actions of the Council have compromised 
his human rights, although specific articles under the European Convention on 

Human Rights were not set out.  While I acknowledge the appellant perceives 
there would be financial detriment, on the evidence before me I cannot identify 

that the Council have been inconsistent or treated this case unequally.  The 
appellant would have been fully aware of the obligation when he purchased the 
property, and this decision will not materially alter those circumstances.  The 

achievement of a stock of houses available and affordable for local residents is 
an acknowledged issue in the District.  The legitimate aim in maintaining that 

stock cannot be achieved by means which would be less interfering with the 
appellant’s rights.  I find this approach is therefore proportionate and necessary 
in the circumstances and would not result in violation of the appellant’s rights 

under either Article 1 or Article 8, both of which are qualified rights, whereby 
interference may be justified in the public interest. 

12. Accordingly, for the reasons given above and having regard to all other matters 
raised, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Mike Robins 

INSPECTOR 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 26 February 2018 

by Robert Parker  BSc (Hons) Dip TP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: Wednesday 14th March 2018.  

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/D/17/3187852 
3 Silford Cottages, Road heading southeast from Silford Cross, Bideford 

EX39 3PS 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Alan Ward against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0547/2017/FUL, dated 4 June 2017, was refused by notice dated 

14 August 2017. 

 The development proposed is two storey rear extension and alterations to windows. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues in this case are: 

a) the effect of the proposed extension on the character and appearance of the 
host building and area; and 

b) the effect on the living conditions of the occupiers of 2 Silford Cottages, with 
particular reference to daylight and sunlight. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

3. The appeal property lies at one end of a terrace of three dwellings in rural 

surroundings. The terrace has a simple linear form and the individual units are 
characteristic of ‘two-up two-down’ farm worker cottages. All three have been 

extended to the rear with modest single-storey additions. In the case of No 3 
Silford Cottages, former outbuildings have been incorporated into the living 
accommodation by enclosing a courtyard. Despite their somewhat eclectic 

appearance, the rear extensions along the terrace are of a scale which is 
subservient to the host building. 

4. The proposal is to replace the former outbuildings at the appeal property with a 
two-storey extension which would be connected to the original house by means 
of a ground floor link. The extension would be lower in overall height than the 

parent building but it would be substantially taller and bulkier than the single-
storey structures which it would replace. The scale, form and massing of the 

new extension, physically divorced from the main dwelling, would make it a 
discordant feature which jars with the terrace as a whole.  

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/D/17/3187852 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The Council raises particular concerns about the design of the south elevation.  

The proposed balcony and glazed gable would have little affinity with the 
original property and these features would reinforce the impression that the 

extension has been designed as a freestanding structure without any obvious 
attempt to integrate it with the existing built form. 

6. The development would be clearly visible from the lane to the front of the 

property and a public footpath running to the side of the site. From these public 
vantage points it would stand out as being incongruous and of poor design. 

7. Saved Policies DVT2C, DVT6 and DVT7 of the Torridge District Local Plan (2004) 
(TDLP) predate publication of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework). Nevertheless, they are consistent with its aim to promote high 

quality design which responds to local character and identity. In failing to have 
regard to the distinctive form of the existing terrace, the proposal would cause 

material harm to the character and appearance of the host building and area. It 
would thus conflict with the aforementioned development plan policies. 

Living conditions 

8. The Council is concerned that the proposed extension would overshadow the 
windows in No 2. The nearest rear ground floor window in this property is 

obscurely glazed and serves a bathroom and utility room. There is a timber 
shed erected directly in front of it. Given this relationship, and the secondary 
nature of the accommodation served by the window, the appeal scheme is 

unlikely to have an unacceptable effect on natural light at ground floor level.  

9. I am told that the first floor window in No 2 serves a bedroom. The appellant 

argues that this window would not be affected by the proposed extension due to 
its western aspect. However, I do not consider the submitted daylight and 
sunlight study to be sufficiently robust. In the absence of persuasive technical 

evidence I must rely upon my own planning judgement. Notwithstanding the 
orientation of the terrace, the proposed extension would be likely to cast a 

shadow across the window from mid-afternoon onwards and reduce levels of 
sunlight within the affected room. Whilst I accept that bedrooms are used mainly 
at night when natural light is less critical, they are habitable spaces which should 

provide a good quality of environment in the daytime. 

10. Accordingly, I conclude that the proposal would adversely affect the living 

conditions of the occupiers of No 2. It would conflict with Policy DVT11 of the 
TDLP insofar as it requires development to secure or maintain the amenity of 
neighbours. This policy accords with the core principle within the Framework 

that planning should seek to secure a good standard of amenity for existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings. 

Other Matters 

11. It is put to me that the appeal scheme would be less harmful than a two-storey 

extension built directly on the boundary with No 2. The Council disputes that 
the alternative design would fall within permitted development rights. It is not 
for me to determine lawfulness in the context of a S78 appeal. In any event, 

there is no substantive evidence to indicate that there is a significant 
probability that the fallback would be constructed should this appeal be 

dismissed. I have therefore given the argument limited weight. 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/D/17/3187852 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. It is suggested that the appeal property is not suitable as a family dwelling 

without extension. I do not disagree. However, I concur with the Council that 
there are more sympathetic options which could be explored such as 

rationalising the existing poor quality single-storey structures and/or erecting 
a two-storey side extension, similar to that which has already been 
constructed at No 1. 

13. I have taken into account the design guidance presented by the appellant. 
However, this relates to a different local planning authority and in any case 

does not advocate that a linked block will be appropriate in every case. I have 
considered the scheme before me on its own merits having regard to the 
circumstances of the case and the specific site context. 

14. Residents raise a number of other concerns, including in relation to drainage, 
parking and noise. However, based on the information before me these matters 

would not be grounds to dismiss the appeal. 

Conclusion 

15. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Robert Parker 

INSPECTOR 

Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


AGMB Decisions 16 February 2018 – 27 April 2018

Application no Address/Proposal Decision Reasons for Refusal/Approval 

1/0108/2018/AGMB Land At Orchard Farm
Monkleigh
Bideford

Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to No1 dwelling under 
Class Q

Approved 
Determination

The development shall be completed before the expiration 
of 3 years from the date of prior approval being granted.

                                 
Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to 
comply with the time requirements of Q.2 (3), Class Q, Part 
3, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans listed in the Plans 
Schedule.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans.

If unexpected contamination, which has not been 
previously identified, is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development all work must be ceased 
and the part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination along with the nature of the contamination 
be immediately reported in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority. In addition to any assessment already provided 
with the planning application, an investigation and risk 
assessment to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site and relating to the affected area , 
whether or not it originates on the site, should be then be 
undertaken by competent persons, and then a written 
report submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

The investigation and risk assessment must include:

(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination;

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 10



(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

- human health,
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 
livestock, pets,
woodland and service lines and pipes,
- adjoining land,
- groundwaters and surface waters,
- ecological systems,
- archeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the 
preferred option(s).

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and 
the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Review by the Local Planning Authority of the site 
investigation and risk assessment will confirm whether 
there is a need to undertake remediation measures. If 
required a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to 
a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and to the natural and historical environment must 
be prepared by competent persons, and be approved in 
writing by Local Planning Authority. The scheme must then 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the re-commencement of any development on the 
site.

The remediation scheme must include:

-  all works to be undertaken
-  proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria
-  timetable of works and site management procedures.

The scheme must ensure that following the remediation 

P
age 34



works the site will not qualify as contaminated land under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation 
scheme works. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of 
the remediation carried out must be produced and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Where 
an approved remediation scheme includes a requirement 
for a monitoring and maintenance scheme to ensure the 
long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over 
time, a report setting out monitoring and maintenance 
requirements must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of 
the measures identified in that scheme and when the 
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that 
demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance produced, submitted to and approved by  the 
Local Planning Authority. This must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the recommended mitigation and 
enhancements set out in the Updated Protected Species 
Survey, dated November 2017, and received on 29 
January 2018.

P
age 35



Reason: In the interests of protecting the habitats of the 
species identified on site in accordance with the duties 
outlined in the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
Act 2006 and The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).

  1/0158/2018/AGMB Berry Farm
Petrockstowe
Okehampton
EX20 3ET

Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
buildings to No3 dwellings 
under Class Q.

Not Permitted 
Development 

Not Permitted Development

P
age 36



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0256/2017/FULM 

Registration date: 15 March 2017 

Expiry date:  14 June 2017 

Applicant:  Knapp House Ltd  

Agent:  Guy Greenfield Architects 

Case Officer:  Lewis Andrews 

Site Address:  Knapp House Activity Centre,  
Churchill Way,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1NT 

Proposal:  New development comprising of 58 holiday units, 
a Reception Building (admin, swimming pool, 
etc.) & associated infrastructure to replace the 
existing Caravan Park at Knapp House 

Recommendation: Grant subject to a legal agreement 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 11a



 

Reason for referral: 

 
Called in by Ward Member – Councillor Ken Davis: 
 
I would like a site visit by the Plans Committee, also for the application to be debated at Committee on 
whether such a development would be in breach of Policy DVT2C and ENV5. Also to consider given 
the outline nature of the application, the negative impact as viewed by many that will be seen from 
across the estuary as I have been given to understand that the site in question is outside the 
development area. 
 

Relevant History: 

 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

  

1/1836/2000 VARIATION OF CONDITION 
OF OUTLINE PLANNING 
PERMISSION 1/495/97 FOR 
HOLIDAY HOME ESTATE, 
HOTEL & MARINA TO ALLOW 
FURTHER TIME FOR 
SUBMISSION OF RESERVED 
MATTERS 

REF 16.01.2001 

  

1/1408/1975 2 HOLIDAY CHALETS TO 
REPLACE 2 EXISTING UNITS, 
KNAPP HOUSE NORTHAM 

PER 20.02.1976 

  

1/0787/1974 HOLIDAY CHALETS, CAR 
PARK, SEPTIC TANK FAC. 
O.S.8149,8851 9446 & 7741, 
KNAPP HSE,NORTHAM 

REF 05.02.1975 

  

1/0684/1979 PROPOSED VEHICULAR 
ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS AT 
KNAPP HOUSE, CHURCHILL 
WAY, NORTHAM 

PER 04.06.1982 

  

1/1182/1979 USE OF FIELD FOR 
FOOTBALL PITCH, LAND 
ADJOINING KNAPP HOUSE, 
CHURCHILL WAY, NORTHAM 

WDN 18.07.1980 

  

1/1309/1979 STATIONING OF 2 HOLIDAY 
CARA- VANS TO REPLACE 2 
CHALETS, KNAPP HOUSE, 
NORTHAM 

PER 11.09.1979 

  

1/2040/1980 USE OF LAND AS A STATIC 
HOLIDAY CARAVAN SITE (8 
VANS), O.S.9446, KNAPP 
HOUSE, 

PER 10.03.1981 

  

1/1904/1979 CHANGE OF USE FROM 
GARAGE TO CHANGING 
ROOM, KNAPP HOUSE 
CHURCHILL WAY, NORTHAM 

WDN 18.07.1980 

  

1/1246/1980 ERECTION OF FIFTY 
HOLIDAY CHALETS, KNAPP 
HOUSE, NORTHAM 

REF 21.10.1980 

  

    
  

1/0696/1982 USE OF LAND FOR STORAGE 
OF CARAVANS, KNAPP 

REF 27.07.1982 

Page 38



HOUSE, NORTHAM 
  

1/0601/1985 32 HOLIDAY CHALETS, 
ACCESS IMPROVEMENT & 
DRAINAGE SYSTEM, KNAPP 
HOUSE, NORTHAM 

PER 05.08.1985 

  

1/0284/1986 USE OF PADDOCK AS 
SEASONAL TOURING 
CARAVAN SITE 

REF 27.02.1987 

  

1/0997/1989 ERECTION OF HOLIDAY 
HOME ESTATE, HOTEL AND 
MARINA WITH ASSOCIATED 
FACILITIES OF RESTAURANT, 
SHOPS, CHANDLERY AND 
HEALTH CLUB 

PER 15.04.1991 

  

1/1800/1993 RENEWAL OF CONSENT FOR 
ERECTION OF HOLIDAY 
HOME ESTATE, HOTEL AND 
MARINA WITH ASSOCIATED 
FACILITIES OF RESTAURANT, 
SHOPS, CHANDLERY AND 
HEALTH CLUB 

PER 22.04.1994 

  

1/0495/1997 RENEWAL OF CONSENT FOR 
THE ERECTION OF HOLIDAY 
HOME ESTATE, HOTEL & 
MARINA WITH ASSOCIATED 
FACILITIES OF RESTAURANT, 
SHOPS, CHANDLERY & 
HEALTH CLUB 

PER 17.11.1997 

  

1/0233/2005/OUT Community Centre, Skate Board 
Park, Yachting Lake, Car 
Parking and brownfield 
residential development 

WDN 10.05.2005 

    

1/1179/2009/OUTM Mixed use development 
comprising marina, hotel, 
medical centre, food store, 
community hall, retail units/cafe, 
care house/dementia unit, 
offices, up to 450 dwellings, play 
areas, open space and ancillary 
infrastructure. 

WDN 03.03.2010 

  

1/0138/2012/OUTM Mixed use development 
comprising marina, hotel, 
medical centre, food store, 
community hall, retail units/cafe, 
care home/dementia unit, 
assisted living units, 295 
dwellings (including 38 local 
needs affordable), 80 holiday 
dwellings,play areas, open 
space, new access and ancillary 
infrastructure - AFFECTING A 
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY- 
Revised site plan and additional 
information including provision 
for new Primary School. 

REF 07.02.2013 

   

1/0984/2013/OUTM Mixed use development REF 13.03.2014 

Page 39



comprising marina, hotel, 
medical centre, food store, 
community hall, retail units/cafe, 
care home/dementia unit, 
assisted living units, up to 300 
dwellings (including 20 local 
needs affordable), 80 holiday 
dwellings,play areas, open 
space, new access and ancillary 
infrastructure - AFFECTING A 
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY 

  

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
The site is located in open countryside between Northam and Appledore. The site comprises an 
existing tourist site which has been in use as a static and touring caravan site as well as camping for 
the past 30 years. 
 
The site is bordered by hedgerows on its north, south and western boundaries with a number of 
substantial trees located within the site. The main Northam to Appledore road (A386) runs along the 
western edge of the site where there is vehicular access in the south-west corner. A private drive runs 
along the south of the site, giving access to Knapp House itself while Bidna Lane, which is a narrow 
adopted road runs along the north of the site. 
 
The eastern boundary of the site is bordered by a high stone wall. beyond which is open countryside 
with agricultural fields which run towards the River Torridge. This land to the east of Knapp House is 
more open and visible from across the River Torridge but does not form part of the application site. 
 
The site runs downwards gently from west to east and from north to south. Internally the site is cut 
grass with a number of mature trees dispersed around the site. one towards the west of the site and 
the remainder in the south-east corner. 
 
The site is occupied by a number of mobile homes, motor homes and caravans, many of these are 
sited throughout the year albeit only used for holiday purposes. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 58 holiday units, a reception building 
and swimming pool with play area, parking and open space.  
 
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Statement, an Arboricultural Report, a Tree 
Constraints Report, a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Report (LVIA) and an Ecology 
Report 
 
The layout of the site has been amended several times to ensure that none of the holiday units have 
an adverse impact on the surrounding hedges and trees and that any overshadowing from these trees 
onto the units is reduced. Accordingly the number of holiday units has been reduced in number from 
60 to 58. The site is proposed to be open plan with no private garden spaces and a uniform 
landscaped appearance to the site. Each unit would have its own parking space. 
 
During the application process, a number of the trees to the northern boundary were "ring barked" 
which meant that these trees were likely to die. As a result, the applicant was asked to revised the 
landscaping plan, the LVIA and the Ecology Report with a new hedgerow Management Plan. These 
reports have been received and the comments of the Council's Tree and Landscape Officer are 
included in this report. 
 

Page 40



A Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted giving details of the public consultation 
which took place on 7th and 10th December 2016. 62 visitors attended with 19 feedback forms 
received, of which 6 objected and 13 were positive about the proposal and following feedback, the 
swimming pool will be available to the public. 
 
Holiday Lodges 
 
The holiday units are all two storey with external balconies, walls of white render and timber shingle, 
timber doors and windows and a metal ply membrane mono-pitched roof. A range of 2, 3 and 4 
bedroom units are proposed, comprising * t wo bedroomed units, * three bedroom and * four 
bedrooms with all units having an external decked area giving the opportunity for outside seating. 
Internally all units have storage space for the owner and the occupier, meaning that owners are able 
to store and lock away their personal belongings when they let out their unit. 
 
Due to the gradual slope of the site, a number of the units have taken the opportunity for south-facing 
decking looking south, with partly split level units taking advantage of the slope. 
 
Administration Building 
 
The "Administration Building" comprises a reception, office, maintenance office and an indoor 
swimming pool 73 metres squared with associated changing/shower/WC facilities. The building would 
be single storey with a similar pallet of materials to the holiday lodges. A play area to the rear of this 
building is proposed 
 
Foul/Surface Water 
 
It was originally  proposed to construct a new foul water treatment plant on the site, however foul 
water will now connect to the mains sewer in Churchill Way outside the site. Surface water 
discharging to an existing pond, which will be enlarged – the details of this are set out later in the 
report. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused. Members raised the following issues; 
 
' Shipyard ' Members feel that noise from the Appledore Shipyard would affect the site which would 
put the Shipyard under threat. Members agreed that the work at the Shipyard must be protected. This 
issue was raised by the Inspector for a previous application for the site. 
 
' Open Countryside ' the site is not within the current or emerging Local Plan. It will also result in loss 
of the important Green Gap between Appledore and Northam. Members feel a development here 
would set a president and could become the 'thin end of a wedge' if approved. Members quoted 
policies DVT2C and ENV5. This site falls within the Undeveloped Coast area detailed in the emerging 
Local Plan. 
 
' Traffic/Highways ' the development would result in a large cumulative effect on traffic on to Churchill 
Way and surrounding roads which are already at capacity. 
 
' Archaeological Importance ' if this application is approved, Members insist that a full archaeological 
survey is carried out due to the important Battlefield site which would be lost. 
 
' Wildlife ' the site has been proved to be an important habitat for many species of bats and birds. 
There would also be a detrimental effect on the adjacent woodland. The site is also part of an 
important wildlife corridor for the estuary (SSSI) which was also mentioned by the Inspector on a 
previous application for the site. 

Page 41



' Views ' there will be an adverse effect on the views from the public footpaths, Estuary, conservation 
areas of Westleigh and the listed building and grounds of Tapeley Park. 
 
Second Comment following additional “Heritage Impact” information 
 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused as per the comments made 
previously and reproduced below. 
 
Shipyard Members feel that noise from the Appledore Shipyard would affect the site which would 
put the Shipyard under threat. Members agreed that the work at the Shipyard must be protected. 
This issue was raised by the Inspector for a previous application for the site. 
 
Open Countryside the site is not within the current or emerging Local Plan. It will also result in 
loss of the important Green Gap between Appledore and Northam. Members feel a development 
here would set a precedent and could become the thin end of a wedge if approved. Members 
quoted policies DVT2C and ENV5. This site falls within the Undeveloped Coast area detailed in 
the emerging Local Plan. 
 
Traffic/Highways the development would result in a large cumulative effect on traffic on to 
Churchill Way and surrounding roads which are already at capacity. 
 
Archaeological Importance if this application is approved, Members insist that a full 
archaeological survey is carried out due to the important Battlefield site which would be lost. 
Wildlife the site has been proved to be an important habitat for many species of bats and birds. 
There would also be a detrimental effect on the adjacent woodland. The site is also part of an 
important wildlife corridor for the estuary (SSSI) which was also mentioned by the Inspector on a 
previous application for the site. 
 
Views there will be an adverse effect on the views from the public footpaths, the estuary, 
conservation areas of Westleigh and the listed building and grounds of Tapeley Park 
 
Members emphasised that contrary to Local Plan Policy DVT2C there is no proven need for this 
proposed development in open countryside. It was further stressed that the shipyard must be 
protected as an important national security asset and that a full noise impact survey should be 
carried out in all areas of the site as per a previous major application on this site. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application at 
this stage, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are imposed on any 
approved permission: 
 
1. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the 
proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. The design of this permanent surface water drainage management 
system will be in accordance with the principles of sustainable drainage systems, and those set out in 
the Flood Risk Assessment & Sustainable Drainage Strategy (report Ref. FRA01; Rev. 4; dated 6th 
March 2017) as well as the Proposed Drainage Strategy (drawing No. 003; Rev. P1; dated 6th June 
2017) and details contained within the email correspondence dated 2nd May 2017. 
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is managed in accordance with 
the principles of sustainable drainage systems. 
 
Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 
 
2. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the 
proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development site for the 

Page 42



full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This 
temporary surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the rates and 
volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site. 
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately managed so 
as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the surrounding area. 
 
Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 
 
3. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until details of the exceedance 
pathways and overland flow routes across the site in the event of rainfall in excess of the design 
standard of the proposed surface water drainage management system have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the surface water runoff generated from rainfall events in excess of the 
design standard of the proposed surface water drainage management system is safely managed. 
 
Observations: Following my previous consultation response (FRM/TO/0256/2017, dated 11th May), 
the applicant has 
submitted additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of the above 
planning application, in an email dated 6th June 2017 for which I am grateful. 
 
The applicant has now submitted a suitable drainage strategy, although MicroDrainage model 
outputs, or similar, are still required at detailed design stage to demonstrate that the drainage system 
will work. 
 
Initial Response 
 
At this stage, we object to this planning application because we believe it does not satisfactorily 
conform to Policy DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage) of Torridge District Council's Local Plan (2004), 
which requires developments to provide adequate means of surface water drainage to ensure that 
there is no unacceptable risk of off-site flooding, increased flood risk or risk to the quantity and quality 
of potable groundwater sources. The applicant will therefore be required to submit additional 
information in order to demonstrate that all aspects of the proposed surface water drainage 
management system have been considered. 
 
Observations: 
Following my previous email consultation response from Lee Westerman (dated: 2nd May 2017), the 
applicant has provided additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of the 
above planning application for which I am grateful. However, further information is still required and is 
outlined below: 
 
a) The applicant must submit details of the exceedance pathways and overland flow routes across the 
site in the event of rainfall in excess of the design standard of the surface water drainage 
management system. 
b) The applicant must submit a layout plan detailing the drainage network. 
 
Environment Agency 
 
Revised Response 16-1-2018 
 
The proposed foul water drainage strategy has been amended to show that foul water from the 
development will be directed to the public sewer network in J.H Taylor Drive. This is considered 
acceptable. On this basis we are able to remove our objection to the proposal provided it is 
constructed in accordance with the proposed drainage strategy drawing no. 003 Rev P4.  
 

Page 43



Advice to applicant – Environmental Permitting (Flood Risk Activity)  
This proposal is located adjacent to a main river at this location. Under the terms of the Environmental 
Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 a permit is required for any proposed works or 
structures, in, under, over or within eight metres of the top of the bank of the river. This will include 
any drainage outfall. Further details and guidance on how to apply or register an exemption are 
available on the GOV.UK website: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-
permits.  
 
A permit is separate to and in addition to any planning permission granted.  Please contact us again if 
you require any further advice. 
 
Initial Response 3-11-2017 
 
We object to the application on grounds that insufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate that the proposed private package treatment plant is justified in this location and, if so, is 
suitable and will not be detrimental to the environment. We recommend that the application is not 
determined until further information has been submitted. 
 
The reasons for this position are provided below. 
 
Reasons – Foul drainage 
The information submitted with the application indicates that foul drainage will be disposed of to a 
non-mains foul drainage system. Government guidance within the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (paragraph 020 in the section on water supply, wastewater and water quality – Reference 
ID: 34-020-20140306) stresses that the first presumption must be to provide a system of foul drainage 
discharging into a public sewer to be treated at a public sewage treatment works. Only where having 
taken into account the cost and/or practicability it can be shown to the satisfaction of the local 
planning authority that connection to a public sewer is not feasible, should non-mains foul sewage 
disposal solutions be considered. We note that the site is located close to mains drainage, so it is 
important that the applicant provides sufficient justification for their proposal not to incorporate a non-
mains system into the development. 
 
The applicant should submit information to show whether the cost of connection to the public 
sewerage network would be reasonable when compared to the costs of the private package treatment 
plant.  
 
 
In the absence of this information we are unable to advise whether the proposal is acceptable in 
principle and whether we would be able to issue an Environmental Permit for the discharge in due 
course. 
 
If the applicant confirms that the costs of connection to the public sewerage network will be 
unreasonable, paragraph 20 of the NPPG also states that ‘applications for developments relying on 
anything other than connection to a public sewage treatment plant should be supported by sufficient 
information to understand the potential implications for the water environment’. At that stage,we would 
need to review the details of the proposal in more detail to understand whether there is a potential for 
it to cause a detriment to water quality. 
 
Advice to applicant – Environmental Permitting 
Any non-mains foul drainage system associated with this development will require an Environmental 
Permit from the Environment Agency under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010, unless it 
satisfies the General Binding Rules for small sewage discharges in England. The General Binding 
Rules can be found online at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-
in-england-general-binding-rules. 
 
If the proposed foul discharge will not satisfy the General Binding Rules the applicant is advised to 
contact our National Permitting Service on 03708 506 506 for further advice and to discuss the issues 
likely to be raised. You should be aware that the permit may not be granted, particularly if the 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-in-england-general-binding-rules
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-in-england-general-binding-rules


discharge is located within an area served by a mains sewer. Additional 'Environmental Permitting 
Guidance' can be accessed online at https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks. 
Advice to the LPA 
 
We will maintain our objection until the applicant has supplied information to demonstrate that the 
risks posed by the development can be satisfactorily addressed. We would like to be re-consulted on 
any information submitted to address our concerns and we will provide you with bespoke comments 
within 21 days of receiving formal re-consultation. If you are minded to approve the application at this 
stage contrary to this advice, we request that you contact us to allow further discussion and/or 
representations from us. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
The potential level of traffic associated with the proposed 60 units will be similar to that from the 
existing caravan park on the site that is being replaced by these units. Even if the proposed is slightly 
higher than the existing, the access from the site on to the highway has sufficient visibility for the 
speed of traffic passing the site, which I estimate to be more in the region of 40mph than the 30mph 
limit. The access is considered to operate safely and I consider it acceptable to accommodate the 
proposed level of development. 
 
There is one recorded personal injury collision, classified as 'slight', on the road slightly south of the 
site entrance, this is reported to have involved only one vehicle (and no other road users), I therefore 
think that this is not associated with the access to the site. 
 
The site is served by a frequent bus service between Appledore and Bideford and there are good 
walking and cycling connections with amenities in the surrounding area. 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, HAS NO OBJECTION TO THE 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT  
 
Conservation Officer:  
This scheme follows a refusal for a larger scheme on land at Knapp.  There were few conservation 
considerations in relation to the heritage assets within the Torridge Area as the building are not in line 
of sight of the proposal.  As such the impact on the setting of these buildings and the memorial stone 
at Bloody Corner is considered to be less than substantial in this case.  The site is well screened at 
present but the use of the land by caravans and recreational vehicles is established and the impact of 
the setting of the buildings is not considered so detrimental to warrant a refusal on heritage grounds.   
  
I reproduce the comments from this larger application for ease of reference. 
 
'I have walked around the site with the Heritage advisor from English Heritage to assess the likely 
impact on the listed buildings which are near the site. 
The closest being Bidna, Marshford and the Memorial stone at Bloody Corner. The structures will not 
be affected by the proposal as all these assets are set outside the site.  The house at Bidna is set 
over a ridge in the land and will have limited views of the development.  The houses at Marshford are 
set obliquely to the site and are set on a ridge to the north of the site reducing the impact on the 
setting of the building. 
The memorial at Bloody Corner is set adjacent the site and will experience a change in the setting as 
the views to the river will be obstructed by the development.  This does detract from the interpretation 
of the memorial and its meaning however this is not sufficient to warrant a refusal of the application. 
The building at Knapp is considered as a non designated heritage asset with a request from the Town 
Council to add this to the Local Heritage list. On this basis there are no objections on heritage 
grounds. 
  
South West Water:  
No objections -  I can confirm that a connection of foul flows to the public sewer would be acceptable. 
 

Page 45



Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Following a recent site visit and having reviewed both the police crime and incident system and the 
available plans, which I accept may change, Police have no objections in principle to this proposal. 
 
Please note my initial advice and recommendations from a designing out crime, fear of crime, 
antisocial behaviour (ASB) and conflict perspective: 
 
The site in my opinion must be secure, including some form of access control at the main entrance to 
the site. I have concerns regarding the sites current perimeter boundary. I note in the DAS that it is 
the intention to 'maintain and enhance' the existing trees and shrubs. Ideally, any hedges that are to 
be retained should not act as boundary treatments due to maintenance issues, as is the case with the 
existing overgrown hedgerow on the north, east and western sides and there is virtually no southern 
boundary to the site. Given the close proximity to a main road (A386), Bidna Lane and open farmland, 
a robust perimeter should be implemented to provide both safety and security to park users. 
 
The internal layout for the most part will offer reasonable overlooking and active frontages to the new 
internal streets and given the parks holiday use, I feel this is acceptable from a security view. 
I also feel the proposed lighting is satisfactory providing it is definitely sufficient to enable visitors to 
move around safely during hours of darkness. The on plot parking for guests is noted and welcomed. 
In terms of actual construction, will the lodges have to be complaint with the new building regs 
governing security requirements for doors and windows? If not then the strong advice is that all doors 
and windows should be to an independently nationally recognised security standard such as PAS 
24:2016/2012. 
 
Confirmation is required regarding any alarm and CCTV system for the Administration Centre and 
swimming pool.  
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
This application is for the replacement of the current touring caravan park with 60 permanent holiday 
units, the development would be contained within the current field site adjacent to the A386 to 
Appledore road. The site is bordered to the north by Bidna Lane, Knapp House to the east, the A386 
to the west and woodland and pasture to the south, the boundaries are a mixture of hedgerows and 
woodland. 
 
Trees 
 
The site is well contained by old native hedgerows, which are in general in poor condition with grown 
out mature trees, an area of woodland to the south and a leylandii screen to the east. There are some 
larger individual trees within the site and contained within the hedgerow and woodland fringes. Many 
of the individual trees and the woodland to the south are protected by Tree Preservation Order(TPO) 
04/2010. 
 
An Arboricultural survey has been carried out and a short report submitted along with the tree 
constraints plan. No detailed Arboricultural impact assessment or tree protection plan have been 
provided, which I would have expected to be included in this major planning application. 
 
The trees and hedgerows are an important part of this proposed development as they will help screen 
the chalets from the surrounding landscape, the proposals talk of enhancing the hedgerows and 
planting additional trees, but make no effort to show how the development will be achieved without 
any detrimental effect on the existing trees. 
 
There are several areas of chalets that appear to be very close to boundary hedgerows (chalets 1-3, 
6-8, 25'39) and in the south west corner the chalets and parking areas are very close to trees 
(T3,5,6). 
 
Chalets 53, 56 and 58 are particularly close to mature trees with chalet 56 being within the root 
protection area (RPA) of tree T5. The site plan also shows some shade predictions for the trees and 
these chalets are heavily shaded by the trees resulting in the limited amenity being in shade for a 

Page 46



large part of the day. The parking spaces for these chalets are also very close to the trees and their 
construction could affect the trees root systems.  
 
Along the northern boundary the chalets are very close to the boundary hedgerow with Bidna Lane, 
along with the impact of the buildings on the retained trees, especially during the construction 
process, this results in many of the chalets having limited outdoor amenity areas. This closeness to 
the boundary and PROW also means the visual impact of the chalets will be difficult to mitigate for, 
and the chalets could dominate the small lane. 
 
The site plan also shows the site access driveway within the RPA of the TPO woodland, no mention is 
made of this. A full arboricultural impact assessment AIA) would have looked at all these situations 
and highlighted any impacts on trees and the mitigation or working methodologies required to reduce 
this impact to an acceptable level. The fence protection plan (FPP) would show how the development 
can be constructed without damaging the important retained trees. 
 
T1 is an important Holm oak in the middle of the site which is currently visible from the site entrance. 
This tree has been incorporated in an open space shown as a play area, the landscape plan seems to 
show some areas of play surfacing under the canopy/within the RPA of the tree, again no detail of 
how this is to be achieved has been provided. 
 
Due to the lack of detailed tree information I currently object to this proposal, further information in the 
form of a full AIA and TPP needs to be provided to show that this development can be achieved 
without detriment to the retained vegetation on site. In its current form I feel that there are a number of 
chalets that are too close to retained trees or hedgerows and the trees will either be damaged or 
result in future pressure to remove trees from chalet owners. Any construction within a tree RPA will 
need to be covered within a detailed site specific Arboricultural method statement, which could be 
secured as a planning condition. 
 
Landscape 
 
Although this site sites within a valued estuary landscape it is a well contained site. A full Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been produced by the David Wilson Partnership who are a 
local company with previous experience of this landscape. 
 
The site is currently used for tourist accommodation (touring caravans) and is not included within the 
rural gap between Appledore and Northam, as identified in the local plan. As mentioned above the 
site is well contained by trees and hedgerows and sits within a shallow stream valley meaning there 
are limited long distant views of the site. 
 
The LVIA concludes that on the site and immediate surroundings the overall effect on the landscape 
character would be slight adverse, and the overall visual effect would be slight adverse. As the site is 
well screened and hidden by the topography of the surrounding landscape the wider impacts would 
be negligible. 
 
Having viewed the site from the provided viewpoints and assessed the site against the landscape 
character appraisals I have to agree with the provided LVIA conclusions that the site is well contained 
and although the chalet development will be a more concentrated development its impact on the 
wider landscape will not be significant. All trees and hedgerows are to be retained and enhanced and 
the site does not extend past Knapp House towards the estuary so cannot be compared to the 
previous marina development proposals. 
 
Landscape mitigation is shown on the landscape general arrangement drawing, but no detailed 
landscape specification has been provided. A full landscape specification should be secured as a 
planning condition should the proposals be granted permission. 
 
Revised Consultee Response 
 

Page 47



Further to your request for further observations on the above matter, I can confirm that I am able to 
comment as follows. 
 
This application is for the replacement of the current touring caravan park with 60 permanent holiday 
units, the development would be contained within the current field site adjacent to the A386 Churchill 
Way.  The site is bordered to the north by Bidna Lane, Knapp House to the east, the A386 to the west 
and woodland and pasture to the south, the boundaries are a mixture of hedgerows and woodland. 
 
These further comments are the result of ill informed management works to the mature hedgerow 
along Bidna Lane which had a majority of the standard trees in the hedgerow ring barked so that they 
would die to provide wildlife habitat.   This works resulted in health and safety concerns due to the 
holiday accommodation use of the site, a hedgerow management plan has now been produced to 
bring the hedgerow back into good management. 
 
A revised Tree Protection Plan, Ecology Report and LVIA have now been provided along with a 
landscape planting plan. 
 
Trees and Hedgerow 
 
Hedgerow 
 
The hedgerow along the Bidna Lane boundary has been acknowledged as being an important visual 
landscape feature and wildlife corridor.  The new management plan (drawing1240.09.P2, and 
Appendix 6 of the Ecology Report) shows that all ring barked trees will now be coppiced and 
approximately fifteen standard trees retained.  The resultant coppice regrowth will be laid to form a 
new hedge and any gaps replanted.  The time table for these works is shown within the management 
plan. 
 
Over a 5-10 year period these works will result in a better structured hedge, with greater biodiversity, 
and a denser form providing better lower level screening than at present.  
 
Landscaping 
 
The landscape planting plan shows how new planting around the site boundaries will help bolster the 
hedgerow screening, and shows a good level of tree planting around the rest of the site. 
 
 
Tree Protection 
 
The Tree Protection Plan (TPP), 1240.08 P2, shows the basic weld mesh fencing around the 
perimeter and individual trees.  There are areas where the TPP is immediately adjacent to new 
chalets, which means some construction activity is likely to be within the RPA i.e. scaffolding.  No 
information has been provided regarding this or the installation of paths and surfacing or where 
excavation is required close to/or within RPAs. 
 
This information will need to be provided within a site specific Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
and updated TPP, which can be secured by means of a planning condition. 
 
Details of any other tree pruning to facilitate the proposed development will also be required. 
 
Landscape Impact 
 
An update to the original Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been produced by the 
David Wilson Partnership.  This looks at the impact of the hedgerow management works on the 
overall landscape character of the site. 
 
The LVIA states: 
 

Page 48



"The resulting scale of change would be medium - key elements and characteristics of the site would 
be partially altered such that the baseline situation would be noticeably changed. The extent of the 
area affected by this scale of change would be limited to the site itself and Bidna Lane. There would 
be little change to the surrounding area to the south, west and east because of the screening / filtering 
of surrounding woodland and structures. Changes to the character of Bidna Lane would be mitigated 
as proposed hedgerow management and planting matured. At completion of construction the extent 
of change would be localised. The extent would reduce to limited year 15, as planting on the northern 
boundary matured. The change would be permanent. 
The magnitude of change of the development is assessed as medium adverse at completion, 
reducing to medium - low adverse as mitigating planting matures in year 15. Combined with medium - 
low sensitivity, the overall effect would be moderate adverse reducing to slight adverse with maturity. 
Mitigating measures proposed (retention and management of surrounding hedgerow, woodland and 
trees, succession planting) would help 
to restrict the impact of the development to a small area". 
 
I agree with the LVIA the hedgerow works will only affect views from the north and these are mainly 
users of Bidna Lane itself.  There will be a reduction in canopy cover seen from other directions 
especially from the south from Windmill Lane, but this will just be a slight reduction in landscape 
character and not affect the visibility of the proposed chalets. 
 
The proposed hedgerow management works and internal planting will take time to establish, however 
they will result in a denser vegetated barrier along Bidna Lane than currently exists. 
 
I therefore agree that the overall effect will be moderate adverse reducing to slight adverse with 
maturity. 
 
In conclusion I have no objection to this proposal subject to a site specific AMS and updated TPP. 
 
Suggested condition: 
 
 Provision & implementation of an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and Tree Protection Plan 
(TPP) 
 
No works or development shall take place until a scheme for the protection of the retained trees and 
hedges [BS5837: 2012 section 5.5 Tree protection plan (TPP) and 6.1 Arboricultural method 
statement (AMS)] has been agreed in writing with the by the Local Planning Authority and these 
works shall be carried out as approved. 
 
This scheme shall include [include those that are pertinent]: 
 
(a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that shows the position, crown 
spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) of every retained tree and hedge on site and on neighbouring 
or nearby ground to the site in relation to the approved plans and particulars. The positions of all trees 
and hedges to be removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan and marked with a dashed 
outline. 
 
(b)a tree survey schedule in accordance with section 4.4 of BS5837: 2012. 
 
(c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, 
specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, whether for physiological, hazard 
abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons.  All tree works shall be carried out in accordance with 
British Standard 3998: 2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 
 
(d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Ground Protection 
Zones. 
 
(e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Tree Protection 
Barriers, identified separately where required for different phases of construction work (e.g. 

Page 49



demolition, construction, hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected prior to 
each construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the duration of that 
phase.  No works shall take place on the next phase until the Tree Protection Barriers are 
repositioned for that phase. 
 
(f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Construction Exclusion 
Zones. 
 
(g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the underground service 
runs.  
 
(h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed excavations within 5 metres of 
the Root Protection Area of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or nearby ground. 
 
(i)  the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the protection of retained trees, 
(e.g. in connection with foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 
 
(j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of buildings, structures and 
surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained trees. 
 
(k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of drives and paths within the 
RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the principles of 'No-Dig' construction. 
 
(l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access for and use of heavy, 
large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and their loads, dredging machinery, concrete 
pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 
 
(m)  the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site logistics and storage, 
including an allowance for slopes, water courses and enclosures, with particular regard to ground 
compaction and phytotoxicity. 
 
(n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal of site cabins within 
any RPA. 
 
(o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase. 
 
(p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context of the tree protection 
measures. 
 
(q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained 
tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, 
without the written approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall be 
carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 
 
(r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or hedge 
shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge shall be of such size and species, and shall 
be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
(s) the details of the arboricultural consultant to be employed during construction works to supervise 
erection of protective barriers and to carry out site monitoring during the development. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the appearance and character of the area. 
 
DCC Rights Of Way:  
Devon County Council have asked that I comment on the above planning application. Please note the 
application may affect Northam Footpath(s) 28, 9 and 6 (which also forms a section of the South West 
Coast Path (SWCP) 
 

Page 50



National Trail (see attached plan). 
Whilst it would appear that the Development will not directly affect footpath 28, 9 or the SWCP , we 
note that Bidna Lane, (which also carries FP 28) if used as access to the site would then cause FP 28 
to be affected. 
We would therefore remind the applicant that they must ensure that the way(s) remains open and 
available to the public at all times, including during the period of any construction activity such as with 
building materials or spoil and contractors' vehicles and plant etc. Should it be necessary to 
temporarily divert or close the path(s) during construction works the applicant may apply to DCC for a 
temporary traffic order. If steps are taken to safeguard all  
 
Public Rights of Way (PROW) then Devon County Council (PRoW Team) will not object to the 
Development.  
 
Environmental Protection:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections. For 
information, the two foul drainage proposals seem acceptable. However, permissions and advice will 
need to be sought from SWW and the Environment Agency.  
 
AONB Team:  
No comments received  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application. The proposed development lies in proximity to the putative battle at 
Bloody Corner between Harold and Brian, son of Eudo, which took place in AD1069. The precise 
location of this battle is unknown and, as such, any development in this area may reveal artefactual 
and archaeological deposits associated with this event. 
 
For this reason and in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 in the Torridge Local Plan I would advise that any consent your 
Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model 
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, 
whereby: 
 
No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan, that an appropriate record is made of 
archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development. 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches to determine 
the presence and significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected 
by the development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of 
any further archaeological 
mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or during construction works. This 
archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area excavation in advance of groundworks or 
the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated with the construction of the proposed 
development to allow for the identification, investigation and recording of any exposed archaeological 
or artefactual deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken 
would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and illustrated report. 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. We can provide the 
applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact details for archaeological 
contractors who would be able to undertake this work.  

Page 51



 
Natural England:  
 
Revised comment 16-1-2018 
 
I think our concerns had been allayed with some further information about the SuDS treatment drain, 
but if the applicant is proposing connection to mains sewer then we don't have any concerns re water 
quality. 
 
Original Response 
 
In summary we feel, based on the information provided, that this is relatively low risk for the Taw 
Torridge Estuary SSSI in terms of diffuse pollution.  However, we would still like to raise the following 
points:  
 
As mentioned in our advice to the LPA (12th April 2017) connection to a mains sewer within 200m 
should be the first consideration.  Advice from the Environment Agency on gov.uk is that 'If any part of 
the building your treatment plant serves is within 30 metres of a public sewer, the Environment 
Agency will not allow you to start a new discharge from a sewage treatment plant under the general 
binding rules.   If you are building a development of more than one property, this distance must be 
multiplied by the number of properties, e.g. if there are 3 properties then the distance will be 3 x 30 
metres = 90 metres.   If there is a good reason why you can't connect to the sewer (e.g. there is a 
river or a hill in the way) then you must apply for a permit so that the Environment Agency can decide 
whether to allow you to use a sewage treatment plant instead. Contact the Environment Agency to 
find out what information you will need to put in your application'. 
 
You are not proposing connection to mains sewer because of the nature of the development i.e. 
holiday accommodation which is unlikely to be occupied 100% of the time causing water in the rising 
main to turn septic.  We weren't convinced that this would be an issue with connection to the main 
sewer.  However, on reading your email again I note that connection would be via a package pump 
which is where I understand the issue with standing water would occur.   Our understanding of 
Package Treatment Plants (PTP) is that they can also present a problem for properties with 
intermittent occupation.   
 
Your preferred option is to utilise a PTP that will discharge treated effluent into the private 
watercourse which connects to a retention pond downstream. The existing retention pond is being 
increased in size so that it retains water after storm events, allowing it to slowly evaporate or dissipate 
into the ground. The area of saltmarsh/marsh downstream will provide capacity for dealing with more 
extreme storm events.  Although PTP are considered an acceptable option for discharge direct to a 
water course there is evidence that they are not as efficient at stripping nutrients out and so discharge 
to ground is preferred. We would therefore welcome an additional stage in the SuDS treatment train 
to include an area for discharge to ground before the discharge reaches the stream (separation 
distance should be 30m).  In addition to the planting proposed for the retention pond, this would 
present a more comprehensive treatment train and further avoid any nutrient load impacts on the 
stream and saltmarsh/marsh habitat. 
 
The discharge is some distance from the SSSI and the existing SuDS treatment train provides 
opportunities for nutrients to be stripped out.  The Torridge is tidal at the point of discharge and 
Nitrogen loading is the key concern.  Package Treatment Plants are better at stripping N from any 
discharge.  The water quality requirements from the PTP are not more onerous because the 
development has triggered Natural England's water quality Impact Risk Zone for the SSSI. The IRZ 
merely flags the issue/potential risk.  Under the Environmental Permitting (England and 
Wales)(Amendment)(England) Regulations 2014 everyone who has a septic tank or small sewage 
treatment plant will be expected to follow the general binding rules as a minimum, and the vast 
majority of owners will not require a permit.  In or near designated sensitive areas where a higher 
level of protection is needed, small sewage discharges will continue to require permits as necessary. 
Guidance at  https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks/overview  states 'You must have 
planning permission and Building Regulations approval if you have or are planning to install a new 

Page 52



sewage treatment plant. Check if the discharge point is in or near a designated sensitive area.  If you 
have or are planning to start a new discharge to a surface water in or near to a designated sensitive 
area, you must apply for a permit.  You will need a permit if the new discharge will be in or within 500 
metres of any special areas of conservation; special protection areas; Ramsar sites; biological sites of 
special scientific interest; freshwater pearl mussel population; designated bathing water; protected 
shellfish water. You will also need a permit if the new discharge will be in or within 200 metres of an 
aquatic local nature reserve or 50 metres of a chalk river or aquatic local wildlife site. Contact the 
Environment Agency to check if you're in or near a designated sensitive area and to find out if you 
need a permit'. 
 
It would be useful to know which PTP the developer is proposing to use and what function if any the 
retention pond currently serves in terms of foul water management.  Could you also just confirm that 
the red line development boundary on your drawings indicates the route of the PTP outflow into the 
retention pond? 
  
Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
 
Knapp House  Activity Centre is located on elevated ground to the west of the River Torridge. It is 
directly opposite Tapeley Park, a grade II* listed house with an associated grade II* registered Park 
and Garden of the same name, which sits on the opposite bank of the river. The registered landscape 
is multi-phased and largely intact, with a C20 terraced garden, mid C19 pleasure grounds set within a 
C18 parkland. The parkland continues to the west, running down to the river bank and provides an 
undulating landscape with the designed eye-catcher, the Obelisk, which punctuates the views. The 
design of the landscape and the orientation of the house utilises the surrounding topography, taking 
advantage of the broad and expansive views across the river towards the sea, with the backdrop of 
the countryside beyond. 
 
The current use as a caravan park is low impact, being largely seasonal with limited associated 
infrastructure. This allows the site to maintain the green and rural quality and is only affected on a 
temporary basis. The Babcock site is a significant intervention into views; however, it is within a 
confined boundary set along the water’s edge, which allows the wider landscape to retain a strong 
rural quality with limited urban features to erode it. 
 
The proposal is to change a current caravan site into a 60 unit holiday chalet park with associated 
infrastructure. Historic England has concerns with the proposal, due to the intensification in the use of 
the site through the increased density and permanent nature of units. The proposal also looks to 
increase the scale and mass of the chalets, which are largely 2 ½ storeys and allow for the chalets to 
address the gradient of the site, as well as the associated infrastructure with the introduction of street 
lighting and hard surfaced roads. These works will create a meaningful urban intervention, eroding the 
rural landscape permanently in an elevated and prominent position along the hill side. This rural 
character offers an important contribution in key views out from the registered park due to the design 
of the landscape and its relationship with the house, which takes advantage of the outstanding 
scenery. 
 
Historic England considers that the scheme will have a result in a harmful impact to the registered 
park and garden. Under the NPPF, this is identified as less than substantial harm but this should not 
be considered as acceptable harm (Para 134). The NPPF identifies that the more important the asset 
the greater the weight should be given to the assets conservation. (Para 132). As this is a grade II* 
registered garden and listed structure, these assets are of more than special interest with the listed 
building forming the top 8% of all listed structures. Therefore, under the balancing act of para 134, the 
council need to robust test that the public benefits offered by the scheme outweighs the harm 
identified to the highly graded heritage assets. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. The scheme will result 
in harm to the setting of a complex of highly designated heritage asset. The council needs to robustly 
assess that the public benefits offered discernibly outweigh the harm to the heritage assets (Para 
134). 

Page 53



 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or 
further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
Additional Comments following receipt of the Heritage Impact Report 
 
Thank you for your letter of 14 March 2018 regarding further information on the above application for 
planning permission. Historic England commented on this application in May 2017. Additional 
information has been provided to support the application in the form of a Heritage Appraisal and 
Impact Assessment (HAIA). As a result of this information, Historic England has revised its response 
and this is provided below. 
 
Historic England Advice 
Knapp Hill Activity Centre is located on elevated ground to the west of the River Torridge. It is directly 
opposite Tapeley Park, a grade II* listed house with an associated grade II* registered Park and 
Garden of the same name, which sits on the opposite bank of the river. The registered landscape is 
multi-phased and largely intact, with a C20 terraced garden, mid C19 pleasure grounds set within a 
C18 parkland. The parkland continues to the west, running down to the river bank and provides an 
undulating landscape with the designed eye-catcher, the Obelisk, which punctuates the views. The 
design of the landscape and the orientation of the house utilises the surrounding topography, taking 
advantage of the broad and expansive views across the river towards the sea, with the backdrop of 
the countryside beyond. 
 
The current use of this part of the Knapp House site as a caravan and camping site is low impact, with 
the landscape unmodified by landscaping, roads, lighting or permanent structures. The HIAI has 
clarified that the use of the field is not seasonal, but year round. However, despite the white caravan 
roofs being visible in the landscape, the non-fixed nature of the caravans and the less intensive use 
allows the site to maintain a green and rural character. The reversibility of the use of this field is clear 
- the caravans and electricity pick up points could be easily removed and the field would return to 
agricultural use. 
 
The Babcock site is a significant intervention into views. However, it is within a confined boundary set 
along the water’s edge, which allows the wider landscape to retain a strong rural quality with limited 
urban features to erode it. It is acknowledged that 20th century development has to some extent 
eroded the character and quality of the landscape on the west side of the river, however, this does not 
justify additional harm being caused without robust justification and a clear understanding of potential 
longer term impacts on the character of the area. 
 
The proposal is to change the current caravan site into a 60 unit holiday chalet park with associated 
infrastructure. Historic England has concerns about the proposal, due to the intensification in the use 
of the site, the increased density and permanent nature of units, the height of the holiday units, the 
road and lighting infrastructure and the terracing of the landscape. 
 
The proposed chalets are densely located across the field and have the mass and scale of domestic 
houses. The height is 2 storeys and whilst their orientation allows for the chalets to address the 
gradient of the site, associated levelling works will permanently alter the shape and character of the 
site. This will be exacerbated by the introduction of street lighting and hard surfaced roads. It is 
acknowledged that the materials palette for the development will introduce darker materials that may, 
at first appearance, blend into the landscape better than the existing white caravan roofs. However, in 
our opinion, this colour improvement does not outweigh the harm caused by the increased density of 
units, the domestic and permanent nature of the units and the associated infrastructure. 
 
The proposal will create a meaningful urban intervention, eroding the rural landscape permanently in 
an elevated and prominent position along the hill side. This rural character offers an important 
contribution in key views out from the registered park due to the design of the landscape and its 
relationship with the house, which takes advantage of the outstanding scenery. 
 

Page 54



Historic England considers that the scheme will result in a harmful impact to the registered park and 
garden. Under the NPPF, this is identified as less than substantial harm but this should not be 
considered as acceptable harm (Para 134). The NPPF identifies that the more important the asset the 
greater the weight should be given to the assets conservation (Para 132). As this is a grade II* 
registered garden and listed structure, these assets are of more than special interest with the listed 
building forming the top 8% of all listed structures. Therefore, under the balancing act of para 134, the 
council need to robust test that the public benefits offered by the scheme outweighs the harm 
identified to the highly graded heritage assets.  
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. The scheme will result 
in harm to the setting of a complex of highly designated heritage assets. The council needs to robustly 
assess that the public benefits offered discernibly outweigh the harm to the heritage assets (Para 
134). 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which they possess. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or 
further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  7  Number of letters of support:  2 
Number of representations received:  215 Number of neutral representations: 1 
Number of objection letters:  210  

 
215 representations have been received which comprise 210 objections, 2 letters of support and 1 
neutral comment. 
 
The key objections to this proposal comprise the following: 
a) Loss of green space between Northam and Appledore 
b) Impact on the landscape and the coastal/riverside region 
c) Impact of traffic on the road network 
d) Impact on ecology, wildlife 
e) Questionable economic benefits to the tourist industry 
f) Loss of land which is reputed to be a key battlefield site 
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT2C (Development In The Open Countryside); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building 
Design); DVT8 (Landscaping); DVT11 (Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT18 (Impact of 
Development on Traffic); DVT19 (Access and Parking); DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage); ENV1 
(Conservation Interest); ENV10 (Mitigation and Enhancement); ECD6 (Tourism Development 
Criteria);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 

Page 55



Joint North Devon and Torridge Local Plan : 
 
Policy ST09 – Coast and Estuary Strategy 
Policy DM18 – Tourism  Accommodation 
 
Refer to addendum 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The key considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 
a) Principle 
b) Affect on the character and appearance of the locality  
c) Design/Materials d) Trees/Landscape  
e) Tourist justification  
f) Access/Parking  
g) Foul/Surface Water  
h) Ecology  
i) Archaeology 
j) Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
a) Principle  
 
The site is within the open countryside and therefore subject to Policy DVT2C of the Torridge District 
Local Plan (TDLP) which states that "development should not detract from the character and 
appearance of the open countryside" 
 
Subject to the above, acceptable types of tourist development are permissible, the criteria for this is 
set out in Policy ECD6 of the TDLP, which is set out below: 
 
Planning permission for acceptable types of tourist development will be granted provided that: 
 
(a) the tourist need is identified, or the proposal is well related to existing tourism centres, attractions, 
or assets; and 
(b) adequate arrangements for effective visitor management are incorporated; and 
(c) the wider benefits of the scheme outweigh any conservation and amenity interests; and 
(d) the natural beauty of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty is not harmed. 
 
(2) New tourist development permissible at villages or in the open countryside will be expected: 
(a) to bring significant economic benefits to the wider area, or substantial benefits to the community; 
and 
(b) to demonstrate explicitly the scale and extent of such benefits. 
 
The proposal will replace the existing caravan/camping site with a year round visitor attraction. A 
Management Company (to be secured through a Section 106 agreement) would be responsible for 
the grounds maintenance, to include the trees and hedgerows, swimming pool, reception building and 
refuse collection. 
 
The development would be aimed largely at the private investor seeking both a holiday home in the 
region and an opportunity to let out the holiday home, which is similar to recently built and approved 
development alongside the North Devon Golf Club, Westward Ho! The applicants are proposing a 
partnership with "Holiday Cottages" based in Bideford who would offer a letting service, envisaged to 
be in the region of 30 bookings per year comprising a mix of mixed weeks and short breaks. 
 
The proposal would create 14-15 full time jobs and although the site is not formally connected to the 
existing Knapp House Activity Centre, the site physically adjoins the Centre and opportunities to use 

Page 56



the facilities and activities offered by the Centre will be available to the occupiers such as Water-
skiing, Climb/abseil and surfing. 
 
The site would offer a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom accommodation in a location alongside a major 
road, yet accessible to the coast and the South-West footpath. The year round accommodation would 
vastly upgrade the level of accommodation available on this site and provide a high end opportunity 
for visitor accommodation in this key coastal area. 
 
The upgrading of visitor facilities and the provision of high quality tourist accommodation is central to 
the local economy, which is set out in both the National Planning Policy Framework and at a local 
level through the TDLP. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy ECD6 of the 
Torridge District Local Plan and the guidance as set out in the NPPF 
 
b) Affect on the character and appearance of the locality  
 
The site is a single enclosed field which is currently used as both a static and touring caravan site as 
well as for camping and is therefore a well contained site visually. The site lies in a shallow valley 
meaning there are limited long distant views of the site. The existing and lawful use of the site for 
caravans/mobile homes and camper vans is a material consideration in assessing the visual impact of 
the proposed holiday development. 
 
The "Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment" (LVIA) concludes that having regard to the site and 
immediate surroundings the overall effect on the landscape character would be slight adverse, and 
the overall visual effect would be slight adverse. As the site is well screened and hidden by the 
topography of the surrounding landscape the wider impacts would be negligible.  
 
In response, the Council's Tree and Landscape Officer (TLO) commented as follows:  
 
Having viewed the site from the provided viewpoints and assessed the site against the landscape 
character appraisals I have to agree with the provided LVIA conclusions that the site is well contained 
and although the chalet development will be a more concentrated development its impact on the 
wider landscape will not be significant. All trees and hedgerows are to be retained and enhanced and 
the site does not extend past Knapp House towards the estuary so cannot be compared to the 
previous marina development proposals. 
 
Landscape mitigation is shown on the landscape general arrangement drawing, but no detailed 
landscape specification has been provided. A full landscape specification should be secured as a 
planning condition should the proposals be granted permission 
 
The revised LVIA (produced following the ring-barking of the trees along the northern boundary) gave 
the following assessment: 
 
"The resulting scale of change would be medium - key elements and characteristics of the site of the 
area affected by this scale of change would be limited to the site itself and Bidna Lane would be 
partially altered such that the baseline situation would be noticeably changed. The extent. There 
would be little change to the surrounding area to the south, west and east because of the screening / 
filtering of surrounding woodland and structures. Changes to the character of Bidna Lane would be 
mitigated as proposed hedgerow management and planting matured. At completion of construction 
the extent of change would be localised. The extent would reduce to limited year 15, as planting on 
the northern boundary matured. The change would be permanent. 
 
The magnitude of change of the development is assessed as medium adverse at completion, 
reducing to medium - low adverse as mitigating planting matures in year 15. Combined with medium - 
low sensitivity, the overall effect would be moderate adverse reducing to slight adverse with maturity. 
Mitigating measures proposed (retention and management of surrounding hedgerow, woodland and 
trees, succession planting) would help to restrict the impact of the development to a small area". 
 
In response to the revised report, the Council's TLO stated: 

Page 57



 
I agree with the LVIA the hedgerow works will only affect views from the north and these are mainly 
users of Bidna Lane itself.  There will be a reduction in canopy cover seen from other directions 
especially from the south from Windmill Lane, but this will just be a slight reduction in landscape 
character and not affect the visibility of the proposed chalets. 
 
The proposed hedgerow management works and internal planting will take time to establish, however 
they will result in a denser vegetated barrier along Bidna Lane than currently exists. 
 
I therefore agree that the overall effect will be moderate adverse reducing to slight adverse with 
maturity. 
 
In conclusion I have no objection to this proposal subject to a site specific AMS and updated TPP. 
 
Accordingly it is considered to comply with Policy DVT2C of the TDLP 
 
c) Design/Materials  
 
The proposal seeks a contemporary design to the lodges and the Admin building. The proposal differs 
from the traditional appearance of caravans or timber lodges, however their appearance is considered 
to reflect the rural location, with the materials being timber walls and render with mono-pitched roofs 
and external decked areas. 
 
The design is modern and seeks to take advantage of the south facing slope of the site, the outdoor 
views and the rural location. As set out above, the site is not largely visible from beyond its 
boundaries and is considered to represent a modern approach to tourist accommodation and an 
acceptable scheme in this location. Accordingly the proposal is considered to comply with policies 
DVT6 and DVT7 of the TDLP. 
 
d) Trees/Landscape  
 
The proposal seeks to constructed the holiday development within a open field, where no trees will be 
directly affected. The site is bordered by mature hedgerows on three sides and the overall layout was 
amended on a number of of occasions to ensure that the root protection area of the hedges and trees 
were not adversely affected. A subsequent "Construction Management Plan" has been submitted 
which indicates that the development (particularly the foundations and retaining walls) can be 
constructed without having an impact on the either the hedges or trees. 
 
Members may be aware that during the consideration of this application, a number of trees along the 
northern boundary were "ring barked" and therefore are likely to die. The applicant suggested that this 
was part of a management plan, however revised reports were requested, to have regard to the likely 
loss of these trees. 
 
To clarify this matter, the applicant has not committed any offence with these actions and while it 
might be a method which is not recognised by Tree Consultants or by Natural England, the Local 
Planning Authority were very quick to query these actions and to highlight the fact that these works 
rendered a number of the reports not fit for purpose. 
 
The Council's Tree and Landscape Officer has worked closely alongside the Case Officer to not only 
secure a revised layout and a less dense scheme, but also to ensure that a robust planting and 
management plan has been submitted which not only protects the trees and hedgerows on the site, 
but enhances the landscaping of the site to secure an acceptable scheme. 
 
The TLO has now raised no objection to the proposal, subject to a number of conditions and ensuring 
that the tree protection measures, landscaping and ongoing management of the site is secured. The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policies DVT2C, DVT6, DVT7 and DVT8 of the TDLP. 
 
e) Tourist justification  

Page 58



 
As expressed above, Policy ECD6 of the TDLP refers to tourist development and the desire to 
support the enhancement to existing tourist sites. 
 
The site has existed for many years as a caravan/camping site which is largely seasonal. The 
proposal seeks a year round tourist site with a high quality design of visitor accommodation, coupled 
with an indoor pool and play area. The Local Plan seeks to upgrade existing tourist sites in 
appropriate locations and it is considered that this represents an acceptable proposal which would 
boost the local economy and provide a much needed facility for visitors. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the above Policy. 
 
f) Access/Parking  
 
A full Transport Statement has been submitted, which analysed the existing traffic generated from the 
site, against the likely impact of the development on traffic. The report concluded the following: 
 
a) The proposal is consistent with the national and local planning and transport policies 
b) The proposal is forecast to generate a similar level of traffic when compared to the existing 
operation and thus the anticipated development traffic can be comfortably accommodated within the 
existing highway without resulting in any perceptible impact on the adjoining highway. 
c) The proposal provides suitable parking spaces and turning facilities and is served by a junction fit 
for purpose as has been the case for the preceding years. 
 
The proposal seeks to utilise the existing vehicular access into the site onto Churchill Way. Devon 
County Council as Highway Authority have raised no objection to the proposal.  
 
A number of objections have been received which object to the level of traffic which would be 
generated by the development, however the access onto Churchill Way and the main Appledore road 
itself is capable of accommodating this additional traffic, which is only likely to be noticeable for 
periods outside the Summer months. Key to this consideration, the level fo traffic would not be 
considered as "severe" to impact on the local highway network. Accordingly the proposal is 
considered to comply with Policies DVT18, DVT19 and Paragraph 32 of the  NPPF. 
 
g) Foul/Surface Water  
 
Foul 
The proposal originally sought a private package treatment plant to treat the foul water from the site. 
 
Following an objection from the Environment Agency based on the lack of a justification for a private 
treatment works on site,, this has been amended to a direct connect to the public sewer which runs 
along Churchill way outside the site. As a result, the EA have withdrawn their objection and SWW 
have confirmed that this is acceptable. 
 
Surface Water 
The proposed site roof areas account for 0.581Ha of hardstanding area and the tarmac road 
area accounts for 0.102Ha. This generates 489.1m3 of runoff for the 6 hour 1 in 100 year return 
period plus 40% allowance for climate change. The remaining 1.753Ha of site area will remain 
as a greenfield runoff scenario and will therefore generate 356m3 of runoff.  
 
The proposed site will generate a total of 845.1m3 of runoff for the 6 hour 1 in 100-year event 
plus allowance for climate change, which is an increase of 350.4m3.  
 
Soakaway testing has been conducted on this site which has determined that infiltration is 
not a viable option for surface water disposal. Therefore, in line with the SUDS management 
train, surface water will be discharged into a watercourse. 
 

Page 59



There is an existing retention pond on the site which will be increased in volume to accommodate the 
additional volume of runoff generated by the development site. This pond’s outflow is controlled by a 
weir. This drains down through a grill into a piped system that connects to another retention pond 
downstream; refer to the picture below. The ponds plan area is approximately 473m2, therefore it is 
proposed to raise the weir outflow level by approximately 1.2m to increase the capacity of the pond by 
567.6m3. Some re-profiling of the ground and embankments is required. 
 
In the existing scenario during regular storm events the pond will slowly fill up and retain surface 
water which will gradually dissipate into the ground via infiltration. During more extreme storm events 
the pond fills up and excess surface water over topples the weir and drains down the grating. By 
increasing the storage volume of the pond to deal with the additional volume of runoff generated by 
the development the peak rate of runoff, i.e. flow of water discharging over the weir, will be 
unchanged from the existing scenario as the extra surface water is held back. Furthermore, as we are 
increasing the volume of the pond the quantity of surface water passed on downstream will also 
remain unchanged. 
 
Back to back storm events are also a consideration due to the pond relying on infiltration and 
evaporation to drain down. Therefore an assessment of the half drain time for the 1 in 1 year 
6 hour event (+ 40% climate change) has been undertaken by using the infiltration results 
from site. This has determined that it will take 5 days to drain down half a 1 in 1 year event. 
 
It is proposed to increase the storage volume of the pond such that it is able to store back to 
back storm events. The pond will therefore be increased to 567.3m3 which will provide storage 
for the additional volume of runoff generated by the 6 hour 1 in 100 year event and the 6 
hour 1 in 1 year return period events plus 40% climate change.  
 
The surface water management should incorporate sustainable drainage techniques to restrict 
surface water discharge from the site and improve water quality of the run off. There are a wide range 
of techniques that can be applied including source control, online systems and outlet controls.  
 
Devon County Council as the Flood Risk Authority raises no objection to the proposal, subject to a 
range of conditions. These have been set out in the recommendation. The drainage pond and surface 
water drainage management system would then by the subject of a Section 106 agreement, securing 
its ongoing management. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy DVT24 of the TDLP. 
 
h) Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the Torridge District Local Plan through policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require 
development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats. 
 
The application has been accompanied by an Ecology Report, which has been updated following the 
ring-barking to the trees along the northern boundary. The Ecology Report does not identify any 
protected species on the site, such a dormice or badgers. It makes a series of recommendations for 
the proposal such as scrub clearance outside the nesting season, further landscaping throughout the 
site and a subtle lighting scheme, given its rural location and the likelihood of bats crossing the site. 
These have been incorporated into the recommended conditions. 
 
Natural England raises no objection in principle to the scheme, but originally raised concerns about a 
foul water treatment package on the site with the risk of pollution. This concern has been withdrawn. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the TDLP. 

Page 60



 
i) Archaeology 
 
A number of representation have been received which relate to the application site being part of a 
former battlefield being the 1069 Battlefield of Northam. While a local historian has published papers 
on this battle, the application site is not a designated former Battlefield and therefore carries no 
statutory designation. The battlefield site has not been recognised by either Historic England or 
Devon County Council's Archaeological Department, although DCC have made reference to it, albeit 
they cannot confirm the precise location of the battle. Accordingly they have recommended that an 
archaeological dig is undertaken to establish if there is any evidence of this, which may of course 
clarify the historical facts.  
 
The Council has communicated with the local historian, Mr Arnold and recommended that he contacts 
Historic England (HE) with his research. HE have the ability to designate the site as a Schedule 
Battlefield site on the statutory register, however unless this occurs, the site cannot be recognised in 
this manner. The archaeological dig may clarify the situation. Subject to this condition, it is considered 
to comply with Policy ENV4 of the TDLP. 
 
j) Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
The application site is not immediately adjacent to any listed Buildings or Conservation Areas, 
however the site can be viewed from Tapeley Park and its parkland which is in Westleigh on the east 
side of the River Torridge. 
 
Tapeley Park is Listed as Grade II, its formal parkland is registered as Grade II*.  In addition the site is 
partial visible from the Westleigh Conservation Area and Westleigh Parish Church which is Grade I. 
 
In terms of assessing the impact on these heritage assets, it is important to appreciate that the 
application site has a lawful use as a year-round caravan and camping site and that the caravans, 
mobile homes and camper vans can continue to be lawfully sited. These have their own visual impact, 
being largely coloured white and many of the caravans/camper vans are sited throughout the year, 
albeit only occupied on a tourist basis. This is a material consideration when assessing the visual 
impact of this development. 
 
Any assessment of its visual impact should have regard to the existing and lawful use of the site and 
consider whether the proposed development would have any more harm to these designated heritage 
assets than the existing use on the site. 
 
Historic England (HE) and North Devon Council (NDC) originally raised concerns regarding the 
potential visual impact of the proposed development upon Tapeley Park and as a result the applicants 
commissioned a Heritage Impact Assessment  
 
Paragraphs 132 to 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) refers to assessing the 
impact of development on the significance of a designated heritage asset. It states that “substantial 
harm or the total loss of a heritage asset should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that this 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss”. 
 
“Where development will lead to a less than substantial harm to the significance of a heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including its optimum viable 
use”. 
 
In addition since the application was submitted, Historic England has updated its guidance note 3 – 
“The Setting of Heritage Assets” (December 2017). 
 
Within this guidance there are 5 steps and of these there are 2 which need to be considered as part of 
the application process and are helpful in setting out the key issues: 
 

Page 61



Step 2: Assess the degree to which these settings make a contribution to the significance of the 
heritage asset(s) or allow significance to be appreciated. 
 
Step 3: Assess the effects of the proposed development, whether beneficial or harmful, on that 
significance or on the ability to appreciate it. 
 
It is important to distinguish from the setting of the heritage asset and the impact of the proposal on 
the landscape and visual amenity of the area. In this case while the application site is visible from 
Tapeley the question to consider is does the proposal affect the setting of the heritage asset? 
 
While the proposal would increase the density of development on the site, the palate of materials, 
being largely timber boarding would be less dominant in the landscape than the white caravans, 
particularly when viewed from a distance. Planning conditions for the new proposal would control 
lighting where none exists at the moment, plus additional landscaping would soften its impact. 
 
The applicant’s Heritage Appraisal offers the following conclusion: 
 
Having carefully assessed the impact of the current lawful use, which is in place without any planning 
conditions that can control its use, appearance, management or maintenance, with the impact of the 
proposed use which has been carefully designed to minimise its impact upon the wider landscape and 
which may be controlled by conditions of any planning approval, it is concluded that the proposed use 
would have a similar if not lesser impact upon the significance of neighbouring designated heritage 
assets than the lawful existing use of the land. The proposed development is therefore found to 
accord with historic environment planning law and policy. 
 
Your Officers, in response do not consider that there is a “similar if not lesser impact” Instead they 
consider that while the proposal is have some visual impact on the significance of the heritage assets 
mentioned above, this impact would be minimal and “less than substantial” as defined in the NPPF. 
 
Accordingly there is a requirement to balance this harm against the public benefits of the proposal. 
Making this judgement, your Officers have already considered that the proposal would bring economic 
benefits to the area, in terms of upgrading tourist accommodation and provide a year-round facility as 
opposed to a largely seasonal camp site. The harm to the heritage assets are considered to be 
minimal, as set out above due to the marginal change in the long range visual impact of the proposal 
and accordingly it is considered that the benefits outweigh the harm caused by the proposal. It is 
therefore considered that this proposal complies with Policy ENV2 and Paras 132-134 of the NPPF. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
The proposal will involve the loss of a caravan and camping site and although the site is not a 
"greenfield" site in planning terms, the proposal will result in the loss of a large grass-covered site. 
The proposal will not harm the hedges surrounding the site, not the trees within it. The benefits of the 
proposal in terms of a boost to the local economy is considered to outweigh the harm to the site in 
terms of the loss of the green spaces within the site.  
 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

Page 62



 
Subject to the applicant entering into a legal agreement covering the following matters: 
 

a) Securing of a Management Agreement to ensure the ongoing management of the trees, 
hedges, open space, play space, reception building and swimming pool  and surface water 
pond and the surface water drainage management system in perpetuity 

 
GRANT 
 
 1        The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
             
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
  
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
            
 3         The holiday units shall be used for holiday accommodation and for no other purpose (including 

any other purpose in Class C3 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification).            

                       
           Reason: To ensure that the holiday accommodation is occupied in accordance with the 

justification for the development provided. Open market residential use would be contrary to 
Policies DVT2C, ECD6 of the Torridge District Local Plan and Paragraph 18 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework in that it would result in the loss of an economic and tourist asset 
which benefits both Bideford and the surrounding rural area. 

 
 4         Upon commencement of the use hereby approved the owner/site operator shall keep a record 

of all persons who have occupied the unit for holiday purposes including details of the duration 
of their stay. Such records shall be kept and made available for inspection by the Local 
Planning Authority upon prior written request. 

                                  
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the premises are occupied 

strictly in accordance with the restrictions imposed. 
 
 5         Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development)  (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking, re-enacting or 
modifying that Order), no development within Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1, Class A of 
Part 2 and Class A of Part 14 of Schedule 2 to the said Order shall be carried out without an 
express grant of planning permission. 

                                             
           Reason: To ensure that the form and bulk of the tourism units are not changed by 

inappropriate alteration and extension and in the interests of the character and appearance of 
their setting within the development together with retaining the privacy and amenities of the 
occupiers of each dwelling. 

 
 6         Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their 

installation, details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of the facing and 
roofing materials to be used in the construction of the proposed development shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details shall 
be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and shall 
thereafter be retained as such. 

                                             

Page 63



           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials to be 
used for the development.   

 
 7         The landscaping/hedgerow/tree protection plan hereby approved shall be implemented in 

accordance with the approved details, these being the Landscape Plan Ref: 1240.02. P5,  the 
Tree Protection Plan 1240. 08 P2 and  the Tree/Hedgerow Management Plan 1240.09. P2 all 
received on 5th October 2017.. The approved scheme shall be implemented so that planting 
can be carried out during the first planting season following the occupation of the building(s) or 
the completion of the development whichever is the sooner. The planting shall be maintained 
for five years and any trees or plants removed, dying being damaged or becoming diseased 
within that period shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species to those originally required to be planted season with others of similar size and 
species to those originally required to be planted unless the Council gives written consent to 
any variation.  

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details 

and to soften the impact of the buildings lessening its visual impact. 
                            
 8         No works or development shall take place until a scheme for the protection of the retained 

trees and hedges [BS5837: 2012 section 5.5 Tree protection plan (TPP) and 6.1 Arboricultural 
method statement (AMS)] has been agreed in writing with the by the Local Planning Authority 
and these works shall be carried out as approved. 

            
           This scheme shall include [include those that are pertinent]: 
            
           (a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that shows the position, 

crown spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) of every retained tree and hedge on site and on 
neighbouring or nearby ground to the site in relation to the approved plans and particulars. 
The positions of all trees and hedges to be removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan 
and marked with a dashed outline. 

            
           (b) a tree survey schedule in accordance with section 4.4 of BS5837: 2012. 
            
           (c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, 

specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, whether for physiological, hazard 
abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons.  All tree works shall be carried out in accordance 
with British Standard 3998: 2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 

            
           (d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Ground 

Protection Zones. 
            
           (e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Tree Protection 

Barriers, identified separately where required for different phases of construction work (e.g. 
demolition, construction, hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected 
prior to each construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the 
duration of that phase.  No works shall take place on the next phase until the Tree Protection 
Barriers are repositioned for that phase. 

            
           (f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Construction 

Exclusion Zones. 
            
           (g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the underground 

service runs.  
            
           (h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed excavations within 5 

metres of the Root Protection Area of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or 
nearby ground. 

            

Page 64



i) the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the protection of retained 
trees, (e.g. in connection with foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 

            
           (j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of buildings, 

structures and surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained trees. 
            
           (k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of drives and paths 

within the RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the principles of 'No-Dig' construction. 
            
           (l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access for and use of 

heavy, large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and their loads, dredging 
machinery, concrete pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 

            
           (m) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site logistics and storage, 

including an allowance for slopes, water courses and enclosures, with particular regard to 
ground compaction and phytotoxicity. 

            
           (n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal of site cabins 

within any RPA. 
            
           (o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase. 
            
           (p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context of the tree 

protection measures. 
            
           (q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 

retained tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans 
and particulars, without the written approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or 
lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 

            
           (r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or 

hedge shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge shall be of such size and 
species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

            
           (s) the details of the arboricultural consultant to be employed during construction works to 

supervise erection of protective barriers and to carry out site monitoring during the 
development. 

            
           Reason : This is a pre-commencement condition to safeguard the appearance and character of 

the area. 
                                  
 
 9        The proposed access and internal roads throughout the site and individual parking spaces 

shall be implemented, surfaced, drained and capable of use for each individual holiday unit on 
the site. No occupation of any holiday unit shall occur unless the parking space associated 
with that unit has been constructed and is capable of use. 

                       
           REASON: To ensure that adequate access and parking is available to each individual holiday 

unit. 
            
10        Prior to works commencing on site, a phasing programme for the implementation of the 

holiday units, the reception building, the swimming pool and play area shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with this phased programme of works. 

            

Page 65



           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure that the visitor facilities, being the 
reception, swimming pool and play area are made available to the occupiers of the holiday 
site. 

                       
11        The removal of any scrub/vegetation shall be undertaken only outside the nesting season, 

which is defined as 1st February until 31st August, as recommended in the submitted Ecology 
Report. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure that no nesting birds are disturbed by the removal of any scrub or 

vegetation 
 
12        No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of 

the proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The design of this permanent surface 
water drainage management system will be in accordance with the principles of sustainable 
drainage systems, and those set out in the Flood Risk Assessment & Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy (report Ref. FRA01; Rev. 4; dated 6th March 2017) as well as the Proposed Drainage 
Strategy (drawing No. 003; Rev. P1; dated 6th June 2017) and details contained within the 
email correspondence dated 2nd May 2017. 

            
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure that surface water runoff from the 

development is managed in accordance with the principles of sustainable drainage systems. 
            
13        No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of 

the proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development 
site for the full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. This temporary surface water drainage management system must 
satisfactorily address both the rates and volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from 
the construction site. 

            
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure that surface water runoff from the 

construction site is appropriately managed so as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water 
quality issues, to the surrounding area. 

            
14        No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until details of the 

exceedance pathways and overland flow routes across the site in the event of rainfall in 
excess of the design standard of the proposed surface water drainage management system 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: This is s pre-commencement condition to ensure that the surface water runoff 

generated from rainfall events in excess of the design standard of the proposed surface water 
drainage management system is safely managed. 

            
15        Prior to works commencing on site, full details of the means of all external lighting and its 

hours of illumination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The street lighting shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details and 
to take account of the recommendations in the submitted Ecology Report  

                       
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition to safeguard to protected species using the 

site, namely the bats and birds.           
 
16        No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

           The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved 
scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

            

Page 66



           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge 
Local Plan, that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be 
affected by the development. 

            

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

1240.06 P4 02-08-2017 
   

ECOLOGICAL REPORT V3  05.10.2017 
   

FRA01 REV 7  18-10.2017 
   

1240-02-P6  26.03.2018 
   

1240.08 P2  05.10.2017 
   

1240.09 P2  05.10.2017 
   

1240 03 P3  13.03.2017 
   

  
   

 
  

1240-07  13.03.2017 
   

1240.05 P1  13.03.2017 
   

  
   

16100 00 00 A  13.03.2017 
   

16100 00 01 REV C  13.03.2017 
   

16100 11 04  13.03.2017 
   

16100 11 05 A  13.03.2017 
   

16100 11_03  13.03.2017 
   

16100 21 04  13.03.2017 
   

16100 31 05 A  13.03.2017 
   

16100 31 06   13.03.2017 
   

16100 31 07A  13.03.2017 
   

16100 31 09A  13.03.2017 
   

16100 31 10A  13.03.2017 
   

  
   

16100_ 11_01  13.03.2017 
   

16100_ 11_02  13.03.2017 
   

  
   

LS23414-1  13.03.2017 
 
Type A        
16100_21_01      13-3-2017 
16100_31_01      13-3-2017 
Type B  
16100_21_02      13-3-2017 
16100_31_02      13-3-2017     
Type C  
16100_21_03      13-3-2017 
16100_31_03      13-3-2017 
 
B161 93 – 003 – P4 Drainage Strategy         19-12-2017 
 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 

Page 67



In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 
dealing with this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and 
proactive manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application 
 
 
Addendum to Report 
 
Torridge is now giving material weight to the policies of the emerging North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011-2031 (the emerging Plan) in decision making.  

In considering applications for development, the starting point, in accordance with section 38(6) of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, remains the development plan and principally the 

Saved Polices of the adopted Torridge District Local Plan 1997-2011(where those policies are 

compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework).  The Saved Policies will be fully set aside in 

respect of decision making only when the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan is adopted. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) at paragraph 216 provides that weight that can 

be given by decision takers to relevant policies in emerging local plans according to the following 

qualifications: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan, the more advanced the preparation, the greater 

the weight that may be given; 

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; the less significant the 

unresolved objections, the greater weight that can be given; and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 

Framework; the closer the policies in the emerging plan, to the policies in the Framework, the 

greater the weight that may be given. 

 

Consultation on further proposed Main Modifications has concluded following a second round of 

Examination hearing sessions, from which the Council expects the examination stage to conclude and 

the Inspector to draft her Report on the emerging Plan. Given the advancement of the emerging Plan 

towards adoption it is considered appropriate, in accordance with paragraph 216 of the Framework to 

afford weight to the policies of the emerging Plan.  Variable weight is to be applied on the basis of the 

extent to which the policy has been subject to change as a result of the examination process. The 

weight to be applied to the policies of the emerging Plan is on following basis: 

Limited weight is given to policies which are proposed to be deleted (Further Proposed Main 

Modifications July 2017) from the emerging Plan. 

Moderate weight is applied to policies from the Submission Local Plan (June 2016) that have been 

introduced or substantially adjusted through the examination process, as set out as track changes in 

Examination Document MMD02. Moderate weight is afforded to these policies, on the basis that they 

remain subject to the consideration of the Local Plan Inspector and may therefore be subject to 

further change:   

Significant weight  is afforded to all other policies of the emerging Plan that  have either not been 

subject to a Main Modification (as referenced above) or have been subject to a slight amendment 

unrelated to a matter of soundness.   

 

Page 68



Having regard to this application, relevant emerging Plan polices are: Policy ST09: Coast and Estuary 

Strategy and Policy NOR: Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy, which should be given 

“moderate weight” having been subject to  Main Modifications PMM/68 and PMM/107 and Policy 

ST18:Tourism Accommodation, to which  significant weight should be applied; it has been subject to a 

post submission Main Modification (PMM/119) which was determined to fall with in the category of “a 

slight amendment unrelated to a matter of soundness”. These policies are set out below: 

 

Policy ST09: Coast and Estuary Strategy 

 

(1) The sustainability of coastal communities will be maintained and enhanced with regard to their 

distinctive cultural heritage, diverse maritime economy, landscape setting and regeneration 

opportunities. The separate identity of these settlements will be maintained and enhanced. 

(2) Priority will be given to employment uses and waterside infrastructure requiring a coastal location. 

Such uses will be directed to previously developed sites around the coastline and the Taw-Torridge 

estuary with existing jetties and wharves. These sites should be safeguarded for employment uses 

requiring a waterside location. Facilities at Appledore and Yelland Quay will be protected for their 

value as landing stages for marine aggregates and for other marine employment uses. Loss of 

traditional boating facilities that are part of the fabric of coastal communities will be discouraged. 

(3) Proposals for tourism attractions, leisure developments, new tourist accommodation, associated 

tourism facilities and services of an appropriate scale will be supported within the Developed Coast 

where they enhance the quality or diversity of the local tourism offer and will not detract from the 

character of protected landscapes and other environmental assets.  

(4) Settlements and resorts will be defended against marine inundation, coastal erosion and tidal 

flooding without transferring risks elsewhere. Opportunities to manage coastal realignment and re-

establish functional flood plains will be supported in accordance with the Shoreline Management Plan. 

(5) The integrity of the coast and estuary as an important wildlife corridor will be protected and 

enhanced. The importance of the undeveloped coastal, estuarine and marine environments, including 

the North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, will be recognised through supporting 

designations, plans and policies. The undeveloped character of the Heritage Coasts will be protected. 

(6) Water quality will be improved where it has been affected by human activity. 

(7) Development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will be supported where it does not 

detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped 

character of the Heritage Coasts, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be located outside 

the Undeveloped Coast and estuary. 

(8) The role and operation of Bideford and Ilfracombe as commercial and leisure ports / harbours will 

be maintained and enhanced. Proposals to diversify Ilfracombe’s role as a ferry port to South Wales 

and beyond will be supported. The development of port facilities to maintain and improve the 

competitiveness of the fishing industry at Bideford, Appledore, Clovelly and Ilfracombe and to 

enhance leisure opportunities in appropriate coastal locations where required to meet community 

needs will be supported. 

(9) Military training and operational uses around the Taw-Torridge estuary will be supported in 

locations associated with established military activity. 

(10) Delivery of onshore facilities for operational servicing of offshore renewable energy proposals will 

be facilitated in existing ports and at existing jetties and wharves where they: 

(a) do not harm identified environmental and heritage assets; and 

(b) do not prejudice the current operational effectiveness of the port. 

(11) The continuity of the South West Coast Path and the Tarka Trail will be protected and a network 

of connecting routes will be improved. Improvements to coastal and estuarine access will be sought 

where rundown waterfront areas are regenerated. The Tarka Trail link between Ilfracombe and 

Braunton will be completed. 

Page 69



 

Policy NOR: Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy  
 

The Spatial Vision 

Northam will build upon its strengths taking advantage of its coastal location. Westward Ho! will be 

established as a thriving coastal resort and Appledore will develop further as a centre for maritime 

activities. The development of marine based industries and a quality tourism offer will contribute to re-

balancing Northam's community and add economic value to the area.  

The three centres will continue to provide a range of services and facilities to meet locally generated 

needs and to accommodate the expanded needs of visitors to the area. Across Appledore, Northam 

and Westward Ho! a range of housing appropriate to local needs will be provided. Development will 

be supported by necessary infrastructure that will be delivered in a manner to minimise deficiencies 

against service capacity. 

In meeting the future growth needs of the area, development will be delivered without prejudice to 

valued environment and historic assets having due regard to the importance of the areas setting and 

landscape quality. 
 

The Spatial Development Strategy 

Over the period to 2031, the Local Plan will enable significant growth of high quality development 

which is supported by necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of Northam Parish. Achieved 

development will be delivered having regard to the settlements setting in the landscape and the 

special character of the area provided by a coastal location. Specifically, the Local Plan will support: 

(a) provision of a minimum of 1,916 dwellings to meet all the communities housing  needs, including 

affordable and supported homes together with an expanded supply  to meet the increasing needs of 

the area's ageing population, which will be supported with associated development and infrastructure 

on a continuous basis; 

(b) in addition to existing commitments, new site allocations, including capacity provided by previously 

developed sites, will be required to provide approximately,740 dwellings; 

(c) urban extensions to the south of Westward Ho! and Northam (as part of the provision of new site 

allocations), will accommodate significant levels of housing growth of approximately 1,240 dwellings 

that is supported by social and physical infrastructure; 

(d) employment will be supported by safeguarding and developing upon important economic 

resources, significantly in relation to Appledore Shipyard, port facilities and tourism assets; 

(e) deliver economic growth through capitalising on enhanced levels of assistance offered by the 

Assisted Areas status; 

(f) support for key site regeneration and new site development in Westward Ho! that would positively 

contribute to the centre's role as a coastal resort and result in an extension of the tourism season, 

through securing improved access to the resort and qualitative improvements to facilities, attractions 

and visitor accommodation; 

(g) support for development at Northam Burrows that would improve the visitor offer through the 

provision of enhanced facilities and infrastructure; 

(h) avoidance of development that would contribute to coalescence between Appledore and Northam 

and the designated Green Wedge in Northam; 

(i) social and community facilities will be required to support new development and address 

established needs, including an expansion of education capacity and recreation and sports facilities; 

(j) new developments will meet their own infrastructure requirements and will contribute to sustainable 

movement, including improved routes and facilities for cycling and walking. Improved capacity at 

Heywood Road roundabout will also be required together with improvements to A39/B3236 junction to 

accommodate increased traffic movements from Bideford and Northam. Improved sea defences at 

Westward Ho! will also be pursued as necessary to address the consequences of climate change; 

and 

Page 70



(k) development that respects the landscape setting including the special landscape character and 

qualities of the adjoining Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 

Policy DM18: Tourism Accommodation 

 

1) Development of new, and expansion and or rationalisation of existing tourism accommodation will 

be supported within the Sub-regional, Strategic, Main and Local Centres where it: 

(a) improves the quality or increases the diversity of northern Devon’s tourism offer; 

(b) is located and designed to protect and enhance the character and setting of the settlement; and 

(c) any rationalisation would facilitate the retention or improvement of the tourism accommodation. 

(2) Outside the Sub-regional, Strategic, Main and Local Centres, the development of new and the 

expansion or rationalisation of existing tourism accommodation will be supported where it: 

(a) is related directly to and compatible in scale with an existing tourism, visitor or leisure attraction; or 

(b) reuses or converts existing buildings; or 

(c) improves facilities for or diversifies the range or improves the quality of existing tourism 

accommodation; 

and in all cases: 

(d) the scale and character of the proposal is appropriate to the size of the existing settlement or 

tourism attraction; 

(e) the local road network can accommodate the type and scale of traffic to be generated and the 

safety of public highway users is maintained; 

(f)  is designed to respect and enhance the key characteristics of the relevant landscape character 

types;  

(g) identified environmental and heritage assets are not subject to significant harm, are conserved or 

enhanced, with particular respect to the setting and special qualities of nationally important 

landscapes, the Undeveloped Coast, biodiversity and heritage designations; and 

(h) protects and enhances its the setting and special qualities of the Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty and provides an overall environmental enhancement when assessed throughout a year. 

(3) Applications for the removal of occupancy conditions on holiday accommodation will only be 

permitted where: 

(a) it is capable of being occupied permanently without need for major extension or alteration; and 

(b) there is compelling evidence to demonstrate that such a restriction is no longer justified. 

 

Policy ST09, to which moderate weight should be applied sets out the strategy for the Taw-Torridge 

Coastal and Estuarine Zone, it includes support for appropriately located development, while affording 

protection to environmental and marine assets. The application site is located within the Undeveloped 

Coast, within which the policy (section 3) gives support to proposals where it does not detract from 

the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped character of the 

Heritage Coasts and it cannot reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast. It is considered 

that there is no net change to the landscape impact from the current site use to that which would 

result from the proposed development  Additionally while it is considered possible to develop tourism 

accommodation outside the Undeveloped Coast, the proposal seeks to enhance an existing facility., 

Being pragmatic, the site already has an established holiday use; the proposal seeks to upgrade the 

site and the business by replacing caravans with an improved standard of holiday accommodation.  

 

Section 3 of Policy ST09 provides support for appropriately scaled and located tourism attractions, 

accommodation and facilities within the Developed Coast, where they enhance the quality or diversity 

of the local tourism offer and will not detract from the character of the protected landscape. The 

proposal is considered to meet the policy objective of enhancing the quality and diversity of the local 

tourism offer in terms of offering a year-round tourist development as opposed to seasonal 

Page 71



camping/caravans.  The locational qualification of being in the Developed Coast is limited to the 

extent of defined settlements, the edge of Rural Settlements, Deference Estate sites and large 

previously developed sites. The policy has been subject to a Main Modification at this point, which 

removed the opportunity for tourism attractions, accommodation and facilities to be adjoining coastal 

resorts and the Developed Coast; this policy provision if retained will be set out in the Inspector’s 

Report. 

 
Policy DM18, which should be given significant weight, provides a focus on the improvement of 
tourism accommodation, by new facilities or the extension of existing accommodation, where in 
alignment with strategic policy principles. The proposal is considered to accord with the policy 
requirements, in respect of improving the quality and diversity of tourism accommodation while having 
regard to the landscape quality in the locality. As set out elsewhere in the report, the proposal will 
enhance tourist accommodation and it is considered that the landscape harm is minimal and is 
outweighed by the economic benefits. 
 
In coming to a concluding position on this proposal the main points of consideration are the support 
that is provided for a proposal that will result in enhanced tourism facilities, in a location enabled by 
the saved policies of the Torridge District Plan but which would be resisted by emerging Policy ST09, 
if the PMM/68 is maintained. On the basis that only moderate weight is afforded to Policy ST09, it is 
considered that at this time the location of the proposed development remains appropriate and the 
recommendation remain unaltered.  
 

Page 72



 
Committee Report & Addendum – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1246/2017/FUL 

Registration date: 13 December 2017 

Expiry date:  7 February 2018 

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Stuart Clements  

Agent:  Sherry Consultants 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Mouna,  
Bidna Lane,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1NU 

Proposal:  Removal of condition 6 (Agricultural occupancy 
condition) of application 1/1278/76/41/5  
 
 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11b



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been called-in by Cllr Peter Christie for the following reason: 
 
‘This has an agricultural tie and I would like the removal of this discussed at Plans Committee’.   
 

Relevant History: 

 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

  

1/1278/1976 AGRICULTURAL DWELLING 
KNAPP LAND, BIDNA LANE 
NORTHAM 

PER 03.12.1976 

  

1/1090/1979 ERECTION OF FARMHOUSE 
KNAPP LAND, BIDNA LANE, 
NORTHAM 

WDN 16.01.1980 

  

1/1661/1979 AGRICULTURAL DWELLING 
AT KNAPP LAND, BIDNA 
LANE, NORTHAM 

PER 21.11.1979 

    

1/0350/2008/FUL New Garage, Utility Room & 
Entrance 

PER 29.05.2008 

  

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
The Site 
The application site is the dwelling known as Mouna, which is located in the open countryside 
between the settlements of Northam and Appledore. The dwelling is accessed along Bidna Lane, 
which leads off of Churchill Way. The dwelling is subject to an agricultural occupancy condition and 
comprises 5 bedrooms, including a second floor master suite, with extensive living accommodation 
and attached garage. It is set within 1.25 acres of garden. The dwelling design is contemporary and 
incorporates glazed elevations and balconies. It commands an elevated position within the designated 
Coastal Preservation Area, with views towards the River Torridge.   
 
The Proposal 
The application seeks removal of the agricultural occupancy condition (Condition 6) applied to outline 
planning permission 1278/76/41/5, which was issued on October 8th 1976.  
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused. Members were concerned that the 
property had not been correctly priced for those who work within agriculture or forestry and that no 
independent valuation had been supplied by the applicant. Item 7.1 (i) of the Statement of Case 
states that '29.5 acres is too small for an agricultural holding', Members believe this to be inaccurate 
and there is evidence that sheep are on the land year-round. They felt that an independent 
assessment of the agricultural potential of the land should have been supplied. Members feel that the 
current conditions should be enforced as without the agricultural tie, the dwelling is unlikely to have 
been granted planning permission in the first instance. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  4 Number of neutral representations: 1 
Number of objection letters:  3  

Page 74



 
Four letters of representation have been received, along with comments made by the Campaign for 
Rural England (CPRE). These representations raise the following issues: 
 

 The fact that the Applicant cannot sell at an unencumbered market rate is not justification to 
remove the agricultural tie. The solution to the problem is to reduce the price of the property to 
reflect the reality of the planning condition, and not to discharge the agricultural occupancy 
condition as requested;  

 It is quite obvious that the land can continue to be used for agricultural purposes and, crucially, 
that it has been for this purpose recently; 

 Here is an opportunity to maintain the agricultural tie and make this luxurious house available 
to local farm workers at a price they can afford; 

 The fact that the owners may wish to uplift the value of the house should not be allowed as a 
reason to remove one condition that permitted the inappropriate house to be built in the first 
place; 

 There was never the necessity for an on-site dwelling for a person engaged in agriculture; 

 The house has never been marketed at a realistic agricultural dwelling value. There should be 
no reason why a person engaged or formerly engaged in agriculture should not be interested 
in the property at a realistic tied price;  

 The planning authority was very lax in letting this application slip through and also the 
grandiose nature of the building is desperately out of character with the Devon landscape. The 
amendment to the plans should have been scrutinised more thoroughly; 

 In the case of Mouna it seems highly unlikely that the price of nearly one million pounds at 
which the house has been marketed is a realistic reflection of the agricultural tie and I suggest 
that the applicant should be required to supply an independent valuation of the house which 
has been carried out by  professional valuer; 

 It seems perfectly feasible for the land to be used for other or additional agricultural purposes 
and this could include the areas currently used for recreation and a caravan site. 

 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
DVT2C (Development In The Open Countryside); HSC9 (Removal of Occupancy Conditions);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance);  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on Agricultural Dwellings and Occupancy Conditions 
(2000); 
 
Section 3 of the SPG concerns the removal of occupancy conditions and states: 
 
‘Such applications should include a description of the dwelling and farm history together with an 
explanation of why the dwelling is no longer needed in connection with agriculture. The PPG clearly 
indicates that it would not normally be appropriate to remove the condition unless no need exists for 
the foreseeable future for the dwelling to remain as part of a “pool” of restricted dwellings available for 
the local farming community. This is often done by marketing the property for sale at a price reflecting 
its occupancy condition (normally around two -thirds of the normal market value). 
 
In assessing the application, the Council will take into account:- 
(a) Whether the condition was correctly imposed; 
(b) The evidence of existing demand for dwellings for farmworkers in that locality; 
(c) Whether there are any vacant agricultural dwellings in the immediate vicinity; 
(d) Whether there have been other applications nearby for agricultural dwellings; 
(e) Whether there have been recent applications by agricultural workers for Council 
properties; 

Page 75



(f) Evidence of efforts to dispose of the dwellings subject of the condition, whether it 
has been advertised, how frequently, for how long; 
(g) What the asking price was or whether the property was offered for rent and 
whether this reflected the reduction in value arising from the restricted condition; 
(h) And is the dwelling, even at a price reflecting the condition, appropriate in terms 
of size and design for the agricultural market? 
 
Reference will always be made to other relevant applications and appeals if necessary’.  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main issue in the consideration of this application is whether the agricultural occupancy condition 
is reasonable and necessary in order to meet an essential need for a rural worker to live at or near 
their place of work.  
 
Policy Context: 
Policy DVT2C of the TDLP, which concerns development in the open countryside, states that 
development should not detract from the character and appearance of the area. It goes on to specify 
types of development that would be acceptable in the open countryside - this does not include 
unrestricted open market dwellings. Similarly, Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that 'to promote 
sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain 
the vitality of rural communities'. It further states that local planning authorities should avoid new 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as 'the essential need 
for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside'. Policy HSC8 
allows for new dwellings in the countryside where there is a requirement to service a well established 
agricultural or forestry enterprise, subject to stated criteria. Part (3) of this Policy states 'the dwelling 
size shall relate to the established operational requirements and will be constrained by the financial 
viability of the enterprise'.      
 
TDLP Policy HSC9 (Removal of Occupancy Conditions) contains two criteria that must be satisfied in 
order for an occupancy condition to be removed. Criterion a) seeks to establish that there is no longer 
an operational need for the dwelling; criterion b) relates to the likely absence of a recurrent need in 

Page 76



the long-term having to be demonstrated adequately. All applications for the removal of an occupancy 
condition are required to have completed a realistic assessment of local demand, undertaking 
appropriately targeted marketing at a price that reflects the occupancy condition, for a minimum of two 
years.  
 
The Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance on Agricultural Dwellings and Occupancy 
Conditions (2000) is now out of date, however it does refer to Policy HSC9 of the TDLP and is 
therefore relevant.    
 
The application site was originally granted outline planning permission in 1976 against a different 
planning policy context than that currently in place. The application before the Council for 
determination must be assessed against the requirements of Policy HSC9 with consideration of Policy 
DVT2C and the NPPF.  The building already exists on site and therefore impact on the landscape and 
Coastal Preservation Area are not points for consideration.  
 
Background: 
As set out in the Planning History section above, outline planning permission was granted in 1976 
(reference 1/1278/1976) for an agricultural dwelling which was later followed by approval of reserved 
matters (reference 1/1661/1979) in November 1979. Both applications included the following 
condition: 
 
'The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly employed, or last 
employed, locally in agriculture as defined in Section 290 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 
1971, or in forestry, or a dependant of such person residing with him (but including a widower of such 
person'. 
 
Whilst the Local Planning Authority should not have included the condition on the reserved matters 
decision, it's inclusion on the outline is enforceable and sets the requirement for the dwelling to be 
occupied as stated. Permitted development rights were not removed in this instance, meaning that the 
size of the dwelling was not restricted in terms of works allowed under the provisions of the General 
Permitted Development Order. The dwelling, as approved at reserved matters stage, was large in 
scale, incorporating 4 bedrooms. The associated land extended to 40 acres at the time of the original 
planning approval, and the County Surveyor did raise concerns over the future viability of the holding 
as it appeared that it would be farmed on a part-time basis. Notwithstanding this, the Case Officer 
was satisfied and planning permission was granted. The land was not tied to the dwelling.  
 
Correspondence on the file associated with the reserved matters application refers to amendments to 
the approved details, which an officer considering it equated to an increase in footprint of 24%. A 
letter dated 4 July 2002 confirmed to the Applicant that 'from Building Control records, it has been 
established that a start was made within the appropriate period, therefore the planning consent 
remains live'. This letter further advised that the Applicant 'should only proceed to construct the 
property if you feel you are able to comply with the agricultural occupancy condition'.       
 
It is not clear to what extent amendments were approved, however the Statement of Case submitted 
with this current application advises that the house was completed in 2006 and Council Tax records 
confirm that it was first registered for this purpose on May 9th 2006. In 2008, planning permission 
(reference 1/0350/2008/FUL) was granted for a new garage, utility room and entrance. The Case 
Officer justified the further development on the basis that 'whilst further development on agriculturally 
tied properties is restricted due to the potential impact on the resale value, extant permission exists 
for the erection of a garage comprising the same footprint but divorced from the dwellinghouse. On 
this basis, the development is deemed acceptable as it compacts the extent of the building footprint 
and is considered compliant in light of Policy HSC8 of the TDLP'. The approved drawings in respect 
of this application are consistent with the current dwelling on site. 
 
In 2017, a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use (1/0242/2017/CPE) was issued in respect of the use of 
land within the Applicant's ownership at Knapp House as a touring caravan park and camp site. The 
Applicant has confirmed that this land area equates to 6.25 hectares. Accordingly, this should be 
discounted from the overall land area that could feasibly be used for agricultural purposes in 

Page 77



association with Mouna. Therefore, of the total land area of 21.45 hectares that is owned by the 
Applicant, once the activity centre/camp site land and the 3.27 hectares of marshland are discounted, 
the effective agricultural area reduces to 11.93 hectares.    
 
Relevant Appeal Decision: 
Appeal reference APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 in respect of planning application 1/0795/2016/FUL is of 
relevance to this planning application. Application 1/0795/2016/FUL, which sought permission for an 
agricultural dwelling at Backway Farm, Shebbear without complying with a condition attached to 
planning permission reference 1/1146/96/50/0010, was refused by the Local Planning Authority on 11 
October 2016. The dwelling, known as Brambley Barton, is a five bedroom, two-storey detached 
dwelling set within its own garden plot and the Inspector allowed the appeal. Given there are 
similarities between the two sites and proposals, key conclusions from this appeal decision will be 
referred to below under the consideration of the application against the relevant planning policies. For 
ease of reference, the appeal decision is appended to this report.  
 
Assessment against Policy HSC9: 
The main planning consideration is whether the agricultural occupancy condition still serves a useful 
purpose. Whilst extensive, the history and background to the application merely sets the context, and 
Plans Committee must consider whether the dwelling as it currently exists on site is necessary to 
meet the essential needs of a rural worker. Against this background, the proposal must be assessed 
against Policy HSC9. 
 
Operational Need 
Mouna was not tied to any associated land when planning permission was originally granted, and as 
indicated above, the original application was assessed on the basis of the associated holding 
comprising approximately 40 acres (approximately 16 hectares). At this time, the County Surveyor did 
raise concerns over the long-term viability of the holding to support a full-time worker. Notwithstanding 
this, the application was approved and the dwelling subsequently developed.  
 
The submitted Statement of Case confirms there is no longer any rental land associated with the 
dwelling and that this has been the case for the past 20 years.  In light of the issuing of the certificate 
of existing lawful use for part of the land as an activity centre and camp site, the area of effective 
year-round agricultural land associated with the dwelling is 11.93 hectares. There are no significant 
agricultural buildings associated with the dwelling and the land.   
 
The activity centre runs from April to October each year and the Statement of Case confirms the land 
is used for sheep grazing from November to March each year. These sheep are owned by a local 
farmer. The income from the land rental is £1000 per annum and combined with this there is an 
annual CAP (Common Agricultural Policy) payment (£2,792.63 in 2016 and £3,315.82 in 2017). 
Therefore, the total income from the holding was £3,792.63 in 2016 and £4,315.82 in 2017. The 
Applicant's Accountant has confirmed this in writing and advises that any reported agricultural income 
is paid to Knapp House Limited, and not directly to the Applicants, albeit this organisation is owned by 
the Applicants. The Accountant further confirms that, since 2007, the Applicant has received no direct 
income from agriculture, suggesting that any activities would have ceased soon after the dwelling was 
erected.  
 
The submitted Statement of Case asserts that there has been no operational need for the dwelling for 
at least 10 years. Given the now limited agricultural land associated with the dwelling, and the fact 
that no agricultural activities have occurred for in excess of 10 years, it can be considered that there is 
no operational need for the dwelling to be retained to meet the needs of the holding. The predominant 
use of the land is as an activity centre and camp site, as confirmed through the issue of certificate 
1/0242/2017/CPE. The agricultural grazing land that still exists equates to 11.93 hectares, which is 
utilised by a local farmer in association with a larger agricultural holding. The surrounding area 
comprises employment uses and residential properties, with any significant agricultural holdings being 
located further away.  
 
 
 

Page 78



 
Marketing and Valuation 
The Statement of Case confirms that the dwelling has been marketed for 7.5 years by a local estate 
agent, Mr K J Bright FRICS of Brights, Bideford. Mr Bright has provided details in writing on the initial 
appraisal of the dwelling's value and the outcomes of the marketing exercise. 
 
The initial valuation of the dwelling set an expected sale price of £1.2 million, assuming no restrictions 
on the occupation of the dwelling. Mr Bright confirms that comparable sale evidence within this upper 
price sector for the locality was limited, however sufficient to inform an opinion. The exclusive and 
luxury nature of the dwelling, and its desirable location, contribute to the valuation at the upper end of 
the market.    
 
For the purposes of sale with the occupancy restriction, the value was discounted by 30% to a guide 
price of £950,000, with a view to securing a sale of in the region of £900,000. There is no adopted 
planning policy setting the amount by which a dwelling's value should be reduced to take account of 
an occupancy restriction. However, TDC’s SPG on ‘Agricultural Worker’s Dwellings and Occupancy 
Conditions’, does confirm that a price reflecting an occupancy condition is ‘normally around two thirds 
of the normal market-rate’. Notwithstanding the comments raised in the submitted letters of 
representation, a 30% reduction is widely regarded as appropriate for agriculturally tied properties. 
This is consistent with the SPG. In respect of the appeal at Brambley Barton, the Inspector accepted 
that a reduction of, in that case, 25% was appropriate. The assumed sale price is therefore 
considered acceptable and it is not considered reasonable for the dwelling to be marketed at a price 
to reflect what agricultural workers could actually afford, as suggested by some objectors.    
 
The Agent confirms that interest in Mouna was initially high, which he attributes to the 'quality and 
wow factors'. The marketing brochure, which has been submitted with the application, clearly 
described the property as being subject to an agricultural occupancy condition. Notwithstanding this, 
the Agent advises that few were able to satisfy the criteria to allow viewings and their interest to be 
progressed. During the 7.5-year marketing period, only 1 viewing took place and consequently no 
offers were forthcoming.  
 
The Agent advises that a reduction in the guide price was discussed, but not considered likely to be 
effective, with even a £100,000 or £200,000 adjustment off the advertised level still likely to attract 
non-qualifying applicants. Further clarification on this was provided during consideration of the 
application, with the Planning Agent advising that property prices have only increased since this 
period, and any adjustment upwards would render the dwelling even more unaffordable. It was also 
considered that any reduction in price would still result in a value beyond local agricultural workers 
affordability.  
 
The dwelling was also offered as being available for rent, but no serious enquiries were received.    
 
The submitted Statement of Case confirms that the dwelling has been given a band 'G' classification 
for Council tax purposes, which equates to annual payments of £2,887 and is the second highest 
band. The Agent suggests that it would be normal for agricultural workers dwellings to fall within 
Bands A, B or C. The Local Planning Authority does not disagree with this position, and is of the view 
that the Council Tax band supports the high valuation of the dwelling.    
 
From the evidence submitted, it would appear that the asking price was reasonable, being informed 
by a professional valuer, and reflective of both the site-specific circumstances and the occupancy 
restriction. The period of marketing is well in excess of that required by the TDLP. 
 
Assessment of Local Demand 
The main purpose of the condition is to ensure that those working in agriculture or forestry, where 
wages have historically been low, have access to accommodation to meet their needs.  
 
In the appeal case cited above, the Inspector concluded that Brambley Barton's discounted sale value 
of £275,000 was expensive in comparison with other agricultural workers' dwellings that may come on 

Page 79



the market.  The discounted sale value for Mouna, at £950,000, greatly exceeds this and should 
therefore be seen as far out of reach of local agricultural workers. 
 
Brights contacted approximately 100 local farmers in writing on 20th October 2009, bringing the 
availability of Mouna to their attention. The purpose of this exercise was to see if the property could 
be of interest either now or in the future for themselves, employees or acquaintances. Stamped 
addressed envelopes were included and 19 responses were received; all of which were negative. 
This exercise was not repeated due to the view that the local farming community is small and rarely 
changes, meaning that those contacted would continue to be aware of the property.   
 
Mr Bright clarifies that income levels of local agricultural workers largely range between £15,000 and 
£25,000 per annum. In applying a generous 4.0 multiplier of a gross income at this level would allow 
mortgage borrowings limited to between £60,000 and £100,000, which is significantly below the 
discounted sale value for Mouna. He therefore concludes that the property is of too high a value and 
consequently unaffordable for such a restriction.  
 
The Inspector's conclusions in respect of Brambley Barton should also be noted in that rental prices 
were considered to be comparatively high for agricultural workers and the size, rural location and 
relatively high cost would be a disincentive to a retired rural worker. These considerations would apply 
even more so to Mouna, given it is substantially larger and of a greater value.     
 
Against this background, and with reference to the appeal decision at Brambley Barton, it is 
considered that the marketing exercise has been appropriately undertaken, at a realistic value 
reflecting the occupancy condition as well as the site specific characteristics. This exercise has 
demonstrated there is no local demand for the application site to be retained as an agricultural 
worker's dwelling, and that there is unlikely to be a recurrent need in the long term. 
 
Therefore, in summary, the requirements of Policy HSC9 are met in so far as the lifting of the 
occupancy condition would not result in the permanent loss of access to the type of property needed 
by those working locally in agriculture.  
 
Five Year Housing Land Supply & Sustainable Development: 
The overarching policy of relevance to this proposal is HSC9 of the TDLP. As assessed above, the 
application proposal is considered to comply with the criteria set out within this policy. In such cases, 
the TDLP indicates that the agricultural occupancy condition simply falls away; there is no provision 
for the dwelling to become restricted in any other way. 
  
TDLP Policy DVT2C and Paragraph 55 of the NPPF do not support unrestricted, isolated dwellings in 
the open countryside. Therefore, in considering the Local Plan as a whole, the proposal would result 
in a potential conflict.  
 
The Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year land supply of housing meaning that the 
relevant policies for the supply of housing cannot be considered up to date, as advised by Paragraph 
49 of the NPPF. Paragraph 49 triggers the operation of the tilted balance in Paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF, whereby planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.    
 
The application site is located in the open countryside; however it cannot be described as isolated. 
Bidna Lane serves 4 other properties and Mouna is located approximately 500 metres from Churchill 
Road, which runs between Appledore, Northam and Bideford. There are bus stops on Churchill Road 
with regular bus services to Bideford, Barnstaple and Ilfracombe. There are employment and leisure 
uses within close proximity of the site. 
 
Whilst a new build dwelling would not be supported in this location, the application before the Local 
Planning Authority concerns an existing 5-bedroom family dwelling. Even at the time of determination 
in 1976, the County Surveyor indicated that the holding would likely be operated on a part-time basis. 
As recognised by the Inspector dealing with Brambley Barton, the majority of the household would 
therefore have needed to travel to school, work or shops by car or public transport. Furthermore, in 

Page 80



the case of Mouna, there have been no agricultural activities taking place on site for approximately 10 
years. Therefore, the lifting of the occupancy condition would result in a negligible increase in vehicle 
movements and, given the dwelling already exists, there would be no resultant adverse impact on the 
countryside.     
 
Given the above, the application proposal is not considered to conflict with Policy DVT2C and the 
relevant provisions of the NPPF.  
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
The condition restricting the occupancy of the application site is not considered to be reasonable or 
necessary to meet an essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of work and the 
proposal is considered to meet the tests of TDLP Policy HSC9. Given the dwelling already exists in 
this countryside location, and has not served the needs of an agricultural worker for approximately 10 
years, the proposal is not considered to be in conflict with Policy DVT2C and Paragraph 55 of the 
NPPF. 
 
The Officer recommendation is therefore one of approval for the agricultural dwelling at Mouna 
without complying with Condition 6 of outline planning permission 1278/76/41/5. The other conditions 
imposed no longer subside and therefore no longer take effect.   
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT unconditional  
 

Plans Schedule 

 
There are no plans for approval.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



Addendum to Officer’s Report 
 
This Addendum should be read in conjunction with the original Officer’s Report for this application, 
which was considered by Plans Committee on the 8th March 2018. It refers to the conclusions of that 
meeting and the subsequent requirement for an independent agricultural appraisal to be undertaken. 
It also considers the proposal against the policies of the emerging Local Plan before reaching a 
conclusion and recommendation. 
 

Plans Committee 8th March 2018: 

 
The application was considered by Plans Committee at the meeting that took place on the 8th March 
2018. The Officer Report set out above is as previously considered. The Plans Committee Members 
unanimously resolved as follows: 

 
‘That the application be deferred to enable a formal Agricultural Assessment to be undertaken’. 

 
Consequently, the Local Planning Authority instructed Landsense Professional Ltd to undertake an 
agricultural appraisal of the site. The brief required the consultants to advise as to the amount of 
farmable land associated with the property and to provide an independent view as to whether the 
holding could support a viable enterprise and, if so, whether the income that would be generated 
would be commensurate with a dwelling of this size. Landsense were requested to consider adopted 
Local Plan Policies HSC8 and HSC9 in their appraisal.   
 

Updated Policy Context: 

 

Torridge is now giving material weight to the policies of the emerging North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011-2031 (the emerging Plan) in decision making.  

In considering applications for development, the starting point, in accordance with section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, remains the development plan and principally the 
Saved Polices of the adopted Torridge District Local Plan 1997-2011(where those policies are 
compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework).  The Saved Policies will be fully set aside in 
respect of decision making only when the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan is adopted. 
The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) at paragraph 216 provides that weight that can 

be given by decision takers to relevant policies in emerging local plans according to the following 

qualifications: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan, the more advanced the preparation, the greater 

the weight that may be given; 

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; the less significant the 

unresolved objections, the greater weight that can be given; and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 

Framework; the closer the policies in the emerging plan, to the policies in the Framework, the 

greater the weight that may be given. 

 

Consultation on further proposed Main Modifications has concluded following a second round of 
Examination hearing sessions, from which the Council expects the examination stage to conclude and 
the Inspector to draft her Report on the emerging Plan. Given the advancement of the emerging Plan 
towards adoption it is considered appropriate, in accordance with paragraph 216 of the Framework to 
afford weight to the policies of the emerging Plan.  Variable weight is to be applied on the basis of the 
extent to which the policy has been subject to change as a result of the examination process. The 
weight to be applied to the policies of the emerging Plan is on following basis: 
Limited weight is given to policies which are proposed to be deleted (Further Proposed Main 

Modifications July 2017) from the emerging Plan. 

Page 82



Moderate weight is applied to policies from the Submission Local Plan (June 2016) that have been 
introduced or substantially adjusted through the examination process, as set out as track changes in 
Examination Document MMD02. Moderate weight is afforded to these policies, on the basis that they 
remain subject to the consideration of the Local Plan Inspector and may therefore be subject to 
further change:   
 

Significant weight  is afforded to all other policies of the emerging Plan that have either not been 
subject to a Main Modification (as referenced above) or have been subject to a slight amendment 
unrelated to a matter of soundness.   
 

Having regard to this application, relevant emerging Plan polices are:  

 

Policy ST07: Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s Rural Area, which should be given 
‘significant weight’ in respect of the component of relevance to the open countryside. Part (4) of this 
policy has not been subject to any changes and states that ‘in the countryside, beyond Local Centres, 
Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local 
economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
countryside location’. The site continues to be located within the open countryside under the emerging 
Plan.  
 

Policy ST09: Coast and Estuary Strategy, which should be given “moderate weight” having been 
subject to Main Modifications PMM/68 and PMM/107. This Policy states that ‘development within the 
Undeveloped Coast and Estuary will be supported where it does not detract from the unspoilt 
character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped character of the Heritage 
Coast, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and 
Estuary’.  The application is located within the Coast and Estuary Zone as designated on the 
emerging Plan Proposals Map.    
 

Policy DM28: Rural Worker Accommodation, which should also be given ‘significant weight’ having 
been subject to only minor alterations. This Policy is set out in full below: 
 

‘Policy DM28: Rural Worker Accommodation 

(1) Proposals for the provision of accommodation in the countryside for a rural worker will be 

supported where: 

 

(a) It can be demonstrated that there is an essential operational need for a full time 

worker to be resident at or near the place of work: 

(b) The size and nature of the dwelling should be such that it can be sustained by the 

scale of the operation, reflective of the location and setting and proportionate to the 

needs of the intended occupants; 

(c) The accommodation needs cannot be met by any other means including: 

(i) Accommodation in a nearby settlement; or 

(ii) By an existing dwelling at or near the site; or 

(iii) Through the conversion of a suitable redundant or disused building on site; 

(d) Appropriate highway access can be provided. 

 

(2) Where the enterprise is well established, of a sufficient size to support a full-time worker, 
economically viable and has clear prospects of remaining so, support will be given to the 
provision of a permanent new dwelling. 

 

(3) Where the enterprise does not meet the criteria set out to support the provision 

of a new permanent dwelling, the provision of temporary accommodation will be 

considered for an initial period of three years. 

 

Page 83



(4) New accommodation provided for rural workers will be, and all existing dwellings at the rural 

business may be, subject to occupancy restrictions and, where it is felt appropriate by the Local 

Planning Authority, may be subject to a legal agreement tying its use to the specific rural 

business. 

 

(5) Applications for the removal of occupancy conditions or ties on dwellings for rural workers will 

only be permitted where there is compelling evidence to demonstrate that such a restriction is no 

longer justified.’    

 

Supporting text in paragraph 12.150 states that ‘to demonstrate that the dwelling is no longer required 

to accommodate rural workers, the Local Planning Authority will expect applications for the removal of 

occupancy conditions to be supported by strong evidence demonstrating no demand for the property 

in the locality. Applicants will be expected to submit information to show that the dwelling has been 

marketed, at an appropriate price reflecting the occupancy restriction, for a period of at least 18 

months and that there was no demand for the property over that period. The marketing strategy, 

along with the price at which the dwelling will be marketed, should be agreed with the Local Planning 

Authority prior to commencement of the marketing exercise.’ 

 

Representations: 

 

Since the March Plans Committee meeting, an additional 12 letters of objection have been received. 
These raise similar issues to those set out in the original Officer Report; however additional 
photographic and video evidence of sheep grazing on the land has been provided. These can be 
viewed on the Council’s website.  
 

Independent Agricultural Appraisal: 

 

As required by members of the Committee, an independent agricultural appraisal has been 
commissioned and undertaken by Landsense Professional Ltd (Landsense). This document, dated 
April 2018, is appended in full to this Report. 
 

The key conclusions of the Landsense appraisal are set out below: 

 

 A desk top calculation suggests that land currently available for agriculture amounts to some 
14 hectares (34.59 acres) but that area includes the coastal marsh and an area of land 
(between the woodland and a track – see plan) that appears to have some evidence of non-
agricultural use but is outside the applicants blue shaded area. It appears that the land 
available for agriculture does not have the benefit of farm buildings and it is not clear how well 
fenced the area is and if it benefits from a sufficient water supply. It is also noted that there a 
public footpath through the land roughly following the boundary of the marsh; 
  

 Through tried and tested standard labour requirement figures and methodology for assessing 
functional need, we conclude that, the subject holding as described and 'farmed' by the 
applicants could not, (on the basis of assumptions made), at today's date, demonstrate 'a 
genuine and sustained need for the additional dwelling, based on an operational requirement 
for full-time worker(s) to be resident on the holding' and therefore could not accord with policy 
HSC8 1(a); 
 

 It should be noted that the farming activity is based upon assumptions and that, should a new 
applicant have applied for a dwelling based upon the enterprise it would have failed the 
functional need test; 
 

 Regarding HSC9 (on the same basis) 'it has been demonstrated that there is no longer 

Page 84



an operational need for the dwelling or for the supervision on the holding’. We cannot 
however ascertain if there is a need 'elsewhere in the area'; 

 

 Insufficient information has been provided to conclude that 'the likely absence of a recurrent 
need in the long term’ has been demonstrated adequately; 
 

 It should be noted that even the reduced level of agricultural activity by the 
applicants (as described in the submission documents) might well satisfy the agricultural 

occupancy restriction attached to the originating application; 

 

 With regard to retention of the agricultural restriction; we note that the property is considered 
dis-proportionate to the size of holding and excessive for a rural worker, but we conclude that 
the size of holding could allow occupants of Mouna to conform to the restriction. It is 
considered reasonable to conclude, that had the property been marketed with the land 
declared in the Statement of Case, (rather than the garden/amenity ground only), that interest 
could have been received from a wider range of potential purchasers (than the local farmers                  

contacted) and a purchaser found; 

 

 While the matter is outwith the instruction received, we would note that the valuation was 
taken and made some time ago and that it is not clear that it took fully into account all requisite 
valuation factors or that the marketing exercise was comprehensive or aggressively pursued. 
For example, the house appears to have been marketed without reference to the land 
described in this report;  
 

 It is considered unlikely that the current land use and stocking of the subject land could 
provide sustainability or the long-term viability of an agricultural business. However intensive 
or specialist use of the subject land could theoretically create a sustainable and viable 
agriculturally based business, with potential to justify an agricultural workers dwelling. Such a 
business would be likely, however, to effect landscape, and the amenity of residents and users 
of public rights of way, through visual impact. The types of intensive use that are often relied 
upon on smallholdings, generally require specialist infrastructure; a livestock building and 
fodder storage and probably paddocks with specialist fencing field trough water supplies etc. 
They would also include reasonably high density of stocking (numbers of animals to the area). 
Other possible enterprises would require specialist housing, for example housed calf rearing, 
indoor pig production, dairy goats and poultry. Outdoor based enterprises such as free-range 
poultry for egg or meat production or outdoor pig production could be considered. Alternative 
enterprises such as camelids, ratites, are often associated with rural exceptions housing 
although labour requirement claims for these enterprises are less robust. 
 

 We are aware of an Appeal Case; APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 where the main issue was 
whether the agricultural occupation condition was reasonable and necessary in order to meet 
an essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of work. There are clearly 
common factors between the circumstances of that appeal and the subject issue. 

 
On receipt of the agricultural appraisal, the Case Officer sought clarification on a couple matters. 
These are set out in Section 8.0 of the appraisal and confirm that application reference 
1/0256/2017/FULM (58 holiday units, a reception building and associated infrastructure to replace the 
existing caravan park at Knapp House) would have no impact on the assumptions made in respect of 
farmable land and that it would appear necessary for a formal company decision to be made in 
respect of releasing the land for sale with the dwelling and that the Council could not so require 
(although a legal opinion is recommended).   
 
 
 
 

Page 85



Planning Considerations: 

 
The main issue in the consideration of this application remains to be whether the agricultural 
occupancy condition is reasonable and necessary in order to meet an essential need for a rural 
worker to live at or near their place of work. The previous Officer Report considered the application 
proposal against the policies of the adopted Local Plan on the basis of the evidence submitted with 
the application. As requested by Members, an agricultural appraisal of the holding is now available to 
inform decision making, the conclusions of which are summarised above.   
 
The agricultural appraisal concludes that the dwelling is not justified in providing a financial or 
operational function for the holding. In paragraph 5.3, Landsense advise that ‘in our professional 
opinion, it is considered unlikely that the assumed land use and stocking of the subject land could 
provide sustainability or the long-term viability of an agricultural business’. However, it goes on to 
advise that ‘an intensive or specialist use of the subject land, could theoretically create a sustainable 
and viable agriculturally based business’. The Case Officer requested clarification as to the nature of 
any such ‘intensive or specialist use’ to which Landsense clarified that ‘such a business would be 
likely, however, to effect landscape, and the amenity of residents and users of the public right of way, 
through visual impact. The types of intensive use that are often relied upon on smallholdings, 
generally require specialist infrastructure; a livestock building and fodder storage and probably 
paddocks with specialist fencing field trough water supplies etc. They would also include reasonably 
high density of stocking (numbers of animals to the area). Other possible enterprises would require 
specialist housing, for example housed calf rearing, indoor pig production, dairy goats and poultry’.   
 
The site is currently located within the Coastal Preservation Area and, under the emerging Plan, will 
be within the Coast and Estuary Zone. Emerging Policy ST09 states that ‘development within the 
Undeveloped Coast and Estuary will be supported where it does not detract from the unspoilt 
character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped character of the Heritage 
Coast, and it is required because it cannot reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and 
Estuary’. The suggestion that an intensive form of agriculture could be viable on the land has to be 
considered with regard to the sites location within a protected landscape and close to residential and 
tourism development. Planning permission would be required for the new buildings that would be 
necessary to support an intensive form of agriculture and it is considered unlikely that such 
development would be considered acceptable on landscape/visual impact and amenity grounds. In 
any event, it must be acknowledged that the land is not within the direct same ownership as the 
Applicants and it is considered that the Council would be unable to require the sale of the land with 
the dwelling (although a legal opinion on this is recommended). The land was never tied with the 
dwelling.  
 

Notwithstanding the above reference to the land, the appraisal does, however, acknowledge that the 
size of the holding could enable the occupants of Mouna to comply with the agricultural occupancy 
restriction. There is a suggestion that had the larger area of land been available with the house the 
many more potential purchasers could have satisfied the requirement of the agricultural restriction by 
engaging in a bona fide agricultural activity. As stated above, the land was never tied to the dwelling 
and is in separate ownership, and consequently the Local Planning Authority may be unable to 
require the land to be marketed with the dwelling.        
 
The appraisal, recognising that this matter is outwith the instruction received, notes that the valuation 
was taken and made some time ago and it is not clear that it took fully into account all requisite 
valuation factors or that the marketing exercise was comprehensive or aggressively pursued. The 
extent of the original marketing is set out above in the original Officer Report. Given the change is 
status of the emerging Local Plan; the application does now need to be considered against Policy 
DM28.  This policy requires ‘compelling evidence to demonstrate that such a restriction is no longer 
justified.’  
 
The agricultural appraisal is clear in stating that the land area would not provide a sustainable, viable 
agricultural enterprise other than in an intensive form. It can therefore be assumed that were an 
application to come forward for an agricultural workers dwelling, it would not be supported under 

Page 86



current planning policy. The fact the dwelling exists, and that an occupant could potentially comply 
with the tie were the land available, should not be given great weight in assessing whether the tie 
remains reasonable and necessary unless a legal opinion confirms there are powers to require the 
Applicant to sell the land. 
 
The supporting text to Policy DM28 clarifies that an application must include ‘information to show that 
the dwelling has been marketed, at an appropriate price reflecting the occupancy restriction, for a 
period of at least 18 months and that there was no demand for the property over that period. It also 
requires that ‘the marketing strategy, along with the price at which the dwelling will be marketed, 
should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the marketing 
exercise’. The Case Officer is not aware that the approach to marketing and the valuation was ever 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority. However, given the length of time that has passed, and the 
protracted period of marketing, it would not be considered reasonable to require the Applicant to 
recommence marketing via a strategy agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The matter of value 
was raised again with the Agent who suggested ‘an up-to-date valuation can only be higher than 
previously shown. Even if there are differences between other valuations, the house will still be 
significantly outside agricultural affordability.’  
 
Against this background, and with reference to the appeal decision at Brambley Barton (appended to 
this report), it is considered that the marketing exercise has been appropriately undertaken, at a 
realistic value reflecting the occupancy condition as well as the site specific characteristics. A key 
issue flagged up by Landsense is the failure of the Applicant to have marketed the land with the 
dwelling – the ability of the Council to require this needs to be clarified and an update will be provided 
at the meeting. The previous marketing exercise has demonstrated there is no local demand for the 
application site to be retained as an agricultural worker's dwelling, and that there is unlikely to be a 
recurrent need in the long term. Landsense’s suggestion that a retired farmer, or one who has 
disposed of land, could be interested in the dwelling if sold with the land, and therefore could comply 
with the tie, cannot be given significant weight in decision making unless the Council is able to require 
the land to be sold with the dwelling. 
 

Conclusion: 

 
The agricultural appraisal undertaken by Landsense Professional Ltd does not change the original 
officer recommendation of approval. It enforces the Officer’s opinion that the condition restricting the 
occupancy of the application site is not reasonable or necessary to meet an essential need for a rural 
worker to live at or near their place of work and the proposal is considered to meet the tests of TDLP 
Policy HSC9. Whilst the Landsense appraisal questions the marketing approach and raises that there 
could be more interest were the land to be included, it must be noted that the Council may not be in a 
position to require the land be made available. If this is confirmed, it would be considered 
unreasonable to require the Applicant to carry out a further period of marketing. Accordingly, it is 
considered that there is sufficient evidence available to determine the application as required by 
emerging Policy DM28. Given the dwelling already exists in this countryside location, and has not 
served the needs of an agricultural worker for approximately 10 years, the proposal is not considered 
to be in conflict with Policies DVT2C, ST07 and Paragraph 55 of the NPPF. 
 
The Officer recommendation is therefore one of approval for the agricultural dwelling at Mouna 
without complying with Condition 6 of outline planning permission 1278/76/41/5. The other conditions 
imposed no longer subside and therefore no longer take effect.   
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT unconditional  
 

Plans Schedule 

 
There are no plans for approval.  

 

Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 17 May 2017 

Site visit made on 17 May 2017 

by H Porter  BA(Hons) PGDip IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 09 June 2017 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
Brambley Barton, Shebbear, Beaworthy, Devon EX21 5HN 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission under section 73 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with 

conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted. 

 The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs D Johns against the decision of Torridge District 

Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0795/2016/FUL, dated 5 August 2016, was refused by notice 

dated 11 October 2016. 

 The application sought planning permission for an agricultural dwelling at Backway 

Farm, Shebbear, N Devon without complying with a condition attached to planning 

permission Ref 1/1146/96/50/0010 dated 16 September 1996. 

 The condition in dispute is No 1 which states that: ‘The occupation of the dwelling shall 

be limited to a person solely or mainly employed, or last employed in the locality, in 

agriculture as defined in Section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or 

in forestry, including any dependant of such person residing with him or her, or a widow 

or widower of such a person’. 

 The reason given for the condition is: ‘It is the policy of the Local Planning Authority to 

refuse to permit new dwellings in the open countryside unless there is a proven long 

term agricultural need’. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the agricultural 
dwelling at Backway Farm, Shebbear, N Devon without complying with 

Condition 1 previously imposed on planning permission 1/1146/96/50/0010, 
dated 16 September 1996, but subject to the other conditions imposed 

thereon, so far as the same are still subsisting and capable of taking effect. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The original planning application form supplied to the Inspectorate was 

unsigned and undated.  This matter was raised at the Hearing and a signed 
copy, dated 5 August 2016, was provided; as well as a signed Statement of 

Common Ground.  As the dwelling, subject of this appeal, has already been 
constructed, I have omitted ‘proposed’ from the description of what planning 
permission has been granted for.   

3. At the appeal Hearing, the Council confirmed that the emerging North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document has not progressed since 

the application was determined, consequently the Saved Policies of the 

Page 103



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
 

 
2 

Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, adopted 2004 (the Local Plan) will be 

the policies relevant to my decision.  Both parties agreed that the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Agricultural Dwellings and Occupancy 

Conditions, 2000 is no longer in use; accordingly it has been afforded no 
weight in this decision.  The Council also confirmed that Torridge District 
cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land.  Subsequent to 

the Hearing, both parties have agreed that the Supreme Court judgement1 
does not have any material implication on the appeal case.  

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is whether the condition is reasonable and necessary in order to 
meet an essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of work.  

Reasons 

5. Brambley Barton is a five-bedroom, two-storey detached dwelling set within its 

own garden plot, situated across a narrow country lane from Backway Farm.  
The dwelling was built in the late 1990s, on the basis that it was justified to 
meet the need for an agricultural worker to enable the efficient operation of 

Backway Farm.  At that time, the appellant was a partner and working full-time 
at Backway Farm, with an increasingly active role in its management.  The 

agricultural occupancy condition was imposed on the original permission in 
order to comply with the relevant planning policy at that time, which sought to 
restrict new dwellings in the open countryside unless there is a proven long-

term agricultural need.  Since its construction, the appellants occupied 
Brambley Barton, continuing an ongoing role in the Backway Farm dairy 

operation up until 2014.  At that point, the appellants left the area and 
commenced marketing the property for sale in early 2015, leaving the dwelling 
unoccupied. 

6. Saved Policy HSC9 of the Torridge District Local Plan, 2004 (the Local Plan) 
contains two criteria that must be satisfied in order for an occupancy condition 

to be removed.  Criterion a) seeks to establish that there is no longer an 
operational need for the dwelling; criterion b) relates to the likely absence of a 
recurrent need in the long-term having to be demonstrated adequately.  All 

applications are required to have completed a realistic assessment of local 
demand, undertaking appropriately targeted marketing at a price that reflects 

the occupancy condition, for a minimum of two years. 

Operational need 

7. At the Hearing, the appellant explained that Backway Farm is now principally 

managed by his brother, who resides in the main farmhouse; while his father, 
since retired, lives in the village.  It was also explained at the Hearing that the 

appellants no longer have any involvement in Backway Farm, though it remains 
a large operation with a substantial acreage and stock.  That said, it was also 

explained that over the past 20 years, there have been significant changes in 
the way dairy farms are managed; with machinery and automation reducing 
the day-to-day operational and labour requirements.  To my mind, the 

combination of these factors amounts to a compelling change in the need for a 
second substantial dwelling that had been necessary to satisfy the operation 

requirements of Backway Farm some two decades ago. 

                                       
1 [2017] UKSC 37 Suffolk Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes Ltd and SSCLG, Richborough Estates 

Partnership LLP and SSCLEG v Cheshire East Borough Council 

Page 104



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
 

 
3 

Marketing and valuation 

8. In terms of property valuations, it is evident that the exercise is not an exact 
science.  However, the appellants sought three independent valuations on 

Brambley Barton, by experienced local land agents.  At the Hearing, the valuer 
appearing for the appellant explained the approach to valuing tied properties, 
which assesses comparable open-market dwellings in the area, taking the 

closest in size and reducing the asking price in the region of 25 -30%.  This 
approach was taken at the appeal property and I am satisfied that the 25% 

reduction was based on appropriate evidence.  The property was initially 
marketed at £275,000, in the middle of the upper and lower of the three 
valuations given.  The two price reductions at £10,000 increments, took the 

final asking price close to the lower valuation figure.  From the evidence 
provided, it seems to me that the asking price was fair, informed by 

independent expert advice and reflective of both the site-specific circumstances 
and the occupancy restriction. 

9. It was explained at the Hearing that the predominant type of farming in the 

local area is dairy, and the duties of a worker on a higher wage in that industry 
would usually involve being either on-site or very close to their herd.  Within 

this context, the appellants’ land agent also wrote to nearby farmers, within a 
5 mile radius of Brambley Barton.  I consider the approach taken was 
appropriate for the specific local circumstances.  Moreover, Brambley Barton 

has continued to be marketed in the intervening months since the planning 
application was submitted.  Without speculating whether prospective buyers 

may be waiting to know the outcome of this appeal, the property has now been 
continually marketed for in excess of 24 months.  Taken with the on-line 
marketing and the agent’s register of interested persons, I consider that the 

property was marketed over an appropriate timescale.  

Assessment of local demand 

10. At the Hearing, the Council provided a list of applications submitted for 
agricultural workers’ dwellings within the past two years.  This list shows that, 
over the whole of Torridge District, just ten permanent agricultural workers’ 

dwellings have been permitted; only two of which are in Parishes neighbouring 
Shebbear, and none within Shebbear itself.  Whilst this suggests that the 

demand for new properties to serve the needs of agricultural workers is small, 
it does not amount to conclusive evidence that there is no demand for existing 
properties.  

11. The main purpose of the condition is to ensure that those working in 
agriculture, where wages have historically been low, have access to 

accommodation that meets their needs.  However, even at 30% below its usual 
market value, Brambley Barton would be expensive in comparison with other 

agricultural workers’ dwellings that might come on the market.  There may be 
agricultural workers in the locality; however, it is only those on a higher 
farming salary who would reasonably be able to afford Brambley Barton.  While 

I accept that the property could be bought by someone outside agriculture, for 
occupancy by a tenant, who would have to be a rural worker, the rental price 

would likewise be comparatively high.  Furthermore, the Council’s advice not to 
market the property for rental indicates to me that there would be a very 
limited pool of prospective tenants in the locality.  The Council made the case 

that the disputed condition allows for a retired agricultural worker.  However, 

Page 105



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
 

 
4 

the size, rural location and relatively high cost of Brambley Barton would, in my 

judgement, be a disincentive to a retired rural worker, even if the targeted 
marketing exercise had extended to neighbouring Parishes.   

12. The Council considered the offer made by a prospective purchaser, who 
seemingly complied with the agricultural occupancy restriction, as evidence of a 
local demand.  I do not wish to speculate on the reasons why this person was 

not compelled to proceed with the purchase of Brambley Barton, however, the 
requests of the agent in the interest of securing a proceedable sale, seem 

entirely justified.  I accept that the offer of £248,000 was very close to the 
lower valuation and only £7,000 under the final asking price.  However, rather 
than show any deliberate unwillingness to move forward with the offer, it 

appears that the necessary information, including proof of funds as well as 
compliance with the condition, was not forthcoming.  Moreover, the person who 

made the offer has known about the appeal and responded to the appeal.  The 
property has remained on the market, therefore there has been the 
opportunity to re-open dialogue with the agent in the time that has elapsed 

since the consultation response letter was written.  

13. Overall, I consider the market testing exercise has been suitably undertaken, 

at a realistic value reflecting the occupancy condition, and reveals that there is 
no local demand for the appeal site, and a likely absence of a recurrent need in 
the long term.  Therefore, in this instance, the requirements of Saved Policy 

HSC9 have been satisfied to the extent that lifting the occupancy condition 
would not result in the permanent loss of access to the type of property needed 

by those working in agriculture. 

Planning Balance 

14. Removing the agricultural occupancy condition would result in an isolated home 

in the open countryside, which, without any special circumstances, paragraph 
55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) seeks to 

restrict.  While it pre-dates the adoption of the Framework, the essence of 
Saved Policy DVT2C of the Local Plan is consistent with it, insofar as it aims to 
protect the character and appearance of the countryside while allowing for 

sustainable economic activity.  That said, the Council are currently unable to 
demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites and paragraph 49 of 

the Framework sets out that the relevant polices for the supply of housing 
should not be considered up-to-date.  The primary purpose of paragraph 49 is 
to trigger the operation of the tilted balance in paragraph 14 of the Framework, 

favouring a narrow interpretation of policies for the supply of housing. 

15. Located over two miles from the village of Shebbear, the dwelling is well 

outside the nearest settlement boundary, and is visually and functionally linked 
with the surrounding open countryside.  While Shebbear is a little over two 

miles away, and offers many essential services, accessing these would be 
principally by private car.  However, Brambley Barton was constructed as a 
family home, and while one occupant worked at the adjacent farm, the rest of 

the household would have travelled to school, to work or to shop by car.  There 
may be a small increase in vehicular journeys as a result of lifting the 

occupancy condition; however, the increase would be minimal and would not 
have an adverse impact on the character of the countryside.  

16. On the other hand, the appeal property has stood empty for some four years 

and its condition could worsen.  There would be merit in re-using an existing 

Page 106



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
 

 
5 

building, in supporting services in the nearby village, and in making a small yet 

still beneficial contribution to the supply of housing in the district.  Balanced 
against the disadvantages of an isolated location, in the context of paragraph 

14 of the Framework, I do not consider the adverse impacts would significantly 
outweigh the benefits.   

Other matters 

17. There is local concern in relation to the proximity of Brambley Barton to 
Backway Farm, and the potential impact on the living conditions of future 

occupiers in terms of disturbance from the farming activity.  While there is a 
very close physical relationship between Brambley Barton and Backway Farm, a 
prospective purchaser would be fully aware of the extant situation.  Without 

any substantive information regarding the situation mentioned in the third 
party comments, I can attach only little weight to this matter.  

Conclusion 

18. For the reasons given above, I do not consider that the condition restricting 
occupancy of the appeal site is reasonable and necessary in order to meet an 

essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of work.  The 
resultant dwelling would accord with the policies in the Framework and 

development plan taken as a whole.  The appeal should be allowed. 

H Porter 

INSPECTOR 

 

APPEARANCES 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 

David Johns    Appellant 

Lucy Johns    Appellant 

Peter Rowan    Planning Consultant 

Mark Bunt BSc MRICS FAAV Kivells  

Jack Spires FRICS FAAV  Qualified Valuer, Stags 

 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY 

Sarah Boyle BSc (Hons)  Planning Officer  

Stephen Belli PGDip RTPI  Agency Planner 

Councillor David Hurley  Torridge District Council, Ward Member 

 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTEDE AT THE HEARING 

Page 107



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3168619 
 

 
6 

1 Statement of Common Ground, signed and dated 17 May 2017 

2 Signed and dated Declaration page from original planning application 

3 List of applications to Torridge District for agricultural workers’ dwellings in the 

past two years 

4 List of applications for removal of agricultural occupancy conditions in Torridge 
District in the past two years 

5 Google satellite view of Backway Farm and appeal site 

6 Google satellite view of Backway Farm and wider context 

7 Ordnance Survey map of appeal site and Backway Farm, NTS 

8 Ordnance Survey of Torridge District showing Wards and Parishes 

9 Statement on valuation and marketing from Jack Spires, Stags, 16 May 2017 

10 Statement on valuation, offer and need from Mark Bunt, Kivells 

11 Email correspondence between Mark Bunt, Kivells and Larry Bond of Bond 

Oxborough Philips confirming agricultural tie, 11 May 2017 

Page 108



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0153/2018/FUL 

Registration date: 13 February 2018 

Expiry date:  10 April 2018 

Applicant:  Dr Ben Lee  

Agent:  Fearnley Lott Architects 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Land To The West Of Hampton Close,  
Raleigh Hill,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
 
 

Proposal:  Three dwellings (re-submission of 
1/0095/2017/FUL with amended access) 

Recommendation: Grant subject to a legal agreement 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 11c



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been called-in by Cllr Peter Christie for the following reason: 
 
‘So committee members can understand how an application turned down by both TDC and the 
Appeals Inspector can be resubmitted unchanged with no S106 discussed’. 
 
The application has been called-in by Cllr Ken Davis for the following reason: 
 
‘for consideration as to whether this application runs contrary to policies DVT2C and DVT6 as it is 
outside of the development boundary and if allowed to go ahead it could set a precedent, void of the 
Local Plan’.  
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
     

1/0095/2017/FUL Three new dwellings REF 18.05.2017 
   

 
The above application was refused by Plans Committee against an Officer recommendation of 
approval for the following reasons 
 
‘The proposal represents residential development encroaching into the open countryside beyond the 
built up area of the settlement of Bideford. The principle of the proposed development, due to its siting 
within the countryside, is considered to result in an adverse impact on the surrounding landscape and 
open countryside, together with the character and appearance of the surrounding area. In the 
absence of special circumstances allowing the erection of isolated new dwellings in the countryside, 
this would be contrary to the provisions of Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the Torridge District Local 
Plan (2004) and national policy guidance contained in paragraphs 55 and 109 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012)’. 
 
The Applicant lodged an appeal under reference APP/W1145/W/17/3180735, which was 
subsequently dismissed on the 8th February 2018. The inspector considered the main issue to be the 
‘effect on the character and appearance of the area and the contribution the housing would make to 
the district’. 
 
A copy of the full appeal decision is appended to this report and pertinent points will be referred to 
throughout this Report. However, for ease of reference, the Inspector’s conclusion was worded as 
follows: 
 
‘The proposal would have the social and economic benefits of making a contribution to address the 
current under-supply of housing and make a contribution to the local economy. On the other hand 
without the secured provision for the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping 
area (which also makes provision for measures to address drainage in a critical drainage area), the 
development would result in significant harm to the character of the landscape and to visual amenity. 
In these circumstances the adverse impacts identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits. The scheme would be contrary to the relevant policies in the Local Plan and the appeal 
is dismissed.’   
 
In light of this appeal decision, the Applicant has resubmitted the application with a draft unilateral 
undertaking to secure the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping. 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



Site Description & Proposal 

 
The Site: 
The site lies to the north west of the principal centre of Bideford, on part of the southern slopes of a 
valley and comprises the northern, lower part of a field which rises in a southerly direction. It borders 
a classified road (Class C, road 568), "Raleigh Hill" along its northern boundary. Vehicular access 
terminates along Raleigh Hill further to the North West following construction of the A39. Whilst lying 
within an undeveloped part of the countryside, it immediately adjoins the development boundary of 
Bideford/Northam which runs along its eastern boundary. Immediately to the east of the application 
site, and the field in which it is located, lies Hampton Park which consists of various detached 
dwellings rising in a southerly direction.  
 
Immediately to the west of the site, the general character and appearance is undeveloped, open 
countryside. To the north, the land slopes downwards to the valley bottom and to where the A39 runs, 
before rising steely where the general character and appearance is of fields bounded by Devon 
hedgerows, pockets of woodland, sporadic dwellings and farmsteads.    
 
The site lies within the Kenwith Critical Drainage Area. 
 
The Proposal: 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three, detached two storey 
dwellings, accessed off Raleigh Hill via a private estate road. The existing field access onto Raleigh 
Hill would be widened to create improved visibility. The majority of the hedgebank abutting Raleigh 
Hill would be retained, and reinforced with additional planting where necessary, as would the 
hedgerow along the western boundary. New hedgerow planting would be created along the site's 
southern and part eastern boundaries. Access would be retained to allow connectivity with the 
remainder of the field to the south. 
 
Each of the dwellings would be of a pitched roof design, with forward projection along part of each of 
the front elevation, and would have an attached double garage. Basically, they would be of an 
"upside" internal layout with bedrooms and bathrooms at ground floor levels and lounge, dining room 
and kitchen at first floor levels. External finishing materials would comprise natural slate roof, 
rendered and timber clad walls and aluminium framed windows and doors. Dimensions would be as 
follows: 
 
Plot 1 (3 no. bedrooms) - about 10.7 m length x 9.8 m depth (max) x 7.8 m ridge height. 
Double garage - 6.1m length x 6.5 m depth x 4.7 m ridge height); 
 
Plot 2 (4 no. bedrooms)- about 11.3 m length x 10.6 m depth (max) x 8.0 m ridge height. 
Double garage - 6.1 m length x 6.4 m depth x 4.7 m ridge height;  
 
Plot 3 (5 no. bedrooms) - about 13.1 m length x 11.7 m depth (max) x 8.3 m ridge height. 
Double garage - 6.3 m length x 6.7 m depth x 4.7 m ridge height. 
 
Due to the sloping nature of the site, rear gardens areas to the south of the dwellings would be 
"linked" by a bridge from first floor dining rooms.  
 
The proposed dwellings would be sited so that their respective frontages would be parallel to Raleigh 
Hill. Situated between the dwellings and Raleigh Hill would be the private estate road and new 
grassland and landscaped open amenity areas.  
 
Foul and surface water drainage would be connected to the existing public foul and surface water 
sewers, which would be extended to the site entrance. 
 
The application is a resubmission of previous application 1/0095/2017/FUL with the only difference 
between the two proposals being a slight amendment to the access. This current application is 
accompanied by a draft unilateral undertaking which seeks to secure the management and 

Page 111



maintenance of the landscaping area via the submission and approval of a Maintenance Standard 
and the maintenance of the drainage infrastructure as shown on the drainage strategy. A copy of this 
draft unilateral is appended to this Report.   
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused on the same grounds as previously. 
Members stressed their concerns that this application is outside the development area. Under the 
NPPF there are three dimensions to sustainable development, Economic, Social & Environmental, 
this application is contrary to all of them. This site is in open countryside and outside of the current 
development boundary in the Local Plan and is contrary to DVT2C. NPPF 17.7 states there are 12 
principles that planning should comprise; contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and reducing pollution. Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser 
environmental value, where consistent with other policies in this framework. DVT8 Landscaping at 
3.121a, the Devon hedgebank is locally distinctive and defines local landscapes. Under this 
application, 10 metres of hedgebank will be lost. This section of Raleigh Hill is prone to regular 
flooding, road surface water drainage in this area is very poor, this will be compounded with this 
scheme. The road giving access to site, by reason of its width and lack of footways, is unsuitable to 
accommodate the increase in traffic likely to be generated and the application lacks adequate visibility 
splays. Any additional traffic added to Raleigh Hill or Lenwood Road would increase the risk to 
pedestrians, horse riders, cyclists, dog walkers and drivers and on highways grounds should be 
refused. There is no provision for refuse or recyclable storage adjoining Raleigh Hill, TDC refuse 
vehicles will not drive onto a private driveway. This is a creeping form of sporadic development into 
open countryside which should be refused. A large site behind Raleigh Hill with access onto Heywood 
Road has planning permission for 180 homes, there is no need for further housing development on 
this very restricted access road. Finally, the application is contrary to ENV1 Conservation Interest (1) 
(c) to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity, the richness of wildlife habitats and the variety 
of natural interest. 
 
Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
No response.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing advice.  
 
The Environment Agency:  
No response.  
 
South West Water:  
No objection.  
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, I can confirm that I am able to comment 
as follows. 
 
With regards this application my comments remain as for 1/0095//2017/FUL, the proposed 
landscaping will help integrate this development into this edge of town location. With a legal 
agreement in place securing the planting and management of the landscaping, the proposed 
landscaping scheme will be fully implemented and maintained. 
 
My previous comments are shown below: 
 
'This is an application for three new detached dwelling at the north end of a larger greenfield 
agricultural field at the west end of Raleigh Hill. The site is bordered by existing hedgerows to three 
sides and the open filed to the south. There are some poor quality elm trees growing in the eastern 

Page 112



boundary with Hampton park, but these should not be affected by the proposed dwelling due to the 
position of the access and the continued access required for the remaining field. 
 
The provided landscape scheme shows all the hedgerows and the elm to be retained and enhanced 
with further planting, including a new hedgerow along the southern site boundary. No scheme for the 
protection of the retained hedgerow has been provided, but protection of retained trees and 
hedgerows to BS5837 is recommended in the Ecological Reports mitigation requirements. 
 
The development is within open country side and sits within Landscape Character Type (LCT) 5B: 
Coastal Undulating Farmland. This character type is slightly diluted due to its close proximity to the 
existing residential development and will have an insignificant impact on the wider LCT character and 
the visual impact will also be low, especially as all the mature hedgerows are to be retained. 
 
SUMMARY OF SPECIAL QUALITIES  
 
' Open, uninterrupted sea views. 
' Strong field patterns (including medieval fields) with frequent crooked 
 hedgerow trees. 
' Productive, rolling farmland ' a working landscape. 
' Peace, tranquillity and low levels of development. 
 
One of the forces for change identified within the LCT is; 
 
' Development pressure on the fringes of Bideford and Westward Ho!, with eastward views from the 
LCT dominated by recent ridgeline development. 
 
OVERALL LANDSCAPE STRATEGY:  
 
To protect the area's role as a working agricultural landscape with open sea views providing a 
distinctive sense of place. High levels of tranquillity and dark night skies are protected through the 
careful siting of new development, whilst Green Infrastructure links are provided to nearby settlements 
to strengthen recreational opportunities, re-link habitats and reduce traffic on rural roads. The 
landscape's mosaic of medieval fields is reinforced through a well-managed and intact hedgebank 
network, and patches of habitat and woodland within the farmland and along the coast are expanded 
and joined up to produce a climate-resilient wildlife refuge. 
 
The special qualities, forces for change and landscape strategy show that this site is on the edge of 
the LCT and open countryside and that therefore its impact on the surrounding countryside will be 
minimal, I therefore have no objections to this application.' 
  
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
We note that we are not a statutory consultee for the above planning application because it is not 
classed as a major development. We are currently receiving a very high volume of major planning 
application consultation requests and therefore we will not be responding to any minor planning 
applications.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application. The proposed development site lies in an area of archaeological 
potential with two Scheduled monuments located within 600 metres of the site, Godborough Castle to 
the south-west and a barrow to the north. Kenwith Castle, also Scheduled, is located within 900 
metres to the southwest. Further prehistoric activity is indicated by a possible barrow to the south of 
the proposed development site. The Historic Landscape Characterisation shows the site to be in an 
area of medieval enclosures based on strip fields. As such, groundworks for the construction of the 
proposed development have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual 
deposits associated with prehistoric and later activity. 
 
For this reason and in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 in the Torridge Local Plan I would advise that any consent your 

Page 113



Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model 
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
 
‘No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 'To ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan, that an appropriate record is made of 
archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development.' 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches to determine 
the presence and significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected 
by the development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of 
any further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or 
during construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area 
excavation in advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated 
with the construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, investigation and 
recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any 
post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 
illustrated report.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  13  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  3 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
3 letters of objection have been received at the time of compiling this Committee report. The 
objections can be summarised as follows: 
 
- the proposal will harm the character and appearance of the area and will not maintain and restore or 
enhance the local vernacular and sense of place; 
- full details of planning obligations must be made public before any decision on this current 
application is made; 
- the proposed visibility splays include land the applicant doesn't own or control; 
- this re-submission is contesting the reasons for dismissal by the Planning Inspectorate and ignoring 
the planning committee's original decision to refuse permission. 
 
The concerns raised in respect of harm to the character and appearance of the area will be 
considered in the relevant section below. A copy of the unilateral undertaking is attached to this 
Report and has been provided in response to the appeal Inspector’s decision. It is therefore 
considered appropriate, given the change in circumstances with the appeal decision and now the 
submission of a legal agreement, for the application to be reconsidered. Finally, the matter of land 
ownership is not a planning issue and it should be noted that the Applicant has served notice on the 
relevant landowners.  
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
DVT11 (Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT18 (Impact of Development on Traffic); DVT19 
(Access and Parking); DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage); DVT2C (Development In The Open 
Countryside); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building Design); DVT8 (Landscaping); ENV1 
(Conservation Interest); ENV5 (Countryside Protection and Landscape Con);  

Page 114



 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance);  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
Main Planning Considerations: 
1) Principle of Development; 
2) Impact on Character and Appearance; 
3) Impact on Residential Amenities; 
4) Ecology; 
5) Access and Parking; 
6) Drainage 
 
1) Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located to the north west of Bideford, one of the Strategic Centres identified 
under Policy DVT1 within the Local Plan and is considered a sustainable settlement with a range of 
amenities and facilities. However, the proposed housing development would be sited outside of and to 
the west of the development boundary of the settlement, albeit adjoining said development boundary. 
As a result, the site lies in the open countryside and the provisions of Policy DVT2C are a material 
consideration. This Policy restricts development in the open countryside and requires that it does not 
have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area. The Policy does not 
specifically exclude residential development in the open countryside - however special justification for 
such dwellings must be demonstrated. The NPPF reiterates this through paragraph 55 which states 
that isolated new dwellings in the open countryside will not be supported unless there are special 
circumstances for doing so.  The site continues to be located within the open countryside under the 
emerging Plan and is directly adjacent to the defined development boundary for Bideford. Prior to 
receipt of the Inspector's Final Report, confirming that a five year housing land supply (5YHLS) will be 
available with the adoption of the emerging Plan, it is considered that a five year land supply cannot 
be fully demonstrated for Torridge.  
 

Page 115



As stated in the above paragraph, the application site directly adjoins the development boundary of 
Bideford. In interpreting the principle of development on the application site, the site is not an isolated 
site within the open countryside given that it directly adjoins the development boundary and would be 
within walking distance of the various facilities and services offered by Bideford as a strategic centre. 
The location of the proposed development within what is considered to be a sustainable location 
therefore forms a material consideration in the assessment of the proposal. 
 
Due to the Council's lack of 5 year housing land supply, it is acknowledged that policies relating to the 
supply of housing have to be regarded as out of date and accorded very limited weight by virtue of the 
provisions of paragraph 49 of the NPPF which emphasises that housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 14 of 
the NPPF makes it clear that planning permission should be granted, where relevant policies in the 
development plan are out-of-date, unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole. In light of this, a consideration of the planning balance is required which sets aside the housing 
policies of the Local Plan, including Policy DVT2C, and considers the other relevant policies of the 
Torridge District Local Plan in relation to landscape protection, residential amenity, highway safety 
and ecology together with the material considerations of the NPPF, including the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.   
 
Policy DVT2C would remain relevant when it notes that development in the countryside should not 
detract from the character and appearance of the area and this complies specifically with the 
environmental thread of sustainable development as identified within the NPPF.   
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF makes it clear that sustainable development has three dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental. The proposal must be considered using the planning balance by 
weighing up the economic, social and environmental factors of the proposal. There would be a 
modest social benefit in the provision of three houses which would contribute to boosting housing 
supply and the contribution of three households may make to the local community. The proposal 
would fulfil the economic role of sustainable development by the creation of new jobs generated 
during construction and to the local economy from 3 new households. There would be associated 
economic benefits in terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus.  
 
As regards environmental considerations, the application site is reasonably well located in terms of 
accessibility to various facilities and is located in close proximity to existing residential development. 
Policy DVT2C remains relevant when it notes that development in the countryside should not detract 
from the character and appearance of the area and this complies specifically with the environmental 
thread of sustainable development as identified within the NPPF. The landscape impact is explored in 
detail below, however, for the purposes of this section, briefly, the visual effect on the open 
countryside would be the key consideration together with any ecological impacts 
 
The appeal decision in respect of the previous application concluded that ‘the proposal would have 
the social and economic benefits of making a contribution to address the current under-supply of 
housing and make a contribution to the local economy. On the other hand without the secured 
provision for the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping area (which also 
makes provision for measures to address drainage in a critical drainage area), the development would 
result in significant harm to the character of the landscape and to visual amenity. In these 
circumstances the adverse impacts identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. The scheme would be contrary to the relevant policies of the Local Plan and the appeal is 
dismissed’.    
 
It is clear that the inspector acknowledged the social and economic benefits of the proposal in 
reaching their decision however due to there not being a legal agreement to secure the landscaping 
area, the potential environmental harm was considered to outweigh these benefits. The application 
now includes a draft unilateral undertaking so it is considered that the concerns of the Inspector have 
been satisfied.    
 

Page 116



As with the previous application, a number of objections have been received from third parties 
objecting to the loss of the open countryside and building on fields in this locality. While your Officers 
can understand their concern, this proposal is adjacent to the development boundary and additional 
housing in appropriate sustainable locations can help to sustain settlements and communities. The 
NPPF supports such housing in these locations and therefore this proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in principle. 
 
2) Impact on Character and Appearance 
 
This application has been considered by the Council's Landscape Officer. He notes that this is an 
application for three new detached dwelling at the north end of a larger greenfield agricultural field at 
the west end of Raleigh Hill. The site is bordered by existing hedgerows to three sides and the open 
filed to the south. There are some poor quality elm trees growing in the eastern boundary with 
Hampton Park, but these should not be affected by the proposed dwellings due to the position of the 
access and the continued access required for the remaining field. 
 
The Landscape Officer notes the submitted landscape scheme shows all the hedgerows and the elm 
to be retained and enhanced with further planting, including a new hedgerow along the southern site 
boundary. No scheme for the protection of the retained hedgerow has been provided, but protection 
of retained trees and hedgerows to BS5837 is recommended in the Ecological Reports mitigation 
requirements.  
 
The development would be within open country side and would sit within Landscape Character Type 
(LCT) 5B: Coastal Undulating Farmland set out within the document "Joint Landscape Character 
Assessment", adopted on 14th February 2011. This character type is slightly diluted due to its close 
proximity to the existing residential development and would have an insignificant impact on the wider 
LCT character and the visual impact would also be low, especially as all the mature hedgerows are to 
be retained. 
 
The Landscape Officer concludes that the special qualities, forces for change and landscape strategy 
show that this site is on the edge of the LCT and open countryside and therefore its impact on the 
surrounding countryside would be minimal. He therefore raises no objections to this application and 
welcomes the inclusion of a legal agreement to secure the management and maintenance of the 
landscaping area. 
 
A key element of Members’ refusal reason for the previous application was that the ‘the proposed 
development, due to its siting within the countryside, is considered to result in an adverse impact on 
the surrounding landscape and open countryside, together with the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area’. Consistent with this, the Appeal Inspector considered the main issue for 
considered being ‘the effect on the character and appearance of the area and the contribution the 
housing would make to the district’. 
 
The Appeal Inspector noted that ‘the visual impact would be partly mitigated by the retention of the 
existing vegetation which would be supplemented by additional planting, crucial at the western end 
where the current planting is less dense. However there is no legal mechanism provided by the 
appellant to secure the future management and maintenance of the communal area and without it the 
site would be very prominent in views across the valley resulting in visual harm to the appearance of 
the site in the wider landscape’. The Inspector further advised that she considered ‘a planning 
obligation is necessary to secure this requirement and without one I cannot be satisfied how the 
management and maintenance of this space would be secured and legally binding’.       
 
The appeal decision is a material consideration in the determination of this application. It provides a 
clear steer to the Applicant that, were a legal planning obligation to be secured for the management 
and maintenance of the communal landscape area, then the visual harm to the appearance of the site 
in the wider landscape would be mitigated. Given a planning obligation has been submitted in draft, it 
is considered that, subject to the completion and signing of it, the proposal is acceptable in landscape 
terms.   
 

Page 117



Whilst the proposed development would extend beyond the existing limits of the town and onto a 
greenfield site, it would be in close proximity to existing properties to the east. Due to the topography 
of the site, the development would be seen in the wider landscape and visible from certain locations 
on the opposite side of the valley to the north, as well as from the more immediate view from Raleigh 
Hill. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the site can be developed without having a significant 
adverse impact on this part of Bideford/Northam with no adverse landscape impact and visual impacts 
restricted to local viewpoints. The topography, proposed boundary treatments and vegetation growth 
along the perimeter of the site would enable the site to be developed in an acceptable manner, 
subject to appropriate landscaping and lighting conditions. Accordingly the proposal is considered to 
comply with Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the TDLP. 
 
Policy DVT6 of the Local Plan states that development proposals will be expected to maintain, restore 
or enhance the local vernacular through appropriate layout, design, materials and landscaping.  Policy 
DVT7 emphasises that development will not be permitted unless it is compatible with the context 
within which it is set taking account of layout, landscaping, density, range of uses, height, massing 
and appearance. In addition, Policy HSC3 relates to housing and residential estate layouts and states 
that housing layouts should satisfactorily integrate the development with the surrounding context 
taking into account the character and features of the townscape and landscape, vehicular access and 
established walking and cycling routes.   
 
The proposed design, scale and appearance of the new houses are considered acceptable and not 
out of keeping with the general design context within the locality. The proposed development is 
considered to be in keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area and would be 
seen in context with the surrounding landscape, notwithstanding the removal of a section of hedgerow 
fronting the site to allow improved visibility. A condition is recommended removing 'permitted 
development' rights in respect of extensions, roof additions/alterations and buildings within the 
curtilages in order to safeguard the design and character of the development scheme and to avoid 
unacceptable detriment to visual amenity.  
 
3) Impact on Residential Amenities 
 
The site is in the open countryside, albeit bordering the Hampton Park residential estate on its eastern 
boundary. However, the nearest dwellings in Hampton Park facing the application site are between 
about 29m and 37m from Plot 1. Any direct overlooking of the rear amenity/garden space serving Plot 
1 would be minimal. In addition Plot 1's dwelling would have no side windows in its gable, eastern 
wall, thereby ensuring there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of existing 
residential property. 
 
Conditions are recommended requiring details of any external lighting to be installed on the site and 
removing 'permitted development' rights in respect of extensions, roof additions/alterations and 
buildings within the curtilages in order to safeguard residential amenity.  
 
Having regard to the siting, heights and design of the proposed development, there would be no 
significant unacceptable detriment caused to neighbouring properties by overlooking, loss of privacy, 
loss of sunlight/daylight, dominance and overshadowing. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to 
comply with Policies DVT11 of the TDLP. 
 
4) Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  
 
The applicant has submitted an Ecological Appraisal in support of the proposed development.   
 
The Appraisal noted the following: 
 

Page 118



a) Badgers - No setts or other evidence of badgers were recorded on the site, but the site 
does support some foraging opportunities in the form of short grassland that may support 
invertebrate prey and hedgerows that may provide fruit and berries. The proposed housing 
layout could provide continuity of commuting habitat, with new roads being used infrequently 
by slow moving cars. It is considered that badgers would not be significantly affected during 
operation. 
 
b) Bats - Whilst the number of bats recorded during surveys was relatively low, a high diversity 
of bats (at least eight species) were present. Nevertheless the proposed development would 
likely to impact foraging bats. Lighting during construction and operation would have the 
potential to have negative impacts. Whilst the layout design is sensitive towards all retained 
hedgerow habitats, and no street lighting is proposed, if the design can ensure no increase in 
light levels on the boundaries, the impacts on bats would unlikely to be significantly adverse. 
 
c) Breeding birds - Boundary hedgerows provide suitable nesting habitat for common 
woodland and farmland bird species such as dunnock and song thrush. These are largely to 
be retained with the exception of small breaks for access purposes. Existing stables also 
provide nesting opportunities for swallow and other species. Overall, the proposals would 
result in a permanent loss of nesting habitat, although given the small area to be lost and the 
availability of other suitable nesting habitat, this is considered unlikely to be significant. 
 
d) Dormice - No records but the hedges around the site would offer some suitability for 
Dormice. In the absence of mitigation there is a low risk of impact to this species during the 
removal of hedgerow habitat. 
 
e) Great Crested Newts - No records and the species is unlikely to be present on the site. 
 
f) Reptiles - The majority of the field as a whole is unsuitable for reptiles as it provides little or 
no cover due to heavy grazing by horses. Nevertheless several records for reptiles in the area 
include adder, common lizard, grass snake and slow-worm. Long term adverse impacts to the 
local population of any reptiles on the site are considered unlikely to be significant. 
 
g) Other species - There is potential to support species such as harvest mouse, hedgehog, 
common toad. 

 
Various mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures are set out in the Appraisal.  
 
In summary, the main impacts from the proposed development would be due to the removal of part of 
the northern hedgerow which may directly harm reptiles, dormice and breeding birds during 
vegetation and bank clearance. Further indirect impacts would include reducing the connectivity value 
of this hedgerow for bats and dormice. Provided the proposed avoidance and mitigation measures set 
out in the Appraisal are carried out, the proposal is considered unlikely to have significant adverse 
effects on ecology. A number of enhancement measures are recommended with the aim of providing 
a net biodiversity gain, contributing to the aims of the NPPF and local policy. This includes including 
habitat enhancement with native tree planting and wildlife-friendly grassland creation and provision of 
additional nesting and roosting opportunities for birds and bats. 
 
These proposed avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures are recommended to be the 
subject of a planning condition to ensure that they are implemented and that the works are 
undertaken in accordance with the recommendations and mitigations set out in the Ecological 
Appraisal. A condition is also recommended requiring the submission of details in respect of any 
external lighting to be installed in order to safeguard protected and other species. In addition it is 
recommended that the applicant/developer enters into a Section 106 Agreement requiring the setting 
up of a management company in order that the management company and the applicant/developer 
will manage and maintain all boundary hedges, landscaped areas and other parts of the site as 
indicated on the submitted drawing no. 16 128 11A "Management Company Plan" which do not fall 
within private curtilages of the properties. This would ensure a consistency of management and 

Page 119



maintenance approach, rather than such management and maintenance being carried out by the 
individual plot owners.  
 
On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would comply with Policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the 
TDLP and the ecology legislation. 
 
5) Access and Parking 
 
The application proposed access onto the lane (Raleigh Hill) which runs along the north of the site. 
Each dwelling would be provided with a double garage with parking in front of that garage. Devon 
County Council as Highways Authority refers to "standing advice" in their comments on this proposal. 
It is considered that a safe and suitable access can be created onto this highway and adequate on-
site parking facilities would be provided to serve the development.  
 
Whilst the objections from third parties relating to highways issues are noted, it is not considered that 
a highway objection can be sustained for this application. Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe. This proposal for three dwellings would not result in a severe impact on the 
local highway network. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies DVT18 of the 
TDLP. 
 
6) Foul Water/Drainage 
 
Existing public foul and surface water sewers are to be extended to the site entrance in order that the 
proposed development can be connected to the mains system rather than being connected to any on-
site drainage system. This is in accordance with Government guidance. To control surface water run-
off into the mains system, an on-site surface storage water tank would be provided with a flow control 
chamber. 
 
SWW has raised no objections to this application. Both DCC Flood Risk Management Team and the 
Environment Agency have been consulted bearing in mind the site is in a Critical Drainage Area. The 
former has declined to comment; the latter advises that it is not a statutory consultee for a 
development of this scale and in this location. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
Notwithstanding the refusal by Members of the previous application on this site, it is considered that 
the Inspector’s decision is a material consideration in the determining of this further application 
submission. As guided by the Inspector, it is considered that the securing of the maintenance and 
management of the communal landscaping area will mitigate any visual harm to the landscape and 
consequently, on balance, it is considered that the economic and social benefits of the scheme 
outweigh the harm.  
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
Grant subject to the conditions detailed below and the prior satisfactory completion of a Section 106 
Agreement to secure the management and maintenance of the landscaping area via the submission 
and approval of a Maintenance Standard to ensure the management and maintenance of all boundary 
hedges, landscaped areas and other parts of the site as indicated on the submitted drawing no. 16 

Page 120



128 11A "Management Company Plan" which do not fall within private curtilages of the properties and 
the maintenance of the drainage infrastructure as shown on the drainage strategy reference 17001-
300. 
 
 1       The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
  
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2       The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3       Prior to the commencement of any development hereby granted planning permission and 

before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 
development hereby granted planning permission, details of the specification and position of 
the fencing for the protection of all boundary hedgerows (except for that section of hedgerow 
adjoining the highway to be removed for access purposes as indicated ont he approved 
drawings) and any retained tree/group of trees shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out as approved and the fencing 
shall be erected prior to the commencement of any of the development hereby permitted and 
shall be maintained until the development has been completed and all equipment, machinery 
and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 

            
           Reason: To protect the boundary hedgerows and trees to be retained on this site from damage 

before and during the course of development. 
 
 4       Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved drawings and the submitted schedule of 

materials, prior to construction of any of the dwellings hereby permitted above slab level, a 
schedule of materials and (colour) finishes and samples of materials to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces of the development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a schedule shall include: 

            
           (a) the type, size and colour of natural slates to be fixed to the roofs together with the type, 

colour and profile of ridge tiles. The natural slates shall be fixed in the traditional manner with 
nails or by black slate hooks; 

           (b) constructional details at a scale of 1:20 of all eaves, verges and barge boards; 
           (c) the proposed render type, colour(s) finish and profiles to corners. Movement joints, where 

required, shall be positioned at changes of direction or directly behind rainwater downpipes, 
unless otherwise previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

           (d) the type, colour and finish of the timber boarding; 
           (e) external finishing materials to be used in any areas of under-build to all dwellings; 
           (f) cross sections, design, appearance (including thresholds), profiles, reveals, surrounds, 

materials, finish and colour (at full or half scale) of all doors and windows, including their 
method of opening and proposed finish, and all lintels and sills; 

           (g) the locations, heights, sizes, materials of construction and colour finishes of all ducts, flues, 
rainwater goods, vents and other external attachments; 

           (h) the design, colour, size, profile, materials and location of all external meter boxes. All meter 
boxes should be fitted to an internal wall where practical and feasible but, if proven to the 
Local Planning Authority that internal siting of meter boxes is not practical and feasible then all 
external wall mounted meter boxes shall be located away from the primary elevations and 
prominent side walls facing publically accessible areas; and 

           (i) heights, materials, design, appearance and finish of any railings and associated 
attachments (including the "bridge" link from the dwellings to their respective rear gardens). 

            

Page 121



           Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained and maintained in that form. 

            
           Reason: Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved drawings, this condition is 

imposed to enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the details of all external finishing 
materials at an appropriate stage in the course of the development to ensure that the 
development displays good design practise and reflects local distinctiveness, having due 
regard to safeguarding visual and residential amenity. 

 
 5     Prior to their installation and construction, full details and/or representative samples of all 

external hardsurfacing materials (including colour finishes), steps, surfacing edge restraints to 
all roads, service strips, drainage channels, pathways and parking/turning areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall 
be implemented prior to the development hereby permitted being brought into its intended use 
and shall thereafter be retained as such.   

            
           Reason: To secure a satisfactory appearance of the development and in the interests of visual 

amenity. 
 
 6       The landscaping details indicated on approved drawing no. 16 128 08C hereby approved shall 

be implemented in accordance with the agreed details. The time of planting shall be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the proposed development is 
brought into use and the scheme shall be implemented at those times specified. If within a 
period of five years from the date of the planting of any hedgerow (or part of hedgerow), 
meadow grassland, shrub or tree, that hedgerow (or part of hedgerow), meadow grassland, 
shrub or tree, (or any hedgerow, meadow grassland, shrub or tree planted in replacement for 
it), is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another 
hedge (or part hedge), meadow grassland, shrub or tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation.   

            
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details in 

the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity. 
 
 7       Details of the method of planting, establishment, protection, management and maintenance of 

all retained and new hedgerow, meadow grassland, shrub and tree planting shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the proposed development is 
brought into use and these approved details shall thereafter be retained and maintained in 
perpetuity, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.   

            
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details 

and that the approved landscaping details are thereafter retained and maintained in the 
interests of visual amenity and biodiversity. 

 
 8      Except for that section of hedgerow to be removed for access purposes as indicated on the 

approved drawings, the existing boundary hedgerows along the northern eastern and western 
boundaries of the site shall be retained in perpetuity, and shall not at any time be removed, 
either in whole or in part.   

            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and biodiversity. 
 
 9       The proposed development shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the recommended 

mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures set out in Section 6 of the submitted 
Ecological Appraisal dated January 2017 prepared by Green Ecology, together with additional 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority prior to 
occupation of any dwelling. Such additional details shall include timings of implementation and 
completion of the approved mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures and 
numbers and locations of all new bat and nest boxes. 

Page 122



            
           Reason: In the interests of the ecology and biodiversity of the site. 
 
10       Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, the vehicular access into the site, road, 

parking/garaging and manoeuvring facilities and foul and surface water drainage provision 
shall be completed and shall, thereafter, be retained and maintained in perpetuity. All garaging 
and parking spaces shall be kept permanently available for the parking of motor vehicles and 
kept permanently free from any other forms of obstruction. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site and 

to avoid flooding of land including the highway. 
 
11     There shall be no installation/construction of street lighting or lighting to public areas unless 

otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details of any external lighting 
(including security lighting/floodlighting) to be erected, placed or operated on the site 
(including on the dwellings themselves) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to its installation/construction. Such details shall include the 
equipment and supporting structures, positions, sizes, heights, type, luminance/light intensity, 
direction and cowling of all external lights to the dwellings and other parts of the application 
site and the hours at which such lighting is to be operated. The work shall thereafter be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details (unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior 
written approval to any subsequent variations) and under no circumstances shall it cause light 
pollution. 

            
           Reason: To safeguard visual amenity in general and biodiversity interests; to safeguard the 

residential amenities of owners/occupiers of existing neighbouring properties and future 
owners/occupiers of the approved neighbouring development; and in the interests of public 
safety and convenience. 

 
12       Construction works and deliveries of construction materials and equipment to and from the site 

shall not take place other than between 0730hrs and 1800hrs on Mondays to Fridays, 
Saturdays between 0900hrs and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

            
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
13     Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) no development of the types described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, 
B, C, E, G and Part 2, Class A, other than that hereby permitted, shall be carried out without 
the further grant of planning permission. 

            
           Reason: to enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control over development which 

could materially harm the character and visual amenities of the development and locality and 
to safeguard residential amenity and biodiversity interests. 

 
14 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: to ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan, that an appropriate 
record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development.' 

 

Plans Schedule 

 

Page 123



Reference Received 
  

16 128 01B  13.02.2017 
   

17001-300 DRAINAGE 13.02.2017 
   

16 128 02D PROPOSED SITE PLAN 13.02.2017 
   

16 128 03A PLOT 1  13.02.2017 
   

16 128 04A PLOT 2  13.02.2017 
   

16 128 05A PLOT 3  13.02.2017 
   

16 128 06 PROPOSED SITE SECTIONS 13.02.2017 
   

16 128 08C  13.02.2017 
   

16 128 09 PROPOSED SITE PLAN 13.02.2017 
   

16 128 11A MANAGEMENT COMPANY 
PLAN 

13.02.2017 

  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 
dealing with this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and 
proactive manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 

Page 124



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

  
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 14 November 2017 

by Mrs J Wilson  BA BTP MRTPI DMS 

Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 8th February 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 

Land to the West of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford EX39 3PB 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Dr Ben Lee against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0095/2017/FUL, dated 26 January 2017, was refused by notice 

dated 18 May 2017. 

 The development proposed is proposed residential development for 3 dwellings. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The appellant has submitted a revised drawing number 16 128 02D which 

amends the location of the access to ensure the visibility splay is within the 
appellants ownership and highway land. This makes very minor adjustments to 

the access and the interests of parties would be unlikely to be prejudiced by its 
inclusion. I am considering this appeal on the basis of its inclusion.  

3. There are no issues in dispute between the appellant and the Council in relation 

to detailed design, highways access, drainage or other technical matters and I 
have considered the appeal in this context.  The Council accepts it is unable to 

demonstrate a five year supply for the provision of housing. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect on the character and appearance of the area and 

the contribution the housing would make to the district. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance  

5. The site lies outside of the development limits of Bideford on the lower part of 

a sloping field used for the keeping of horses. Dwellings would be cut into the 
slope with gardens at the same level as the upper floors and would be seen 
against the backdrop of rising ground; nonetheless they would be visible from 

across the valley. This visual impact would be partly mitigated by the retention 
of the existing vegetation which would be supplemented by additional planting, 

crucial at the western end where the current planting is less dense. However 
there is no legal mechanism provided by the appellant to secure the future 
management and maintenance of the communal area and without it the site 

Page 125

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

would be very prominent in views across the valley resulting in visual harm to 

the appearance of the site in the wider landscape.  

6. I consider that a planning obligation is necessary to secure this requirement 

and without one I cannot be satisfied how the management and maintenance 
of this space would be secured and legally binding. Planning Practice Guidance 
makes clear the circumstances when conditions can be used and would not be 

appropriate for these circumstances. 

7. For these reasons there would be harm to the character and appearance of the 

area as a result of the visual intrusion of built development into open fields 
conflicting with Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the Torridge District Local Plan 
2004 (Local Plan) which, among other things requires that development in the 

open countryside should not detract from the character and appearance of the 
area, should maintain restore or enhance the local vernacular and sense of 

place.  

Contribution to housing and other benefits  

8. Three dwellings would make a small contribution to the housing stock in the 

district where there is a lack of a 5 year supply of land for the provision of 
housing.  There would also be an economic benefit to the local economy during 

the construction phase and in the longer term new residents would help to 
support shops and services in the town.  The benefits would be a positive 
aspect of the scheme given the acknowledged need for housing.   

9. I have taken into account representations made that there are many consented 
dwellings within the development boundary which have not been built out and 

permission on this site would be premature. In the light of the lack of a five 
year housing supply resisting the scheme for this reason would not be justified. 

Other matters 

10. The Council and local residents have expressed concern that should this appeal 
be allowed further development in the field may be difficult to resist. It is noted 

that the configuration of the turning head is arranged to enable a field gate 
access to the remaining agricultural land. However, any application for built 
development elsewhere in the field would be a matter for the Council to 

consider. In any event, I am required to make my decision on the basis of the 
evidence before me.  

11. Representations have been made concerning the detail of the scheme 
including: that surface water run off would be exacerbated where the lane is 
subject to flooding; the lack of a footpath across the front of the site; the loss 

of 10 metres of significant hedgerow; and that the scheme does not represent 
sustainable development. Whilst I understand residents’ concerns on highway 

safety there is no substantive evidence to justify withholding permission on 
highway grounds, a fact reinforced by the lack of objection from the highway 

authority.  

12. Drainage matters have been addressed with appropriate water strategies to 
deal with foul and surface water drainage a matter important in a critical 

drainage area.  There is no substantive evidence that the loss of the hedgerow 
would prejudice ecological interests. Taken individually or together these 

details matters are not reasons to dismiss the appeal. 

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

13. The proposal would have the social and economic benefits of making a 
contribution to address the current under-supply of housing and make a 

contribution to the local economy. On the other hand without the secured 
provision for the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping 
area (which also makes provision for measures to address drainage in a critical 

drainage area), the development would result in significant harm to the 
character of the landscape and to visual amenity.  In these circumstances the 

adverse impacts identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. The scheme would be contrary to the relevant policies in the Local 
Plan and the appeal is dismissed. 

Janet Wilson 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 127

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 
Committee Report - 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0221/2018/FUL 

Registration date: 6 March 2018 

Expiry date:  1 May 2018 

Applicant:  Torridge District Council  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  James Clements 

Site Address:  Wilkeys Field,  
Pebbleridge Road,  
Westward Ho!, 
Devon 

Proposal:  Change of use of agricultural land to a public pay 
and display car park with 171 spaces including 8 
disabled and 8 private spaces and associated 
access and allocated space for 5 motorcycles 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 128

Agenda Item 11d



 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been referred to Planning Committee as Torridge District Council is the applicant. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
      

1/0982/2014/FULM Erection of 14 dwellings and 
associated works, and 
provision of land for 
community use (second 
amended plans) 

PER 15.03.2016 

   

1/1063/2016/FUL Retrospective temporary Site 
Compound for Material 
Storage - 12 Month Limit 

PER 14.02.2017 

   

1/1068/2016/FULM Variation of Condition 2 of 
planning permission 
1/0982/2014/FULM 

PER 12.05.2017 

   

1/0208/2018/FUL Localised raising of levels 
and reforming of bank in 
relation to Planning Approval 
1/1068/2016/FULM 

PCO  

     

1/0982/2014/FULM  ACTIVE  
 

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site description: 
 
The site is within the urban area of Westward Ho! and comprises the northern part of an agricultural 
field known locally as Wilkeys Field.  
 
The site is either bordered by or adjacent to residential development. To the south dwellings are 
currently being constructed on the Chichester Homes Ltd site (planning permission 
1/0982/2014/FULM for 14 dwellings). To the east is Venton Drive. To the north (also Venton Drive but 
privately owned) are four dwellings and commercial premises which run parallel to the boundary with 
Northam Burrows. The remainder of the northern boundary facing directly onto Northam Burrows 
Country Park with the boundary demarcated by a timber post and wire fence. Along its western 
boundary is Pebbleridge Road beyond which are further residential properties and the Bideford, 
Littleham and Westward Ho! Cricket Ground. 
 
The site, including a section of the private road, is currently owned by Chichester Homes 
Developments Ltd. Under the current signed s106 Agreement, Chichester Homes will transfer the 
bottom section of Wilkeys Field, including a small section of private road to Torridge District Council 
for use as a public car park and associated access. 
 
Northam Burrows Park is a SSSI. The application site is not within the SSSI but is within the SSSI 
Impact Risk Zone. The site is identified within the Westward Ho! Regeneration Area.  The site is 
within flood zones 1, 2 & 3. Flood Zone 2 & 3 are found in the north east part of the site adjacent to 
the Northam Burrows.  
 
The site slopes gently downwards from south to north. 
 
Proposed development: 

Page 129



 
The proposed scheme is for the construction of a new car park and associated site access, to provide 
parking for 171 cars. The proposed access will be located off of a private section of road in the north 
west corner of the site.  
 
The car park would have a front section (west side) with 38 spaces which will be open all year round 
which would measures approximately 32m x 29m. A rear section (east side) would measure 
approximately 53m x 71m and have 125 spaces that will only be used in the summer months. The car 
park also includes 8 private spaces on a section of land adjacent to the access on the western side of 
the application, which is under private ownership by the adjacent business. 
 
It is proposed that disabled spaces will be split between the two sections of car park:  3 spaces to the 
front section and 5 spaces allocated in the rear section.  In addition, in the front section of car park, 2 
spaces will also be created for future electrical vehicle charging. There will also be a dedicated area 
for motorcycle parking.   
 
Two areas are proposed for the pay and display meter, shelter and lighting. One is located adjacent to 
the access into the site with the other sited within the seasonal car park to the rear. The proposed 
shelter would measure 1.62m in width, 1.085m in depth and 2.36m to it's highest point and would be 
constructed in aluminium, plastic glazing and Ecoboard panelling.    
 
The front section of the car park (all year round use) would be constructed in Bitumen Macadam 
Flexible construction. Stone Mastic Asphalt Surface Course with white lining is to be used for spaces 
and directional arrows. In the rear section (seasonal use) the car park would be constructed in 
permeable plastic paving grid filled with gravel and DDA Compliant bonded fill for disabled spaces, 
with parking bay markers, on a suitable sub base. 
 
It is intended that both front and rear sections of the proposed car park be gated. These will be 
opened and closed at the same time as the gates to the Burrows Country Park, which is intended to 
reduce the risk of out of hours anti social behaviour. The opening times will generally be 7am to 7pm 
in the summer (Easter to October) and 7am to 6pm in the winter. 
 
The application redline includes a swale on the east side of the site. The Swale is principally related to 
the Chichester Homes site and is outside of Torridge District Council's (TDC) future ownership and 
therefore will be owned and managed by Chichester Homes Management Company. The red line 
extends over this area as TDC have permission to connect the surface water drainage into this swale 
system. 
 
The proposal includes some landscaping including the construction of a wade hedgebank adjacent to 
the Northam Burrows and two sections of planting adjacent to the site entrance. Part of the west and 
north boundary would have a grassed verge. The site's boundary would be demarcated by timber 
post and three rail fencing. The only proposed lighting relates to a light within each of the payment 
shelters. 8 solarite (solar powered) flush road studs would be provided in the west car park to aid 
visibility in the winter months.    
 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused. Members raised concerns about the 
lack of landscaping and felt that a post and rail fence is an unsuitable boundary treatment and would 
not prevent the overlooking of neighbouring properties in Venton Drive and Pebbleridge Road. It was 
agreed that the Wade Hedgebank should be continued around the entire boundary. There were 
further concerns raised regarding light pollution, excess water runoff, possible oil/fuel spillages and 
the overall detrimental impact on the amenity of the neighbouring residents in its current form. There 
may also be a detrimental impact on Northam Burrows which is a SSSI site. Members expressed 
disappointment that there is no provision for bicycles. 

Page 130



 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Police have no objections in principle to the proposal, from a designing out crime and fear of crime 
perspective please consider the following:- 
 
It is recommended that the car park is designed and constructed to the standards and specifications 
of the Safer Parking Scheme - Park Mark Award - managed by the British Parking Association (BPA) 
on behalf of Secured by Design (SBD). The scheme is aimed at reducing crime and the fear of crime 
in and around parking facilities by addressing such issues as safety, security, boundaries, perimeters, 
vehicular and pedestrian access routes, parking spaces, surveillance opportunities, lighting and 
signage etc. The intention to gate and secure the public car parks in line with the adjacent country 
park is noted and welcomed. Should the car park be left open and or 'un-enforced' it is likely to 
become a place of gathering, resulting in conflict with nearby residential properties.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
Previous archaeological work undertaken on this site have demonstrated that it has low 
archaeological potential and, as such, the proposed development will not have any impact upon any 
known heritage assets. 
 
The Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning application.  
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
None received.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Observations: 
The layout, number and size of spaces etc is not a consideration for the Highway Authority although 
the introduction of two electric vehicle spaces with charging points is welcomed in this area. 
 
The site will not itself generate car trips, but vehicles will enter and exit the site. There is adequate 
proposed visibility at the vehicle and pedestrian entrances, although Venton Drive is a private road. 
The site is accessed via Pebbleridge Road which has recently been widened by the adjacent housing 
site. This is now an adequate with for access to the car park. To avoid cars parking on Pebbleridge 
Road (to avoid paying to park) which would reduce the road width to a single vehicle width and 
therefore introduce conflicts and likely reversing 
manoeuvres back through the junction with Golf Links Road, the applicant must apply for a Traffic 
Regulation Order to provide double yellow lines on Pebbleridge Road. 
 
No bicycle parking has been provided and should be. Being 171 vehicle spaces, I suggest at least 8 
cycle hoops to accommodate 16 bicycles. 
 
The Environment Agency:  
Environment Agency position 
We have no objections to this proposal provided that a condition is included on any permission 
granted to agree a flood management, warning and evacuation procedure for the operation of the site.  
The suggested wording for this condition is set out below together with advice.   
 
Condition - Flood Management, Warning and Closure Procedure 
No development approved by this permission shall be brought into use until a flood risk management 
plan has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This plan shall 
contain as a minimum:   
- No overnight car parking;  
- Installation of flood notices informing users of the flood risks affecting the site;  
- Details of a flood warning, evacuation and closure procedure for the site and details of how 
this will be maintained for the lifetime of the development;  
 

Page 131



The agreed flood risk management plan and the related measures shall then be implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the approved flood risk management procedure for the lifetime of the 
development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
Reason:  To minimise the risks to property and users of the car park during times of flooding.  
 
Advice - Flood Risk 
The site is at risk during large coastal storms, particularly if the pebbleridge is breached.  However, 
we consider that the risks to the proposed car park can be managed through the use of the above 
mentioned condition.  In particular, we advise that the car park should not be used for overnight 
residential parking for nearby properties, but for daytime parking for the local businesses etc.  We 
also recommend that flood notices are installed to inform users of the flood risks, advise against 
walking and driving through flood water and what to do should flooding occur.  The owner/operator of 
the car park must sign up to our flood warning service and close the car park when a "Flood Warning" 
level of alert has been issued.  This is the second level of warning after a "Flood Alert".  The 
management plan will be expected to cover these points to ensure no cars are damaged during large 
coastal storms or users lives are at risk if they try to move the cars once flooding occurs.   
  
South West Water:  
Whilst South West Water has no objection, there are public sewers crossing the site. No alterations to 
ground cover should occur over these sewers and existing access to any chambers/covers 
must be retained.  
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
This application site sits adjacent to the Pebble Ridge Road entrance to the Burrows Country Park 
and the northern boundary borders the Burrows itself. There are existing dwellings to all boundaries of 
the site, with the properties to the south currently being constructed.  
 
Although this site sits adjacent to the Burrows and the North Devon AONB it will have little impact on 
the wider landscape amenity and character of the area. The site is surrounded by housing and is 
currently only visible from the Burrows through the gap between the existing housing. Once the 
neighbouring development is completed these dwelling will be seen through this gap. 
 
The proposals show a new Wade or Devon bank with hedging along this northern boundary, the 
height of this feature will hide the car park (and the new housing development) except for larger 
parked vehicles. When viewed from the Burrows most people will not notice the car park within the 
built edge of this part of Westward Ho! If a couple of standard trees are planted within the new 
hedgbank this will help screen any larger parked vehicles. 
 
The car park should also have the effect of reducing the number of cars parking along this section of 
the pebble ridge, reducing the impact of cars on the burrows.  
 
The scheme could be improved with more planting and perhaps further sections of Devon bank could 
be incorporated into the site boundaries to provide some screening of the parked cars. 
  
Environmental Protection:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  35  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  6 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  5  

 
Four representations have been received raising the following material planning matters: 
 
Noise 

Page 132



Overlooking 
Pollution - fuel spills; air pollution; light pollution; noise pollution 
Privacy 
Residential Amenity 
Traffic or Highways 
Flood risk and drainage 
Antisocial behaviour. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT2C (Development In The Open Countryside); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building 
Design); DVT11 (Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT18 (Impact of Development on Traffic); 
DVT19 (Access and Parking); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); ENV10 (Mitigation and Enhancement);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The key considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 

1. The principle of development 
2. Character, appearance and impact on landscape  
3. Ecology 
4. Flood Risk/Drainage 
5. Privacy/Amenity 
6. Highways/Access 

Page 133



7. Comments of local residents 
8. Other matters 
9. Conclusions 

 
 
1.     Principle of development 
 
In considering applications for development, the starting point, in accordance with section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, remains the development plan and principally the 
Saved Polices of the adopted Torridge District Local Plan 1997-2011(where those policies are 
compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework).  The Saved Policies will be fully set aside in 
respect of decision making only when the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan is adopted. 
 
The application site is located outside of the adopted development boundary and is therefore 
considered to be in the open countryside therefore policy DVT2c of the Torridge District Local Plan 
(TDLP) applies, this policy states: 
 

(1) In the countryside away from the villages development should not detract from the 
character and appearance of the area. 
(2) Subject to the above general consideration, the following types of development will be 
allowed: 

(a) the conversion of a previously used building or a redundant agricultural building 
for employment reuse; 
(b) agricultural, countryside recreational, and /or identified types of tourist 
development and /or other development that is related to appropriate farm 
diversification; 
(c) the alteration, improvement, redevelopment and /or minor extension of a 
building for purposes directly related to its established use; 
(d) the provision of small scale rural business developments and other local 
services and /or utilities for which there is a proven need.  

 
It is considered that the proposed development satisfies the criteria set out under section 2 (b) & (d) 
as the car park is a utility that has been identified for a proven tourism and local need. This will be 
discussed in more detail below.    
 
As the site is outside of the defined settlement of Westward Ho! It is considered that Policy ECD7: 
Westward Ho! is not relevant in the determination of this application. 
 
For the purposes of the emerging Local Plan, the application site is still outside of the development 
boundary and regarded as being in open countryside. Policy ST07: Spatial Development Strategy for 
Northern Devon's Rural Area states that: 
 
"In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be 
limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and 
development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location." 
 
Policy ST13 of the emerging Local Plan states that high quality tourism development that promotes a 
year round industry will be supported. Tourism growth should be sustainable and should not damage 
the natural or historic assets of northern Devon. 
 
Policy NOR6 of the emerging Local Plan is a policy specifically related to the application, which 
states:  
 
"Revitalising and enhancing the tourism role of Westward Ho! will be supported through the delivery 
of a range of schemes that deliver tourism and/or recreational facility enhancements, on the following 
sites, as allocated on Policies Map 8A: 
(a) Pebbleridge Terrace Car Park, subject to replacement/retention of parking; 
(b) Westbourne Terrace Car Park; 

Page 134



(c) The Triangle, Promenade and Amusement Arcade north of Springfield Terrace; 
(d) Wilkey's Field; and 
(e) Village Green and Nelson Road Car Park." 
 
Supporting paragraph 10.360 states: 
 
“The sites identified in Policy NOR06 have the potential to provide a variety of uses that will support 
the tourist role of Westward Ho! The sites, as defined on the Policies Map, through redevelopment will 
enhance the appearance and use of the resort by improving the range and accessibility of facilities 
and attractions. In enabling site redevelopment, at least maintained levels of public parking will be 
required in addition to any specific needs generated by the development.” 
 
It is considered that the proposed development of a new public car park satisfies emerging policy 
NOR6 and part of Strategic Policy ST13: Sustainable Tourism. The new car park would enhance and 
support tourist growth in Westward Ho! and aid in mitigating the current problems of local public and 
visitor car parking within the settlement. Torridge District Council currently manages the existing 
public car parks in Westward Ho! and it has been apparent for a number of years that during peak 
times there is currently not enough spaces for both the local residents and tourists. This has resulted 
in additional street parking causing enforcement issues, increased road congestion with some visitors 
having to park at great distances away from the central section of the Westward Ho!  The creation of 
the new car park within walking distance of the town centre will help to enhance the current facilities in 
Westward Ho! by providing 163 additional public car parking spaces. 
 
The principle of development is therefore considered acceptable subject to the consideration of other 
material planning matters which are discussed in turn as follows. 
 
2. Character, appearance and impact on landscape 
 
DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness) and DVT7 (Design Considerations) of the TDLP require new 
development to be well integrated with existing development upon a site, be of an appropriate height, 
scale, design and appearance, of compatible materials, and have an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area.  Policy ENV5: Countryside Protection and 
Landscape Conservation that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural and 
historic character of the landscape qualities. Policy DVT8: Landscaping says that a landscaping 
scheme will be required wherever the provision of landscaping would enhance the development in the 
interest of public amenity.  
 
The site is an agricultural field within the urban area of Westward Ho! It is surrounded by residential 
development, is relatively flat and is not visually prominent in the landscape. The site known locally as 
"Wilkeys Field" is well known, largely due to the fact that until recently with the Chichester Homes 
development, it had never been developed. The loss of this open space needs to be balanced against 
the identified need for car parking for tourism to alleviate congestion and on-street parking.  
 
The Tree & Landscape Officer has stated that although this site sits adjacent to the Burrows and the 
North Devon AONB it will have little impact on the wider landscape amenity and character of the area. 
The site is surrounded by housing and is currently only visible from the Burrows through the gap 
between the existing housing. Once the neighbouring development is completed these dwelling will 
be seen through this gap. The car park will be largely screened by the proposed wade hedgebank.  
The car park should also have the effect of reducing the number of cars parking along this section of 
the Pebbleridge Road, reducing the impact of cars parking on the burrows. The visual impact of the 
development is therefore in the main localised to those views immediately adjacent to the site. 
  
The Parish Council have raised concerns about the lack of landscaping and consider that a post and 
rail fence is an unsuitable boundary treatment and that the Wade Hedgebank should be continued 
around the entire boundary. Similarly, the Tree & Landscape has recommended the addition of further 
sections of hedgebank and tree planting. There is however limited scope to provide additional 
hedgebanks or trees, particularly around the entire boundary as suggested by the Parish Council, due 
to space constraints.  

Page 135



 
It is considered that the inability to provide additional planting is not an overriding matter in this 
application. As submitted, the proposed car park would not have an adverse impact on this part of 
Westward Ho!, which is generally characterised by urban development, with no adverse landscape 
impact with visual impacts restricted to local viewpoints only.  
 
The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policies DVT6 & 7, ENV5 & DVT8 of the TDLP 
and Policy ST04, ST13, SM04 & DM08A of the emerging Plan.  
 
3. Ecological impact of the development/Affect on protected species 
 
Sections 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended) and 74 of the 
Country and Rights of Way Act 2000 (as amended) require relevant bodies to have regard to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity. 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the Torridge District Local Plan through Policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require 
development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats. This is re-enforced in the emerging Policies ST14: Enhancing Environmental Assets 
& DM08: Biodiversity and Geodiversity which can be afforded moderate weight. Policy ST13: 
Sustainable Tourism states that tourism growth should be sustainable and should not damage the 
natural assets of northern Devon. 
 
Paragraphs 109 and 118 of the NPPF relate to conserving, contributing and enhancing the natural 
environment.  
 
Habitat Assessment Regulations: 
 
North Devon and Torridge District Councils have been assessing, through their Habitat Regulations 
Assessment at the Plan level, the scale of air quality impacts and recreational impacts likely to result 
from the predicted levels of growth in the area.   
   
It has been determined, following detailed air quality modelling, that the Local Plan is not likely to 
have an adverse effect on integrity on the interest features of the Culm Grasslands SAC by virtue of 
an increase in traffic and air pollution along the A361 associated with development in North Devon 
and Torridge. 
 
Consideration has been given to the EC Habitats Directive 1992 which requires the UK to maintain a 
system of strict protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only allows 
disturbance, or deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places in accordance with 3 
tests:- 
 
- in the interests of public health and public safety, and provided that there is 
- no satisfactory alternative and 
- that favourable conservation status of the species is maintained. 
 
The UK implemented the Directive by introducing The Conservation (Natural Habitats etc) 
Regulations 1994 which contain two layers of protection, a requirement on Local Planning Authorities 
(LPAs) to have regard to the Directive's requirements above, and a licensing system administered by 
Natural England. This has now been replaced by the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010. Circular 6/2005, paragraph 116, advises planning authorities to give due weight to 
the presence of European protected species on a development site to reflect EC requirements, in 
reaching planning decisions, and this may potentially justify a refusal of planning permission. 
 

Page 136



Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) need to ensure that appropriate weight is attached to protected 
species "Where granting planning permission would result in significant harm". LPAs will need to be 
satisfied that the development cannot reasonably be located on any alternative site that would result 
in less or no harm. In the absence of such alternatives, LPAs should ensure that, before planning 
permission is granted, adequate mitigation measures are put in place. Where "...significant harm 
cannot be prevented or adequately mitigated against, appropriate compensation measures should be 
sought. If that significant harm cannot be prevented, adequately mitigated against, or compensated 
for, then planning permission should be refused." 
 
Due to the proximity of the site to the The Burrows, lighting has been kept to a minimum so as not to 
affect the special qualities of the SSSI. 
 
The proposal will result in the loss of some agricultural land but there are no trees, hedges or 
structures on the site which could provide habitat. While no part of the site is designated as a 
statutory wildlife site or designated landscape ie: SSSI or AONB, it does border the Northam Burrows 
SSSI. 
 
Natural England have commented on the proposal and while they recognise its proximity to the 
Burrows SSSI, they are satisfied, subject to adequate drainage details which will be discussed below, 
that the proposal would not damage or destroy the features of interest for which the site has been 
notified.  Accordingly the proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle. 
 
The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) which says that 
there are no significant impacts predicted to any designated sites, priority habitats or protected 
species, and no further surveys are required. The PEA recommends that should development of the 
site be delayed beyond spring 2018 it is recommended that the site is cut short during the winter 
2017/18 to prevent grassland habitat developing that may attract reptiles from the neighbouring 
gardens to the east. 
 
In summary, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of its limited ecological impacts, with no 
habitat recorded on the site. Furthermore, the proposed development would not harm the adjacent 
SSSI. The development is therefore considered to accord with policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the 
TDLP, Policies ST13, ST14 & DM08 of the emerging Plan and the aforementioned paragraphs in the 
NPPF.  
   
4. Flood risk/drainage 
 
Policy DVT24 states that development will be permissible in unsewered areas where it is to be 
provided with adequate means of foul and surface water drainage and where there will be no 
unacceptable risk of off-site flooding or increased flood. In areas served by mains sewers permission 
for septic tanks/cesspools will not be granted.  Emerging Policy ST03: Adapting to Climate Change 
and Strengthening Resilience, which can be afforded significant weight, requires that development 
takes account of climate change to minimise flood risk. 
 
Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider development 
appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment 
following the Sequential Test, and if required the Exception Test, it can be demonstrated that within 
the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk unless there are 
overriding reasons to prefer a different location; and development is appropriately flood resilient and 
resistant, including safe access and escape routes where required, and that any residual risk can be 
safely managed, including by emergency planning; and it gives priority to the use of sustainable 
drainage systems. 
 
The site is allocated as Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3 ranging from high risk to the north (nearest the sea) to 
low risk to the south. The proposal includes creating a Wade Hedgebank adjacent to the Burrows, 
which is within Flood Zone 2 & 3 which is at risk of flooding more frequently than once every 100 
years, in the absence of flood defences. 

Page 137



 
The application site is approximately 800mm higher than Northam Burrows to the north. Given the 
extensive area covered by the Burrows, and the fact the site is protected by flood defences, it is 
reasonable to concluded the site does not lie within functional floodplain. A Flood Risk Assessment 
Report for the site has been submitted in support of the application. The EA flood maps indicate the 
northern part of the site lying in Flood Zone 2/3. The remainder of the site lies in Flood Zone 1. The 
maximum depth of floodwater predicted on the northern part of the site is in the order of 400mm for 
the 100 year return period event.  It is proposed to mitigate flood risk by constructing a wade 
hedgebank and by means of a management plan, which would see the northern part of the site closed 
in the event of a flood warning being issued. 
 
The application is a minor development and a change of use therefore the sequential and exceptions 
tests do not apply. Car parks are not specifically defined within the flood risk vulnerability  
classifications. However, it is considered that the risk associated with this type of development is low 
due to the non-residential nature of the facility.  
 
The Environment Agency have raised no objection to the proposal provided that a condition is 
included on any permission granted to agree a flood management, warning and evacuation procedure 
for the operation of the site.   
 
It is proposed to direct runoff from the impermeable area of the car park to a positive drainage 
system. The system will discharge to a continuation of the swale serving the residential development 
to the south of the site. The swale will discharge to the Northam Burrows. All gulleys will be provided 
with Smart Gulley Adaptors for the capture of hydrocarbons. The seasonal car park will be 
constructed with a permeable surface of retained aggregate. The sub-base of the car park will be 
underlain with a hydrocarbon-capturing membrane such as Permafilter by Polypipe. The positive 
drainage system will be designed to capture and convey all runoff from the 100 year plus 30% rainfall 
event.  
 
As originally submitted, Natural England raised concerns regarding the surface water drainage and 
the potential impact on The Burrows. However, following the submission of additional details they are 
satisfied that the proposed system with swale and the use of interceptors and hydrocarbon membrane 
would ensure that the special qualities of The Burrows SSSI would not be harmed by the scheme. 
Natural England has recommended a condition for the future management and maintenance of the 
swale to ensure that The Burrows would not be contaminated.    
 
South West Water (SWW) have raised no objection to the proposal, subject to there being no 
alterations to ground cover (re-grading or significant levels of surfacing)of land over the mains sewers 
which cross the site and existing access to chambers/covers must be retained. The application 
proposes no significant alterations to the ground cover and access will be retained.  
 
Objections have been received regarding the flooding of the site and its proximity to the burrows 
which itself floods. However, neither SWW, Natural England or the Environment raise objections. On 
this basis, the application is considered compliant with adopted policy DVT24, Emerging Plan Policy 
ST03 and paragraph 103 of the NPPF. 
 
5. Privacy/Amenity considerations 
 
Policy DVT11 requires that the proposal will not result in a significant loss of amenity for the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties, future occupiers and that adequate amenity space will be retained within 
the curtilage. Significant weight is afforded to emerging Policy DM01 (Amenity considerations) which 
requires that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm the amenities of any 
neighbouring occupiers or uses; and the intended occupants of the proposed development would not 
be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses. 
 
The site is surrounded by residential properties and a number of objections have been received from 
these neighbours regarding the loss of their privacy and amenity/antisocial behaviour.  
 

Page 138



It is considered that the transient nature of car parks users are such that while there may be a 
perceived loss of privacy this would not be harmful and would not be a valid reason for refusal. The 
gated car park would be closed at from 6pm or 7pm depending on the time of year which would be 
effective in reducing antisocial behaviour. The proximity of existing dwellings which overlook the site 
is likely to provide some benefits with regards to self policing.   
 
The Designing out Crime Officer (DOCO) has no objections in principle and has stated that the 
intention to gate and secure the public car parks in line with the adjacent country park is noted and 
welcomed.  The DOCO has recommended that the car park is designed and constructed to the 
standards and specifications of the Safer Parking Scheme - Park Mark Award - managed by the 
British Parking Association (BPA) on behalf of Secured by Design (SBD). This is awarded following 
an inspection by a police assessor with management and security measures examined.  The car park 
has been designed so that CCTV could be installed in the future however further measures regarding 
the management would be down to Torridge District Council. The lack of lighting due to the 
restrictions placed on the site by the proximity of the SSSI may have a bearing on whether this car 
park would meet the award criteria. 
 
Due to the proximity of the site to the SSSI, the application only proposes a light within each of the 
two shelters. These lights are highly unlikely to affect amenity. Details have not however been 
submitted and should form part of a planning condition. The 8 flush solarite road studs would have a 
low non-directional light level that would not harm amenity  
 
It is considered that subject to suitable lighting, there would be no adverse impact on residential 
amenity and therefore the proposal would comply with Policy DVT11 of the TDLP and Policy DM01 of 
the emerging Plan. 
 
6. Highway/access considerations 
 
DVT18: Impact of development on traffic and DVT 19: Access and parking and Policy DM05: 
Highways of the Emerging plan (which can be afforded significant weight) require that all development 
must take account of its impact on highway safety and provide appropriate access, servicing and a 
suitable amount of parking. Policy DM06: Parking Provision of the Emerging plan can be afforded 
significant weight and requires that developments provide an appropriate scale and range of parking 
provision.  
 
The Chichester Homes Site (planning permission 1/0982/2014/FULM for 14 dwellings) included the 
widening of Pebbleridge Road to a 5.5m carriageway and improvements to the junction of 
Pebbleridge Road and Golf Links Road.  These works have now been undertaken. A requirement 
under the planning permission is that the developer will need to apply for a Traffic Regulation Order to 
restrict on-street parking on Pebbleridge Road.   
 
DCC Highways have stated that the site will not itself generate car trips, but vehicles will enter and 
exit the site. There is adequate proposed visibility at the vehicle and pedestrian entrances, although 
Venton Drive to the north is a private road. The site is accessed via Pebbleridge Road which has 
recently been widened by the adjacent housing site and is now an adequate with for access to the car 
park.   
 
No bicycle parking has been provided but should be. The County Highways Officer suggests that at 
least 8 cycle hoops will be required to accommodate 16 bicycles. This will be subject to a planning 
condition. 
 
The development is therefore considered to comply with policies DVT18 and DVT19 of the TDLP, 
emerging Policy DM05 and paragraphs 32 and 34 of the NPPF.  
 
8. Other Matters 
 

Page 139



A number of objections have been received with the key issues set out in the above report. Issues 
regarding privacy/overlooking, amenity, drainage/ flooding and highway/access have been considered 
above. 
 
While the loss of the open nature of the site will affect this part of Westward Ho! it is considered that 
the proposal is acceptable, having regard to the key planning considerations. 
 
An archaeology assessment was undertaken on the site as part of 1/0982/2014/FULM which 
demonstrated that the site has low archaeological potential and, as such, the proposed development 
will not have any impact upon any known heritage assets. The County Archaeologist therefore has no 
comments to make on this application. 
 
The Parish Council and neighbours raised concerns regarding pollution for oil/fuel spillages and 
noise. It should be noted however that pollution controls are proposed, as discussed above, and that 
the Council's Environmental Protection Team and the Environment Agency have no objections to the 
proposal.  
 
10. Conclusion 
 
The proposal seeks the development of land in close proximity of the village of Westward Ho! 
Identified for tourism uses within the Emerging plan (NOR6). The design and materials of the 
proposed car park are considered to be acceptable without having an adverse impact on the privacy 
and amenities of the occupiers of adjacent dwellings. The proposal has raised no objections from the 
Environment Agency or Natural England in terms of flood risk, pollution or nature conservation. There 
would be no harm to highway safety. The proposal is therefore recommended for approval. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1        The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2     No development approved by this permission shall be brought into use until a flood risk 

management plan has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  This plan shall contain as a minimum:   

           - No overnight car parking;  
           - Installation of flood notices informing users of the flood risks affecting the site;  
           - Details of a flood warning, evacuation and closure procedure for the site and details of 

how this will be maintained for the lifetime of the development;  
            
           The agreed flood risk management plan and the related measures shall then be implemented 

and maintained in accordance with the approved flood risk management procedure for the 
lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

Page 140



            
           Reason:  To minimise the risks to property and users of the car park during times of flooding. 
 
 3       The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 4       Prior to the car park hereby approved being brought into use, details of the proposed shelter 

lighting shall be submitted to and confirmed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
agreed details shall be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into 
use and shall thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of amenity. 
 
 5         Prior to the car park being brought into use details of the bicycle parking in the form of 8 cycle 

hoops shall be submitted and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed 
details shall be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and 
shall thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of sustainable transport. 
 
 6       Prior to the development being brought into use a management/maintenance plan for the long 

term operation and maintenance of the SuDS to ensure the system performs as expected over 
the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to and confirmed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter proceed in accordance with the agreed 
management/maintenance plan.  

            
           The adaptors require emptying/cleaning and any materials must be taken away for disposal 

and not disposed of within the SSSI. 
 
 7     The site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for that 

purpose in accordance with the approved plans where the visibility splays provide intervisibility 
between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public 
highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge 
of the carriageway of the public highway ( identified as Y ) shall be at least 43 

           metres in both directions. 
            
           REASON: To provide a satisfactory access to the site and to provide adequate visibility from 

and of emerging vehicles. 
 
 8         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway 
           REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway.  
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

075335-S06 SHELTER PLAN 28.02.2018 
   

010 LAYOUT PLAN 28.02.2018 
   

011 LOCATION PLAN, EXISTING _ 
PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN 

28.02.2018 

   

012 TYPICAL _ LONG SECTIONS 28.02.2018 
   

013 CROSS SECTIONS CAR PARK 28.02.2018 
   

014 ALIGNMENT CROSS SECTION 28.02.2018 
   

Page 141



GF1 TIMBER FIELD GATE 28.02.2018 
   

RB/T2 TIMBER POST _ RAIL FENCE 28.02.2018 
   

FT, F1A _F2. FOOTWAY 
CONSTRUCTION 

28.02.2018 

   

HB2/HB3/ SP/BN KERBING TYPES 28.02.2018 
   

HB/W1 WADE HEDGEBANK 06.03.2018 
  

 

Informatives 

 
01. The site is at risk during large coastal storms, particularly if the pebbleridge is breached.  

However, we consider that the risks to the proposed car park can be managed through the 
use of the above mentioned condition.  In particular, we advise that the car park should not be 
used for overnight residential parking for nearby properties, but for daytime parking for the 
local businesses etc.  We also recommend that flood notices are installed to inform users of 
the flood risks, advise against walking and driving through flood water and what to do should 
flooding occur.  The owner/operator of the car park must sign up to our flood warning service 
and close the car park when a "Flood Warning" level of alert has been issued.  This is the 
second level of warning after a "Flood Alert".  The management plan will be expected to cover 
these points to ensure no cars are damaged during large coastal storms or users lives are at 
risk if they try to move the cars once flooding occurs. 

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) require local planning authorities 
to work positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation 
process. The need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for 
further consideration. The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in 
seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 142



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/1289/2017/FUL 

Registration date: 5 January 2018 

Expiry date:  2 March 2018 

Applicant:  Mr AR & CJ Heard  

Agent:  Maria Bailey Planning 

Case Officer:  James Clements 

Site Address:  Land West Of Deer Parks,  
Springfield,  
Hartland, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
 

Proposal:  Demolition of existing buildings and erection of a 
single storey residential dwelling 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 11e



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been called to Planning Committee by Ward Councillor Jane Leaper. The 
reasons given for the call-in relate to its siting within the AONB, outside of the Hartland Development 
Boundary, and concerns regarding highway safety and visual impact.   
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1090/2016/FUL Retrospective erection of 
building to contain portable 
shipping containers for 
general storage (Amended 
Plans) 

PER 01.03.2017 

     

1/1089/2017/FUL Demolition of existing 
buildings and erection of a 
single storey residential 
dwelling  

 

1/0671/1980 

 
 

WDN 09.01.2018 

         1/0671/1980                 Residential development            REF                  17.06.1980 
                                      Of 8 dwellings 
 
 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site description: 
 
The application site is located on agricultural land/former agricultural yard to the west of Deer Park, 
Hartland, measuring approximately 0.06ha in size, containing two redundant single-storey agricultural 
buildings. The site is served from an existing access from the adjacent highway (Spring Field). The 
site is relatively flat and surfaced in concrete.  
 
The site is partly within the settlement boundary as shown in the current Torridge District Local Plan 
(2004). The first single storey building you come to when entering the site does appear to be included 
in the settlement boundary, although the majority of the site is within open countryside outside of the 
defined settlement.  
 
The site is within the Hartland AONB and also borders the Hartland Conservation Area to the east 
and north.  
 
The application site shares a common boundary to the north with a residential properties known as 
Deer Parks and no.88 Spring Field and Spring Field Pottery.  To the north the site shares a common 
boundary with no's 99 & 100 West Street and Glenthorne. To the south is a field beyond which is a 
public footpath.  To the west of the site there is land under the ownership of the applicant which 
includes an open fronted steel clad building containing storage 6 containers with B8 storage use 
(approved by 1/1090/2016/FUL). Beyond this building is agricultural land.   
 
Both of the existing redundant agricultural buildings are located on the eastern side of the site. One of 
the barns abuts the boundary with Deer Parks and no.88 Spring Field. It measures approximately 4m 
in width 22m in length, with pitched and mono-pitched roof elements, constructed in timber with 

Page 144



corrugated steel cladding. The second barn is sited approximately 1m to the west of the 
aforementioned barn, approximately 4.5m in width, 10m in length with a pitched roof, finished in 
render and corrugated roofing. Both of these structures are of no architectural or historic merit.   
 
The eastern shared boundary includes the existing barn, a wall related to a barn adjoining the site, a 
hedgebank, hedging and a number of small trees. The northern boundary is defined by a stone wall 
with hedging above and a block wall. The southern boundary is defined by stock fencing.  The 
western boundary is open and forms part of the existing yard area. The access into the site is bound 
by concrete block walls.  
 
Access to the site is via a privately owned concrete surfaced lane. The visibility onto the main village 
road is restricted by buildings particularly to the west. The majority of the lane is owned by the 
applicant although a small section of land linking to the highway between the developer's gate and 
West Street is in third party ownership. 
 
Proposed development: 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing agricultural buildings and erection of a 2-
bed single storey residential dwelling. The dwelling would be located 1m from the shared eastern 
boundary with no.88 Spring Field and Deer Parks.  
 
The dwelling would be rectangular in shape with a gable-ended dual pitched roof and would measure 
approximately 6.7m in width, 14m in length, 2.8m to eaves height and 5.1m to ridge height. The 
building would be finished in painted rough cast render with a small infill of natural stone next to the 
main entrance door, natural slate hanging on the gable-ends and natural slate to the main roof. Dark 
painted timber is proposed under the windows on the west elevation. No habitable room windows are 
proposed on the east elevation.  A paved patio area is shown adjacent to the south elevation. The 
garden to the rear would measure approximately 23m x 9-10m. A new hedge on a soil bank is 
proposed on the west and south boundaries of the garden area.  Surface water would be dealt with by 
a soakaway which is shown in the garden area. It is proposed that the dwelling would link to mains 
foul sewerage.   
 
Pre-application was undertaken in 2017 (FPE/0622/2017) for the erection of two residential dwellings 
but also included the removal of the existing storage use. The pre-application advice concluded that 
that residential development would be acceptable, given the lack of a 5 years' land supply in this 
location provided there would be demonstrable clear benefits to the Conservation Area.  It also 
concluded that any new dwelling should reflect the better qualities of the Hartland Conservation area 
in terms of materials, gable proportions and fenestration details. 
 
A near identical planning application (1/1089/2017/FUL - Demolition of existing buildings and erection 
of a single storey residential dwelling) was withdrawn at the end of 2017 due to officer concerns 
regarding the redline area which did not include sufficient space for the manoeuvring of vehicles.   
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Hartland Parish/Town Council:  
No comments received. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Refer to standing highway advice.  
 
Conservation Officer:  
No observations on this development.  
 
AONB Team:  
No comments received.  
 

Page 145



DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. The proposed development lies outside 
the historic core of the village and the Historic Environment Record suggests that the deer park lies to 
the north of the proposed development site. 
 
Given the location of the site outside the historic core of the settlement I would regard the 
archaeological potential of this site to be low. Should the site lie within the medieval deer park, unless 
it lay on the site of the deer park pale itself, again its archaeological potential will be low since the 
interior of a deer park will be largely rural in character rather than being an 'archaeologically busy' 
area. In addition, the site has been subject to ground disturbance through the construction of the 
extant buildings and hardstanding in the late 20th century that will have disturbed any archaeological 
deposits that might have been present. 
 
In the light of the above, an assessment of the information held in the Historic Environment Record 
(HER) to date and the details submitted by the applicant I do not consider that the scale and situation 
of this development will have any impact upon any known heritage assets. 
 
The Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning application. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
None received.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  6  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  1 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
3 representations were received raising the following planning considerations: 
 

- The proposed development lies outside the Hartland Development Boundary.  
- Conflict with the adjacent storage use. 
- Highway safety.  
- Parking concerns.  
- Overdevelopment and cramped form of development.  
- Harm the residential amenity of adjoining neighbours 
- A previous planning application for this site was turned down because it is outside the 

development boundary and because the access is inadequate.  
- Proposed building is not of architectural or historic interest. 
- Excessive height which would result in a partial loss of a view and light on to our property.  
- The appearance of the area will be affected. 
- Overlooking/loss of privacy 
- Undermining of trees on the boundary (including an ancient fig). 

 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT1 (Development in Strategic Centres); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building Design); 
DVT11 (Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT18 (Impact of Development on Traffic); DVT19 
(Access and Parking); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); ENV3 (Development affecting Conservation 
Areas); ENV10 (Mitigation and Enhancement); DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  

Page 146



 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The key considerations with this application are: 
 
1.  Principle of development  
2.  Design, scale, layout and impact on the setting of the Hartland Conservation Area.  
3.  Highway safety 
4.  Neighbour amenity 
5.  Biodiversity 
6.  Sewerage and drainage 
 
1.   Principle of development 
 
Hartland is one of the larger settlements in the district, recognised as a 'Local Centre' in the Torridge 
District Local Plan (TDLP), which provides a range of services and facilities. The site is located 
outside of the development boundary for Hartland (as identified in the adopted TDLP) within the open 
countryside where new dwellings are usually restricted. Policy DVT2C: Development in the open 
countryside is therefore a material consideration.  
 
It should be noted that Hartland is still identified in the emerging Plan as a Local Centre. The 
application site is still identified as being outside of the development boundary within the Emerging 
proposal maps. Policy DVT2C is echoed in Emerging Plan Policy ST07: Spatial Development 
Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area which can be afforded significant weight. As regards 
development in the open countryside it states that, "In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, 
Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local 
economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location".  
 

Page 147



Torridge District Council cannot, however, identify a 5 year supply for deliverable housing land and it 
is acknowledged that policies relating to the principle of housing development have now been 
superseded by the provisions of paragraph 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  
 
A decision of planning balance is therefore required which sets aside the housing land supply policies 
of the Local Plan and considers the other relevant policies of the Torridge District Local Plan in 
relation to landscape protection, residential amenity, highway safety and ecology together with the 
material considerations of the NPPF, including the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
 
Although the application site is outside of the development boundary for Hartland, it is considered to 
represent a sustainable opportunity for new residential development that is well related to the existing 
settlement and within walking distances of available services including public transport and 
employment opportunities. It is concluded therefore that, in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF and 
with the current absence of a 5 year housing land supply, the proposed residential unit, which is in a 
sustainable location, adjacent to the boundary of an existing settlement, which has a good range of 
shops, services and amenities, and is also closely related and walkable to those shops, services, 
amenities and infrastructure, is acceptable in principle, subject to other relevant policies in the Local 
Plan, national guidance and any other material considerations. 
 
2.  Design and layout matters 
 
DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness) and DVT7 (Design Considerations) of the TDLP, which can be given 
afforded moderate weight, require new development to be well integrated with existing development 
upon a site, be of an appropriate height, scale, design and appearance, of compatible materials, and 
have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  
 
Policy ST04: Improving the Quality of Development and Policy DM04: Design Principles of the 
emerging Plan echo the above adopted design policies and can be given moderate weight. These 
policies require that development will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support 
the creation of successful, vibrant places. Development must be appropriate and sympathetic to 
setting in terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, materials and 
relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood, reinforcing the key 
characteristics and special qualities of the area,  are accessible to all, flexible to adaptation and 
innovative; contribute positively to local distinctiveness, historic environment and sense of place; are 
accessible to all, flexible to adaptation and innovative. 
 
Adopted Policy ENV3: Development affecting Conservation Areas requires that development that 
affects the setting of conservation areas to preserve or enhance the special character of the 
conservation area. 
 
Emerging Policy ST15: Conserving Heritage Assets and Policy DM07: Historic Environment can be 
afforded significant weight. They require that great weight will be given to the desirability of preserving 
and enhancing northern Devon's historic environment by conserving  the historic dimension of the 
landscape, conserving cultural, built, historic and archaeological features of national and local 
importance and their settings, including those that are not formally designated, identifying and 
protecting locally important buildings that contribute to the area's local character and identity and 
increasing opportunities for access, education and appreciation of all aspects of northern Devon's 
historic environment, for all sections of the community. All proposals affecting heritage assets should 
be accompanied by sufficient information. Proposals which conserve and enhance heritage assets 
and their settings will be supported. Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and their 
settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and an 
acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national policy tests, 
giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets 
 
Adopted Policy DVT8: Landscaping says that a landscaping scheme will be required wherever the 
provision of landscaping would enhance the development in the interest of public amenity. Policy 
ENV6 (Designated Landscape Areas) requires that development that would affect an area of 
outstanding natural beauty will not harm the landscape and scenic beauty of the designated area.  

Page 148



 
The application proposes a single-storey dwelling that would have the form, massing and appearance 
of a converted traditional agricultural building. The proposed design is considered appropriate for this 
edge of settlement/countryside/AONB location context. The dwelling would be finished with rendered 
walls and a natural slate roof, which are also appropriate in this context.  The removal of the existing 
modern agricultural buildings can be regarded as a positive enhancement to the setting of the 
Hartland Conservation Area. Whilst the dwelling would be higher than the existing agricultural 
buildings, it would still be a relatively modest structure and an appropriate size for the general 
character of the area.  
 
There is potential for enhancement to the Conservation Area by improving the finish of the concrete 
block boundary walls and storage building on the southern side of the access road, which is under the 
ownership of the applicant, by either stone facing or render. This would undoubtedly improve the 
visual appearance of this site and enhance the Conservation Area and will form part of a planning 
condition.  
 
The application site shares a boundary with the Hartland Conservation Area but is well screened from 
public views due to intervening buildings to the north and west and the falling land levels to the south. 
This being the case, the Conservation Officer has no observations to make on this application.  
 
The flank elevation of the dwelling may be glimpsed from the public footpath to the south of the site 
but this would not be harmful to the amenities of users given the separations distance, the existing 
character/appearance of the site, the proposed bank and hedge and given that officers consider the 
scale, design and materials to be acceptable.  
 
The context of the site adjacent to existing residential properties and a storage building, combined 
with the proposed hedgebank will ensure that the proposed dwelling would not be widely viewable in 
the landscape and would not harm the landscape character of the Hartland AONB. 
 
Concern has been raised regarding harm to trees on or close to the boundary. It should be noted that 
the development does not propose to remove any trees. The dwelling would be located 1m from 
boundary on land that was surfaced with concrete many years ago. The erection of a new dwelling is 
therefore unlikely to affect the adjacent trees. 
 
It is considered that the proposal complies with Polices DVT6, DVT7, ENV3, ENV5, ENV6  of the 
TDLP and Policies ST04, ST15, DM04, DM07 & DMO8A of the emerging Plan.  
 
3.  Highway safety 
 
Policy DVT18: Impact of development on traffic and Policy  DVT19: Access and parking require that 
all development must take account of its impact on highway safety and provide appropriate access, 
servicing and a suitable amount of parking. The intentions of these Policies are reinforced in 
Emerging Policy DM05: Highways and DM06: Parking Provision, which can be afforded significant 
weight. 
 
The dwelling would be served via an existing access measuring approximately 23m in length 3.5-5m 
in width surfaced in concrete, from West Street which also serves the adjacent B8 container use. The 
application proposes two parking spaces and an area of land to manoeuvre the vehicles to the north 
of the dwelling. 
 
Concern has been raised by local residents regarding the increase in use of the access which they 
consider to be harmful to highway safety given the narrow width of the highway and the presence of 
parked cars on the road. Concerns regarding the submitted redline plan has also been raised given 
that it does not link to the highway leaving a small area of third party land.  
 
As regards the concerns regarding highway safety, Devon County Highways initially requested that 
the Council refer to the standing highway advice. Following the concerns raised by residents 
regarding highway safety, the Highway Officer has confirmed that, noting the existing B8 storage use, 

Page 149



and that the proposal would replace existing agricultural buildings, with the associated fall-back 
position of an agricultural use, that the dwelling is unlikely to result in an increase in potential traffic. 
The Highway Officer therefore has no objections. 
 
It is considered that there is ample space within the site to park and manoeuvre vehicles. The 
provision of two parking spaces accords with Highway Standing Advice.  
 
Although the redline of the application site does not adjoin the adjacent highway, this is not 
considered to be an overriding material consideration. The owner/applicant has clearly used the 
access historically despite not owning the land next to the highway. If this were an issue that 
subsequently prevented the development proceeding, this would be private legal matter between the 
interested parties, and does not prevent the Council from approving the application. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development complies with Policies DVT18 and DVT19 of 
the TDLP and Policy DM05 & DM06 of the emerging Plan. 
 
4.  Neighbour amenity  
 
Policy DVT11 requires that the proposal will not result in a significant loss of amenity for the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties, future occupiers and that adequate amenity space will be retained within 
the curtilage. Significant weight is afforded to Emerging policy DM01 (Amenity considerations) 
requires that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm the amenities of any 
neighbouring occupiers or uses; and the intended occupants of the proposed development would not 
be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses. 
 
The application site share boundaries to the east and north of the site. The nearest dwellings are 
Deer Park and No.88 Spring Field and the proposed dwelling would be adjacent to their western 
boundaries. It is considered that their amenity with regard to loss of light, loss of privacy or 
overbearing impact would not be unduly harmed given the relatively modest size of the proposed 
single-storey dwelling and the significant separation distances. 
 
The rear garden area would measure approximately 23 x 9-10m which is considered to provide 
sufficient amenity space that would protect the amenity of future occupiers.   
 
Approximately 13-18m to the North West of the application site is an existing open fronted structure 
with storage use approved by planning application 1/1090/2016/FUL (retrospective erection of 
building to contain portable shipping containers for general storage). The storage use and the land is 
owned and controlled by the applicant. The permission is subject to two conditions restricting the 
hours of operation (7am-10pm) and the use to a B8 Use with storage limited to within the 6 shipping 
containers.  This use could potentially provide conflict with the proposed residential use.  The storage 
use is however very low key, providing storage for local people, with few associated traffic 
movements, and is already closely related to a number of residential properties. The Council's 
Environmental Protection Team has confirmed that they have no objections to the proposed 
development given the low key use and conditions in place for the storage use. 
 
The proposal is considered to comply with Policy DVT11 of the TDLP and Policy DM01 of the 
emerging Plan.  
 
5.  Biodiversity  
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the Torridge District Local Plan through Policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require 
development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats. This is re-enforced in the emerging Policy DM08: Biodiversity and Geodiversity  and 
Policy ST14: Enhancing Environmental Assets which can be afforded moderate weight.  

Page 150



 
 
The application site is not within a statutory sites designated for their conservation or scientific interest 
such as  SSSIs, SACs, Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar sites that would require the 
planning authority to consult with Natural England. 
 
A preliminary Ecological Assessment has been submitted with the application given the demolition of 
the existing agricultural buildings. The assessment concludes that protected species and habitats will 
not be impacted by proposals. The buildings surveyed were assessed as having 'negligible bat 
roosting potential.' Whilst both have easy access, their simple construction type of single sheet or 
block materials results in there being few sites where bats might roost unseen and not be discovered 
in a survey such as this. Whilst there were a few wall crevices to the lean-to, the search with an 
endoscope found no evidence to suggest their use by bats. In addition, it is understood this wall will 
be retained post development. 
 
The proposal is considered to comply with Policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the TDLP and emerging 
Policy DM08. 
 
6.  Sewerage and drainage 
 
Policy DVT24 states that development will be permissible in unsewered areas where it is to be 
provided with adequate means of foul and surface water drainage and where there will be no 
unacceptable risk of off-site flooding or increased flood. In areas served by mains sewers permission 
for septic tanks/cesspools will not be granted.  Emerging Policy ST03: Adapting to Climate Change 
and Strengthening Resilience requires that development takes account of climate change to minimise 
flood risk. 
 
In terms of foul sewerage, the applicant indicates that this would be dealt with by means of a 
connection to the existing mains system. Surface water is to be dealt with by means of a soakaway 
which is considered to be appropriate solution.  The proposal is therefore considered to be 
appropriately designed to cater for foul and surface water in accordance with Policy DVT24 of the 
TDLP and emerging Policy ST03.  
 
Other matters: 
 
A previous application (1/0671/1980) from 1980 was refused on the principle of development, given 
that the site was outside the development boundary, and highway concerns. It should be noted that 
the refusal related to 8 dwellings rather than the one proposed in this application. As noted above, the 
principle is considered to be acceptable in this case given the lack of a 5 years’ housing land supply.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
The site lies in a sustainable location and there are no overriding local amenity or environmental 
concerns. Given the demonstrable lack of a 5 year land supply within the District (which these 
properties would contribute to), the sustainable location, the acceptable design and enhancements to 
the Conservation Area it is considered that on balance the proposed development would be 
acceptable. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  

Page 151



 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that 
Order), no development within Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1, Class A of Part 2 and Class 
A of Part 40 of Schedule 2 to the said Order shall be carried out without an express grant of 
planning permission. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the form and bulk of the rural building is not changed by inappropriate 

alteration and extension and in the interests of the character and appearance of the buildings 
setting adjacent to the Conservation Area and within the AONB and open countryside. 

 
 4         Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their 

installation, details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of the facing and 
roofing materials to be used in the construction of the proposed development shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details shall 
be implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and shall 
thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials to be 

used for the development.   
 
 5         Prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, details of the proposed finishes to the 

southern access boundary wall/storage building shall be submitted to and confirmed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be implemented before the 
development hereby permitted is brought into use and shall thereafter be retained as such. 

            
           Reason: To enhance the character and appearance of the Hartland Conservation Area. 
 
 6         Within three months of the development commencing, full details of hard and soft landscape 

works, including an implementation and management plan, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

            
           Details of soft landscape works shall include retention of any existing trees and hedges; 

finished levels/contours; planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other 
operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting 
species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate.  The hard landscape 
works shall include means of enclosure; boundary and surface treatments, bin storage and 
lighting.  All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
implementation plan and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved management 
plan. 

            

Page 152



           If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree 
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that originally planted 
shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation.   

            
           Reason:  To secure a landscape scheme that will complement the development in the interests 

of visual amenity. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

690-D03 A PLANS _ ELEVATIONS 14.02.2018 
     

690-D04 A SITE _ LOCATION PLAN 02.01.2018 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 
dealing with this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and 
proactive manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 153



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/1165/2017/OUTM 

Registration date: 5 December 2017 

Expiry date:  6 March 2018 

Applicant:  Clayewater Homes Ltd  

Agent:  Maria Bailey Planning 

Case Officer:  Sam Dewar 

Site Address:  Land At Grid Reference 249583 119849 (Former 
Meat Factory Site),  
Torrington,  
Devon 

Proposal:  Outline application for erection of up to 143 
dwellings, 1040 square metres of commercial 
freehold land for B1, B2 and B8 employment and 
public open space 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 Page 154

Agenda Item 11f



 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been referred to Plans Committee by Councillor M Brown for the Committee to 
consider the sustainability of the site.   
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
    

1/0158/2007/FUL Provision of 3 No double 
garages and 3 No treatment 
plants and irrigation drainage 
to replace existing septic tank 
drainage 

PER 29.03.2007 

           

1/1161/2007/OUT Proposed industrial 
redevelopment 

PER 24.12.2007 

   

1/0940/2008/REM Proposed industrial 
redevelopment of former 
abattoir - partial reserved 
matters application pursuant 
to outline planning permission 
1/1161/2007/OUT relating to 
site road layout, access, 
scale, landscaping, storm 
water drainage system and 
design for Office/Studio Unit 
7 

PER 06.03.2009 

     

1/0914/2009/REMM Proposed industrial 
redevelopment of former 
abattoir 

PER 17.12.2009 

    

1/0037/2010/FUL Change of use of agricultural 
land to form part of industrial 
site 

PER 09.03.2010 

   

1/0096/2011/DIS Discharge of conditions 1, 2, 
3D, 4 , 6 & 7 for planning 
approval 1/0914/2009/REMM 

PER 05.12.2011 

   

1/0562/2012/FUL Minor material alteration to 
approved reserved matters 
application 
1/0914/2009/REMM for unit 7 
and change to layout of units 
1 to 7 

PER 03.08.2012 

      

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site is located to the north east of Great Torrington off Bastard's Lane.  The 
supporting statement describes the site as being an area of approximately 6.4 hectares, brownfield 
(previously developed) and currently vacant, "comprising of sporadic industrial buildings no longer fit 
for purpose". It previously accommodated the North Devon Meats, meat processing facility, which has 
now ceased to operate and all buildings are now either demolished or partially demolished. Whilst 
predominately brownfield the eastern and southern fringes of the site are greenfield (undeveloped). 

Page 155



 
To the immediate east of the site are the industrial buildings associated with the Peninsular Proteins 
site, which no longer operates.  The Applicant refers to this business as "inextricably linked to the 
North Devon Meats business".  The application site is bounded on its northern side by an un-named 
road and also includes a terrace of three residential properties known as Beara Cottages (former 
workers dwellings). Protected common land abuts the site on the southern and eastern boundaries.   
 
The site currently benefits from two points of vehicular access onto the main, un-named road.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The proposal seeks outline approval, with all matters reserved (bar access), for the development of 
up to 143 dwellings (of which 40% would be affordable) along with the development of 1040 square 
metres of commercial freehold floorspace, which would include provision for a purpose-built factory 
for Clayewater Homes Ltd. The employment uses would cover use classes B1, B2 and B8.  An 
indicative layout has been provided with this application to demonstrate how this level of built 
development could be achieved on the site and shows that development would only occur on the 
brownfield elements with the greenfield land remaining undeveloped.  The following documents have 
been submitted for consideration: 
 

- Site location plan 
- Indicative site layout 
- Topographical survey 
- Landscape Visual Impact Assessment 
- Design and Access Statement 
- Ecology report 
- Sewerage details 
- Marketing information 
- Planning statement 
- Foul drainage assessment 
- Affordable housing statement 
- Air quality assessment 
- Crime and disorder statement 
- Economic benefit statement 
- Flood risk assessment 
- Noise assessment 
- Transport assessment 
- Travel plan 
- Drainage calculations 

 
Following the original submission, the following additional or revised documents were submitted: 
 

- Plans showing off site highway improvements to create footway between site and Great 
Torrington 

 

Consultee representations: 

 
Great Torrington Parish/Town Council:  
 
At the meeting on the 20th December members voted to object to the application.  The proposal is a 
departure from the Local Plan and both the emerging Local Plan and the draft neighbourhood plan.  
Some of the garden spaces were far too small.  Concern was also raised regarding drainage which 
appeared not have been explained satisfactorily.  Members were very concerns regarding the 
highway proposals and felt they were not acceptable.   
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
 

Page 156



I write to provide a response to the above application which seeks to provide 143 dwellings. The 
Applicant has proposed a level of affordable housing at 40% of the overall residential provision, which 
conforms with TDC’s Affordable Housing policy for a proposal of this size. 
 
In terms of tenure the Applicant has also agreed to a policy compliant split of 75% Social Rented and 
25% at an intermediate level. To ensure the Affordable Housing provision is affordable for the 
residents of Torridge District, it is imperative the rented units are provided at a Social Rent level rather 
than an ‘Affordable’ Rent level - the associated definitions being detailed in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
For the Intermediate provision, it is acceptable for this to be provided in the form of shared ownership, 
intermediate rent or Discounted Open Market housing. Whilst additional information regarding 
intermediate provision can be found in TDC’s Planning Obligations SPD, it is important to note that 
where Discounted Open Market housing is proposed, the percentage discount must be set having 
regard to 3.5 x the average median household income for Torridge. and such housing will need to be 
secured in perpetuity. 
 
The following details the mix of affordable housing required in terms of size:- 
 

- 1 bed 25% 46 sqm 
 

- 2 bed houses 45% 76 sqm 
 

- 3 bed houses 25% 86 sqm 
 

- 4 bed/5 bed houses 5% 96 sqm/106sqm 
 
The Affordable Housing provision should be pepper potted across the development and secured via a 
Section 106 agreement. 
 
Overall I am able to confirm support for this proposal in terms of the Affordable Housing provision 
where this is provided in line with the above. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
 
Further to previous comments submitted on this application the Applicant has provided me with 
further plans to create a footway on School Lane to provide an acceptable walking route for 
pedestrians between the site and the town as well as maintaining a decent width of carriageway for 
the vehicle traffic that uses this road. The west side of School Lane will be widened by removing the 
overgrown vegetation and in places a retaining wall will be built and the highway widened. It will be a 
civil matter for the Applicant to secure this land for their use prior to entering into an agreement to 
make this into public highway. The use of Bastards Lane is now not promoted, as footway will 
continue up to Linden Close where I will join the existing provision on School Lane. This route is some 
800m from the site to the town proper, on a metalled route that will have to be street lighted. Shorter 
routes across the common would be available for more able bodied pedestrians. The highway works 
have undergone a stage one road safety audit, and amended a number of times in response to my 
comments and those of the road safety auditors. A capacity assessment of the junction of School 
Lane with the A386 has also been undertaken and despite the fact that I dispute the way in which it 
has been carried out, it shows that the junction operates well below its capacity, so amending the 
assessment to how I think it should be done is not likely to change this result. The introduction of 
traffic signals at this junction is therefore not necessary, and is not therefore required. Introduction of 
such signals would be the first in Torrington, and I feel tat unless there is a proven need for them they 
should not be installed as they would add unnecessary queues and delays, particularly outside of the 
peak times. 
 
Recommendation: 

Page 157



THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
 
1. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on to 
any County Highway 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
2. Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be 
constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections indicating, as 
appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 
detailed proposals. 
 
3. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with a 
phasing programme which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing.  
REASON: To ensure the proper development of the site. 
 
4. No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until:  
A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level for 
the first 20 metres back from its junction with the public highway 
B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this permission 
laid out 
C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been constructed up 
to base course level 
D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority 
REASON: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 
site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining public 
highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents 
 
5. The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place until the 
following works have been carried out to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority: 
A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that phase 
shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base course level, the 
ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service crossings completed; 
B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with direct 
pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been constructed up to 
and including base course level; 
C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 
operational; 
E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this permission 
has/have been completed; 
F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling have been 
completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
REASON: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the 
traffic attracted to the site 
 
6. No dwelling shall be occupied on the site until a footway has been constructed between the 
site and the existing footway provision on School Lane. 
REASON: To ensure safe and suitable access is available for all people. 

Page 158



 
Environmental Protection:  
 
The application site is adjoined to a meat rendering plant, formerly known as Peninsula Proteins, 
immediately to the north. The Environmental Protection Team regularly received complaints of odour 
nuisance emanating from the meat rendering plant when it was in operation. The complaints 
originated from dwellings a considerable distance from the site as well as dwellings located in closer 
proximity. Due to the number of historic complaints and the close proximity of the proposed 
development to the meat rendering plant, a significant industrial site, the Environmental Protection 
Team requested that appropriate odour and noise assessments be undertaken. 
 
Both the odour and noise impact assessments submitted indicate that the rendering plant is not 
operational and the rendering process utilised at the site is illegal. As a result, it's impact on the 
proposed development has not been considered. The Environmental Protection Team has no such 
knowledge of an illegal rendering process. The process that was in use during its operation would not 
be classed as illegal and the site could theoretically continue to operate at this time. Furthermore, 
although the site is not presently operational it does have a current permit to operate. It is also 
suggested that the site would need planning permission for any new plant and processes that were to 
be introduced if the site were to operate again. Should modernised processes be required, it is the 
opinion of the Environmental Protection Team that best practice techniques would not prevent the 
highly offensive odour associated with rendering being experienced off site on occasions. The air 
quality assessment states that the rendering plant site is for sale and unlikely to operate again. The 
Environmental Protection Team is aware that the site is currently for sale but this does not exonerate 
its use as a rendering plant in the future. Although it is acknowledged that comprehensive and 
detailed assessments, in relation to the potential odour and noise impact, may prove difficult to 
undertake whilst the rendering plant is not currently in operation, the potential impact of this site on 
the proposed residential development cannot be dismissed. 
 
The consultation response from the Environmental Protection Team is based on the assumption that 
the neighbouring rendering plant site is or will be in use. Subsequently, it is the opinion of the 
Environmental Protection Team that the rendering plant will have a significant adverse impact, 
particularly in relation to odour, on the residential amenity of the proposed development. The 
Applicant is dismissing the impact of the rendering plant citing reasons including operational use, sale 
of land and planning permission. It is the opinion of the Environmental Protection Team that the use 
and any future planning permissions for the rendering plant site to operate are planning matters. The 
Environmental Protection Team's opinion may be subject to change depending on the status of the 
rendering plant site. 
 
The Environmental Protection Team would normally expect foul drainage for a proposed development 
of this size to connect to a public sewerage system. However, surface and foul water drainage will be 
matters for Devon County Council (Lead Local Flood Authority) and the Environment Agency to 
carefully consider.  
 
Natural England:  
  
Planning consultation: Outline application for erection of up to 143 dwellings, 1040 square metres of 
commercial freehold land for B1, B2 and B8 employment and public open space Location: Land At 
Grid Reference 249583 119849 (Former Meat Factory Site), Torrington, Devon, Thank you for your 
consultation on the above dated 06 December 2017 which was received by Natural England on the 
same date. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
 

Page 159



Natural England’s comments in relation to this application are provided in the following sections. 
 
Statutory nature conservation sites – no objection 
Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the proposal is 
unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites or landscapes. 
 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species. 
Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species. 
You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material consideration in the 
determination of applications in the same way as any individual response received from Natural 
England following consultation. 
 
The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any assurance in 
respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is unlikely to affect the 
EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached 
any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the developer’s responsibility) or may be 
granted. 
 
If you have any specific questions on aspects that are not covered by our Standing Advice for 
European Protected Species or have difficulty in applying it to this application please contact us with 
details at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
Registered Common Land 
The proposal may impact upon an area of land that is registered common land, namely Great 
Torrington Common. This is covered by the Commons Act 2006 and will have rights of access by the 
public. If planning permission is granted, and Great Torrington Common is impacted, the Applicant will 
be required to apply to the Secretary of State for consent under section 16 or section 38 of the 
Commons Act 2006. Guidance on common land is available at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/carrying-
out-works-on-common-land. Natural England is a specified consultee under the Commons Act 2006 
and will respond to any consultations in line with the above guidance. 
Priority Habitat as identified on Section 41 list of the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities 
(NERC) Act 2006 
 
The consultation documents indicate that this development includes areas of priority habitat, as listed 
on Section 41 of the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006, namely two 
areas of deciduous woodland on the northern and western sides of the site. The National Planning 
Policy Framework states that ‘when determining planning applications, Local Planning authorities 
should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. If significant harm resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
The proposed development is within an area that Natural England considers could benefit from 
enhanced green infrastructure (GI) provision. Multi-functional green infrastructure can perform a 
range of functions including improved flood risk management, provision of accessible green space, 
climate change adaptation and biodiversity enhancement. Natural England would encourage the 
incorporation of GI into this development. 
 
Local sites 
If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally Important 
Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) the authority should ensure 
it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the proposal on the local site before it 
determines the application. 
 
Biodiversity enhancements 
This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design which are beneficial 
to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or the installation of bird nest 

Page 160

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk


boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site from 
the Applicant, if it is minded to grant permission for this application. This is in accordance with 
Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Additionally, we would draw your attention 
to Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states that ‘Every 
public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper 
exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of the same Act 
also states that ‘conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, 
restoring or enhancing a population or habitat’. 
 
Landscape enhancements 
This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and bring benefits 
for the local community, for example through green space provision and access to and contact with 
nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and 
capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new development and 
ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form and location, to the character and 
functions of the landscape and avoids any unacceptable impacts. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
requires Local Planning authorities to consult Natural England on “Development in or likely to affect a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest” (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help Local Planning 
authorities decide when to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI. The 
dataset and user guidance can be accessed from the data.gov.uk website 
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime you have any 
queries please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 
The Environment Agency:  
 
1st response  
Environment Agency position 
We object to the application on grounds that insufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate that the proposed private package treatment plant is justified in this location and, if so, is 
suitable and will not be detrimental to the environment. We recommend that the application is not 
determined until further information has been submitted. 
The reasons for this position are provided below. 
Reasons – Foul drainage 
 
The information submitted with the application indicates that foul drainage will be disposed of to a 
non-mains foul drainage system. 
 
Government guidance within the National Planning Practice Guidance (paragraph 020 in the section 
on water supply, wastewater and water quality – Reference ID: 34-020-20140306) stresses that the 
first presumption must be to provide a system of foul drainage discharging into a public sewer to be 
treated at a public sewage treatment works. Only where having taken into account the cost and/or 
practicability it can be shown to the satisfaction of the Local Planning authority that connection to a 
public sewer is not feasible, should non-mains foul sewage disposal solutions be considered. The 
Foul Drainage Assessment form indicates that evidence has been submitted about why the 
development cannot connect to the mains sewer, however this is not apparent in any of the submitted 
documents. 
 
Overcoming our objection 
To overcome our objection the Applicant should thoroughly investigate the possibility of connecting to 
the foul sewer by taking the following steps: 

i. Formally approach the sewerage undertaker or serve notice regarding a connection under 
section 98, section 104 or section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991, as appropriate. 

Page 161



ii. Provide details of the terms upon which the sewerage undertaker is willing to enter into an 
agreement under section 104. 
iii. Provide details of the undertakings, security and payment required by the sewerage 
undertaker under section 98 of the Water Industry Act 1991. They must provide these together 
with confirmation that the Applicant considers these to be reasonable and does not intend to 
appeal against them; OR 
iv. Provide details of the reasons given by the sewerage undertaker if it has refused 
connection under section 106 of the WIA 1991 and confirmation that they have appealed 
against this decision; OR 
v. Demonstrate that it is not reasonable to connect to the public foul sewer. 
If the cost of connection to sewer is greater than... then a private sewage disposal system... 
(number of premises x £9000) plus cost of private treatment system, is likely to be acceptable 
from a cost viewpoint. If the cost of connection to sewer is within a range of between ... then a 
private sewage disposal system... (number of premises x £5000 - £9,000) plus cost of private 
treatment system, may be acceptable from a cost viewpoint, depending on the factors in each 
case but in particular the sensitivity of the receiving environment, the degree of environmental 
risk that will arise from the proposed private sewerage system and the extent to which the 
proposal will set a precedent for similar applications in the future. If the cost of connection to 
sewer is less than... then a private sewage disposal system... (number of premises x £5000) 
plus cost of private treatment system, is unlikely to be acceptable from a cost viewpoint. 
vi. Where it is not reasonable to connect to the public foul sewer, demonstrate that they have 
considered requesting that the sewerage undertaker adopt their proposed system. 
Lack of capacity or plans to improve capacity in the sewer is not a valid reason for a sewerage 
undertaker to refuse connection under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. In these 
cases, if an Applicant decides to apply for a water discharge permit for private treatment 
facilities we may refuse to issue the permit. 
 

In the absence of this information we are unable to advise whether the proposal is acceptable in 
principle and whether we would be able to issue an Environmental Permit for the discharge in due 
course. 
 
If the Applicant confirms that the costs of connection to the public sewerage network will be 
unreasonable, paragraph 20 of the NPPG also states that ‘applications for developments relying on 
anything other than connection to a public sewage treatment plant should be supported by sufficient 
information to understand the potential implications for the water environment’. At that stage, we 
would need to review the details of the proposal in more detail to understand whether there is a 
potential for it to cause a detriment to water quality. 
 
The Applicant would also need to confirm that the final storage pond would have sufficient capacity to 
receive/store treated effluent from the proposed package treatment plant, in addition to receiving the 
surface water flows from the upper storage ponds. The ultimate discharge from the final storage pond 
is to a culverted watercourse through an offsite connection beneath the public highway. The Applicant 
will need to confirm that they have the relevant land owner permissions to connect to this watercourse 
and that the watercourse has sufficient capacity to receive the discharge and provide sufficient 
dilution. The highway authority will also need to confirm that they would accept a private sewer to be 
laid beneath the public highway. 
 
Advice to Applicant – Environmental Permitting 
Any non-mains foul drainage system associated with this development will require an Environmental 
Permit from the Environment Agency under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010, unless it 
satisfies the General Binding Rules for small sewage discharges in England. The General Binding 
Rules can be found online at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-
in-england-general-binding-rules. 
 
If the proposed foul discharge will not satisfy the General Binding Rules the Applicant is advised to 
contact our National Permitting Service on 03708 506 506 for further advice and to discuss the issues 
likely to be raised. You should be aware that the permit may not be granted, particularly if the 

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-in-england-general-binding-rules
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-sewage-discharges-in-england-general-binding-rules


discharge is located within an area served by a mains sewer. Additional 'Environmental Permitting 
Guidance' can be accessed online at https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks. 
Advice to the LPA. 
 
We will maintain our objection until the Applicant has supplied information to demonstrate that the 
risks posed by the development can be satisfactorily addressed. We would like to be re-consulted on 
any information submitted to address our concerns and we will provide you with bespoke comments 
within 21 days of receiving formal re-consultation. 
 
If you are minded to approve the application at this stage contrary to this advice, we request that you 
contact us to allow further discussion and/or representations from us. 
 
2nd response 
 
Thank you for your email received this morning reconsulting us on the above planning application.   
 
Environment Agency position 
Provided that you have received confirmation that South West Water that they can accept the foul 
flows from this development, we would be able to remove our objection to this proposal.  You may 
wish to include a condition within any permission granted to ensure that the development is served by 
a suitable foul drainage system.  Due to the sites previous use we also recommend that standard 
contaminated land conditions are included within any permission granted.  Our suggested wording for 
the contaminated land condition is provided below.   
 
Condition – Contaminated Land 
No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until a remediation strategy 
that includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site 
shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
 
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
• all previous uses 
• potential contaminants associated with those uses 
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment of the 
risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, based 
on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation 
measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  
 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the 
works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any requirements for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  
 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  
 
Reasons: To ensure the protection of controlled waters. 
 
Condition – Unsuspected Contamination 
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then 
no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be 
carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority 
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from 
the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
 

Page 163



Reasons: To ensure the protection of controlled waters. 
 
Please contact us again if you require any further advice.   
 
Chief Education Officer:  
 
The proposed development of 143 family-type dwellings will generate an additional 35.75 primary 
pupils and 21.45 secondary pupils. 
 
It is forecast that the existing primary school within the area of development is at capacity and cannot 
support the pupils likely to be generated by this development. The strategy for the town is therefore 
for new primary provision to serve the housing growth. Devon County Council will seek a contribution 
towards the 35.75 primary pupils likely to be generated by the development. Therefore the 
contribution request will be £4,005 per family type dwelling (based on the current DfE new build rate 
of £16,019 per pupil for Devon), these contributions would be used towards new primary provision 
within the town. 
 
As a new primary school will be required, Devon County Council will also need to request a primary 
land contribution towards procurement of the new school site at the rate of £440 per family type 
dwelling. 
 
There is currently capacity at the local secondary school for the number of pupils likely to be 
generated by this development and therefore a contribution towards secondary education would not 
be sought. 
 
In addition, a contribution towards Early Years education is needed to ensure delivery of provision for 
2, 3 and 4 year olds. This will be at the Early Years rate of £250 per family type dwelling. This will be 
used to provide additional early years provision for pupils likely to be generated by the proposed 
development. 
 
It should be noted that if this development forms part of a wider allocation (of 250 dwellings or above), 
Devon County Council will also look to request contributions towards SEN education. It is set out in 
the DCC Education Section Infrastructure approach that approximately 1.5% of the school population 
require specific Special Education provision, the request would be based on £24,261 per SEN pupil. 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution. 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
 
No observations in terms of visual impact on heritage assets.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. Assessment of the Historic Environment 
Record (HER) and the details submitted by the Applicant do not suggest that the scale and situation 
of this development will have any impact upon any known heritage assets. 
 
The Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning application. 
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
  
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, I can confirm that I am able to comment 
as follows. 
 

Page 164



This major outline application is for a mixed housing and commercial development of the former meat 
factory site to the north of Great Torrington.  The brown field site is currently derelict with a mixture of 
partially completed commercial units, an unoccupied office block and remnants of the former factory.  
Much of the site has ‘greened up’ with grass and scrub starting to take over the unused areas of open 
space, especially close to the current neglected hedges along the site boundaries. 
 
The proposal is for 143 dwellings and mixed use industrial units, with two landscape buffer zones 
incorporated in the northeast corner and along the south/south west boundary of the site. 
 
Trees 
 
There are no trees within the site, but there are extensive boundary hedgerows and areas of trees 
and scrub around the site boundaries.  As part of the site mitigation it is proposed to retain and 
enhance these boundary features and to provide the two large landscape buffers. 
 
A tree survey and arboricultural impact assessment (AIA) will not be necessary, however the retained 
hedgerows and areas to be landscaped should be protected as per BS5837:2012, Trees in relation to 
design, demolition and design – Recommendations during construction.  Therefore an Arboricultural 
Method Statement (AMS), including a Tree (hedgerow/landscape) Protection Plan, should be 
provided as part of any reserved matters application. 
 
Landscape 
 
A full Landscape and Visual Landscape Appraisal (LVIA) has been produced by AB Landscape 
Design to support this application. 
 
The site sits outside the current development boundary of Great Torrington and is not an allocated 
site for development in the current Local Plan or the emerging North Devon and Torridge Districts 
Joint Local Plan.  The site is adjacent to the Great Torrington Commons and lies just outside the 
Torridge Valley AGLV (Area of Great Landscape Value). 
 
This site is well contained within the wider landscape siting within a shallow valley to the north of 
Torrington and the wooded valley of the Torrington Commons, and sloping up towards Darracott.  The 
meat processing site to the north of the site is prominent in the local landscape, but overall the site is 
seen as separate from the built form of Torrington, separated by the wooded valley of the Torrington 
Commons and the area of open space and scrub either side of Bastard’s Lane to the south of the site. 
 
This is summed up in the Conclusions and Summary of Impacts within the LVIA which in paragraph 
224 states: 
 
“The ridge line of Great Torrington, local hills of Priestacott/Darracott to the north and valley woodland 
restrict interaction of the site with the intermediate landscape. All effects are therefore limited to a 
local geographical extent”.  
 
The LVIA considers the impacts of the development on the landscape character and the visual 
impacts, using both the Devon County Landscape Character Areas (DCA) and the NDTC Landscape 
Character Types (LCT). 
 
When assessing the landscape character of the site the LVIA concludes: 
 
“226.The landscape character of the main site is not reflective of the host farmland LTC/DCA or 
neighbouring valley woodland LCT/DCA. It is a brownfield post industrial landscape resulting from the 
large derelict/empty buildings, made up, uneven rutted ground, concrete hardstandings, exposed/ 
unfinished sub-drainage runs, unused building materials/scrap and spoil heaps and steel mesh 
security fencing”. 
 
Development of the site will change the character of the site from industrial/derelict brown field, to a 
denser residential and commercial development.  Due to the current nature of the site, only some of 

Page 165



the derelict buildings and the meat processing site stand out in the landscape.  The proposed 
development will fill the complete site (other than the two buffer zones) making a more solid block of 
development which will be more visible, but not necessarily impacting on the wider landscape 
character around the site. 
 
The LVIA Conclusions and Summary assesses the greatest landscape impacts to be: 
 
“227.Overall the greatest landscape impacts would be on the visual components of the host LCT 3A 
Upper Farmed and Wooded Valley Slopes /DCA High Culm Ridge and will be on the open fields at 
Tanton’s Plain (7-800 metres west of the site) and on the hill slope around Priestacott/Coombe (0.5km 
to 1.2km north of site). The visual impacts will be greatest on the visual receptors using open sections 
of the public footpaths in the same areas. 
 
And that with the proposed mitigation: 
 
“228.There are good opportunities for mitigation and for all receptors the impacts that were initially 
considered high-medium adverse or medium adverse, based on whole site development seen in Fig 
A, were reduced to medium adverse or slight adverse through measures such as careful siting and 
the incorporation of buffer zones. This would be effective from year 03, and effects would be reduced 
further once screening from planting became effective at year 10-15”. 
 
I would have to mainly agree with the findings of the LVIA, the biggest impacts will be on the users of 
the local network of PROWs close to the site and exiting from the wooded valley of the Torrington 
Commons.  Due to users having a medium to high sensitivity to change there would be a moderate 
adverse impact on some visual receptors.  Even the visual impacts from the northern edge of 
Torrington are limited to slight adverse due to topography and intervening vegetation. 
 
In conclusion when assessing the site as a previously developed industrial site, the visual and 
landscape character impacts are reduced when compared to if the site was a virgin green field site.  
Indeed the site has previously been given planning permission for redevelopment as a commercial 
site. 
 
The proposed landscaping buffer zones will help further reduce the visual impact of the development.  
However, due to the density of the housing shown in the indicative site plan there is little room for 
further greening of the site to integrate it into the open countryside. 
 
Not withstanding this, the site is outside the development boundary of Great Torrington and can 
therefore be seen as development in the open countryside. It is divorced from the amenities provided 
by Torrington, access is via narrow country lanes with no footpaths, the proposed footpath links would 
be too un-metaled PROWs (as per Devon County Highways consultation response), and there is no 
public transport. 
 
Where views of the proposed site are available the site could be mistaken for a separate small 
settlement adjacent to Torrington.  However, the proposal does not having a significant impact on the 
landscape character of the surrounding area, or a significant visual impact on local receptors, despite 
being in open countryside and divorced from the main settlement of Great Torrington. 
 
I therefore have no objections to this development due to its landscape impacts.  A full Landscaping 
specification, arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan will be required with a reserved 
matters application. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
 
1st response 
The Applicant has stated that infiltration will not be suitable for this site based on reference to 
percolation tests carried out as part of the Ruddlesden Geotechnical Report, dated 2008. Please 
could the Applicant submit a copy of this report, as it is not currently included with the application. 

Page 166



The Applicant proposes to discharge to the watercourse through an offsite connection beneath the 
public highway, the Applicant should confirm that they have the relevant land owner permissions to 
connect to the watercourse and that the highway authority is happy to accept a private surface water 
sewer to be laid below the public highway. 
 
The drainage proposal indicate a large proportion of below ground attenuation storage, however, 
these underground systems cannot be considered as truly sustainable means of drainage because 
they do not provide the required water quality, public amenity and biodiversity benefits, which are 
some of the underpinning principles of SuDS. The Applicant has proposed open attenuation features 
on the downstream extents of the network which we are supportive of, however were opportunities 
exist to minimise the extent of below ground attenuation this should be explored. The Applicant 
should also note that in accordance with the SuDS Management Train, surface water should be 
managed at source in the first instance. At detailed design the Applicant will be required to explore the 
use of a variety of above-ground source control components across the whole site to avoid managing 
all of 
the surface water from the proposed development at one concentrated point (e.g. a single attenuation 
tank/pond). The opportunity for Source Control elements should be explored at the outline stage, 
examples of these source control components could include permeable paving (which could be 
underdrained), formalised tree pits or other bioretention features such as rain gardens, as well as 
green roofs, swales and filter drains. 
 
2nd response 
Thanks for your phone call earlier.  
For clarification, we require no further information from the Applicant.  
At detailed design, they should incorporate source control within their design.  
   
Helen Montgomery MCIWEM  
Flood and Coastal Risk Engineer  
Flood Risk Management, Environment Group 
 
Recreation Development Officer:  
 
Quite a clear one this really, 150 dwellings would trigger the need for an artificial turf pitch, whilst this 
falls a little short a games pitch should at least be provided but the drawings from what I can see  
merely show a formal and informal open space which isn’t really ideal. 
 
In addition there appears to be no play areas identified of any size. Given the location of the site and it 
being quite segregated and isolated from the towns amenities, whereby usually the suggestion would 
be to just take an off-site contribution I feel in the instance the aforementioned requirements do need 
to be present on site. 
 
Public Rights of Way Officer: 
 
Devon County Council have asked that I comment on the above Planning Application. Please be 
aware that the Application may affect footpath 5 Great Torrington. After further investigation it would 
appear that the development will not directly affect the Footpath. Footpath 5 currently terminates at 
the boundary with the development site. We note that on the plan there is a proposed link from the 
development site to Great Torrington footpath 5 and this is to be welcomed, however please ensure 
that suitable infrastructure is used when making the link, DCC would be happy to offer advice should 
this be required. Should Planning Consent be granted, we would remind the Applicant that Planning 
Permission does not grant the right to close, alter or build over a Public Right of Way in anyway, even 
temporarily. therefore the Applicant must ensure that the way remains open and available to the 
public at all times, including during the period of any construction activity such as with building 
materials or spoil and contractors’ vehicles and plant etc. Should it be necessary permanently divert 
the path to enable development to take place, this can be achieved by the Local Planning Authority 
through Section 257 of the Town and Country planning Act 1990. If a temporary diversion or closure 
is required during construction works then the Applicant may apply to DCC for a temporary traffic 
order. 

Page 167



 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  17  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  3 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3 objections have been received from interested third parties and their comments are summarised as 
follows: 
  

- Impact upon Great Torrington Commons 
- Visual intrusion on the landscape 
- Exceeds brownfield land envelope 
- No community engagement 
- No connection to the town 
- Conflict with emerging Neighbourhood Plan 
- Highway safety issues 
- Departure from the Local Plan 
- Not EIA screened 
- Concerns regarding foul drainage from the site entering onto common land 

 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT2C (Development In The Open Countryside); ECD4 (Reuse of Employment Sites); DM13X 
(DM13 (Safeguarding Employment Land)); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); ENV10 (Mitigation and 
Enhancement); DVT1 (Development in Strategic Centres); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 
(Building Design); DVT18 (Impact of Development on Traffic); DVT19 (Access and Parking); DVT11 
(Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT9 (Protection of Open Space); DVT24 (Sewerage and 
Drainage); HSC13 (Play Facilities in New Housing Devt); HSC22 (Community Service Development 
and Local);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  ();  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 

Page 168



remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The main issues for consideration are: 
 

- Principle of the development; 
- Loss of employment land; 
- Visual amenity; 
- Impact upon trees; 
- Highway safety; 
- Residential amenity; 
- Ecology;  
- Contamination; 
- Flood risk and drainage;  
- Affordable Housing; and 
- Education. 

 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
In policy terms therefore, the site is located within the open countryside.  Policy DVT2C states that 
subject to not detracting from the character and appearance of the area the following types of 
development will be allowed: 
 

(a) the conversion of a previously used building or a redundant agricultural building for 
employment reuse; 
 
(b) agricultural, countryside recreational, and /or identified types of tourist development and /or 
other development that is related to appropriate farm diversification; 
 
(c) the alteration, improvement, redevelopment and /or minor extension of a building for 
purposes directly related to its established use; 
 
(d) the provision of small scale rural business developments and other local services and /or 
utilities for which there is a proven need. 

 
The proposed development does not fall within any of the criteria above and is therefore considered a 
departure from the current Local Plan, albeit located within a short distance beyond the periphery of 
the Great Torrington development boundary.  This is echoed within the emerging Local Plan and the 
site continues to fall outside of the development boundary.   
 

Page 169



Notwithstanding this, paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development and relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the Local Planning authority 
cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  The Council cannot currently 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply however as paragraph 2 of the NPPF advises, planning 
law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan (as a whole), unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Furthermore, this 
does not automatically mean that no weight is applied to existing policies, such as policy DVT2c of the 
existing Local Plan.  It is also important to make the distinction between what is or is not a planning 
policy directly relating to 'housing supply'. In this instance, policy DVT2c falls into the latter 
circumstance, that not specifically restricting housing supply.  What is clear however is that until the 
emerging Local Plan is fully adopted and a 5 year housing supply position confirmed the 'restriction' of 
development boundaries falls away and sites like the application site can continue to be considered 
for residential development.    
 
The NPPF is an important additional material consideration and seeks to ensure development 
proposals are sustainable.  The NPPF explains how sustainable development has three dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that; "these roles should not be 
undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependent.  Economic growth can secure higher 
social and environmental standards, and well-designed buildings and places can improve the lives of 
people and communities.  Therefore, to achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. The 
planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable solutions."   
 
It is considered that 143 houses (including 40% affordable housing) and 1040 square metres of 
commercial freehold B1, B2 and B8 floorspace, with associated infrastructure and mitigation, could be 
physically accommodated within the site and this has been demonstrated within the submitted 
indicative site layout plan. Taking the three dimensions of sustainable development in turn; there 
would be social benefits in the provision of 143 houses which will significantly boost the supply of 
housing. The proposal would fulfil the economic role of sustainable development by the creation of 
new jobs generated during and after construction. There would also be further associated economic 
benefits in terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus from the new houses. 
With regards environmental considerations, the application site is predominantly brownfield and 
located within a short distance beyond the periphery of the Great Torrington development boundary.  
Policy DVT2c remains relevant and states that development shall not detract from the character and 
appearance of the area. This complies specifically with the environmental thread of sustainable 
development as identified within the NPPF.  The environmental impacts are explored in the following 
sections of this report, however, for the purposes of this section, briefly, the impacts on the Torridge 
Valley AGLV (Area of Great Landscape Value) would be the main considerations. 
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should encourage the 
effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided 
that it is not of high environmental value.  An objection has been received questioning the amount of 
land within the developable area that is brownfield.  Whilst one could argue this point it is clear from 
visiting the site that it is predominantly brownfield and in line with the aspirations of the NPPF 
development on the site, subject to other material planning considerations, should be encouraged.   
 
The proposed development seeks to provide a significant contribution of 143 houses (including 40% 
affordable housing) towards local housing supply on a large brownfield site close to an Area Centre 
as well as 1040 square metres of commercial freehold B1, B2 and B8 floorspace.  One of the core 
planning principles of the NPPF is to "proactively drive and support sustainable economic 
development to deliver the homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local 
places."  The need to "boost significantly the supply of housing" (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) is 
paramount, especially in light of the current lack of a 5 year housing land supply in the Torridge 
district. To facilitate this, the NPPF states that Local Planning authorities should; "identify and update 
annually a supply of specific deliverable sites".  Footnote 11 of paragraph 47 states that to be 
considered deliverable; "sites with planning permission should be considered deliverable until 
permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that schemes will not be implemented within five 

Page 170



years, for example they will not be viable, there is no longer a demand for the type of units or sites 
have long term phasing plans."  The Applicants are well established small to medium housebuilders 
with a proven track record of delivering residential planning permissions.  The proposed development 
for 143 houses will be a significant contribution to the supply of housing at a location close to an Area 
Centre. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets the overarching policy with respect to plan making and decision 
making and the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  With regards decision taking it 
states that "where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole."  Taking into consideration the lack of a 5 year supply, the weight that can be applied to the 
emerging Local Plan, the status of the current Local Plan, and in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF, 
the principle of the proposed development at the application site is considered acceptable subject to 
an assessment of other additional material planning considerations / impacts that must be assessed 
against the local and national planning policy before a full planning balance exercise can be 
undertaken and a recommendation made. These are discussed in turn as follows. 
 
LOSS OF EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
Policy ECD4 of the Local Plan states that sites previously used for employment shall be retained for 
business reuse unless; (a) the premises do not make an important contribution to the provision of 
general employment opportunity in the locality; and (b) the site is not suitable for or cannot reasonably 
be made suitable for continued business use; and (c) it can be demonstrated that there is no realistic 
prospect of a viable business reuse. The policy further states that planning permission for 
development that provides for the reuse of premises previously used for employment, or of 
established general employment uses, will be granted only where; (a) the scheme will secure use(s) 
that complements the character of the area; and (b) general employment opportunity in the locality will 
be maintained.  Policy ECD4 is largely echoed in emerging plan policy DM13 (safeguarding 
employment land) and the retention and promotion of employment uses run throughout the NPPF. 
 
The application site is predominantly a large brownfield employment site that has over time become 
disused.  The proposed development seeks to provide new employment space in conjunction with the 
proposed residential part of the scheme.  The supporting documentation from the Applicant states 
that "whilst there would be an overall reduction in the footprint dedicated to employment uses at the 
site, it can be seen from the attached marketing particulars and commentary from local agents, that 
the site has been marketed over a significant period having been redundant since 2001." 
 
Furthermore it is stated that the Applicant has acquired the site to deliver new employment units, 
some of which would be for their own timber frame manufacturing business that is used to build their 
houses. The application includes an Economic Benefit Statement which outlines the economic context 
of the proposals, the proposed uses and the number of new residents and jobs that the development 
could create. The conclusion states that the proposed development could bring economic benefits 
both in terms of the wider regeneration of Great Torrington and the potential to create in the region of 
30 new jobs. The statement also refers to the additional economic benefits arising from the increase 
in residential population would have other economic benefits as outlined in the previous section of this 
statement.   
 
Both the adopted and emerging Local Plans seeks to retain employment uses at the application site 
and this current proposal will achieve this. Whilst there would be a loss of employment footprint to 
accommodate the residential component, it can be seen that the site has been marketed and that no 
prospective developer has come forward wanting the whole site for employment purposes. 
Furthermore following the completion of the development their will in turn be an increase in 
employment provision when compared to the current employment on the site and indeed the number 
of buildings that remain. 
 
As such, on balance, the proposal would comply with the aspirations of policies ECD4, of the Local 
Plan and DM13 of the emerging Local Plan and the relevant design policies in the NPPF. 

Page 171



 
VISUAL AMENITY 
 
Policy DVT6 of the Local Plan states that development proposals will be expected to maintain, restore 
or enhance the local vernacular through appropriate layout, design, materials and landscaping with 
regard to (amongst other criteria) the important attributes and special qualities of the area in which it 
is located. Policy DVT7 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted unless it is 
compatible with the context within which it is set and has taken account of the following aspects of 
development form: layout, landscaping, density, range of uses, height, massing, and appearance. 
Policy DVT2c states that in the countryside away from the villages development should not detract 
from the character and appearance of the area. 
 
The NPPF attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and states that 
developments should respond to local character and history and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings and materials while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation.  
 
The application site is adjacent to the Great Torrington Commons and lies just outside the Torridge 
Valley AGLV (Area of Great Landscape Value) and the application is accompanied by a full 
Landscape and Visual Landscape Assessment (LVIA). 
 
The biggest impacts of the development will be on the users of the local network of footpaths close to 
the site and exiting from the wooded valley of the Great Torrington Commons.  The site is well 
contained within the wider landscape siting within a shallow valley to the north of Great Torrington and 
the wooded valley of the Great Torrington Commons, and sloping up towards Darracott.  The meat 
processing site to the north of the site is prominent in the local landscape, The Council Landscape 
officer was consulted and comments that; "overall the site is seen as separate from the built form of 
Great Torrington, separated by the wooded valley of the Great Torrington Commons and the area of 
open space and scrub either side of Bastard's Lane to the south of the site." 
 
This is summarised up in the conclusions and summary of impacts within the LVIA which in paragraph 
224 states: 
 
"The ridge line of Great Torrington, local hills of Priestacott/Darracott to the north and valley woodland 
restrict interaction of the site with the intermediate landscape. All effects are therefore limited to a 
local geographical extent".  
 
The LVIA considers the impacts of the development on the landscape character and the visual 
impacts, using both the Devon County Landscape Character Areas (DCA) and the NDTC Landscape 
Character Types (LCT). 
 
When assessing the landscape character of the site the LVIA concludes: 
 
"The landscape character of the main site is not reflective of the host farmland LTC/DCA or 
neighbouring valley woodland LCT/DCA. It is a brownfield post industrial landscape resulting from the 
large derelict/empty buildings, made up, uneven rutted ground, concrete hardstandings, exposed/ 
unfinished sub-drainage runs, unused building materials/scrap and spoil heaps and steel mesh 
security fencing". 
 
Development of the site will change the character of the site from industrial/derelict brown field, to a 
denser residential and commercial development but as the Council Landscape Officer notes, only 
some of the derelict buildings and the meat processing site stand out in the landscape. The proposed 
development will introduce more buildings within the site which will be more visible, but not 
necessarily impacting on the wider landscape character around the site. 
 
Although in Outline form with all matters reserved, the submitted indicative layout demonstrates that 
the proposed development can be accommodated within the site along with landscaping buffer zones 
will help further reduce the visual impact of the development.  This can be enforced through suitable 
worded conditions and any subsequent reserved matters application.  The Council Landscape Officer 

Page 172



has no objections in landscape terms and concludes that the proposal; "does not have a significant 
impact on the landscape character of the surrounding area, or a significant visual impact on local 
receptors, despite being in open countryside and divorced from the main settlement of Great 
Torrington." 
 
Conditions can be used to ensure that any future Reserved Matters application provides boundary 
detail to ensure that the boundaries of the development are reinforced and improved and help 
assimilate the development within the landscape and its immediate setting.   
 
As such, on balance, the proposal would comply with the aspirations of policies DVT2c, DVT6 and 
DVT7 of the Local Plan and the relevant design policies in the NPPF. 
 
IMPACT UPON TREES 
 
Policies DVT6 and DVT7 of the Local Plan state that development proposals will be expected to have 
regard to the important attributes and special qualities of the area in which it is located and will not be 
permitted unless it is compatible with the context within which it is set.  Policy ENV5 of the Local Plan 
states that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural and historic character, 
natural beauty, and amenity of the Torridge landscape on the basis of local landscape character. 
 
There are no trees within the site but, as the Council Landscape Officer points out, there are 
extensive boundary hedgerows and areas of trees and scrub around the site boundaries.  As such 
there has not been the requirement to provide an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA).  As part of 
the site mitigation it is proposed to retain and enhance these boundary features and to provide the 
two large landscape buffers. 
 
The Council Landscape Officer has suggested an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS), including a 
Tree (hedgerow/landscape) Protection Plan to be provided as part of any reserved matters 
application. 
 
As such, in outline form, and subject to an appropriately worded informative the proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policies DVT6, DVT7 and ENV5 of the Local Plan and the 
guidance contained within the NPPF.   
 
HIGHWAY SAFETY 
 
Policy DVT18 of the Local Plan states that all development must take into account its impact on the 
highway network in terms of traffic generated, highway safety, access, servicing, and the need to 
reduce travel and to encourage alternatives to the private car, incorporating appropriate facilities on-
site or off-site where necessary. Policy DVT19 of the Local Plan states that development should 
provide appropriate access, servicing and an amount of vehicle parking suited to its individual 
situation.   
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
Following the initial submission of the application concerns were raised with regards the physical (and 
safe) connection to the town of Great Torrington and in particular a safe walking route to the towns 
services, amenities and public transport.  The site originally proposed two pedestrian accesses 
towards the town that would run into footpaths on the Great Torrington Common Land.  These would 
have been unlit and unusable for all users.  Even if it was possible it would have involved crossing 
Commons land and the impact visually would have been inappropriate.  Following these concerns, 
the Applicant explored the possibility of various off side highway works to provide a footpath 
connection and a safe vehicular route (road widening and traffic management) from the application 
site along the unnamed road and up to the existing footpath on School Lane.  This work has been 
provided to the satisfaction of DCC Highways and their original objection has been removed.  These 
off site works will form part of a Section 106 agreement which is currently in draft form pending the 
decision of this application at planning committee.   

Page 173



 
As such it is considered that subject to recommended conditions from DCC Highways and a Section 
106 agreement, the proposed development on the site would have a negligible cumulative impact 
upon both existing and future highway users and would therefore be acceptable and in accordance 
with policies DVT18 and DVT19 of the Local Plan, paragraph 32 of the NPPF and the guidance 
contained within Manual for Streets. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
Policy DVT11 of the Local Plan requires development to secure or maintain amenity appropriate to 
the locality, with special regard to the likely impact on neighbours, neighbouring uses and future 
occupiers/visitors to the site.  
 
The NPPF promotes both good design and the promotion of healthy communities within sections 7 
and 8. This includes ensuring that "access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and 
recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well being of communities."  Local 
Plan Policies DVT9 and HSC13 currently provide guidance as to the level of open space to be 
provided in new housing development. 
 
Layout and appearance are matters reserved for later consideration. The indicative plan shows a 
density which is considered a good use of the site and complies with the supporting text to Policy 
HSC3 of the Local Plan. There would therefore be sufficient space within the site to accommodate 
143 dwellings and commercial floorspace without being a detriment to the residential amenity of 
existing and prospective residents. The indicative site layout could provide properties with satisfactory 
internal space to comply with the National Space Standards and this would be assessed further within 
any subsequent reserved matters application.   
 
The Council Environmental Protection Team have raised concerns regarding the potential impact of 
the former by-product plant located to the north of the application site. The buildings have remained 
empty for a considerable period of time, and its former use was specifically allied to the former 
operation of the business located on the application site. It is fully recognised that the by-product 
factory's operation had previously given rise to concerns relating to odours.  
 
The Applicant is an established housing developer with a track record of delivering housing sites and 
is willing to invest a considerable amount of money into the application site (circa £15million 
investment).  Furthermore, the adjacent site was intrinsically linked to the application site and they 
worked side by side when in operation.  As such the likelihood of the adjacent site being brought back 
into use is limited.  Notwithstanding this the Applicant is exploring the option of legally securing the 
adjacent site for the avoidance of doubt.  Regardless of this potential outcome there are reasons in 
which to support the proposed development despite its proximity to the adjacent industrial site. 
 
The indicative site plan also provides an indication as to where on site open space could be 
accommodated, either within the landscaping section to the east and south or centrally within the 
housing site.  In line with Policy HSC13 of the Local Plan, formal and informal on site Play Space 
consisting of LAPs (local area for play), LEAPs (local equipped area for play), NEAPs (neighbourhood 
equipped area for play) and a MUGA (multi use games area) are all required.  These will be controlled 
through a Section 106 legal agreement to ensure a phased implementation and have been agreed 
with the Applicant.   
 
It is considered that the proposal complies with Policy DVT9, DVT11 and HSC13 of the Local Plan 
and national guidance with regards residential amenity. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 

Page 174



reinforced within the Torridge District Local Plan through Policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require 
development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats. 
 
A preliminary ecological appraisal was carried out on the application site in September and October 
2017 by North Devon Ecology, the findings of which are summarised as follows: 
 

- The boundaries are defunct species poor hedges, scrub and fencing. The site is adjacent to 
the non-statutory County Wildlife Site (CWS) of Great Torrington Common. There are no 
statutory designated sites in the vicinity. There are no impacts predicted to the ecology of the 
adjacent CWS.  

- The habitats directly affected by the proposed development include bare/disturbed ground and 
semi-improved grassland, and there will be no loss of any habitats that are significant from a 
wildlife or conservation perspective.  

- There are no impacts predicted to any protected species. The buildings on site were surveyed 
for the presence or potential presence of bats, Barn Owls and other nesting birds and were all 
found to have negligible potential for bats. There were no signs of Barn Owl use and no 
evidence of nesting birds. Proposed buffer zones and open spaces will largely separate the 
development from boundary features used by commuting and foraging bats. Small areas of 
potential reptile habitat were surveyed with negative results.  

- The site falls within a Great Crested Newt (GCN) consultation zone due to a record 1.7km 
away from 2011. Site assessment for GCN concluded that there was negligible potential for 
GCN to be present in the areas affected by the development. There are potential impacts to 
nesting birds should clearance of bramble scrub along the north-west fence line take place 
during the nesting season.  

- No further surveys are required.  
- It is recommended that the public spaces of the development remain unlit to avoid 

unnecessary increases in ambient night time light levels. 
- Removal of bramble scrub along the north-west boundary fence should be done outside of the 

bird nesting season (1st March -31st August). Any other works, including improvement works 
to hedgerows, should also avoid the nesting season.  

- It is recommended that provision for bats is incorporated into some of the new houses. Six 
Schwegler 1FR bat tubes should be incorporated into the new houses at locations detailed in 
the report.  

- Measures should be put in place to protect badgers and other mobile species such as deer 
from being trapped or injured in open excavations and/or pipes during development work. 

 
A number of recommendations have been included in the ecology report and a condition will ensure 
that these are followed. 
 
As such, in light of the findings of the ecology report and the subsequent recommendations for 
mitigation and enhancement as well as Natural England's standing advice on protected species, no 
further survey work or mitigation strategies are considered to be necessary. The proposal is 
considered to comply with Policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the Local Plan. 
 
CONTAMINATION 
 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF states that to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land 
instability, planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its 
location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural environment or 
general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse effects 
from pollution, should be taken into account. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability 
issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 
 
A Ground Investigation and Environmental Assessment Report has been submitted as part of the 
application and identifies the ground conditions encountered as being typically made ground underlain 
by firm silty clay with occasional gravel or, in two trial pits, moderately weak light brown weathered 

Page 175



sandstone. The results of this investigation indicate that strip/ trench-fill or pad foundations are 
suitable to support the proposed structures, depending on the building type/ construction method.  
 
Importantly, the levels of contamination recorded in the investigation do not pose a significant risk of 
causing harm to human health or controlled waters and so no specific remedial measures are 
required. However, basic radon protective measures are required comprising a gas proof membrane 
across the ground floor. This will also be sufficient to provide protection from landfill gas ingress.  
 
A standard contaminated land condition will be used for the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that 
any identified mitigation measures are submitted to and approved by the local authority. 
 
As such the proposed development can be made safe for a residential development and therefore 
complies with paragraph 120 of the NPPF. 
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 
 
Policy DVT24 states that development will be permissible in unsewered areas where it is to be 
provided with adequate means of foul and surface water drainage and where there will be no 
unacceptable risk of off-site flooding or increased flood risk; or to the quantity and quality of potable 
groundwater sources or private water supplies. In areas served by mains sewers, planning permission 
for the use of septic tanks or cesspools will not be granted.   
 
Guidance for building within areas at risk of flooding is contained largely in the NPPG and sits behind 
the policy information contained within paragraph 100 of the NPPF. 
 
The site is located within flood zone 1 (least likely to flood) however a flood risk assessment (FRA) 
has been provided which explores proposed foul and surface water drainage. 
 
Following concerns raised by consultees and the adjacent Commons Land representatives regarding 
proposed foul water drainage the Applicant provided further clarification.  In particular it was stated 
that the intention was to use the existing mains foul water drainage system.  Following this DCC Flood 
team were content with the proposals.   
 
The submitted Drainage Strategy explains how Surface water would be disposed of via a scheme that 
proposes the use of various attenuation techniques including oversized storage pipes, storage ponds 
and swales with a restricted discharge to an existing watercourse beneath the public highway. The 
application is in Outline form with all matters reserved and so a condition and informative will be used 
to ensure that further information is provided at Reserved Matters stage. 
 
Subject to suitably worded conditions, the proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy 
DVT24 of the Local Plan and paragraph 100 of the NPPF and the guidance within the NPPG. 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROVISION 
 
Paragraphs 173 of the NPPF explains that pursuing sustainable development requires careful 
attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision-taking.  It goes on to state that to ensure 
viability, "the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking 
account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land 
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable." 
 
The current position in the adopted Local Plan seeks a 40% affordable housing contribution and this 
is echoed in the consultation response from the Council Strategic Enabling Officer.   
 
The Applicant proposes 40% affordable housing and has an end user who has confirmed in writing as 
to their acceptance to provisionally take on the units. Consultation with the Council Strategic Liaison 
officer confirms that in terms of tenure the Applicant has also agreed to a policy compliant split of 75% 
Social Rented and 25% at an intermediate level.  

Page 176



 
The need for affordable housing in rural areas is paramount.  The emerging plan would seek a 30% 
contribution on this site however the Applicant is providing 40% and more importantly already has an 
end user signed up to an agreement to take the units on.  This provides a significant benefit to the 
scheme.   
 
A Section 106 agreement will include this split along with the requirement to ensure the rented units 
are provided at a Social Rent level rather than an 'Affordable' Rent level - the associated definitions 
being detailed in the NPPF. 
 
EDUCATION 
 
The NPPF section 8 states that the Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a 
sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities and 
that Local Planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement.  Local Plan Policy HSC22 states the need for new development to provide 
or maintain local services which includes education. 
 
Following consultation with DCC Education it was stated that the existing primary school within the 
area of development is at capacity and cannot support the pupils likely to be generated by this 
development. The strategy for the town is therefore for new primary provision to serve the housing 
growth. DCC Education will seek a contribution towards the 35.75 primary pupils likely to be 
generated by the development and these contributions would be used towards new primary provision 
within the town. As a new primary school will be required, Devon County Council will also need to 
request a primary land contribution towards procurement of the new school site.  
 
There is currently capacity at the local secondary school for the number of pupils likely to be 
generated by this development and therefore a contribution towards secondary education would not 
be sought however a contribution towards Early Years education is needed to ensure delivery of 
provision for 2, 3 and 4 year olds.  
 
The requirement for financial contributions towards early years education and a new primary school 
will be sought on a per family dwelling basis and secured via a Section 106 agreement. 
 
OTHER MATTERS  
 
A third part representation has been received stating that the development is not in accordance with 
the Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan. Whilst the Winkleigh Neighbourhood Area has been 
defined the Great Torrington Neighbourhood Plan has yet to be adopted nor has it gone through 
examination.  There can therefore be no material weight given to this representation.   
 
An air quality assessment has been undertaken by the Applicant.  The report concludes that any 
construction activities would create a minor to moderate adverse impact. The development is located 
to the north of Great Torrington and local air quality is deemed good.  The impact of the development 
in terms of operational impacts and new exposure is considered to be negligible.  It is considered that 
air quality does not present a constraint to the granting of planning permission for the development in 
its currently proposed form.   
 
On consultation with the Public Rights of Way Officer it was stated that; “after further investigation it 
would appear that the development will not directly affect the Footpath.” Footpath 5 currently 
terminates at the boundary with the development site. Should Planning Consent be granted, they 
would remind the Applicant that Planning Permission does not grant the right to close, alter or build 
over a Public Right of Way in anyway, even temporarily. An informative will be used to explain this to 
the Applicant as this is covered by separate legislation. 
 
CONCLUSION  
 

Page 177



Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The NPPF is an important additional material consideration and seeks to ensure development 
proposals are sustainable.  The NPPF explains how sustainable development has three dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  Taking the three dimensions of sustainable development in turn; 
there would be social benefits in the provision of 143 houses which will boost the supply of housing. 
The proposal would fulfil the economic role of sustainable development by the creation of new jobs 
generated during and after construction. There would also be further associated economic benefits in 
terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus from the new houses. With 
regards environmental considerations, the application site is predominantly brownfield and located 
within a short distance beyond the periphery of the Great Torrington development boundary.  All 
development will lead to an element of harm to the environment however due to its location this can 
be minimised with a suitable layout that includes ecological mitigation, landscape enhancement and 
drainage mitigation and enhancement as explained in this report.   
 
The need to "boost significantly the supply of housing" (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) is paramount, 
regardless whether a Council can or cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. One of the 
core planning principles of the NPPF is to "proactively drive and support sustainable economic 
development to deliver the homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local 
places."  The proposed development seeks to provide a significant contribution of 143 houses 
(including 40% affordable housing) towards local housing supply on a large brownfield site close to an 
Area Centre as well as 1040 square metres of commercial freehold B1, B2 and B8 floorspace.     
 
Paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the Government's view of what 
sustainable development in England means in practice for the planning system. Taking into 
consideration the lack of a 5 year supply, the weight that can be applied to the emerging Local Plan, 
the status of the current Local Plan, and in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the proposed 
development at the application site is considered acceptable.  The harm, as identified, fails to 
significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
Local Plan and the NPPF as a whole and having considered all the planning issues, on balance, a 
recommendation for approval is therefore made. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the Applicant entering into a legal agreement covering the following matters and 
conditions: 
 
Section 106 Legal Agreement: 
 

- 40% affordable housing contribution with a split of 75% Social Rented and 25% at an 
intermediate level 

- Early Years education is needed to ensure delivery of provision for 2, 3 and 4 year olds at a 
rate of £250.00 per family dwelling 

Page 178



- New primary school contribution of £4,005.00 per family dwelling 
- New primary school land contribution of £440.00 per family dwelling 
- Creation of a footway on School Lane to provide an acceptable walking route for pedestrians 

between the site and the town as well as maintaining a decent width of carriageway for the 
vehicle traffic that uses this road 

- Formal and Informal on site Open Space: Play Space consisting of LAPs (local area for play), 
LEAPs (local equipped area for play), NEAPs (neighbourhood equipped area for play) and a 
MUGA (multi use games area) 

 
 1         Approval of the details of; 
   
  a) layout, 
  b) scale, 
  c) appearance, 
  d) landscaping  
   
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
   
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
                       
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

                       
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 4         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway 
            
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
 5         Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and 
sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method 
of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 

detailed proposals. 
 
 6         The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with 

a phasing programme which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing. 

            
           Reason: To ensure the proper development of the site. 

Page 179



 
 7         No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: 
           A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level 

for the first 20 metres back from its junction with the public highway 
           B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this 

permission laid out 
           C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been 

constructed up to base course level 
           D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the Local 

Planning Authority 
            
           REASON: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 

site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining 
public highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents 

 
 8         The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place 

until the following works have been carried out to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority: 

           A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that 
phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base 
course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service 
crossings completed; 

           B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with 
direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been 
constructed up to and including base course level; 

           C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
           D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 

operational; 
           E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this 

permission has/have been completed; 
           F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling 

have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
           G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 

attracted to the site 
 
 9         No dwelling shall be occupied on the site until a footway has been constructed between the 

site and the existing footway provision on School Lane. 
            
           Reason: To ensure safe and suitable access is available for all people. 
 
10        Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
           (a) the timetable of the works; 
           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 

Page 180



confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
           (l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
           (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 

of any work; 
                       
           Reason: To provide safe traffic movements and protect all highway users 
 
11         The proposed development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations 

and mitigation methods outlined in the submitted Preliminary Ecology Appraisal prepared by 
North Devon Ecology in September / October 2017. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in a harmful impact on 

protected species. 
 
12         If unexpected contamination, which has not been previously identified, is found at any time 

when carrying out the approved development all work must be ceased and the part of the site 
affected by the unexpected contamination along with the nature of the contamination be 
immediately reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. In addition to any assessment 
already provided with the planning application, an investigation and risk assessment to assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site and relating to the affected area , 
whether or not it originates on the site, should be then be undertaken by competent persons, 
and then a written report submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

                       
                      The investigation and risk assessment must include: 
                       
                      (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
                       
                      (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
                       
                      - human health, 
                      - property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland 

and service lines and pipes, 
                      - adjoining land, 
                      - groundwaters and surface waters, 
                      - ecological systems, 
                      - archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 
                       
                      (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
                       
           This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
                       
           Review by the Local Planning Authority of the site investigation and risk assessment will 

confirm whether there is a need to undertake remediation measures. If required a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and to the natural and 
historical environment must be prepared by competent persons, and be approved in writing by 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme must then be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the re-commencement of any development on the site. 

                       

Page 181



           The remediation scheme must include: 
                       
                      -  all works to be undertaken 
                      -  proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria 
                      -  timetable of works and site management procedures. 
                       
           The scheme must ensure that following the remediation works the site will not qualify as 

contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report 
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Where an approved remediation scheme 
includes a requirement for a monitoring and maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over time, a report setting out monitoring and 
maintenance requirements must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when 
the remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of 
the monitoring and maintenance produced, submitted to and approved by  the Local Planning 
Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
13         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a foul and surface 

water management plan is submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  

                       
           Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is managed in accordance with 

the principles of sustainable drainage systems and suitable foul water discharge. 
 
14         No works or development shall take place above foundation level until full details (including 

species, type and size at time of planting) of all proposed tree planting and landscaping and 
the proposed times of planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those 
times specified.  If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that 
tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or 
becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
15         No works or development shall take place above foundation level until full details of all 

proposed boundary treatment have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

549/020 Location plan 21.11.2017 
        

Page 182



 

Informatives 

 
01. The Applicants attention is brought to the content of the Council Landscape Officer 

consultation response and in particular the request for an Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
(AIA) and an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) to be submitted as part of any Reserved 
Matters application. 

02. Please be aware that the Application may affect footpath 5 Great Torrington. We would remind 
the Applicant that Planning Permission does not grant the right to close, alter or build over a 
Public Right of Way in anyway, even temporarily. therefore the Applicant must ensure that the 
way remains open and available to the public at all times, including during the period of any 
construction activity such as with building materials or spoil and contractors’ vehicles and plant 
etc. Should it be necessary permanently divert the path to enable development to take place, 
this can be achieved by the Local Planning Authority through Section 257 of the Town and 
Country planning Act 1990. If a temporary diversion or closure is required during construction 
works then the Applicant may apply to DCC for a temporary traffic order. 

 

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) require Local Planning authorities 
to work positively and proactively with Applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the Applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
 
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the Applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
 
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 183



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0702/2017/OUT 

Registration date: 17 July 2017 

Expiry date:  11 September 2017 

Applicant:  Beechcroft Land Limited  

Agent:  RPS 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Land At Caddywell Lane,  
Torrington,  
Devon, 
 
 
 

Proposal:  Outline application (with all matters reserved) for 
car park and associated access, landscaping and 
ancillary infrastructure (affecting a public right of 
way) 

Recommendation: Grant  

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 184

Agenda Item 11g



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 

The application has been called-in by Cllr Margaret Brown for the following reason: 
 
‘for committee to consider whether this proposal alleviates the problems associated with 
parking provision for the school with regard to the distance from it’. 
 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
       

1/0781/2015/OUTM Outline application for 
residential development of up 
to 60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

PER 06.12.2016 

   

1/1019/2015/SCRHI
D 

Outline application for 
residential development of up 
to 60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

SCRP 14.10.2015 

   

1/0246/2017/OUTM Outline application for 
residential development of up 
to 181 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way, 
Burwood Lane and 
Caddywell Lane (affecting a 
public right of way) 

PCO  

     

1/0781/2015/OUTM Outline application for up to 
60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

AGREED  

 

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
The Site 
 
The site currently comprises agricultural land to the south of Caddywell Lane on the south eastern 
side of Great Torrington. The site is approximately 600 metres from the centre of the town. 
 
The site is bounded by Tyler's Meadow to the north west, Caddywell Lane to the north and farm land 
to the south and east. The adjacent land is part of a wider site subject to current outline planning 
application 1/0246/2017/OUTM, which proposes the development of up to 181 dwellings.  
 
The site falls outside of, but adjacent to, the built-up area of Great Torrington so is technically 
considered to be in the open countryside. The site is not subject to any protected landscape 
designation and there are no heritage assets on or close to the site. The site is within Flood Zone 1.  
 
The Proposal 
 

Page 185



The application seeks planning permission for a 50 space car park with associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary infrastructure. The application is made in outline with all matters reserved 
however it is supported by the following documents and indicative plan: 
 

- Proposed car park layout (indicative) - drawing number AP01A;  
- Transport Statement;  
- Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Ecological Assessment; and  
- Landscape and Visual Impact Statement.   

 
The application submission suggests that the car park would be constructed in permeable gravel with 
an adoptable estate road leading from Caddywell Lane. An existing section of Caddywell Lane to the 
north of the site will be improved/widened with footways introduced. The widened highway and new 
access road will be drained by conventional gullets, and the gravel car park by infiltration.  
 
The car park would be located approximately 150 metres from the school entrance to the south. It 
would be accessed via two separate points off the proposed access road.  
 
The Applicant advises that the proposed car park would provide off-street parking to alleviate existing 
issues at drop off/pick up times at the neighbouring Bluecoat Great Torrington Church of England 
Primary School. Clarification is provided that during the consultation on outline planning application 
1/0246/2017/OUTM (which proposes the development of up to 181 dwellings), the Local Highway 
Authority identified safety concerns along Caddywell Lane at the primary school at drop-off and pick-
up times. As the proposed residential development's spine road will be connecting with Caddywell 
Lane, the Local Highway Authority has indicated that this existing problem would need to be resolved 
before the connection can be made due to these existing concerns. Through discussions with the 
Local Highway Authority, it has been agreed that a car new car park in a location close to the school 
old be an appropriate way to resolve the issue.  
 
The application should be considered by the Plans Committee on its own merits, however it is linked 
to the residential development proposal on the adjacent land to the south and east. It therefore needs 
to be considered alongside this application and should Members resolve to approve both 
developments, the phasing of delivery of the car park would be secured via a legal agreement 
associated with the housing development. .  
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Great Torrington Town Council:  
Response - Members recommend refusal of this application. There does not appear to be any 
justifiable reason to construct a car park in that position on a green field site. Any suggestion that the 
parking will reduce the parking problems associated with the nearby schools is not proven. 
The development of this elevated field will have a significant adverse impact upon the landscape 
setting of Great Torrington. The site is not within any development boundary that is or is proposed by 
the district council. 
 
Planning Policy:  
No response received.  
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, please find my comments set out below. 
 
A Landscape and Visual Statement has been submitted with this proposal. The statement is written 
along the lines of a full LVIA and although not as detailed it does cover all aspects you would expect 
in a full LVIA, but without mapping/plans and photo view points. 
 
The landscape statement concludes that: 
 

Page 186



'The proposed development would be seen in the context of existing development and would be 
barely discernible in any views due to the development being at ground level and appearing well 
below the backdrop of the existing settlement. Where visible, the proposed development would not be 
out of character with the existing views, many of which are occupied by the settlement of Great 
Torrington on the south facing slope'. 
 
And; 
 
'The proposed development would comply with relevant planning policy including ENV6 that relates to 
the SLA designation'. 
 
Paragraph 5.3 of the conclusion that talks about the SLA designation is confusing, presuming SLA 
means; Special landscape Area, Torridge District Council (TDC) has no such designations and the 
site is not within an Area of Great landscape Value (AGLV), which is a TDC designation? 
 
Not withstanding this, the conclusions within the landscape statement are a reasonable 
representation of the impact of the proposed car park.  
 
However, the impact potential is slightly more than concluded; when assessing the visual impact on 
users of the local PROWs the report fails to acknowledge that Torrington footpath No. 17 actually 
passes along the lane adjacent to the northern boundary, so walkers using this access route to the 
Torrington Commons will have a clearer view of the car park. The plans submitted are not up to date 
as the full Taylors Meadow development to the north of the site is not shown or not fully shown on the 
submitted plans. This small development will be the closest and most impacted residential area 
adjacent to the site. 
 
As this is a car park it will be mostly at ground level (field level) and only take up a small corner of this 
field closest to the built environment, hence the minimal visual and landscape impact. The car park 
will require lighting and this will be more visually intrusive and have a greater impact on the landscape 
and visual character. This area will be influenced by the light pollution from Greater Torrington, but it 
will be important that the lighting design of the car park keeps the light spillage into the surrounding 
country side to a minimum, so as not to impact on the darker night skies of the Torridge Valley.  
 
In conclusion I have no objection to this car park, but it will be important that the boundary features 
are retained and enhanced with good landscaping, and that the lighting design minimises night time 
light spillage into the surrounding open countryside. 
  
 
DCC Rights Of Way:  
Please be aware that the application may affect Footpath 17 Great Torrington. 
 
After further investigation it would appear that the development will not directly affect the Footpath. 
However, we note that the access route to the proposed development also forms a section of the 
Right of Way (see attached map). 
 
Therefore, we would remind the Applicant that Planning Permission does not grant the right to close, 
alter or build over a Public Right of Way in anyway, even temporarily. Therefore the applicant must 
ensure that the way remains open and available to the public at all times, including during the period 
of any construction activity such as with building materials or spoil and contractors' vehicles and plant 
etc. Should it be necessary to temporarily divert or close the path during construction works the 
applicant may apply to DCC for a temporary traffic order. 
  
Environmental Protection:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections.  
 
Natural England:  
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated and received by Natural England on 24 July 
2017. 

Page 187



 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) Natural England's comments in relation to this application are 
provided in the following sections. 
 
Statutory nature conservation sites - no objection 
Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the proposal is 
unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites or landscapes. 
 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species. 
 
Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species. 
 
You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material consideration in the 
determination of applications in the same way as any individual response received from Natural 
England following consultation. 
 
The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any assurance in 
respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is unlikely to affect the 
EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached 
any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the developer's responsibility) or may be 
granted. 
 
Local sites 
If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally Important 
Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) the authority should ensure 
it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the proposal on the local site before it 
determines the application. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
The proposed development is within an area that Natural England considers could benefit from 
enhanced green infrastructure (GI) provision. Multi-functional green infrastructure can perform a 
range of functions including improved flood risk management, provision of accessible green space, 
climate change adaptation and biodiversity enhancement. Natural England would encourage the 
incorporation of GI into this development. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on "Development in or likely to affect a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest" (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help local planning 
authorities decide when to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI. The 
dataset and user guidance can be accessed from the data.gov.uk website. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Observations: 
The proposal is primarily needed to mitigate the impact of the on street parking at the start and end of 
the school day in order to allow safe and suitable access for the residential proposal on surrounding 
land in a separate planning application. 
 
This application considered on its own merits, and in conjunction with the residential proposal, is 
acceptable. 
 

Page 188



The car park will provide an area that will allow safe and legal parking for cars that are currently 
attracted to the school site. There is not likely to be an increase in traffic as a result of this proposal, 
as pupils are already picked up by car and this proposal provides a facility for those already accessing 
the school by car. 
 
The car park is not directly next to the school, but is within easy walking distance. This will be made 
safe by the provision of a footway between the proposed car park and the school. 
 
There is a question surrounding how the car park is managed and who owns it, while the applicant 
should be asked to clarify this, I do not consider this a material planning consideration as the 
ownership may change many times over the lifetime of any planning permission. 
 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
 
1. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays with 
consideration of the traffic congestion associated with the start and end of the school 
day; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 
frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, 
packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building materials, 
finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with confirmation that no 
construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway 
for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
ü) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit construction 
staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations  
(I) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety. 
This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning Authority 
is satisfied of the proposed construction works prior to works commencing on site. Failure to provide 
this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to a detrimental impact on highway 
safety. 
 
2. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access in 
accordance with the approved plans where the visibility splays provide indivisibility between any 
points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent carriageway level and the 
distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 
2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway 
(identified as Y) shall be at least 43 metres in both directions. 
 
Reason: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 

Page 189



3. The site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a distance of not less than 10 metres back from its 
junction with the public highway  
 
Reason: To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway 
 
4. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on to 
any County Highway 
 
Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
5. Prior to the site coming into its intended use a minimum 2.0m wide footway shall be constructed 
along Caddywell Lane joining into the site in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
Reason: To provide safe and suitable access for pedestrians using the site. 
  
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Further to our brief discussions regarding the above, Police have no objections in principle to this 
outline application, however there are a number of concerns from a crime and disorder, antisocial 
behaviour and community conflict perspective that require attention. 
 
I note and welcome the primary intention for the carpark is for it to be used by parents dropping and 
collecting pupils from the nearby primary school, helping to relieve congestion from the surrounding 
streets. 
 
However, this will be a remote/isolated carpark with little or no surveillance opportunities from 
neighbouring properties or passers-by. Experience shows, that without careful management, such 
spaces can become unofficial play parks and targets for crime, vandalism and anti-social behaviour 
and gatherings, resulting in the intended users refusing to use the carpark, leading to continued 
parking on streets, footpaths and verge's. 
 
Therefore, consideration should be given to ongoing management, hours of operation, gating/barriers, 
traffic calming, pedestrian access and lighting. Will the car park be used to serve any future 
community facilities of linked/associated applications? 
  

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  20  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  27 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  26  

 
Representations 
The application has received 26 letters of objection from third parties. No letters of support have been 
received. The concerns raised by objectors are set out below: 
 

 The proposal would destroy archaeological heritage; 

 There would be a loss of hedgerows and ancient banks along the land leading to Tyler's 
Meadow, with a consequent loss of wildlife;  

 There would be an increase in pollution due to the increase in traffic; 

 The car park could lead to anti-social behaviour in the evenings; 

 Providing car parking will encourage additional car usage; 

 The site is some distance from the school and will not decrease the number of cars that park 
on the main road - there will still be congestion; 

 The distance from the school would create a risk to pupil safety;  

 There would be an adverse impact on the amenities of the residents of Tyler's Meadow; 

  The car park would harm the Torridge Valley Dark Sky Area due to increased light pollution;  

 The Great Torrington School car park is closer and parents don't use it;   

Page 190



 50 spaces is not enough; 

 The site is not designated for development;  

 The car park wouldn't be used solely for the purpose proposed by the developer, however it 
would generate huge traffic flows down Caddywell Lane; 

 Who would be responsible for managing it;  

 The development would result in the loss of good agricultural land;  

 The site is in an elevated position and it's development for a car park would have a harmful 
impact; 

 The sole purpose of the development is to facilitate the adjacent residential development; 

 There would be an increase in surface water run-off;  

 The transport survey is inaccurate;  

 There is no mention of a change in the speed limit, as it stand the car park would be in a 
60mph zone; 

 The proposed soakaway waters from the proposed development will significantly affect the 
Great Torrington Commons; and  

 The alteration to the ancient Caddywell Lane to Tyler's Meadow is completely unnecessary. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT1 (Development in Strategic Centres); DVT11 (Impact of Development on Amenity); DVT18 
(Impact of Development on Traffic); DVT19 (Access and Parking); DVT2C (Development In The Open 
Countryside); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT8 (Landscaping); HSC22 (Community service 
Development and Local Services); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); ENV5 (Countryside Protection and 
Landscape Con); ENV10 (Mitigation and Enhancement);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
CROW (Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000); JLCA (Joint Landscape Character Assesment 
2000); LST (Landscape Sensitivity for Torridge 2011); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance);  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  
 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 

Page 191



weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations of relevance to this proposal are: 
 

1. The Principle of Development; 
2. Transport and access; 
3. Landscape and visual impact; 
4. Amenity;  
5. Drainage; and 
6. Ecology. 

 
1. The Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located outside of the development boundary for Great Torrington, as identified 
in both the adopted and emerging Local Plans. It is therefore considered to be in the open countryside 
where Policy DVT2c of the Torridge District Local Plan (TDLP) applies. This policy states: 
 

‘(1) In the countryside away from the villages development should not detract from the 
character and appearance of the area. 
(2) Subject to the above general consideration, the following types of development will be 
allowed: 
(a) the conversion of a previously used building or a redundant agricultural building for 
employment reuse; 
(b) agricultural, countryside recreational, and /or identified types of tourist development 
and /or other development that is related to appropriate farm diversification; 
(c) the alteration, improvement, redevelopment and /or minor extension of a building for 
purposes directly related to its established use; 
(d) the provision of small scale rural business developments and other local services and 
/or utilities for which there is a proven need.’  

 
Emerging Plan Policy ST07: Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area states 
that: 
 
"In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be 
limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and 
development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location." 
 
The proposed car park would be provided to serve the nearby primary school at drop-off and pick-up 
times and can therefore be considered to fall under a community use. TDLP Policy HSC22: 
Community Service Development and Local Services allows improvements to community facilities on 
land within or adjacent to settlements, provided the site is located within the best available place with 
regard to the community to be served and the scheme would not be unreasonably detrimental to the 
amenity of neighbouring residents. Emerging Plan Policy ST22: Community Services and Facilities, 
also allows new community facilities that meet the needs of local communities within or adjoining 
defined settlements.   
 
During the consultation on outline planning application 1/0246/2017/OUTM (which proposes the 
development of up to 181 dwellings on adjacent land), the Local Highway Authority identified safety 
concerns along Caddywell Lane at the primary school at drop-off and pick-up times. As the proposed 
residential development's spine road will be connecting with Caddywell Lane, the Local Highway 
Authority has indicated that this existing problem would need to be resolved before the connection 
can be made due to these existing concerns. Through discussions with the Local Highway Authority, 
the Applicant agreed that a car new car park with 50 spaces in a location close to the school would be 
an appropriate way to resolve the issue. The Applicant has advised that, when looking at the area 

Page 192



around Bluecoat Primary School, the school site itself is fully utilised. The nearest location to the 
school that would support a 50-space car park is the application site.  
 
As such, the proposal would therefore comply with the policies relating to community development as 
it would meet an existing, identified community need to improve access to the school. This would be 
achieved by improving the current situation in relation to parking at peak times, and also improving 
the environment for local residents living close to the school at those times. 
 
Given the support of the Local Highway Authority, it is clear that there is a need for the facility, given 
the highway concerns regarding the existing situation at Bluecoat Primary School. The school is also 
likely to receive more pupils through proposed expansions, and without an appropriate solution, this 
may exacerbate the problem. The application site provides an opportunity to address this issue.  
 
In principle, the proposal is therefore acceptable in terms of location and need for the community 
development in accordance with Policies HSC22 and ST22.   
 
2. Transport and Access 

 
TDLP Policies DVT18: Impact of development on traffic and DVT19: Access and Parking. Alongwith 
Emerging Plan Policy DM05: Highways (which can be afforded significant weight) require that all 
development must take account of its impact on highway safety and provide appropriate access, 
servicing and a suitable amount of parking. Emerging Plan Policy DM06: Parking Provision can be 
afforded significant weight and requires that developments provide an appropriate scale and range of 
parking provision.  
 
The submitted Transport Statement concludes that ‘the car park proposals would help to remove 
existing on-street parking demand at peak periods and provide a convenient off-road parking facility. 
This would benefit local traffic and safety conditions for all users. The highway officer’s concerns in 
regards to the provision of appropriate pedestrian facilities have been addressed with a 2m wide 
footway on the western side of Caddywell Lane. The provision of dropped kerbs and tactile paving in 
the vicinity of the Caddywell Lane/Borough Road junction would benefit all local pedestrians as well 
as users of the car park.’ 
 
The Local Highway Authority is supportive of the proposal and raises no objection confirming that the 
car park is primarily needed to mitigate the impact of the on street parking at the start and end of the 
school day in order to allow safe and suitable access for the residential proposal on the adjacent site. 
Importantly, the Highway Officer has confirmed that the car park is acceptable both when the 
application is considered on its own merits, and in conjunction with the residential proposal being 
considered under application 1/0246/2017/OUTM.  
 
The Highway Officer has confirmed that the car park will provide an area that will allow safe and legal 
parking for cars that are currently attracted to the school site and that there is not likely to be an 
increase in traffic as a result, as pupils are already picked up by car and this proposal provides a 
facility for those already accessing the school by car. 
 
Objectors have suggested that the car park is too far from the school, however whilst the Highway 
Officer acknowledges that it is not directly next to it, it is within easy walking distance. Further 
objections raise concern over the safety of pupils. The proposed provision of a footway between the 
car park and the school will ensure that pupils can safely walk between the two.  
 
The PROW Officer acknowledges there will be no impact on the nearby public footpath.  
 
The development is therefore considered to comply with policies DVT18 and DVT19 of the TDLP, 
emerging Policy DM05 and paragraphs 32 and 34 of the NPPF.  

 
3. Landscape and Visual Impact 
 

Page 193



Policies DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness) and DVT7 (Design Considerations) of the TDLP require new 
development to be well integrated with existing development upon a site, be of an appropriate height, 
scale, design and appearance, of compatible materials, and have an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area.  Policy ENV5: Countryside Protection and 
Landscape Conservation that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural and 
historic character of the landscape qualities. Policy DVT8: Landscaping says that a landscaping 
scheme will be required wherever the provision of landscaping would enhance the development in the 
interest of public amenity.  
 
Emerging Plan Policies ST04: Improving the Quality of Development and Policy DM04: Design 
Principles of the emerging Plan can be given moderate weight. They are similar to TDLP Policies 
DVT6 and DVT7 and require that development will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable 
design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. Development must be appropriate and 
sympathetic to setting in terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, 
materials and relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood, reinforcing 
the key characteristics and special qualities of the area,  are accessible to all, flexible to adaptation 
and innovative; contribute positively to local distinctiveness, historic environment and sense of place; 
are accessible to all, flexible to adaptation and innovative. Emerging Plan Policy DM08A: Landscape 
and Seascape, which can be afforded moderate weight, states that development should be of an 
appropriate scale, mass and design that recognises and respects landscape character of both 
designated and undesignated landscapes and seascapes. 
 
Concerns have been raised in letters of objection that the car park would have a harmful impact on 
the landscape and the Torridge Valley Dark Sky.  
 
The submitted LVIA concludes that ‘the proposed development would be seen in the context of 
existing development and would be barely discernible in any views due to the development being at 
ground level and appearing well below the backdrop of the existing settlement. Where visible, the 
proposed development would not be out of character with the existing views, many of which are 
occupied by the settlement of Great Torrington on the south facing slope. The landscape mitigation 
proposed as part of the development would create a distinction between the settlement of Great 
Torrington and the wider landscape. This would prevent the proposed development from adversely 
impacting upon the landscape. Where views of the proposed development are available, such as at 
locations within Great Torrington Common, mitigation planting would help to screen the development 
and allow it to assimilate into the view (to which the existing settlement forms the backdrop).’ 
 
The Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer has raised no objection to the car park, but raises that it 
will be important that the boundary features are retained and enhanced with good landscaping, and 
that the lighting design minimises night time light spillage into the surrounding open countryside. 
Conditions are recommended to deal with these matters.  
 
Notwithstanding the concerns raised in letters of objection, the proposal is considered to be in 
accordance with Policies DVT6 & 7, ENV5 & DVT8 of the TDLP and Policy ST04, ST13, SM04 & 
DM08A of the emerging Plan.  
 
4. Amenity 

 
TDLP Policy DVT11 requires that the proposal will not result in a significant loss of amenity for the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties, future occupiers and that adequate amenity space will be 
retained within the curtilage. Significant weight is afforded to emerging Plan Policy DM01 (Amenity 
considerations) which requires that development will be supported where it would not significantly 
harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and the intended occupants of the 
proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses. 
 
The site is adjoined by residential properties on its north western side and a number of objections 
have been received from neighbours regarding the loss of their privacy and amenity/antisocial 
behaviour.  
 

Page 194



The Environmental Protection Officer has been consulted and is raising no objections. 
 
It is considered that the proposed use of the car park for school related purposes would be such that 
while there may be a perceived loss of privacy this would not be harmful and would not be a valid 
reason for refusal. It would be for the school to put into place appropriate management to ensure 
there wouldn’t be anti-social behaviour. The proximity of existing dwellings which overlook the site is 
likely to provide some benefits with regards to self policing.   
 
The Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) has no objections in principle and offered suggested 
measures that could be introduced at the detailed design stage.  
 
It is considered that the distance between the proposed car park and existing residential properties is 
such that there would be no harm in terms of noise and disturbance. The existing hedge boundary is 
to be retained and additional landscaping will be secured at Reserved Matters stage. 
  
It is considered that subject to suitable lighting, there would be no adverse impact on residential 
amenity and therefore the proposal would comply with Policy DVT11 of the TDLP and Policy DM01 of 
the emerging Plan. 
 
5. Drainage 
 
Policy DVT24 states that development will be permissible in unsewered areas where it is to be 
provided with adequate means of foul and surface water drainage and where there will be no 
unacceptable risk of off-site flooding or increased flood. Emerging Plan Policy ST03: Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience, which can be afforded significant weight, requires that 
development takes account of climate change to minimise flood risk. 
 
Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider development 
appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment 
following the Sequential Test, and if required the Exception Test, it can be demonstrated that within 
the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk unless there are 
overriding reasons to prefer a different location; and development is appropriately flood resilient and 
resistant, including safe access and escape routes where required, and that any residual risk can be 
safely managed, including by emergency planning; and it gives priority to the use of sustainable 
drainage systems. 
 
The application is in outline so there are no details for approval at this stage. The indicative design as 
described in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy confirms the potential for a 
strategy which exploits the virtues of the permeable ground to deliver a sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
solution appropriate for the site characteristics, mimics the natural processes and runoff, and reduces 
the rate of runoff below the natural rates. It demonstrates that the site is not subject to any localised 
flooding, and that it has good infiltration characteristics (according to soakaway tests).  
 
The proposal therefore complies with the NPPF and, subject to a condition requiring the submission 
of further details, can meet the highest target in the SUDS hierarchy by using infiltration where 
possible and deliver betterment. On this basis, the application is considered compliant with adopted 
policy DVT24, Emerging Plan Policy ST03 and paragraph 103 of the NPPF. 
 
6. Ecology 
 
Sections 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended) and 74 of the 
Country and Rights of Way Act 2000 (as amended) require relevant bodies to have regard to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity. 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 

Page 195



Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the TDLP through Policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require development to 
maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential loss of habitats. 
This is re-enforced in the emerging Policies ST14: Enhancing Environmental Assets & DM08: 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity which can be afforded moderate weight. 

 
Paragraphs 109 and 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework relate to conserving, contributing 
and enhancing the natural environment.  
 
The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal. This document confirms that protected 
species surveys have been undertaken for the site, and a low or no evidence was found for bats, 
badgers, birds or reptiles. Some hedging will be lost and this can be replaced in appropriate locations. 
In terms of specific mitigation, it was found that sympathetic lighting regime should be used (details of 
which will be controlled via condition), and a bat box should be installed on neighbouring trees. 
Specific species of landscape planting would enhance habitats, and measures can be taken with 
respect to construction activities to avoid creating habitats for protected species.   
 
In conclusion, through the implementation of the safeguards and recommendations set out within the 
Ecological Appraisal (which should be secured via condition), it is considered that the proposals 
accord with planning policy with regard to nature conservation at all administrative levels. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
No technical constraints have been identified which would prevent the development from coming 
forward or give rise to unacceptable impacts. The development is needed to meet the needs of the 
nearby primary school and so, even though the site is outside of the development boundary, the 
principle is acceptable. The proposal is acceptable both on its own merits and when considered in 
conjunction with the adjacent residential proposal. It is therefore considered that subject to the 
compliance with the attached conditions and taking into account all other material planning 
considerations, including the development plan the proposal would be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
Subject to the applicant entering into a legal agreement covering the following matters: 
 
 
 1         Approval of the details of (delete matters approved at this stage) 
  
 a) layout, 
 b) scale, 
 c) appearance, 
 d) access, 
 e) landscaping  
  
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
            

Page 196



           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

            
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. For the avoidance of doubt, drawing reference AP07 is for 
indicative purposes.  

            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 4         Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
           (a) the timetable of the works; 
           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays with 
consideration of the traffic congestion associated with the start and end of the school 

           day; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays 
and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway 

           for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
           ü) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations  
           (I) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
            
           Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed construction works prior to works commencing on site. 
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to a 
detrimental impact on highway safety. 

 
 5         Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access 

in accordance with the approved plans where the visibility splays provide intervisibility 
between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public 
highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge 
of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be at least 43 metres in both 
directions. 

            
           Reason: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 

Page 197



 6         The site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a distance of not less than 10 metres back from 
its junction with the public highway  

            
Reason: To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway 

 
 7         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
            

Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
 8         Prior to the site coming into its intended use a minimum 2.0m wide footway shall be 

constructed along Caddywell Lane joining into the site in accordance with the approved plans. 
            

Reason: To provide safe and suitable access for pedestrians using the site. 
 
 9         Prior to their installation, full details (including the specification and location) of any proposed 

external lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented prior to the development hereby permitted being 
brought into its intended use and shall thereafter be retained as such.   

            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and for security purposes.   
 
10         Other than to facilitate vehicular access, the hedgebank on the north western boundary 

fronting the highway shall be retained in perpetuity.   
            
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.   
 
11         The mitigation measures recommended in the Summary and Conclusions Section of the 

Ecological Assessment prepared by Ecological Solutions Ltd and dated July 2017 shall be 
implemented during the construction period and the recommended retained provision for bats, 
dormice and birds shall be provided prior to the car park coming into its intended use and 
retained thereafter. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of the protection of protected species. 
 
12         Prior to the commencement of works hereby granted planning permission, a detailed surface 

water drainage design for the proposed development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The drainage scheme shall be designed with 
reference to the conclusions and recommendations set out in section 8 of the Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy dated 14 July 2017 and undertaken by Clive Onions 
Consulting Engineer. The proposed development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with such approved details which shall be retained thereafter. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in increased flood risk to 

the proposed and neighbouring properties.  
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

            
13         No works or development shall take place until full details (including species, type and size at 

time of planting) of all proposed tree planting and landscaping and the proposed times of 
planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details 
shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those times specified.  If 
within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree 
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that originally planted 

Page 198



shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed tree and landscaping works prior to works commencing 
on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the 
loss of existing trees and/or hedges which are of amenity value.   

 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

AP01 A  17.07.2017 
   

AP07  17.07.2017 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 
dealing with this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and 
proactive manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as 
submitted is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has 
demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to 
the planning application. 
 

Page 199



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0246/2017/OUTM 

Registration date: 3 April 2017 

Expiry date:  3 July 2017 

Applicant:  Beechcroft Land Limited  

Agent:  Mr Nayan Gandhi 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Land At Burwood Lane,  
Torrington,  
Devon, 

Proposal:  Outline application for residential development of 
up to 181 dwellings and ancillary development, 
with vehicular access off Hoopers Way, Burwood 
Lane and Caddywell Lane (affecting a public 
right of way) 

Recommendation: Grant subject to a legal agreement 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 11h



 
Reason for referral: 

 

The application has been called-in by Cllr Margaret Brown to consider the following: 
 
‘DVT11 impact on amenity, DVT18 impact of development on traffic, DVT19 access and 
parking, DVT24 sewerage and drainage’. 
 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
         

1/0781/2015/OUTM Outline application for 
residential development of up 
to 60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

PER 06.12.2016 

   

1/1019/2015/SCRHI
D 

Outline application for 
residential development of up 
to 60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

SCRP 14.10.2015 

     

1/0702/2017/OUT Outline application (with all 
matters reserved) for car park 
and associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary 
infrastructure (affecting a 
public right of way) 

PDE  

   

1/0781/2015/OUTM Outline application for up to 
60 dwellings and ancillary 
development, with vehicular 
access off Hoopers Way 

AGREED  

     

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
 
The application site is located on the southern edge of Great Torrington and comprises three existing 
agricultural fields located on the south side of town abutting the existing settlement boundary. The 
boundaries are generally well defined, with the eastern field bounded primarily by Burwood Lane, the 
central field bounded by roads to the north, east and west and the western field bounded by 
Caddywell Lane and an existing lane to the west. Existing hedgerows feature in the boundaries of the 
site, and a significant cluster of existing development including The Granary, Burwood Cottage and 
Burwood Mews lie to the southwest of the eastern field. 
 
The land currently comprises vacant agricultural land with no significant internal features. The site 
slopes generally from north to south levelling out to the west. In addition to the boundary hedgerows 
there are some individual trees within them. 
 
Proposed Development: 
 
The application is made in outline with just access for determination and proposes the erection of up 
to 181 dwellings and ancillary development with vehicular access off Hoopers Way, Burwood Lane 
and Caddywell Lane. An indicative site plan has been submitted for consideration at this stage 

Page 201



identifying a possible layout of the proposed residential dwellings and includes areas of public open 
space with equipped play areas and drainage provisions.  
 
There will be two primary access points to the proposed development: 
 

 A new 5.5 m access spur, with 1.8m footways either side is proposed off Hoopers Way from 
the north between numbers 20 and 22; and 

 A new 5.5 m access spur, with 1.8m footways either side is proposed off Caddywell Lane. 
 
The access point at Hoopers Way would extend an existing access spur that was created when the 
residential development to the north of the application site was originally constructed. This access 
arrangement is as was approved as part of the outline planning permission 1/0781/2015/OUTM. 
Access through the site would be primarily taken via a “spine” road, leading from Hoopers Way to 
Caddywell Lane, and crossing over both Burwood Lane and Caddywell Lane. In addition to these 
main access arrangements, a revised access to Tylers Meadow is included as part of the proposals. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Great Torrington Town Council:  
Great Torrington Town Council therefore OBJECTS to this planning application and sets out the 
following statement. The Planning Committee of the Town Council recommends that an application of 
this size with the potential to affect the community in so many ways justifies a site meeting by 
Torridge Planning Committee. To fully appreciate the highway issues such a site meeting should 
encompass school start and/or finish times. 
 
Members have decided they wish to object to the application for the following reasons; 
1. They are not satisfied that the requirements of Devon County Highways department have been met 
in full. The failure of this will result in considerable exacerbation of the already chaotic highways 
issues associated with the schools, at certain times of the day. 
2. Members are concerned that the rural setting of Great Torrington will result in many more vehicle 
movements than is being suggested. These movements will take place over roads that are not 
suitable for additional traffic. 
3. Part of the proposals will result in existing properties being overlooked. This is 
considered unacceptable. 
4. Members are not satisfied yet that measures to ameliorate the inevitable discharge of raw sewage 
into the river Torridge from overloaded sewers have been agreed. Thus the potential for considerable 
harm still remains. 
5. Members are very concerned that such a development may lead to off-site flooding issues with 
possible contamination of potable ground water supplies. 
6. To consider this application in isolation does a disservice to the remainder of the community. A 
harmonious sustainable community requires a supporting infrastructure. This includes amongst other 
things, roads, banks, doctors, shops, and employment and public transport. The last bank and A TM 
are to close this month, the GP practice like all others appears to be under strain, our shops do not 
cater for all the needs of the community and there is minimal if any additional employment. Public 
transport timings do not provide a service for those going to work at the nearby towns. The lack of 
employment opportunities within a reasonable distance will lead to increased car journeys with the 
resulting adverse effect on the community from pollution. This and the other infrastructure items make 
the application non sustainable and should be rejected  
7. The development of Western field will have a significant adverse impact upon the landscape setting 
of Great Torrington. This field therefore should be excluded from the application. 
8. The application does not appear to provide for all of the concerns of the County Archaeologist and 
should therefore be rejected on this item alone until the Archaeologist is satisfied. 
Members recommend that the application should be refused but recognise that the decision is one to 
be made by the district council. Thus if the district planning committee is minded to approve the 
application the Town Council wishes for the following items to be taken into account: 
1. Hours and days of operation during the construction period. 
2. Dust suppression, wheel washing, noise generation etc. 

Page 202



3. Welfare provision during construction to exclude the need to park vehicles on existing highways. 
4. Highway matters including increased parking provision associated with the junior 
schools. All matters that the Devon Highway department requires. 
5. A requirement that no properties are occupied until the sewerage system has been upgraded to the 
satisfaction of South West Water. 
6. The County Council is to be satisfied that adequate measures are in place to prevent flooding and 
contamination of ground water. 
7. Revision of the design to remove aspects of overlooking. 
8. Provision of finance to contribute to an improved bus service including a Sunday 
service 
9. A commitment to include all of the requirements of the Police in regard to designing out 
opportunities for crime. 
10. The requirements of the Archaeologist to be incorporated in any approval 
11. A financial contribution to the provision of a school crossing patrol 
12. At least one third quota of the total build be allocated to "Affordable Homes" 
13. A 20 mph speed limit with traffic calming designed and consideration that Burwood Lane could be 
one way to traffic. 
14. An impact assessment undertaken by Devon County Council of the additional traffic flow through 
New Street/lCalf Street as a result of this build. 
15. Consideration of option to have a traffic crossing at Morton Drive. 
16. Consideration that Great Torrington is currently a "Dark Sky Area" and appropriate action is 
considered to ensure this is not impinged in any way. 
17. Considerations in relation to the North Devon Biosphere. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
First Response 
Observations: 
I have considered this application as being for 181 dwellings without the car park and play facilities 
that are mentioned in accompanying reports. Land for the car park and play space indicated on the 
phase three proposed site layout has not been included in the red line of the application. 
 
Paragraph 5.1.1 of the Transport Assessment (TA) acknowledges that the car park and play area do 
not form a part of this application, and claims this is included in a separate application. I am not aware 
of any such application for a car park on this land. 
Section 2.7 of the submitted TA relates to car parking and finds that there are around 50 vehicles 
parked on roads near to the school associated with dropping off and picking up pupils. My own 
experience of the site at the start and end of the school day confirms that there is significant on street 
parking, some legal and some on double yellow lines on all of the roads near to the school. There are 
children and parents walking between the school and cars as well as to their homes. 
 
The latest school travel plans indicates that 24.8% of pupils are driven to school. The school's 2015 
Ofsted report states that there were 501 pupils on the role, therefore it can be expected that the 
parking requirement is for 124 parking spaces, not 50 as stated in the T A. Paragraph 6.3.5 of the TA 
acknowledges the need for the new car park (of 50 spaces) to alleviate the on street parking problems 
to allow the use of an altered Caddywell Lane as access to the proposed development. 
 
It is my view that although there is a demonstrable parking demand for 125 spaces, provision of a 50 
space car park would remove a large proportion of vehicles from the street to allow vehicles from the 
proposed development to safely and suitable access the site. This would allow for the removal of the 
vehicles parked in the worst, least safe and illegal positions on the roads surrounding the school. 
 
Having considered the traffic counts, proposed vehicle generation and junction capacity analysis, it is 
my view that the traffic likely to be generated by the proposal can be accommodated on the local road 
network (other than Burwood Lane to the east - see comments further below) but only if the school 
parking issues are resolved through the provision of the 50 space car park. 
 
I consider the existing pedestrian facilities to be acceptable, however, the proposed footways are not. 
Considering the new car park that does not form part of the application, but is required, footways are 

Page 203



required on both sides of Caddywell Lane between the school and the car park and onto the bulk of 
the residential development. It is my view that there is adequate highway land to achieve a good 
standard of footway and road width, along with crossing points passing 'The Tannery' and around the 
realigned Caddywell Lane. As 'access' is for consideration and determination now, not as a reserved 
matter, a detailed plan of the 
proposed road and footway on Caddywell Lane, through the site and onto Hoopers Way and 
interaction with Burwood Lane is required. Swept path analysis of alterations and new roads are also 
required to prove that the proposals are safe and suitable for all people. 
 
The proposed build outs on Caddywell Lane are not considered a good idea. These present more 
problems than they solve, introducing an additional feature for vehicles to drive into, and removing 
potential on street parking spaces. 
 
Further regarding pedestrian links, a new good quality link must be created between the site and 
Donnacroft, the recreation area to the east of the site. This would provide a direct route for residents 
to access this area without the need to travel by car. The existing public footway link from Pathfield is 
not of an acceptable quality to allow its use by perambulators, wheelchairs, mobility scooters etc. 
 
It is my view that the proposed changes to the highway network and links onto Burwood Lane have 
not been assessed in enough detail. No consideration has been given to the fact that the most direct 
route between the B3227 and the application site is via the single width Burwood Lane to the north 
east of the site. Whilst no assessment has been carried out in the TA regarding the likely use of this 
lane, it is my view that this proposal would result in an increase of traffic on this narrow, often steep 
road with sharp bends and very limited forward visibility. The use of the lane by traffic travelling to and 
from the site must be assessed in order to consider the impact on this lane and drivers of it. Closing 
this lane off would not be acceptable as residential and agricultural properties are accessed off it and 
the proposed internal layout (although in outline) would not be suitable for large agricultural traffic to 
use as it would have to pass through the centre of a residential area. Consideration should be given 
to proving a new single width lane for farm vehicles to use on the southern edge of the phase two 
area between Burwood Lane and Caddywell without needing to mix with residential traffic, people's 
homes and children playing in the street. 
 
The areas where the new estate road would cross Burwood Lane and Caddywell Lane at right angles 
is not considered safe nor suitable. Details of how these junctions will work are required to show the 
interaction between the arms and whether vehicles, particularly agricultural ones, can make the turns. 
 
In conclusion; the site does not provide the car park that has been identified as being needed to 
mitigate the parking issues on Caddywell Lane; not enough details have been provided to show that 
the proposal is safe and suitable for all people in respect to footway links on Caddywell Lane and the 
proposed junctions on Caddywell Lane and Burwood Lane; it is not known how the existing 
(agricultural) traffic will interact with the proposed road layout and residential nature of the scheme; 
and the impact on the use of Burwood Lane to the east has not been assessed. 
 
I consider the above reasons to cumulatively give rise to a severe impact and the lack of detail does 
not prove that the proposal is safe and suitable for all people. 
In the interest of being positive and proactive, further work and provision of mitigation measures are 
likely to make this application acceptable in highway terms. 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, IS LIKELY TO RECOMMEND REFUSAL 
OF PLANNING PERMISSION, IN THE ABSENCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION 
 
Second Response: 
Observations: 
The newly submitted information and plans satisfy my concerns regarding the traffic impacts and 
access issues of the proposal, however this is only the case if the car park application is linked to this 

Page 204



one; £200,000 is paid towards bus service provision; and there are constraints placed on the 
application regarding the number of dwellings built before the road through the site is constructed. 
 
An application for a 50 space car park has been submitted under a different planning 
application. That application must be approved prior to this application and that car park must be 
made available for use by drivers of pupils to the school prior to the construction of any part of the 
development served off Caddywell Lane. This is to help ensure the safety of school children in the 
longer term and during the construction phase. 
 
It would not be acceptable to build all of the proposed dwellings off one of the access points. 
Therefore appropriate triggers must be in place to ensure that the road through the site is completed 
and made available for use. Reasonable triggers would be that only 80 dwellings can be served off 
Hoopers Way before the road link is completed and only 80 dwellings Lane can be served off 
Caddywell Lane until the road link is completed. This could mean that a total of 160 dwellings could 
be occupied prior to the link being completed, but not all off one access. 
 
The site is at the edge of Torrington and although walking and cycling as well as driving is possible to 
the town centre, trips will be made to Barnstaple and Bideford, particularly for work, as employment 
opportunities in Torrington have not kept pace with that of those other towns. To provide a real choice 
for those trips to be made without a car £200,000 is required to enhance the bus service. 
 
The closure of the existing roads to create 'green lanes' will require traffic regulation orders (TROs) to 
be approved. Additionally a TRO shall be required to amend the speed limit on Caddywell Lane. The 
developer will have to pay all reasonable costs required for such TROs. 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION – the suggested 
conditions have been incorporated in the draft decision.  
 
The Environment Agency:  
The site lies within Flood Zone 1. We advise that we have no comment to make on this application 
and recommend that you consult Devon County Council, the Lead Local Flood Authority, on the 
proposal. As you will be aware, following revisions to the Development Management Procedure Order 
(DMPO), from 15 April 2015 the Environment Agency is no longer a Statutory Consultee for matters 
relating to surface water drainage; we do however remain a statutory consultee for developments 
within Critical Drainage Areas (CDAs). Further guidance on when to consult us can be viewed on our 
Flood Risk Standing Advice via the following link: https://www.gov.uk/flood-risk -assessment-local-
planning -authorities 
  
South West Water:  
I refer to the above and would advise that South West Water are not satisfied that the public foul 
drainage network has capacity to support the development without causing downstream sewer 
flooding. As such should your Council be mindful to approve the application the following conditions 
need to be imposed; 
 
Foul Drainage 
No development shall commence until: 
a) a detailed survey and evaluation of the public foul sewerage network has taken place (at the 
Owner's expense) to identify improvements necessary to be funded in advance and executed to 
accommodate the discharge of foul sewage from the Development; and 
b) the Owner has submitted an application to the relevant Sewerage Undertaker for a public foul 
sewer requisition under s98 of the Water Industry Act 1991 (which shall include the provision of public 
sewerage improvement works identified as necessary). 
 
No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied or brought into use and there shall be no discharge to 
the public foul sewerage network, unless approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (as in 

Page 205

https://www.gov.uk/flood-risk


accordance with the scheme of improvement works identified by the Sewerage Undertaker as 
necessary to accommodate the discharge of foul sewage from the Development). 
  
Conservation Officer:  
While the site is large the topography shields the site in views into and out of the conservation area of 
Torrington.  Views to the east are limited by the edge of the conservation area being formed by the 
steep side of castle mound. There are heritage assets within the town centre but these are 
experienced within the townscape and the more distant views are not accessible in this area.   
 
The proposal will have less than substantial harm to the setting of the heritage assets within the town 
centre of Great Torrington and similarly views into and out of the conservation area. 
 
The proposal is acceptable in terms of paragraph 134 of the NPPF and policies ENV2 and 3 of the 
TDLP. 
  
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
I have read the comprehensive and detailed Design and Access statement and am disappointed to 
find that there is no mention of Crime and Disorder even though it is a material consideration. 
 
It is appreciated that this is at the outline stage, but early consultation with the police frequently 
prevents delays further down the process when crime and disorder issues present a problem with the 
layout of a submitted design. 
 
The seven attributes of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) are key to 
ensuring a safe and sustainable community and in addition to the layout the physical security is now a 
consideration. 
 
Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security. 
Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict 
Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose and are 
managed to prevent the creation of problem areas which can attract the antisocial to gather, dumping 
and dog fouling etc. 
Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 
Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid out in SBD 
Homes 2016 
Activity: Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a reduced 
risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
Management and maintenance: Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
 
There are many negative aspects to this application in relation to community conflict and opportunity 
for crime and disorder to occur. Numerous dwellings where defensible space is totally missing, and 
public open space adjoins actual dwellings. Excessive permeability encouraging casual intrusion that 
is not serving the development, footpaths to the side and rear of dwellings. Parking spaces which are 
not overlooked, there may be housing adjacent but in some cases there is no direct frontage or 
windows directly looking over these spaces. Together these form a strong recipe for community 
conflict, anti-social behaviour and crime that is easily rectified at the design stage but impossible to 
remedy once built and condemns residents to adverse quality of life issues for decades. 
 
It is unfortunate but without reassurance that these concerns can be addressed, the Police would 
have no option but to object to this application, citing crime and disorder as material considerations. 
  
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, please find my comments set out below. 
 

Page 206



This is a major outline application for up to 181 houses to the east of Hoopers Way, Torrington. A 
previous application, 1/0781/2015/OUTM, for 60 houses on the site of phase one of this application 
was granted. 
 
Trees 
A new Arboricultural survey and Report have been submitted for this development and again no trees 
are to be lost with the proposed design. There will be loss of more hedgerow due to the multiple site 
access routes, however this can be mitigated for by appropriate landscaping. The impact assessment 
shows that retained vegetation can be adequately protected during development and an initial Tree 
Protection Plan (TPP) has been provided. The TPP suggests plastic orange fencing could be used to 
protect the site hedgerows, I do not consider this to be robust enough and if the site perimeter is not 
to be enclosed by security fencing (usually Heres type weld mesh panels) then chestnut palling 
fencing would be considered more appropriate for protecting the perimeter hedgerows. 
 
For a reserved matters application a full site specific arboricultural method statement and an updated 
tree protection plan will be required. 
 
Landscape 
A full Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been carried out for this proposal. The LVIA 
concludes that due to the proposed sites being seen as an extension of the neighbouring housing 
estate the impact on the wider landscape character is negligible and that visually it would not appear 
out of character in views which are already influenced by the existing residential development at 
Hatchmoor, the impacts will therefore be reduced due to the proposed landscape mitigation. 
 
For phases/sites 1 & 2 I would agree with this conclusion and my comments for the 2015 application 
would still be relevant (see copy of comments below). 
 
However I feel that phase/site 3 is some what detached from the current built environment siting in the 
valley bottom and having distinct borders with Caddywell lane to the north and east and the wooded 
valley containing the main A386 to the north and west, with further agricultural fields to the south. This 
small agricultural landscape is sufficiently detached to have its own distinct character within the wider 
LCT 3A: Upper Farmed Wooded Valley Slopes. The proposed housing development by virtue of 
being detached from the existing and proposed developments would have a moderate effect on the 
landscape character of this small area in the valley to the south of Torrington. 
 
Visually phase 3 would be seen as detached from the estates north of the valley on the gently sloping 
sites that come down from Burwood Lane. When viewed from the Hatchmoor Estate phase 3 would 
be seen beyond phases 1 and 2 interrupting the views of the open countryside beyond. 
 
In conclusion I have no objections to Phases 1 and 2, but feel phase 3 will have a greater impact on 
the local landscape character and will have a moderate effect on both this and the visual amenity 
provided by the views across this small area of agricultural land in the open countryside. 
 
DCC Rights Of Way:  
Devon County Council have asked that I make comment on the above planning application. Please 
be aware that the application could affect footpaths Grt Torrington 10 and 17 (see attached map). 
After further investigation it would appear that the Development will not directly affect footpath Grt 
Torrington 10 but could affect Grt Torrington 17 where it exits south west from Caddywell Lane. 
We would remind the Applicant that Planning Permission does not grant the right to close, alter or 
build over a Public Right of Way in anyway, even temporarily. therefore the applicant must ensure that 
the way(s) remains open and available to the public at all times, including during the period of any 
construction activity such as with building materials or spoil and contractors' vehicles and plant etc. 
Should it be necessary to temporarily divert or close the path(s) during construction works the 
applicant may apply to DCC for a temporary traffic order. 
  
Environmental Protection:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has the following comments: 
 

Page 207



Land Quality 
The Geo-technical and Phase II Contamination Report appears comprehensive and detailed. There is 
mention that further intrusive ground investigation be undertaken to establish the existence and extent 
of any contamination. The proposal for intrusive ground investigation would seem sensible and 
appropriate in identifying any potential hotspots. The Environmental Protection Team would 
recommend the imposition of the Authority's standard contaminated land condition. 
 
Construction Management 
Given the nature of the development site and the close proximity of existing residential properties to 
the north, there is the real potential for complaints of dust and noise nuisance complaints, to arise 
from any remediation and/or construction works. If the application is approved, the applicant should 
be asked to provide a detailed and robust Construction Environmental Management Plan prior to 
commencing construction activities. The imposition of the following condition is recommended: 
 
Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 
construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local Planning 
Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage the impacts of 
construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include:- 
  
a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheel-washing 
facilities 
g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust suppression 
h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust and 
lighting. (Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan should 
demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts)  
i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 
provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 
complaints will be addressed 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing 
compliance during the construction of the development. 
 
In addition, it is recommended that a condition be included restricting hours of construction works to 
0700-1900 Monday to Friday and 0800-1300 on Saturdays with no works permitted on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays in order to protect residential amenity. 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
First Response: 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. The archaeological geophysical survey 
report submitted in support of this planning application has identified an enclosure site within the 
eastern field of the proposed development site - see figs 3, 8 and 9 of the report - the date of this 
enclosure is unknown but is likely to be prehistoric or Romano-British. However, without additional 
information in the form of the results of intrusive archaeological investigation of this heritage asset it is 
not possible to understand the nature or quality of survival of the archaeological deposits, the impact 
of the proposed development upon it or the significance of the site as a heritage asset. 
As it currently stands the information submitted in support of this application is not sufficient to enable 
an understanding of the significance of the heritage assets within the application area or of the impact 
of the proposed development upon these heritage assets. Given the high potential for survival and 
significance of below ground archaeological deposits associated with the known prehistoric or 
Romano-British activity within the development site and the absence of sufficient archaeological 

Page 208



information, the Historic Environment Team objects to this application. If further information on the 
impact of the development upon the archaeological resource is not submitted in support of this 
application then I would recommend the refusal of the application. This would be in accordance with 
guidance in paragraph 3.69 in the supporting text for the saved South Hams Development Policy DP6 
and paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012). 
 
The additional information required to be provided by the applicant would be the results of a 
programme of intrusive archaeological investigations to enable an understanding of the significance of 
the heritage assets identified by the geophysical survey and test the efficacy of the survey itself. The 
results of this work would enable an informed and reasonable planning decision to be made by your 
Authority. I would recommend that the applicant or their agent contact this office to discuss the 
scope of works required and obtain contact details of professional archaeological consultants who 
would undertake these investigations. I would expect to provide the applicant with guidance on the 
scope of the works required. 
 
Second Response: 
I refer to the above application. I have now received a copy of the report setting out the results of the 
archaeological evaluation undertaken at the above site. This has demonstrated the presence of a 
large undated, but probably prehistoric or Romano-British, ditched enclosure as well as other more 
isolated features. None of these heritage assets are of such significance that either further 
archaeological work is required in support of this application or that they should be preserved in situ. 
However, groundworks for the construction of the proposed development will result in the destruction 
of these archaeological deposits. For this reason and in accordance with paragraph 141 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and saved Policy ENV4 in the Torridge Local Plan I would 
advise that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
 
'No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 'To ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan, that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development.' 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of the archaeological excavation of 
all areas affected by the proposed development that may contain archaeological or artefactual 
deposits to ensure an appropriate record is made of the heritage assets prior to their destruction by 
the proposed development. The results of the fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken 
would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and illustrated report. 
  
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
I write to provide a response to the above application which seeks to provide up to 
181 dwellings. 
 
Detail within the 'Heads of Terms' element of the submitted planning statement proposes 30% 
affordable housing provision. However, Torridge District Council's current Affordable Housing policy 
for a proposal of this size in this location stipulates 40% of the overall housing provision is required to 
be provided as Affordable Housing, with 75% provided at a Social Rent level and 25% at an 
intermediate level. 
 
The Affordable Housing is required to be provided on site. 
 
The following details the mix of affordable housing which would be acceptable in policy terms:- 
No of Bedrooms Proportion Minimum Floorspace 

Page 209



1b2p 25% 46sqm 
2b4p houses 45% 76sqm 
3b5p houses 20% 86sqm 
4b5p houses 5% 96sqm 
4b6p houses  106sqm 
4b7p houses  115sqm 
4b8p house  124sqm 
 
Overall I am unable to support this proposal at this time as the proposed affordable housing falls 
below the 40% requirement and there is insufficient detail on the type and tenure to be provided. 
  
Chief Education Officer:  
Due to recent approvals within Great Torrington, primary provision at Great Torrington Primary School 
is now at capacity. The strategy for the area, as identified within the emerging North Devon & Torridge 
Local Plan, is for new primary provision to serve the growth in the town. 181 family-type dwellings can 
expect to produce 45 primary pupils. 
 
Devon County Council will therefore need to request primary education contributions to mitigate the 
impact of this development, as follows: 
1/ New Build Primary Contribution Rate of 1:4,005 per family type dwelling. 
2/ A Primary Land Contribution of 1:440 per family type dwelling. 
3/ As the new school will also need to provide statutory Early Years places, an Early Years 
contribution of 1:250 per dwelling will also be sought. 
 
Existing secondary provision in the town has sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional 27 
secondary pupils we can expect from this development, and therefore no contributions are sought for 
secondary education. In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would 
wish to recover legal costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. 
Legal costs are not expected to exceed 1:500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education 
contribution. However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the 
legal costs are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
  
Natural England:  
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
The National Park and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 
Natural England's comments in relation to this application are provided in the following sections. 
Statutory nature conservation sites - no objection 
 
Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the proposal is 
unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites or landscapes. 
 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species. 
Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species. You should apply our Standing 
Advice to this application as it is a material consideration in the determination of applications in the 
same way as any individual response received from Natural England following consultation. 
 
The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any assurance in 
respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is unlikely to affect the 
EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached 
any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the developer's responsibility) or may be 
granted. 
 

Page 210



If you have any specific questions on aspects that are not covered by our Standing Advice for 
European Protected Species or have difficulty in applying it to this application please contact us with 
details at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
Local sites 
If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally Important 
Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) the authority should ensure 
it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the proposal on the local site before it 
determines the application. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
The proposed development is within an area that Natural England considers could benefit from 
enhanced green infrastructure (GI) provision. Multi-functional green infrastructure can perform a 
range of functions including improved flood risk management, provision of accessible green space, 
climate change adaptation and biodiversity enhancement. Natural England would encourage the 
incorporation of GI into this development. 
 
Biodiversity enhancements 
This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design which are beneficial 
to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or the installation of bird nest 
boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site from 
the applicant, if it is minded to grant permission for this application. This is in accordance with 
Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Additionally, we would draw your attention 
to Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states that every 
public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper 
exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity'. Section 40(3) of the same Act 
also states that I conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, 
restoring or enhancing a population or habitat. 
 
Landscape enhancements 
This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and bring benefits 
for the local community, for example through green space provision and access to and contact with 
nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and 
capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new 
development and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form and location, to 
the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any unacceptable impacts. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on "Development in or likely to affect a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest" (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help local planning 
authorities decide when to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI. The 
dataset and user guidance can be accessed from the data.gov.uk website 
  
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
First Response: 
Recommendation: 
At this stage, we object to this planning application because we believe it does not satisfactorily 
conform to Policy DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage) of Torridge District Council's Local Plan (2004), 
which requires developments to provide adequate means of surface water drainage to ensure that 
there is no unacceptable risk of off-site flooding, increased flood risk or risk to the quantity and quality 
of potable groundwater sources. The applicant will therefore be required to submit additional 
information in order to demonstrate that all aspects of the proposed surface water drainage 
management system have been considered. 
 
Observations: 

Page 211



Following the publication of the Flood Risk Assessments: Climate Change Allowances document 
(dated 19th February 2016) by central government, the applicant will be required to use a climate 
change uplift value of 40% when sizing the proposed surface water drainage management system for 
this development. Although outline planning permission was previously granted for the eastern 
section of the site, this section has been submitted as part of this new application. Therefore the 
applicant must re-calculate storage volumes using this climate change uplift value. 
The applicant must submit greenfield runoff calculations for the central section of the site. 
The applicant must also submit a proposed layout plan, with scale, displaying the proposed surface 
water drainage system. 
The applicant should re-assess the factors of safety applied to the soakaways in the western section 
of the site, ensuring they accord with The SuDS Manual (C753), as the areas draining to them are 
greater than 1000m2. 
 
Second Response: 
Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application at 
this stage, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are imposed on any 
approved permission: 
 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a programme of percolation 
tests has been carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design (2016), and the 
results approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A representative number of tests should be conducted to provide 
adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the 
proposed infiltration devices. 
Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is discharged as high up the drainage 
hierarchy as is feasible. 
 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full results of a 
groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period of 12 months, has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This monitoring should be conducted to provide adequate 
coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the proposed 
infiltration devices.  
Reason: To ensure that the use of infiltration devices on the site is an appropriate means of surface 
water drainage management. 
 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the 
proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. The design of this permanent surface water drainage management 
system will be informed by the programme of approved BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design (2016) 
percolation tests and in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment by Clive 
Onions Consulting Civil Engineer (Ref. Flood Risk Assessment; Rev. V2; dated 16th February 2017) 
and the Flood Risk Assessment Addendum by Clive Onions Consulting Civil Engineer (Flood Risk 
Assessment Addendum in response to LLFA comments; Rev. V1; dated 30th October 2017). 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is discharged as high up the 
drainage hierarchy as is feasible, and is managed in accordance with the principles of sustainable 
drainage systems. Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 
 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full details of the adoption 
and maintenance arrangements for the proposed permanent surface water drainage management 
system have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that the development's permanent surface water drainage management systems 
will remain fully operational throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the 
proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development site for the 

Page 212



full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This 
temporary surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the rates and 
volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site. 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately managed so 
as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the surrounding area. Advice: Refer 
to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 
 
  

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  225  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  110 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  108  

 
The application has received 108 letters of objection from third parties. No letters of support have 
been received. The concerns raised by objectors are set out below: 
 

 There will be an increase in traffic through an already congested road network; 

 Safety concerns for pupils of the primary school due to an increase in traffic passing the 
primary school Sewerage system has no capacity and is at breaking point; 

 There is no employment in Torrington - where will the residents work; 

 There are brownfield sites available which should be developed before this greenfield site; 

 The local schools are at capacity Doctors surgeries are at breaking point;  

 Specific objections to access to Hatchmoor Road via Burwood Road and Borough Road - the 
proposal would add to an already congested system; 

 If there was a blockage on or near Borough Road/Hatchmoor Road junction there would be no 
access for emergency vehicles; 

 Borough Road is seriously congested on mornings and evenings on the school run; 

 More affordable housing is needed than the 30% proposed Development of green fields is 
impinging on the commons and Torridge River Valley; 

 The land isn't allocated for development; 

 Adverse visual and landscape impact; 

 Some submission documents are out of date and inaccurate e.g. the Transport Statement; 

 A road link from Phase 1 (Hoopers Way) to Burwood Lane was expressly denied in the Phase 
1 application 1/0781/2015/OUTM; 

 The proposed through route utilising Caddywell and Burwood Lanes would be detrimental to 
the quality of life for local residents on account of noise, pollution, impact of traffic and loss of 
amenity; 

 Alterations to the ancient lane to Tyler's Meadow would see ancient Devon bank destroyed 
along with ecological habitats;  

 Adverse impact on the Torridge Valley Dark Sky Area;  

 Overlooking and loss of privacy to existing residents;  

 Fall in value of existing properties; 

 Inconvenience and disruption during construction phase; 

 Loss of good agricultural land; 

 The site is where the Battle of Great Torrington 1646 took place and care should be taken to 
preserve any artefacts found during construction; 

 Supporting documents make an inaccurate reference to services e.g. there have been bank 
closures, there is no longer the Happy Days convenience store; 

 Points of access are narrow and sharp and there will be difficulties for large and towing 
vehicles; 

 Burwood Road is already congested with cars parked on either side making access difficult for 
wheel chairs, mobility scooters and prams; 

 There is a limited bus service; 

 There are limited facilities in the town for the younger generation; 

Page 213



 There are still houses built last year that remain empty - where is the need for this housing; 

 Loss of view and openness; 

 Concern over the damage land and earthworks could do to houses and gardens backing into 
the lane; 

 If the site is developed there should be a new access in from the top of Hatchmoor through 
Burwood Lane; 

 There is a steep hill and sharp bend going from the site into Hoopers Way – it’s an accident 
waiting to happen; 

 There will be an adverse visual impact to the Commons and the River Torridge Valley; 

 There will be a negative impact on amenity due to an increase in traffic on the roads; 

 Development will lead to an increase in flooding; 

 Concern for safety of users of Caddywell Lane to access the public footpaths and bridleways 
onto the Commons; 

 The proposed spine road into Caddywell Lane will be totally unacceptable; 

 Public footpath number 17 should not be obstructed or impeded; 

 Caddywell Lane will become a rat run; 

 There is more farm traffic than is stated in the submission; 

 Parents won't use the car park as it is too far from the school; 

 There are key viewpoints omitted in the LVIA; 

 Impacts on health and wellbeing of existing residents - loss of view; 

 The primary school has commented raising concerns over safety around their site. The Chair 
of Governors also requests funding for the playing field, changing facilities and car parking and 
for the development to serve the community. 

  
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
DVT1 (Development in Strategic Centres); DVT10 (Boundary Treatment); DVT11 (Impact of 
Development on Amenity); DVT13 (Noise Emission and Disturbance); DVT18 (Impact of 
Development on Traffic); DVT19 (Access and Parking); DVT20 (Cycle and Pedestrian Routes); 
DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building Design); DVT8 
(Landscaping); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); ENV2 (Development affecting Historic Buildings and 
Structures); ENV3 (Development affecting a Conservation Area); ENV4 (Archaeological 
Preservation); ENV5 (Countryside Protection and Landscape Con); ENV10 (Mitigation and 
Enhancement); HSC1 (Housing Development); HSC13 (Play Facilities in New Housing Devt); HSC2 
(Affordable Housing); HSC3 (Housing and Residential Estate Layouts);  
 
Government Guidance: 
CROW (Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000); JLCA (Joint Landscape Character Assessment 
2000); LST (Landscape Sensitivity for Torridge 2011); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural 
Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice 
Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  

Page 214



 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations of relevance to this proposal are: 
 

1. Principle of Development; 
2. Affordable Housing; 
3. Impact on Landscape; 
4. Layout and Impact on Character and Appearance; 
5. Impact on Residential Amenities; 
6. Access and Parking; 
7. Heritage; 
8. Ecology; 
9. Trees; 
10. Drainage; 
11. Section 106 Obligations. 

 
1. Principle of Development 
 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
In policy terms, the majority of the site (the central and western fields) is located within the open 
countryside.  Policy DVT2C of the adopted Torridge District Local Plan (TDLP) states that subject to 
not detracting from the character and appearance of the area the following types of development will 
be allowed: 
 
‘(a) the conversion of a previously used building or a redundant agricultural building for employment 
reuse; 
 
(b) agricultural, countryside recreational, and /or identified types of tourist development and /or other 
development that is related to appropriate farm diversification; 
 
(c) the alteration, improvement, redevelopment and /or minor extension of a building for purposes 
directly related to its established use; 
 
(d) the provision of small scale rural business developments and other local services and /or utilities 
for which there is a proven need.’ 
 
The proposed development does not fall within any of the criteria above and is therefore considered a 
departure from the current Local Plan, albeit located directly adjacent to the development boundary 
for Great Torrington.  The central and western fields continue to be located within the open 

Page 215



countryside under the emerging Plan but remain directly adjacent to the defined development 
boundary for Great Torrington.  
 
Within the letters of representation it has been questioned whether the growth proposed is required 
and concerns are arranged over the development of greenfield land.  
 
Notwithstanding the countryside location of the central and western fields, Paragraph 49 of the NPPF 
states that housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-
to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites.  The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply however as paragraph 
2 of the NPPF advises, planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan (as a whole), unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  Furthermore, this does not automatically mean that no weight is applied to 
existing policies, such as policy DVT2c of the TDLP or ST07 of the Emerging Plan. It is also important 
to make the distinction between what is or is not a planning policy directly relating to ‘housing 
supply’.  In this instance, both policies DVT2c and ST07 fall into the latter circumstance, that not 
specifically restricting housing supply.  What is clear however is that until the emerging local plan is 
fully adopted and a 5 year housing supply position confirmed the ‘restriction’ of development 
boundaries falls away and sites like the application site can continue to be considered for residential 
development.    
 
The NPPF is an important additional material consideration and seeks to ensure development 
proposals are sustainable.  The NPPF explains how sustainable development has three dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that; "these roles should not be 
undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependent.  Economic growth can secure higher 
social and environmental standards, and well-designed buildings and places can improve the lives of 
people and communities.  Therefore, to achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. The 
planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable solutions."   
 
It is considered that 181 houses (including 30% affordable housing), with associated infrastructure 
and mitigation, could be physically accommodated within the site and this has been demonstrated 
within the submitted indicative site layout plan. Taking the three dimensions of sustainable 
development in turn; there would be social benefits in the provision of 181 houses which will boost the 
supply of housing. The proposal would fulfil the economic role of sustainable development by the 
creation of new jobs generated during and after construction. There would also be further associated 
economic benefits in terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus from the 
new houses. With regards to environmental considerations, the application site is greenfield however 
it is directly adjacent to the development boundary of Great Torrington. Policies DVT2c and ST07 
remain relevant and state that development shall not detract from the character and appearance of 
the area. This complies specifically with the environmental thread of sustainable development as 
identified within the NPPF.  The landscape visual impact is explored in the following sections of this 
report, however, for the purposes of this section, briefly, the impacts on landscape and ecology would 
be the main considerations. 
 
The proposed development seeks to provide a significant contribution of 181 houses (including 30% 
affordable housing) towards local housing supply in a sustainable location close to an Area Centre as 
well as providing land for expansion by the nearby primary school. One of the core planning principles 
of the NPPF is to "proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places."  The need to "boost 
significantly the supply of housing" (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) is paramount, especially in light of the 
current lack of a 5 year housing land supply in the Torridge district. To facilitate this, the NPPF states 
that local planning authorities should; "identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable 
sites".  Footnote 11 of paragraph 47 states that to be considered deliverable; "sites with planning 
permission should be considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear evidence 
that schemes will not be implemented within five years, for example they will not be viable, there is no 
longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans."   

Page 216



 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets the overarching policy with respect to plan making and decision 
making and the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  With regards decision taking it 
states that “where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole.”  Taking into consideration the lack of a 5 year supply, the status of the emerging local plan, 
the status of the current local plan, and in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the principle of 
residential development at the application site is considered acceptable subject to an assessment of 
other additional material planning considerations / impacts that must be assessed against the local 
and national planning policy before a full planning balance exercise can be undertaken and a 
recommendation made. These are discussed below. 
 
The emerging Plan identifies the eastern field within the settlement boundary of Great Torrington and 
as allocated site GTT05.  Policy GTT05 states: 
'(1) A site of about 2.5 hectares north of Burwood Lane, as defined on Policies Map 5 is allocated for 
residential and associated development that includes: 
(a) about 55 dwellings, the types, sizes and tenures of which will be reflective of local needs. 
(2) The site will be developed in accordance with the following site specific development principles: 
(a) highway access to be achieved through the formation of new junction(s) onto Burwood Lane and 
the provision of off-site highway improvements as necessitated by development; 
(b) enhance and make connections to the existing network of local and strategic green infrastructure 
through and around the site including the provision of new footpaths, cycleways, public open spaces, 
wildlife corridors, formal and informal sport and recreation facilities; and 
(c) facilitate connections for motor vehicles, cycles and pedestrians between the proposed 
development, the town centre and key employment areas including increased opportunities for public 
transport links and sustainable travel choices within and around Great Torrington to reduce reliance 
on the private motor car'. 
 
The eastern field already benefits from outline planning permission for 60 dwellings under reference 
1/0781/2015/OUTM so the principle of residential development is therefore accepted at this part of the 
application site.  
 
The site was considered in its entirety as part of the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA). The report in respect of the application site, reference GTT7, recognised that 'this is a 
location development could potentially contribute to securing sustainable mixed communities' with it 
being assessed as 'having a good relationship to existing residential areas to the north.' The detailed 
assessment highlighted that as the site is on the edge of a town, development would be unlikely to 
'contribute to significant light pollution'. The conclusion notes that 'the site is considered to be suitable 
in principle for residential development, subject to being enabled through appropriate development 
plan policy.' Development of the eastern field is enabled via emerging Plan Policy GTT05. The 
remaining greater balance of the site is enabled due to the Council not be able to demonstrate a five 
year housing land supply and it being considered a sustainable location for further residential 
development.     
 
The application site is located in a sustainable location, immediately adjacent and partly within the 
settlement boundary of an Area Centre which includes a variety of amenities and services.  In 
addition, the proposed development is located adjacent to existing residential areas.  On this basis, 
there is not considered to be an in principle objection to the development of this site in light of the 
Council's proven lack of a 5 year housing land supply and in accordance with the provisions of the 
NPPF in this regard. 
 
As a result, the principle of the development of the site for residential purposes would be acceptable 
in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF subject to an assessment of other material planning 
considerations which are discussed in turn as follows. 
 
2. Affordable Housing 

Page 217



The proposed development would include up to 181 dwellings and an indicative housing mix has 
been set out in the Planning Supporting Statement identifying the provision of a range of unit sizes.  
The Council's Strategic Enabling Officer has commented on the submitted plans noting the policy 
requirement to provide 40% of the overall housing provision as Affordable Housing, of which 75% 
should be provided at social rent level and 25% at intermediate level.  The proposed Affordable 
Housing provision should be pepper potted across the site.  Details of the required tenure mix and 
size of dwellings required has been set out in the consultation response. 
 
The submitted Planning Supporting Statement states that the applicant accepts the principle of 
appropriate levels and mix of affordable housing provision on the site.  These provisions are in 
keeping with the requirements of Policy HSC2 of the Local Plan and guidance contained in the 
Planning Obligations SPD.  It is however considered appropriate that greater weight is given to 
emerging Plan Policy ST18: Affordable Housing on Development Sites, which has been subject to 
modifications and can now be given moderate weight. This Policy sets a requirement for 
developments of 11 or more dwellings to provide on-site delivery of affordable housing equal to 30% 
of the number of dwellings on site. In applying moderate weight to this emerging policy, and the fact 
that the evidence base to justify a 30% affordable housing requirement provides a more up to date 
position than the TDLP, it considered reasonable to secure 30% affordable housing from this 
development.  
 
The proposed affordable housing provision would be secured via Section 106 agreement as part of 
any permission granted. 
 
3. Impact on Landscape 
 
Policy ENV1 of the TDLP expects new developments to conserve the distinctive character and 
features of the natural and built environment, to incorporate conservation and enhancement 
measures where possible together with mitigation measures to off-set any resulting harm or 
disturbance, where the benefits of the development outweigh the conservation interest.  Policy ENV5 
notes that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural character, beauty and 
amenity of the Torridge landscape on the basis of local landscape character.  Policy DVT2C of the 
TDLP relates to development in the open countryside and notes that development in such locations 
should not detract from the character and appearance of the area.   
 
Emerging Policy DM08A, which having been subject to modifications can be given moderate weight, 
requires development to 'be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that recognises and respects 
landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes and seascapes; it should avoid 
adverse landscape and seascape impacts and seek to enhance the landscape and seascape assets 
wherever possible'.   
 
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF notes that development proposals should take account of the different 
roles and character of different area, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.   
 
The Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon & Torridge Districts identifies the 
application site as being within landscape character type (LCT) 3A (Upper Farmed Wooded Valley 
Slopes).  This area is characterised by an open landscape with important vantage points and 
uninterrupted vistas; narrow sunken lanes; species rich hedgebanks and copses, woodlands and tree 
clumps; cob, thatch and whitewashed buildings, including traditional linhays; and little or no light 
pollution resulting in starry skies.  The Landscape and Character Assessment notes the development 
pressures within the area, specifically citing Torrington due to the attractiveness of the area as a place 
to live. 
 
The proposals site is characteristic of this LCT with an open landscape to the south of the site and 
hedgebanks surrounding the main boundaries.  The application site is well related to the existing 
urban fringe of Torrington, to the north and the existing neighbouring residential areas.  
 
A full Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been carried out for this proposal. The LVIA 
concludes that due to the proposed sites being seen as an extension of the neighbouring housing 

Page 218



estate the impact on the wider landscape character is negligible and that visually it would not appear 
out of character in views which are already influenced by the existing residential development at 
Hatchmoor, the impacts will therefore be reduced due to the proposed landscape mitigation. 
 
The Council's Tree and Landscape Office has commented that 'for phases/sites 1 and 2 (the central 
and eastern fields) he would agree with the LVIA conclusion'. He accordingly advises that his 
comments for the 2015 application would still be relevant where he concluded that that development 
proposal would result in a negligible impact on the landscape character of the wider LCT. In respect of 
the previous application, he did note that there would be impacts on visual amenity, particularly for 
those residents of the neighbouring residential estate.      
 
The Tree and Landscape Officer does, however, raise concern over phase 3, the western field. He 
has noted that this part of the site is somewhat detached from the current built environment siting in 
the valley bottom and having distinct borders with Caddywell lane to the north and east and the 
wooded valley containing the main A386 to the north and west, with further agricultural fields to the 
south. This small agricultural landscape is sufficiently detached to have its own distinct character 
within the wider LCT 3A: Upper Farmed Wooded Valley Slopes. He concludes that the proposed 
housing development by virtue of being detached from the existing and proposed developments 
would have a moderate effect on the landscape character of this small area in the valley to the south 
of Torrington. He clarifies, that visually the western field would be seen as detached from the estates 
north of the valley on the gently sloping sites that come down from Burwood Lane. When viewed from 
the Hatchmoor Estate, he is of the view that the western field would be seen beyond the central and 
western fields interrupting the views of the open countryside beyond. 
 
The Tree and Landscape Officer concludes by saying that he has no objections to the eastern and 
central fields, but feels the western field will have a greater impact on the local landscape character 
and will have a moderate effect on both this and the visual amenity provided by the views across this 
small area of agricultural land in the open countryside. 
 
The conclusions of the LVIA and position of the Tree and Landscape Officer are noted. The proposal 
could, in the long term, have at worst a 'moderate' adverse impact in respect of landscape and visual 
impact on the western side of the site. It is felt however that development on the western field also 
needs to be considered in the context of the land that is to be dedicated for school car parking and 
expansion, as this will alter the western edge of the application site over time.   
 
Given the potential degree of harm, the development cannot, therefore, be considered to be in 
complete accordance with TDLP Policies DVT2C, ENV1 and ENV5 and Emerging Plan Policy 
DM08A, and it is concluded that the proposal would result in a degree of harm to the landscape and 
visual amenities of the site and its surroundings. This identified harm has to be considered against the 
identified befits of the proposal. 
 
4. Layout and Impact on Character and Appearance 
 
The northern boundary of the application site abuts the boundaries of existing residential properties to 
Hoopers Way, Hunters Wood, Rose Moor Road, Oakwell Close, Caddywell Road and Tyler's 
Meadow. The site therefore has a strong relationship with the existing built-up area of Great 
Torrington. The southern, western and eastern boundaries are formed of mature hedgerows.  The 
application site slopes down significantly from the northern corner of the eastern part of the site site 
down to meet more level land within the central and western areas. The application site is visible 
within the surrounding landscape, particularly from views across the south of Torrington.   
 
Policy DVT6 of the TDLP states that development proposals will be expected to maintain, restore or 
enhance local vernacular and sense of place through appropriate layout, design, materials and 
landscaping taking account of the distinctive character of the surroundings.  TDLP Policy DVT7 notes 
that development will not be permitted unless it is compatible with the context within which it is set 
and has taken account of the layout, landscaping, density, range of uses, height, massing and 
appearance of the development.  In relation to residential development, TDLP Policy HSC3 notes that 
planning permission will only be granted for housing layouts that satisfactorily integrate the 

Page 219



development within the surrounding context, taking account of the townscape features and character 
and landscape feature.  In addition, Policy HSC14A states that where development is granted 
permission on the edge of towns or villages it will be expected to fit in with the setting in an 
environmentally acceptable way. Emerging Plan Policy ST04: Improving the Quality of Development 
states 'development will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation 
of successful, vibrant places. Design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to 
the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area'.   
 
The submitted indicative site plan demonstrates how the proposed development can be 
accommodated within the site and identifies the location of proposed vehicular access points. Only 
access is to be determined by this outline application, with matters relating to layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping reserved for future consideration. Therefore, the remaining features 
shown on the site plan are for indicative purposes, however, the submitted Design and Access 
Statement provides a template that any future detailed applications for layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping could adhere to. 
 
Given the proximity of the development to the existing residential dwellings, as well as the rest of the 
settlement of Great Torrington, the proposal would be seen against this context within longer distance 
and wider views of the surrounding countryside.  On this basis, the proposed residential development 
of the site is not considered to result in a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area and would be viewed as an extension of the existing residential development to this 
part of Torrington.  A 'gap' would be retained within the wider landscape between the proposed 
development and the nearby solar array when seen in longer distance views across the southern part 
of Torrington.  
 
The application, whilst in outline, is promoting good design. Inevitably the character of the locality will 
change from open green fields to a housing estate. Third parties are concerned that the housing will 
be out of keeping with the character of the area and be overbearing to nearby neighbouring 
properties.  
 
A balance has to be struck between achieving the housing numbers needed to meet the five year land 
supply and minimising the loss of greenfield. A certain density is required for effective use of land, 
which is in itself a scarce resource.  
 
A further assessment of the impact of the precise scale, massing and design of the new dwellings 
would be undertaken at the reserved matters stage once the layout, appearance and design of the 
proposed development is finalised. 
 
On this basis, the proposed development at this outline stage is considered to be in keeping with the 
provisions of TDLP Policies DVT6, DVT7, HSC3 and HSC14A and of the Local Plan and Emerging 
Plan Policy ST04 in relation to its impact on character and appearance.  
 
5. Impact on Residential Amenities 
 
The groups of properties directly along the northern boundary of the of the application site, would be 
the most closely affected by this development. Concerns have been raised over the proposed housing 
in terms of overbearing impact and loss of amenity and privacy.  
 
Inevitably as greenfield sites on the edge of settlements are considered for development, the outlook 
and aspect of existing properties will alter. It should be noted that the loss of a view or outlook is not a 
material planning consideration.  
 
It will be important to protect residential amenities from the effect of development but this will not 
mean that development should be resisted. TDLP Policy DV11 (Amenity Considerations) requires that 
privacy and daylight, light intrusion, noise and other emissions are addressed. The sentiments of this 
adopted policy are repeated in emerging Plan Policy DM01. Short-term disruption through the build 
process can be addressed through appropriate conditions. In the longer term, it is not considered that 
the increase in traffic movements associated with circa 120 dwellings (60 have already been 

Page 220



permitted) would give rise to an unacceptable level of disturbance to residents so as to justify refusal.    
 
As the scheme is in outline, there are only indicative layouts that show the relationship of the 
proposed housing to these existing properties. Indicative plans however do show adequate separation 
distances between properties and potential for further landscaping to soften boundaries.   
 
On matters of crime and disorder, the Police Architectural Liaison Officer will be involved at the 
Reserved Matters Stage and the concerns raised at this outline stage can be considered in the 
detailed design.  
 
The Environmental Protection Officer is raising no objection in respect of amenity other than to 
recommend conditions to mitigate the possible impacts of the construction phase.  
 
At this outline stage, it is not considered that the proposed development would result in a harmful 
impact on the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with the provisions of 
Policy DVT11 of the TDLP and DM01 of the Emerging Plan..   
 
6. Access and Parking 
 
Policy DVT18 of the TDLP states that all development must take into account its impact on the 
highway network in terms of traffic generated, highway safety, access, servicing and the need to 
reduce travel and to encourage alternatives to the private car, incorporating appropriate facilities on-
site or off-site where necessary.  TDLP Policy DVT19 relates to access and parking noting that 
development shall provide appropriate access and servicing and an amount of vehicle parking taking 
into consideration its location, the type and scale of development, national maximum parking 
standards and the potential for and availability of public transport services and/or alternative transport 
facilities.  Emerging Plan Policy ST10 comprehensively sets out the Transport Strategy for North 
Devon. Emerging Plan Policies DM05: Highways and DM06:Parking Provision are consistent with the 
requirements of the adopted Local Plan policies. All of the emerging Plan policies in respect of 
transport should be afforded significant weight.  
 
As noted above, the proposed development includes access for detailed consideration at this stage 
with to points of vehicular accesses proposed from Hoopers Way (as per the consented scheme) and 
off Caddywell Lane.  In addition, the development proposes a revised access to Tyler's Meadow. The 
indicative site plan includes the provision of off-street parking and/or garages for each of the new 
dwellings.   
 
The County Council's Highways Officer has commented on the submitted plans, initially raising 
objections.  These objections primarily concerned highway impacts at the western part of the site due 
to Caddywell Lane already being subject to congestion due to the proximity of the school. This issue 
has been raised by a number of objectors. The Applicant provided additional information and also 
submitted a separate application for the requested school car park.  
 
The Highway Officer has advised that 'the newly submitted information and plans satisfy my concerns 
regarding the traffic impacts and access issues of the proposal, however this is only the case if the 
car park application is linked to this one'. The Highway Officer requires this application for a 50 space 
car park to be approved prior to this application. It is for this reason that both applications are for 
Members consideration together and it is recommended that the required legal agreement links the 
two. The recommended heads of terms require the car park application to be linked and for it to be 
delivered prior to occupation of any open market dwelling within phase 2 (the central field). Phase 1 
concerns the already consented eastern field, which would be accessed via Hooper's Way and can 
therefore come forward in advance of the car park being developed  
 
The Highway Officer is also seeking a contribution of £200,000 towards bus service provision; and 
requires constraints placed on the application regarding the number of dwellings built before the road 
through the site is constructed. The legal agreement along with planning conditions will secure these 
requirements.   
 

Page 221



At this outline stage, the proposed access and parking arrangements are therefore considered to be 
in keeping with Council adopted and emerging policies and the NPPF. 
 
7. Heritage 
 
There are no listed buildings within or adjoining the site and it is not located within a Conservation 
Area. The Council's Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application and concludes that 
the development would have less than substantial harm to the setting of heritage assets within the 
town centre of Great Torrington and similarly views into and out of the Conservation Area. The 
Conservation Officer therefore concludes that the proposal is acceptable in terms of Paragraph 134 of 
the NPPF and Policies ENV2 and ENV3 of the TDLP. Emerging Plan policies ST15: Conserving 
Heritage Assets and DM07: Historic Environment, both of which have been subject to modifications, 
should be given moderate weight - there are not considered to be any conflicts with this policy.  
 
The application is supported by archaeological reports and assessments. The County Archaeology 
Officer initially raised objections requesting additional information. On receipt of the archaeological 
evaluation, the Officer concluded that 'this has demonstrated the presence of a large undated, but 
probably prehistoric or Romano-British, ditched enclosure as well as other isolated features. None of 
these heritage assets are of such significance that either further archaeological work is required in 
support of this application or that they should be preserved in situ However, groundworks for the 
construction of the proposed development will result in the destruction of these archaeological 
deposits'. Consequently, a condition is required to secure a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 
Subject to the inclusion of this condition on any decision, the development raises no concerns in 
respect of archaeology and is in accordance with TDLP Policy ENV4 and the above mentioned 
emerging policies.    
 
8. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). 
 
An Ecological Assessment has been submitted in support of the proposed development which 
includes a desk study together with on site habitat surveys and faunal surveys.  The Assessment 
concludes that the proposed development is not considered to result in any significant adverse effects 
on any statutory and non-statutory sites of nature conservation interest, subject to recommended 
mitigation measures in respect of identified species. It is recommended that a condition be included to 
require a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan prior to the commencement of development.  
 
Natural England is raising no objection and directs the Local Planning Authority towards their standing 
advice.  
 
Policy ENV1 of the Local Plan notes that development will be expected to maintain or where possible 
enhance, biodiversity, the richness of habitats and the variety of natural interest.  The provisions of 
paragraph 118 of the NPPF notes that in determining planning applications, local authorities should 
aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. Policy ENV10 of the Local Plan states that measures 
required to mitigate the adverse impact of development that affects an important nature conservation 
interest shall provide adequately for habitat and species mitigation at a level and in a manner 
consistent with the loss or disturbance and should conserve important features in situ where 
practicable.  
 
Taking into consideration the outline nature of the application and the details submitted within the 
Ecological Assessment, the proposed development is not considered to result in an adverse impact 
on protected species, subject to a condition ensuring detailed mitigation measures are submitted prior 
to the commencement of works on site.  The proposed development would therefore be in keeping 
with the provisions of TDLP Policies ENV1 and ENV10, emerging Plan Policies ST14: Enhancing 

Page 222



Environmental Assets and DM08: Biodiversity and Geodiversity (both of which can be afforded 
moderate weight) and the NPPF. 
 
9. Trees 
 
Policies DVT6 and DVT7 of the Local Plan state that development proposals will be expected to have 
regard to the important attributes and special qualities of the area in which it is located and will not be 
permitted unless it is compatible with the context within which it is set.  Policy ENV5 of the Local Plan 
states that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural and historic character, 
natural beauty, and amenity of the Torridge landscape on the basis of local landscape character. 
 
The Council's Tree and Landscape Officer has commented on the proposed development and notes 
that the new Arboricultural survey and Report demonstrate no trees are to be lost with the proposed 
design. There will be loss of more hedgerow due to the multiple site access routes, however the Tree 
and Landscape Officer confirms this can be mitigated for by appropriate landscaping. The impact 
assessment shows that retained vegetation can be adequately protected during development and an 
initial Tree Protection Plan (TPP) has been provided. Whilst the Tree and Landscape Officer 
questions the proposed methods to protect the site hedgerows, he recommends that for a reserved 
matters application a full site specific arboricultural method statement and an updated tree protection 
plan will be required.  
 
As such, in outline form, and subject to an appropriately worded informative the proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policies DVT6, DVT7 and ENV5 of the Local Plan and the 
guidance contained within the NPPF.   
 
10. Drainage 
 
The proposed development would include connection to the existing foul sewer and the provision of a 
series of SUDs measure throughout the site, as shown on the indicative plans.  
 
A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy has also been submitted in support of the planning 
application which notes that the proposed development and accesses would all be located in Flood 
Zone 1.   
 
The County Council's Flood Risk Management Officer has been consulted on the application and 
initially raised concerns over the proposed surface water drainage proposals, requiring additional 
information.    
 
Further to extensive discussions between the County Council and the applicant, an additional 
consultation response has been received from the Flood Risk Management Officer which confirms 
that there is no further objection to the proposed surface water management scheme, subject to the 
inclusion of suggested conditions ensuring the provision and approval of a detailed drainage design at 
a later stage, in accordance with the County Council's Sustainable Drainage Design Guidance.  
 
In respect of foul drainage, South West Water has advised they are not satisfied that the public foul 
drainage network has capacity to support the development without causing downstream sewer 
flooding. This is a concern that has been raised in letters of objection. As such, South West Water 
require a pre-commencement condition to be included should the Local Planning Authority be mindful 
to approve the application.  
 
The proposed development is therefore considered to include a suitable drainage provision in 
principle, subject to further consideration at the detailed stage and the inclusion of pre-
commencement conditions. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable at this outline stage and 
in accordance with TDLP Policy DVT24, Emerging Plan Policy ST03: Adapting to Climate Change 
and Strengthening Resilience and relevant provisions of the NPPF.  
 
11. Section 106 
 

Page 223



Any shortfall in infrastructure for the proposed development should be funded by developer 
contributions in accordance with TDLP Policies and with regard to the relevant supplementary 
guidance which concerns affordable housing, public open space and education. Emerging Policy 
ST23: Infrastructure (which can be afforded significant weight) requires development to provide or 
contribute towards the timely provision of physical, social and green infrastructure made necessary by 
the specific or cumulative impacts of those developments.  
 

In addition to the affordable housing and highways provision outlined above, comments have been 
received from the County Council in relation to contributions required for education.  In relation to 
education, the designated primary school is currently over-capacity once existing unimplemented 
permissions are factored in.  As a result, the County Council would seek a contributions toward the 
provision of additional education infrastructure at the local primary school which serves the 
development. It is proposed for this to take the form of a two phased financial contribution and an 
either/or scenario for the dedication of land for expansion of the primary school. In relation to 
secondary provision, there is currently capacity at Great Torrington School and therefore no 
contribution would be sought towards secondary education.   
 
The scheme will deliver on site public open space and financial contributions to off site sports and 
recreational facilities in line with current policy requirements. As a minimum, one LPA, one LEAP and 
one NEAP will be secured. Policy DVT9 of the TDLP emphasises the need for the provision of an 
open space network of sites and links will be protected where necessary to meet community needs.  
The policy outlines a breakdown of the standards of open space required for the provision of play 
spaces and equipped play areas in terms of the minimum distances between dwellings and such play 
provision.  In relation to residential development, TDLP Policy HSC13 states that planning permission 
for family housing development that provides open space in accordance with the provisions of Policy 
DVT9 will not be granted unless it incorporates play facilities in accordance with the requirements set 
out in Schedule D of the Policy.  Part (2) of the policy emphasises that where such provision is agreed 
and secured, arrangements for establishment and maintenance may be secured by planning 
obligation.  Schedule D sets out the thresholds for the provision of play spaces and the final layout of 
the proposed development at the reserved matters stage would need to take account of these Policy 
requirements, with the relevant playspaces provided.  The provision of on-site equipped play areas is 
in accordance with the Council's Local Plan with their associated maintenance and the maintenance 
of all other open spaces on site to be included within a Section 106 agreement.   
 
Conclusion 
 
The “decision-taking” section of paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as meaning that where relevant policies are out of date, permission should 
be granted unless the any adverse impacts of so doing would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or specific policies 
indicate that development should be restricted.  
 
The decision-taker is therefore required to identify, and then to balance, the benefits and adverse 
impacts of the proposal. In this instance the proposal will deliver a substantial number of residential 
dwellings that can be provided with acceptable highway access, deliver affordable housing, provide a 
site for expansion of the primary school as well as financial contributions, contributions towards bus 
service improvements and scope to safeguard and provide a good standard of design, amenity, 
landscaping and public open space.    
 

Conditions can be used to ensure necessary works to the sewerage system are carried out prior to 
any development commencing, to ensure that the flood mitigation measures are in place prior to 
commencement and that the necessary road works are in place at the appropriate phases of 
development.   
 

It is considered that appropriate methods for surface water disposal are achievable and that this 
development would not affect flood risk elsewhere.  
 
The key issues are that the site is outside of the identified development boundary but in that the five 

Page 224



year land supply is not proven and there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
 

The site is well positioned to benefit from a number of facilities within Great Torrington, which include 
shops, a dental surgery, pharmacy, GP surgery, primary school, theatre, community space, care 
home, post office, public houses and playing fields.  
 
However, the above Report identifies potential moderate harm in landscape terms on the western part 
of the site. This concern has been raised by the Tree and Landscape Officer, however it is considered 
that a detailed scheme with appropriate mitigation at this part of the site could be achieved. 
Furthermore, this part of the site has to be considered in terms of the proposed car park and 
expansion of the school in this location.   
 
Given this conclusion, it is considered that this application is determined on the balance of the 
identified harm attributable to the development and the public benefits that would arise as a 
consequence of the permission being granted. The question is, does this application deliver such 
public benefits to outweigh the identified moderate harm to the landscape.  
 
Paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the Government's view of what 
sustainable development in England means in practice for the planning system. Taking into 
consideration the lack of a 5 year supply, the weight that can be applied to the emerging Local Plan, 
the status of the current Local Plan, and in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the proposed 
development at the application site is considered acceptable.  The harm, as identified, fails to 
significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
Local Plan and the NPPF as a whole and having considered all the planning issues, on balance, a 
recommendation for approval is therefore made. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the conditions detailed below and the prior satisfactory completion of a Section 106 
Agreement covering the following matters: 
 

1) Education - Phase 1 contribution - £170,422 primary school education contribution; Phase 2 
contribution - £30,000 early years contribution and £533,400 primary school expansion 
contribution or transfer of offsite primary school land and car park land to Devon County 
Council;  
2) Affordable Housing - Provision of 30% affordable housing of which 75% provided at social 
rent level and 25% intermediate level;  
3) Provision of onsite equipped play space (as a minimum one LAP, one LEAP and one 
NEAP) and an associated management agreement for all open space provision; provision of 
an offsite financial contribution towards improvement to the artificial turf pitch or other 
improvements as agreed with the Council to be calculated at a proportionate sum of the total 
cost of works; 
4) Highways - £200,000 towards improved bus services in Torrington; car park land to be 
transferred to Devon County Council and no occupation  of any open market dwellings within 
Phase 2 will be allowed until the car park has been completed.  

 
 1         Approval of the details of 

Page 225



 a) Layout; 
 b) Scale; 
 c) Appearance; 
 d) Landscaping 
 
 (hereinafter call 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in 

writing before any development is commenced.   
     
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2       (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later. 

                                  
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3       The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                                        
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 4       Notwithstanding the details shown in the application hereby permitted, prior to their installation, 

details (and/or representative samples) of the colour and texture of the facing and roofing 
materials to be used in the construction of the proposed development shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details shall be 
implemented before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and shall thereafter 
be retained as such. 

                                  
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the suitability of the materials to be 

used for the development.   
 
 5       No works or development shall take place until full details (including species, type and size at 

time of planting) of all proposed tree planting and landscaping and the proposed times of 
planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details 
shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those times specified.  If 
within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree 
planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that originally planted 
shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed tree and landscaping works prior to works commencing 
on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the 
loss of existing trees and/or hedges which are of amenity value.   

 
 6         Prior to the commencement of any development hereby granted planning permission and 

before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 
development hereby granted planning permission, site specific details of the specification and 
position of the fencing for the protection of any retained tree/group of trees, a tree constraints 
report and plan in accordance with the recommendations in BS5837:2012, together with a site 
specific arboricultural impact assessment and arboricultural method statement shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall be 

Page 226



carried out as approved and the fencing shall be erected prior to the commencement of any of 
the development hereby permitted and shall be maintained until the development has been 
completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the 
site. 

                                  
           Reason: To protect the trees to be retained on this site from damage before and during the 

course of development. 
                       
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed tree and landscaping works prior to works commencing 
on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the 
loss of existing trees and/or hedges which are of amenity value. 

 
 7       Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted a plan identifying the finished 

floor level of the proposed dwellings and the finished  garden levels in relation to an 
identifiable datum point shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with such agreed 
details. 

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details. 
            
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed levels of the dwellings and associated gardens prior to 
works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on 
site could lead to a potential harmful impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and 
the visual amenities of the surrounding open countryside 

 
 8       Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
           (a) the timetable of the works; 
           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
           (l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
           (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 

of any works 
           The site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for that  

purpose in accordance with the visibility splays shown on the approved plans. 
                                  

Page 227



           Reason: To provide a satisfactory access to the site and to provide adequate visibility from and 
of emerging vehicles.       

           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 
Authority is satisfied of the proposed construction works prior to works commencing on site. 
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to a 
detrimental impact on highway safety.   

 
 9       Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
            
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
10      Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of 
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 

detailed proposals. 
 
11      The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with a 

phasing programme which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason: To ensure the proper development of the site. 
 
12      No part of any approved phase of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: 
           A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level 

for the first ten metres back from its junction with the public highway 
           B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this 

permission laid out 
           C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been 

constructed up to base course level 
           D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the satisfaction of the Local 

Planning Authority 
            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 

site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining 
public highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents 

 
13         The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place 

until the following works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority: 

           A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that 
phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base 
course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service 
crossings completed; 

           B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with 
direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been 
constructed up to and including base course level; 

           C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
           D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 

operational; 
           E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this 

permission has/have been completed; 

Page 228



           F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling 
have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 

           G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
            
           Reason: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 

attracted to the site 
 
14      No more than eighty dwellings shall be occupied off the access from Hoopers Way until the 

road links through to Caddywell Lane and no more than eighty dwellings shall be occupied off 
the access from Caddywell Lane until the road links through to Hoopers Way. 

            
           Reason: To reduce the number of dwellings accessed from one entrance in the interest of the 

safety and free flow of traffic. 
 
15         A waste audit statement shall be submitted as part of the reserved matters application for 

each phase of the development. This statement shall include all information outlined in the 
waste audit template provided in Devon County Council's Waste Management and 
Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved statement. 

                       
           Reason: To minimise the amount of waste produced and promote sustainable methods of 

waste management in accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan and the Waste 
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
16         A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) including a detailed reptile 

translocation plan within the site and updated surveys where required should be submitted 
with the Reserved Matters Application. The structure of the LEMP should be based on the 
conclusion of the Ecological Assessment dated February 2017 and include all objectives, 
actions and responsibilities relative to the Reserved Matters Application area. No development 
within the Reserved Matters Application Area should take place prior to the approval of the 
LEMP by the Council. All construction and post-construction management for the approved 
Reserved Matters Application Area should be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
LEMP. 

                                  
           Reason: To safeguard the ecology of the site. 
 
17         No development shall commence until: 
           a) a detailed survey and evaluation of the public foul sewerage network has taken place (at the 

Owner's expense) to identify improvements necessary to be funded in advance and executed 
to accommodate the discharge of foul sewage from the Development; and 

           b) the Owner has submitted an application to the relevant Sewerage Undertaker for a public 
foul sewer requisition under s98 of the Water Industry Act 1991 (which shall include the 
provision of public sewerage improvement works identified as necessary). 

           No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied or brought into use and there shall be no 
discharge to the public foul sewerage network, unless approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority (as in accordance with the scheme of improvement works identified by the 
Sewerage Undertaker as necessary to accommodate the discharge of foul sewage from the 
Development). 

            
           Reason: To ensure satisfactory foul drainage arrangements for the approved development. 
            
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed foul drainage system  prior to works commencing on site. 
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to a 
inadequate foul drainage provision for the development. 

 

Page 229



18         No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority.'  

              
           The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved 

scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

              
           Reason  
           'To ensure, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(2012) and saved Policy ENV4 of the Torridge Local Plan,  that an appropriate record is made 
of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development. 

           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 
Authority is satisfied of the possible impacts on archaeology prior to works commencing on 
site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the 
loss of artefacts of archaeological value.   

 
19         Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 

construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local 
Planning Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage 
the impacts of construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include:- 

             
           a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
           b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
           c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
           d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
           e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
           f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheel-

washing facilities 
           g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust 

suppression 
           h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust 

and lighting. (Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan 
should demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts)  

           i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
           j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 

provision made for access thereto; 
           k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 

complaints will be addressed 
           The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to 
ensure continuing compliance during the construction of the development. 

            
           Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety.  
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the impacts on the amenities of local residents during the construction 
phase. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to 
harm to the amenities of neighbouring properties.   

 
20         Construction works shall not take place other than between 0700hrs and 1900hrs on 

Mondays to Fridays, Saturdays between 0800hrs and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays. 

            
           Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
21         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a programme of 

percolation tests has been carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design 

Page 230



(2016), and the results approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with 
Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A representative number of tests 
should be conducted to provide adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on 
the locations and depths of the proposed infiltration devices. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is discharged as high up the 

drainage hierarchy as is feasible. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

 
22         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full results of a 

groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period of 12 months, has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with 
Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This monitoring should be 
conducted to provide adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the 
locations and depths of the proposed infiltration devices. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the use of infiltration devices on the site is an appropriate means of 

surface water drainage management. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

 
23         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of 

the proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County 
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. The design of this permanent surface water 
drainage management system will be informed by the programme of approved BRE Digest 
365 Soakaway Design (2016) percolation tests and in accordance with the principles set out in 
the Flood Risk Assessment by Clive Onions Consulting Civil Engineer (Ref. Flood Risk 
Assessment; Rev. V2; dated 16th February 2017) and the Flood Risk Assessment Addendum 
by Clive Onions Consulting Civil Engineer (Flood Risk Assessment Addendum in response to 
LLFA comments; Rev. V1; dated 30th October 2017). 

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is discharged as high up 

the drainage hierarchy as is feasible, and is managed in accordance with the principles of 
sustainable drainage systems. Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage 
Guidance. 

           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 
Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

 
24         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full details of the 

adoption and maintenance arrangements for the proposed permanent surface water drainage 
management system have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the development's permanent surface water drainage management 

systems will remain fully operational throughout the lifetime of the development. 
           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 

Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

 

Page 231



25         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of 
the proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development 
site for the full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. This temporary surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily 
address both the rates and volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the 
construction site. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately 

managed so as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the surrounding 
area. Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 

           This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local Planning 
Authority is satisfied of the proposed surface water drainage system prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of increased flooding within the surrounding area.  

 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

LOCATION PLAN  10.03.2017 
   

2696.07  10.03.2017 
   

AP02  10.03.2017 
   

AP03  10.03.2017 
   

AP04  10.03.2017 
   

AP05  10.03.2017 
   

2696.05  10.03.2017 
   

14075-500-001  10.03.2017 
   

TREE SURVEY  10.03.2017 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) require local planning authorities 
to work positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
 
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
 
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 
 

Page 232



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/1105/2017/OUT 

Registration date: 13 November 2017 

Expiry date:  8 January 2018 

Applicant:  Monkleigh Barton Limited  

Agent:  Progression Architects Ltd 

Case Officer:  Sam Dewar 

Site Address:  Monkleigh Barton Barns,  
Monkleigh,  
Devon, 

Proposal:  Outline application for three dwellings with all 
matters reserved (REVISED INFORMATION) 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 Page 233

Agenda Item 11i



 

Reason for referral: 

 
The application has been referred to Plans Committee by Councillor P Pennington for Committee 
members to visit the site and look to see if any improvement can be made to give more parking and 
improve highway issues with regard to the site.   
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0362/2006/AGR Placement of a secure store NPW 03.04.2006 
   

1/0515/2006/OUT Demolition of existing 
outbuildings plus proposed 
change of use from 
agricultural land to provide for 
new residential development 

REF 01.08.2007 

   

1/1673/2006/AGR Proposed new agricultural 
building (storage/implements 
barn), together with detached 
secure store (implements) 

REFDET 31.08.2006 

   

1/2598/2006/AGR Proposed new agricultural 
building (storage/implements 
barn), together with detached 
secure store (implements) 

PERDET 05.01.2007 

        

1/0279/2009/REM  NPW 27.04.2009 
    

1/0745/2009/FUL Conversion of existing barns 
to one dwelling.  Demolition 
of existing garage and 
replacement with new garage 
and fourth bedroom. 

WDN 02.10.2009 

    

1/0203/2010/FUL Conversion of existing barns 
to one dwelling.  Demolition 
of existing  garage and 
replacement with new garage 
and fourth bedroom. 

PER 30.04.2010 

          

DS/0008/2014 Flapping corrugated iron 
sheets 

CLOSED 27.02.2014 

 

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site is situated on the eastern edge of Monkleigh, a settlement recognised as a village 
within the Council settlement hierarchy. Monkleigh is located on high ground on the western side of 
the River Torridge valley; 5.6 kilometres (3.5 miles) south of Bideford and 6 kilometres (4 miles) west 
of Great Torrington. The village has a fairly concentrated form within the serving road links.  The 
village has a small range of services, including a church, village hall, primary school, public house and 
garage. Public transport services link the village with larger settlements including Holsworthy, 
Bideford and Barnstaple. Employment is based upon local services with the main activities related to 
agriculture and tourism. 
 
The site fronts an unnamed village lane approached from Loxdown Lane, which connects with the 
centre of the village.  The site is currently occupied by two large redundant and partly derelict 

Page 234



agricultural buildings.  Immediately to the north of the site is The Old School House and Monkleigh 
Primary School, to the south is Barton Farm and the Grade I Listed St Georges Church, to the east is 
open farm land and to the west fronting the lane is an overgrown paddock. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The proposal seeks outline approval, with all matters reserved, for the demolition of the existing barns 
and the development of 3 dwellings.  The following documents have been submitted for consideration: 
 
- Site location plan 
- Indicative site layout 
- Arboricultural considerations plan 
- Proposed site in context 
- Indicative ground floor plans 
- Indicative first floor plans 
- Indicative streetscene 
- Ecological appraisal 
- Supporting planning statement 
 
Following the original submission, the following additional or revised documents were submitted: 
 
- Heritage Impact Statement 
- Amended indicative site layout plan 
- Amended proposed site in context  
- Tracking information 
 
The revised site layout plan included further works to provide additional public parking, road widening 
and public open space.  These are discussed further in the main element of this report. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Monkleigh Parish/Town Council:  
 
Following an extraordinary meeting of Monkleigh Parish Council on Tuesday, 6th February attended 
by Monkleigh Parish Councillors and 20 parishioners, many of whom spoke at the meeting, the Parish 
Council has voted unanimously to object to this application.  
 
We would draw your attention to a potential solution put forward by a local landowner who proposed 
creating a new road to join the lower road at the corner of Plumpers, through the adjacent field to the 
east of the church. This new road would join the existing, unadopted road at the top of the proposed 
development, with approximately four acres of land for housing development to assist in the cover 
cost of the new road before adoption by TDC. This solution would address many of the objections 
below and most of the villagers appeared in favour. 
 
As a parish, we are minded to pursue the above option as it addresses the main concern of villagers 
regarding the pinch point at the junction of Loxdown Road. We consider this to be dangerous and no 
other solution can be sought. 
 
Objections are as follows: 
 
1. Further consideration should be given to the increased traffic that additional homes will generate. 
The lack of parking in the village is already cause for concern and bringing in more traffic to an 
already dangerous stretch of road is unthinkable. There have been no reported injuries or fatalities to 
date, however, residents of Loxdown Road reported near-misses and collisions and are concerned 
that additional traffic will add to the danger. 

Page 235



2. There is also concern that, if a fire engine or ambulance needed to access the school or 
surrounding houses on Loxdown Road during busy times, the emergency services would not be able 
to get through. 
 
3. It was felt that the independent adjudication from a previous planning application, overturned on 
appeal 18 years ago, is particularly relevant today and should be taken into account, as follows: 
"The section of Loxdown Road which runs west from the existing access, past houses and towards 
the centre of the village, is approximately 150m long. There is no footway or pavement for most of this 
length and the carriageway itself is narrow. Its restricted width, which varies between about 3.5m and 
4.8m, makes it difficult for 2 vehicles to pass in places. Nevertheless, cars park here and there is 
evidently considerable congestion at the start and end of the school day... 
Conditions here are clearly unsafe and there can be no doubt that the traffic generated by the appeal 
proposals would add to the congestion along this narrow stretch of road and to the dangers for 
pedestrians, particularly unaccompanied school children'  
' the small amenity area that would be provided for the village would encourage more unaccompanied 
youngsters to use this narrow section of Loxdown Road, adding to the risk of vehicular and pedestrian 
conflict here.' 
 
4. It was strongly felt that the loss of the ancient natural hedge, which is a prominent characteristic of 
the village, would not justify the creation of five additional parking spaces and that this would change 
the appearance of the lane and this part of the village. Also, this would cause further congestion at 
busy times by persons fighting for a parking space. 
 
5. Concerns were raised regarding the provision of surface water run-off and the provision for sewage 
for the proposed development in addition to any future development proposals, bearing in mind the 
applicant owns the adjacent field for which you recently turned down an application for development. 
 
6. Outline proposals show the development to be in close proximity to the existing graveyard and 
Church building and we object to houses being built so close to a historic building. We were informed 
by a parishioner that another planning application close by was restricted to the house being a 
minimum of 40 metres from the Church, if this is correct should not the same distance be required for 
this application? 
 
7. Concerns were raised regarding the unadopted lane and the proposed amenity area. It was felt that 
proposals would not add to the village unless a condition for the upkeep of both the road and the area 
are included. We recommend TDC adopt both the road and amenity area as the developer would not 
have any pressure to keep this up and would soon fall into disrepair. 
 
8. The proposals do not include provision for pavements on the lane close to the hedge, thus 
compromising pedestrian safety. 
 
The Parish Council and parishioners felt the developers had not considered the village with this 
application and that further consideration needs to be given to the increased traffic the additional 
homes would create with no change to Loxdown Road. The application further exacerbates the busy 
times when School is starting and finishing. With this in mind, as a Parish, we have found a possible 
long-term solution to improving the access/pinch point of Loxdown Road as per paragraph two of this 
letter. 
 
Finally, should the Planning Committee be inclined to approve this application the Parish Council 
strongly urges them to apply a condition that deliveries to and from the site are made between the 
hours of 10am and 2pm in order to take pressure off School drop off and collection times. In addition, 
we would request that proposed buildings be kept in the character of existing buildings in the village 
and built in parallel to the adjacent property, The School House. Monkleigh Parish Council objects to 
this application mainly due to Highways issues. Access to the proposed development would be 
situated on a lane which is already congested during peak times. This very narrow lane has no 
passing places and parents who drop their children off at the school have a tendency to use residents 
driveways which adds to general frustration. The additional traffic generated by this new development 
would only add to this increasingly dangerous road. The lane is used by farm vehicles and lorries 

Page 236



which already makes it unsafe for the children who walk to school. There is also concern over heavy 
plant being used during construction. The developers have not considered the Village in their 
application especially with the lack of parking in the village which is already a cause for concern. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
 
1st response 
 
The site has in the past housed some agricultural ‘tin’ sheds which have now been partly demolished 
clearing the way for redevelopment. 
 
This site is of interest as it is visually prominent within the landscape being close to the church.  The 
church at Monkleigh is very visible from distant viewpoints such as Torrington Commons and the 
priory at Frithelstock.  The name of the settlement would reinforce the importance of the links between 
Frithelstock and the Church at Monkleigh.  The tithe map indicates development to the south and east 
of the church but the only development to the north at that time were small dwellings running to the 
north of the lane leaving the ridge of the hill behind the church free of development.  To maintain the 
visual prominence of the church in views the rear boundary of the site should be pulled back to the 
former field boundary which runs close to the tree on site.  The remains of the hedge banks remain in 
part as stumps in the field and these are important as part of the historic landscape and should be 
restored.   
 
This would mean the boundary to the proposal would be created by a traditional hedgebank to define 
the development site and contain it in the longer distance views to Monkleigh.  
  
Additionally the design of any houses on site should reflect the local vernacular with straight eaves 
the use of natural slate on the roofs and chimneys.   
 
In addition the height of the dwellings needs to be controlled to avoid any competition in distant views 
with the dominance of the church tower and the retention of the green ridge of land to the north of the 
church which emphasises its important as a spiritual beacon in the wider landscape. 
 
The proposal for redevelopment is not opposed but will need archaeological input as well as careful 
design to ensure the resulting dwelling do not harm the setting of the adjacent listed church. 
Reference is made to section16 of the Planning( Listed Buildings and Consecration Areas) Act 1990 
where it is the duty of the Local Planning Authority to have’ special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting…’ 
 
In addition the setting extends beyond the settlement as the strong ridge of the landscape behind the 
church is important in the local character and distinctiveness of the landscape and as such guidance 
contained in paragraphs 131 – 134 of the NPPF must be evaluated in relation to this proposal. 
 
Below view from Torrington Commons which shows the strong ridge of land with very few vertical 
details and only the church tower forming the focal point on what must have been the original ridge 
way route from Bideford to Torrington.( before the valley Toll road was constructed.) 
In this case there is scope for development but the details of the dwellings and their boundaries will 
need to be designed to be subservient to the church and thus not affect the setting of this listed 
building. 
  
Zoomed in view showing the dominance of the church with the Chantry being the white building in 
front (south) offset by the greenery of the trees and hedges to the north.  This includes the current site 
and shows how the boundary treatment acts as a visual ‘full stop’ to this settlement and as such is 
important to be retained. 
 
2nd response 
 

Page 237



The statement does not add to the comments I made previously.  As this is outline application the 
concern is to secure a good boundary along the original field boundary line and obtain a new devon 
bank with planting. 
 
The title map was interesting as this plot was known as a stack yard…which is a general purpose 
storage area and that is pretty much what it was used as until now. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
 
With regards to the layout of site, the only concern I had was whether turning movements were 
achievable within the site curtilage for the parking area directly in front of the proposed dwellings. 
Following further information submitted by the applicant, I am satisfied that this is an acceptable 
manoeuvre. In either case of the two proposed parking areas, these would remain in private 
ownership and not adopted by the Highway Authority; therefore, provisions will need to be made for 
this to be maintained privately. 
 
Bearing in mind the location of the local school to the site, traffic levels in this particular area are 
largely dependent on the beginning and end of the academic day, I visited the site both during the 
‘school run’ period and a time outside this. On both occasions I noted there was a “road ahead 
closed” at the junction of the access road. However, this actually related to a minor road beyond the 
proposed development area, rather than the road that leads directly site; from previous site visits, I do 
not believe this impacted on overall traffic flows. During the school run, I noted that the area is 
relatively congested. This includes car movements where ‘give and take’ is required to pass, as well 
as pedestrians mixing in what is effectively a shared surface. As a result of the above conditions, 
vehicle movements were slow. 
 
For other periods of the day traffic volumes were observed as being light and traffic speeds were 
within the posted limit and reasonable for the conditions.  
 
I appreciate that the proposed development will increase traffic movements in the area, as well as 
pedestrian movements. It is possible that families with primary school age children will also live in the 
proposed dwellings and need to walk to the local school. However, it is also necessary to take into 
consideration the mitigation measures being offered as part of this application; namely, the public 
parking spaces and footway across the site frontage. In addition, a check of the Collision Database 
has revealed that there are no recorded collisions in the area over the past five year period. 
 
Having taken the above into consideration the above factors, including the increased generation, the 
mitigation works and the present traffic situation, I am satisfied that the resultant highway issues could 
not be considered ‘severe’ and the application offers ‘safe and suitable’ access, as is the test of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
 
1. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on to 
any County Highway 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
2. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 9.00am 

Page 238



to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public 
Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 
frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, 
packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building materials, 
finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with confirmation that no 
construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for loading or unloading 
purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit construction 
staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of any 
work; 
 
3.The turning area, parking spaces and access drives shall be laid out and maintained for those 
purposes in accordance with the drawings to be submitted for approval. 
REASON: To ensure the provision of adequate facilities within the site for the traffic generated by the 
development 
 
Environmental Protection:  
 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team reiterates its comments dated 
20 November 2017 in that the imposition of the Authority's standard contaminated land condition is 
recommended.  
 
South West Water:  
 
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water has no objection. 
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
 
1st response  
 
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, please find my comments shown below: 
This outline application for three dwellings occupies an area of farm barns, which is historically part of 
Barton Farm. The Devon tithe map of 1839 for the Parish of Monkleigh (shown below), shows that the 
site was used a farm yard in 1839. 
 
Proposed site: 430 - Stack Yard – Mowhay (A yard or enclosure containing mows). 
 
Trees 
 
The site has hedgerows to the western and southern boundaries and growing on what would have 
been the historic eastern boundary (as shown above) of the yard is a large spreading mature/over 
mature oak tree. 
 
This oak is protected by Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 158/2006, this application has recognised the 
trees value and it is shown as being retained in the submitted proposal. Because of the trees 
importance a “Strategy of Arboricultural Considerations” has been submitted, this looks at the trees 
relationship to existing features, its impacts on the indicative design, its condition and importantly the 
extent of the trees root protection area (RPA). 
 

Page 239



This document/plan does not seem to have been produced by an Arboriculturalist, but is broadly 
along the lines of BS5837:2012 Tree in relation to design, demolition and construction- 
Recommendations. 
 
This strategy has not surveyed the tree inline with BS5837, and has not given it a retention category. 
However I would assume it to be a category A (good quality) tree for its landscape value (sub 
category 2) and perhaps also the historical sub category 3 due to its historical importance within the 
context of the original site boundaries. 
 
The tree sits on the original eastern boundary of the Stack Yard (as shown in the Tithe plan), and 
probably started life as a hedgerow tree that was regularly coppiced until many decades ago when it 
was left to grow into the tree it is now. This would explain its multi stemmed growth habit, and the 
large trunk around the root buttresses. Further evidence that this was a hedgerow, with a Devon 
bank, can be seen due to the difference in ground height with the yard, and the large surface roots 
running along the line of the old boundary feature. 
 
The trees history and its closeness to the more modern barns probably explains the previous pruning 
wounds and branch loss as noted in the strategy and described as ‘significant damage’. 
The indicative site layout shows three dwellings, two of which would be well within the nominal radius 
(approx.14.5m) of the RPA, which equates to an area of 675 sq m. BS5837 states that the RPA can 
be adjust to take into local conditions that would affect root growth. This is explained in the strategy 
that quotes and shows a diagram 3 from BS5837, BS5837:2012 actually has no such diagram. The 
strategy states that because of the concrete yard roots will not have developed into the proposed site 
and will mainly be within the field to the east, this will allow the dwellings to be constructed without 
damaging roots. 
 
Although I do not completely disagree with this conclusion the tree was growing well before the yard 
was concreted and its roots would have actually been restricted by growing in a hedge on top of a 
Devon bank, and then any roots within the yard may well have been severed when the yard was 
concreted over. I therefore feel the proposed dwelling may fit this close to the tree without damaging 
major roots, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) would need to assess this at reserved 
matters, and an Aboricultural Method Statement (AMS) would need to cover demolition of the barns 
and removal of the concrete yard in a manner that would reduce potential harm to the tree and its root 
system. 
 
The indicative plan also show the south side of the tree canopy reaching one dwelling, and covering a 
large area of two rear gardens. The trees canopy is weighted to the south and there will be scope to 
reduce the crown sympathetically, and again this should be part of the AIA and AMS. 
 
The biggest impact of this tree will be on the outdoor amenity space and the light reaching the rear of 
the dwellings. The strategy shows a shadow prediction, but this seems to not fully cover the shadow 
cast by the morning sun in the east, which will cast shadow over the back of the properties. The rear 
garden of the middle property is shown as being in heavy shade for a large part of the day. Oak trees 
will drop flowers, seeds (acorns), insect excreta, leafs and twigs throughout the year which will litter 
the gardens and block drains and gutters. It is probable that the new residents will wish to significantly 
prune or remove the tree to reduce/remove this nuisance. 
 
This is an important landscape tree, as I have already stated it has been part of the local landscape 
for hundreds of years. The tree acts as a backdrop to the neighbouring church and forms part of the 
mature tree backdrop seen in long distance views from Frithlestock and Torrington from where the 
church and village are clearly seen on the extensive ridgeline that the A388 follows. 
 
Finally the strategy concludes the tree can easily be protected during development by ‘simple 
partitioning of the site’. Using the indicative plan there is not room to erect fully compliant fencing to 
BS5837 as the proposed dwellings are shown immediately adjacent to the already squeezed 
RPA/Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ). 
 
Landscape 

Page 240



 
Monkleigh sits with the Torridge Valley Area of Great Landscape Valley and therefore comes under 
TDC Policy ENV6. This states that development should not detract from the particular qualities and 
characteristics that have lead to the designation. 
 
The site is within the TDC and ND Landscape Character Type; LCT 5A: Inland Elevated Undulating 
Land. 
 
Key characteristics for this LCT applicable to this site: 

- Elevated land cut by a series of tributaries forming folds in the landform. Parts are high and 
remote with far-reaching views to Dartmoor, including summits of over 200 metres. 

- Local vernacular of white-washed buildings with slate or thatch roofs, often with red brick 
detailing. Some buildings of local sandstone with red bricks around window/door frames. 
Square church towers with ornate pinnacles form distinctive local landmarks (e.g. Bradworthy). 

- Farms dispersed throughout the landscape often on exposed ridges, sheltered by groups of 
trees of evergreen shelterbelts. Nucleated villages also occupying prominent ridgeline 
positions, with linear development of white/cream houses and bungalows often spreading 
outwards from the historic core. 

- Landscape’s strongly rural character diluted by the presence of prominent pylon lines, wind 
turbines near Bradworthy, industrial developments outside Holsworthy and busy roads 
including the main A388. 

- Overall high levels of tranquillity with dark night skies. 
- Summary of special qualities: 
- Long views from elevated ridgelines. 
- Patchwork of fields and hedges. 
- Working, rural landscape. 
- Valued Culm grassland and wetland habitats providing texture to the landscape. 
- Quiet, relaxed and tranquil. 
- Forces for change include: 
- Lack of hedgerow management, with sections replaced or gapped up with post-and-wire 

fencing whilst others are intensively flailed (some evidence of new hedgerow tree planting 
observed in the field). 

- Increase in visitor, farm and industrial traffic on the rural road network. 
- Rising house prices and a lack of affordable housing – forcing young people out of the area 

and leading to an ageing farming population. 
- Spread of suburban influences and land uses on the fringes of the main settlements, including 

land put down to ‘hobby’ farming and pony paddocks. 
- Linear spread of housing outside some settlements’ historic cores and infill development 

within, often prominent on ridgelines (e.g. St Giles-on the- Heath). 
- Noise and visual intrusion of main roads dissecting the landscape, including the A388. 
- Individual hedgerow trees (key landscape features) may become more susceptible to damage 

from the increasing frequency and magnitude of storm events. 
- Development pressure (housing, commercial and industrial) in and around the main 

settlements responding to a rise in the resident population. 
 
Overall landscape strategy: 

- To protect the landscape’s important role in agriculture whilst strengthening and expanding 
fragmented areas of semi-natural habitat, the hedge network and woodlands. 

- Open ridgelines and long-ranging views are protected through the careful siting of new 
development, whilst valued cultural features from Bronze Age barrows to linhays stand out as 
recognisable features in the landscape. 

- New development is integrated into its landscape setting with Green Infrastructure links 
provided to enhance sustainable recreational opportunities. 

 
This site sits on the Torridge Valley side of the A388 ridgeline and therefore can be potentially seen in 
far ranging views from the far side of the valley around Greater Torrington. The proposed 
development should be screened due to the presence of the oak tree and other vegetation and the 

Page 241



slightly raised profile of the field to the east. Therefore the impact of this development will actually be 
minimal on the wider landscape character and will not have significant visual impacts. 

 
To ensure there is no impact on the wider landscape it will be important that the boundaries of the 
development are reinforced and improved. The new eastern garden boundary will require a new 
mixed native hedgerow and Devon bank, preferably with standard trees placed along this feature. 
 
The southern boundary is currently a poor out grown hedgerow, this will require new planting, and 
management works, perhaps retaining some of the better standard trees. This would help reduce the 
impact on the views from the church and help integrate the development into this rural environment. 
 
Conclusions 
The landscape impacts of this development should be minimal with the help of well designed 
landscaping. 
 
The impact on and from the tree is more problematic. I feel the indicated layout is too close to the tree 
and will have an impact on the health of the tree, the canopy will need significant pruning on the south 
side to take it away from the proposed dwelling and the change in ground levels will be difficult to 
manage. 
 
More importantly the tree will have a significant impact on the internal and external enjoyment of the 
new properties and the new occupants would soon be looking for further pruning works or the felling 
of the tree. 
 
I therefore object to this application due to the potential impact of the tree, and the impact of any 
development on the health of the tree.  
 
2nd response 
 
The amended plans now show that the three dwellings are all in the northern half of the site, with the 
southern half becoming parking and public amenity space. This means that the dwellings are outside 
the root protection area and the mature oak remains in a larger open space than it now has with the 
barns on the current site. 
 
The tree will still have some influence (shading) over the nearest properties garden, but this will only 
be for a portion of the day. 
 
The proposed car parking area will also not affect the rooting zone of the tree, and there will be no 
issue with tree debris falling on parked cars. 
 
If the area around the tree is to be for public use whose ownership and responsibility will the 
maintenance and health and safety of the area and the tree come under? The tree will require regular 
inspections and remedial works and there could be issues with children climbing the tree and using it 
for swings and tree houses. 
 
Not withstanding this I would have no objections to the development in its current form. At reserved 
matters a site specific Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan will be required, 
along with a detailed landscape specification. 
 
Environmental Protection:  
 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of 
the Authority's standard contaminated land condition.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
 

Page 242



I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. Assessment of the Historic Environment 
Record (HER) and the details submitted by the applicant do not suggest that the scale and situation of 
this development will have any impact upon any known heritage assets. 
 
The Historic Environment Team has no comments to make on this planning application. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  7  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  16 Number of neutral representations: 2 
Number of objection letters:  14  

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
25 objections have been received from interested third parties and their comments are summarised 
as follows.  Please note that in some cases more than one representation has been received: 
  
- Highway safety close to the school 
- On street parking issues 
- Impact on character and appearance of village 
- Removal of hedge detrimental to character and appearance of area 
- Impact of construction vehicles on highway safety 
- Overlooking onto 'The Old School House' 
- Application should condition boundary fencing 
- Any new development should have their own drainage system 
- Impact upon Grade I Listed church 
- Loss of open space 
 

Policy Context: 

 
Torridge District Local Plan:  
 
DVT2 (Development at Rural Settlements); DVT6 (Local Distinctiveness); DVT7 (Building Design); 
DVT18 (Impact of Development on Traffic); DVT19 (Access and Parking); DVT11 (Impact of 
Development on Amenity); DVT24 (Sewerage and Drainage); ENV5 (Countryside Protection and 
Landscape Con); ENV2 (Development affecting Historic Buildings); ENV1 (Conservation Interest); 
ENV10 (Mitigation and Enhancement); HSC13 (Play Facilities in New Housing Devt); NPPF (National 
Planning Policy Framework);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 
Emerging Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF.  

Page 243



 
The Plan is in the later stages of formal plan preparation however it has not yet been tested through 
an Examination in Public by an independent Planning Inspector; a process which will include the 
consideration of unresolved objections. It is therefore considered that, at this point in time when there 
remains an opportunity for amendment to be made to the Local Plan, only limited weight can be 
afforded to any potentially relevant policies of the emerging plan.   
 
The Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 2011, which comply with the NPPF, will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the North Devon 
and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption.  In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the material 
weight applicable to individual Saved Policies will be determined by their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. 
 

Planning Considerations 

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The main issues for consideration are: 
 
- Principle of the development; 
- Visual amenity; 
- Impact upon a Listed Building and archaeology; 
- Impact upon trees; 
- Highway safety; 
- Residential amenity; 
- Ecology; and 
- Flood risk and drainage. 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The application site is located within the village of Monkleigh which is a village on the Council 
settlement hierarchy.  Policy DVT2 of the Local Plan (development at rural settlements) states: 
 

(1) Outside the Local Centres, new development in the rural area should be located in existing 
settlements, where it must be in keeping with the form, character, appearance, and setting of 
the settlement. 
 
(2) At the Villages identified in Schedule B, such development will be limited to that which 
seeks to address local social or economic needs. 
 
(3) At the rural settlements not identified in Schedule B, such development will be limited 
strictly to that which is essential for meeting identified local social or economic needs. 
 
(4) Additional housing in rural settlements will be restricted to a modest scale, provided that it 
is compatible with the past pace of settlement growth and the requirement for development 
restraint, and it must: 
 
a) wherever possible, provide a mix of housing types that addresses the housing need of the 
rural community; and 
 

Page 244



b) either meet the community need for infrastructure as far as possible or provide support to 
local services that otherwise could become unviable. 

 
It is important to note that Monkleigh continues to be recognised as a village in the emerging Local 
Plan where policy ST07 states that development will be enabled in accordance with the local spatial 
strategy to meet local needs and growth aspirations.  The application site is not included within the 
newly proposed development boundary of Monkleigh and Policy MON (Monkleigh Spatial Strategy) 
states that any residential development will be delivered through a single site allocation. 
 
Notwithstanding this, paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development and relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority 
cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  The Council cannot currently 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply however as paragraph 2 of the NPPF advises, planning 
law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan (as a whole), unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Furthermore, this 
does not automatically mean that no weight is applied to existing policies, such as policy DVT2 of the 
existing Local Plan.  It is also important to make the distinction between what is or is not a planning 
policy directly relating to 'housing supply'.  In this instance, policy DVT2 falls into the latter 
circumstance, that not specifically restricting housing supply.  What is clear however is that until the 
emerging local plan is adopted the 'restriction' of development boundaries falls away and sites like the 
application site can continue to be considered for residential development.    
 
The NPPF is an important additional material consideration and seeks to ensure development 
proposals are sustainable.  The NPPF explains how sustainable development has three dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that; "these roles should not be 
undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependent.  Economic growth can secure higher 
social and environmental standards, and well-designed buildings and places can improve the lives of 
people and communities.  Therefore, to achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. The 
planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable solutions."   
 
It is considered that 3 dwellings, with associated infrastructure and mitigation, could be physically 
accommodated within the site and this has been demonstrated within the submitted indicative site 
layout plan. Taking the three dimensions of sustainable development in turn; there would be social 
benefits in the provision of 3 houses which will boost the supply of housing. The proposal would fulfil 
the economic role of sustainable development by the creation of new jobs generated during 
construction and to the local economy from 3 new households. There would also be further 
associated economic benefits in terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus. 
With regards environmental considerations, the application site is entirely brownfield and located 
within a village which has access to some services, facilities and public transport and is located in 
close proximity to existing residential development.  Policy DVT2 remains relevant and states that 
development shall be in keeping with the rural character of the Local Centre. This complies 
specifically with the environmental thread of sustainable development as identified within the NPPF.  
The landscape visual impact is explored in the following sections of this report, however, for the 
purposes of this section, briefly, the visual effect on the village of Monkleigh and the nearby Grade I 
Listed Church would be the main considerations. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets the overarching policy with respect to plan making and decision 
making and the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  With regards decision taking it 
states that "where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole."  Taking into consideration the lack of a 5 year supply, the infancy of the emerging local plan, 
the status of the current local plan, and in light of paragraph 49 of the NPPF, the principle of 
residential development at the application site is considered acceptable subject to an assessment of 
other additional material planning considerations / impacts that must be assessed against the local 

Page 245



and national planning policy before a full planning balance exercise can be undertaken and a 
recommendation made. These are discussed in turn as follows. 
 
VISUAL AMENITY 
 
Policy DVT6 of the Local Plan states that development proposals will be expected to maintain, restore 
or enhance the local vernacular through appropriate layout, design, materials and landscaping with 
regard to (amongst other criteria) the important attributes and special qualities of the area in which it 
is located. Policy DVT7 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted unless it is 
compatible with the context within which it is set and has taken account of the following aspects of 
development form: layout, landscaping, density, range of uses, height, massing, and appearance. 
Policy DVT1 of the Local Plan states that development in the Local Centres, development shall be in 
keeping with their rural character.   
 
The NPPF attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and states that 
developments should respond to local character and history and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings and materials while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation.  
 
Monkleigh lies outside any designated landscape area and there is no Conservation Area status 
covering the built up area, although the centre of the village around the junction of the A388 does 
contain a number of buildings of historical and architectural interest. The Grade I listed Church of St 
George lies on the south east edge of the village. There is also higher grade agricultural land (Grade 
II) to the north and west of the village. 
 
Although the majority of 'matters' are reserved for later consideration the broad landscape visual 
impact of the proposed development must still be assessed. The application site falls within a wider 
Landscape Character Type (LCT) '5A: LCA (2010) - Inland Elevated Undulating Land' in the Joint 
Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon & Torridge Districts. Here the LCT is 
characterised by long views from elevated ridgelines; patchwork of fields and hedges; working rural 
landscape; valued Culm grassland and wetland habitats providing texture to the landscape; and quiet 
relaxed and tranquil.   
 
As noted by the Council Landscape officer, the application site sits on the Torridge Valley side of the 
A388 ridgeline and therefore can be potentially seen in far ranging views from the far side of the 
valley around Greater Torrington.  The officer comments further that; "the proposed development 
would be screened due to the presence of the oak tree and other vegetation and the slightly raised 
profile of the field to the east." Therefore, the impact of this development will be minimal on the wider 
landscape character and will not have significant visual impacts. 
 
Conditions can be used to ensure that any future Reserved Matters application provides boundary 
detail to ensure that the boundaries of the development are reinforced and improved and help 
assimilate the development within the landscape and its immediate setting.   
 
Comments from third parties are noted however all matters have been reserved for later consideration 
including that of scale and appearance so the proposed development, in replacing the existing 
redundant barns, have the potential to improve the character and appearance of the area.  As such, 
on balance, the proposal would comply with the aspirations of policies DVT1, DVT6 and DVT7 of the 
Local Plan and the relevant design policies in the NPPF. 
 
IMPACT UPON THE SETTING OF A LISTED BUILDING AND ARCHAEOLOGY 
 
Policy ENV5 of the Local Plan states that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the 
natural and historic character, natural beauty, and amenity of the Torridge landscape on the basis of 
local landscape character, historical and cultural associations, and the landscape priorities defined in 
Schedule E. 
 
The application site is located approximately 70m to a designated heritage asset, that being St 
Georges Church, a Grade I Listed building. Policy ENV2 of the Local Plan states that development 

Page 246



proposals, including works, that affect a Listed Building or its setting will be determined having regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building, its setting, or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest that it possesses.   
 
Paragraphs 132 to 134 of the NPPF gives detailed guidance when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset.  The more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be.  Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or 
destruction of the heritage asset or, in the case of this application, development within its setting.  
This is echoed through emerging plan policy ST15 (conserving heritage assets). 
 
Comments have been received from third parties regarding the potential impact of the development 
on the Grade I Listed Church.  Although all matters are reserved this is still an important consideration 
of the principle of the development in this location and the potential impacts upon the Listed asset.   
 
On the first round of consultation the Council Conservation officer was consulted and provided some 
important context regarding the importance of the church and the distant viewpoints in which it is 
visible.  To maintain the visual prominence of the church it was suggested that the rear boundary of 
the site should be pulled back to the former field boundary which runs close to the tree on site.  It was 
also suggested that the hedge banks stumps in the field remain as they are important as part of the 
historic landscape and should be restored.  A number of other comments were raised and due to the 
proximity of the church the applicant was requested to provide a Heritage Statement to fully assess 
the development against relevant policies to ensure that there will be no harm to the church and its 
setting.  It was commented that the development is outside of the curtilage of the Listed Building. It is 
separated by a road leading to farm buildings and that the proposed development "will result in the 
demolition of existing poor-quality buildings that detract from the character of the area to be replaced 
by dwellings with public open space in the part of the site closest to the heritage asset."  In conclusion 
it was considered that the proposed development will therefore preserve and improve the character 
and setting of the heritage asset.   
 
Following the receipt of the Heritage Statement, the Council Conservation officer was re-consulted 
and stated that the comments raised in their original response were still relevant to the proposal and 
any subsequent finalised design.  A number of comments were raised with regards potential design 
considerations and the potential need for an archaeology assessment.  Conditions can be used as 
well as an informative to append response to allow consideration under any subsequent reserved 
matters application which will then focus on the detailed design proposals and finalised layout.   
 
It is considered that a residential proposal can be accommodated on the site without harming the 
setting of the Grade I listed building.  Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that "where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum 
viable use."  In this case, the redevelopment of the site for residential purposes will bring the site back 
into use and enhance the visual amenity of the location that is host to redundant farm buildings.  The 
provision of rural housing stock will provide further public benefit.   
 
Furthermore, on consultation with the DCC Historic Environment Team it was stated that an 
assessment of the Historic Environment Record and the details submitted by the applicant do not 
suggest that the scale and situation of this development will have any impact upon any known 
heritage assets. 
 
The proposal would therefore be acceptable in terms of Policies ENV2, DVT6 DVT7 and ENV5 of the 
Local Plan and would be appropriate under guidance as expressed in paragraphs 132, 133 and 134 
of the NPPF. 
 
IMPACT UPON TREES 
 
Policies DVT6 and DVT7 of the Local Plan state that development proposals will be expected to have 
regard to the important attributes and special qualities of the area in which it is located and will not be 
permitted unless it is compatible with the context within which it is set.  Policy ENV5 of the Local Plan 

Page 247



states that development will be expected to conserve or enhance the natural and historic character, 
natural beauty, and amenity of the Torridge landscape on the basis of local landscape character. 
 
The application site has hedgerows to the western and southern boundaries and growing on what 
would have been the historic eastern boundary of the yard is a large spreading mature/over mature 
oak tree.  This oak is protected by Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 158/2006, this application has 
recognised the trees value and it is shown as being retained in the submitted proposal.  
 
A "Strategy of Arboricultural Considerations" has been submitted and the Council Tree officer 
consulted.  Although all matters have been reserved there were concerns that the indicative layout 
appeared to show three dwellings, two of which would be well within the nominal radius 
(approx.14.5m) of the Root Protection Zone (RPA), which equates to an area of 675 sq m.   
 
Although in Outline form there was concern that the site may be unable to accommodate a residential 
development of three houses without the potential harm to the tree and its root system. 
 
There were also concerns about shading of external amenity areas which could over time lead to the 
pressure of the tree being felled.  Subsequently the Applicant provided a revised indicative plan which 
shows that the three dwellings are in the northern half of the site, with the southern half becoming 
parking and public amenity space. This means that the dwellings are outside the root protection area 
and the mature oak remains in a larger open space than it now has with the barns on the current site. 
The tree will still have some influence (shading) over the nearest properties garden, but this will only 
be for a portion of the day. 
 
As such, in outline form, and subject to an appropriately worded informative the proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policies DVT6, DVT7 and ENV5 of the Local Plan and the 
guidance contained within the NPPF.   
 
HIGHWAY SAFETY 
 
Policy DVT18 of the Local Plan states that all development must take into account its impact on the 
highway network in terms of traffic generated, highway safety, access, servicing, and the need to 
reduce travel and to encourage alternatives to the private car, incorporating appropriate facilities on-
site or off-site where necessary. Policy DVT19 of the Local Plan states that development should 
provide appropriate access, servicing and an amount of vehicle parking suited to its individual 
situation.   
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
There have been a number of objections received from interested third parties regarding the existing 
highway safety issues adjacent to the site and the impact that the proposed development will have 
upon this.  Normally on consultation with DCC highways standing advice would be received.  
However, in light of the interest shown by third parties a more detailed response was sought.   
 
The main concern DCC Highways had was whether turning movements were achievable within the 
site curtilage for the parking area directly in front of the proposed dwellings. Following further 
information submitted by the applicant (tracking detail) they were satisfied that this is an acceptable 
manoeuvre. The applicant has suggested in a revised indicative plan that a small parking area could 
be provided to accommodate the needs for both prospective residents and some parents/guardians 
during the 'school run'.  The application is in Outline form with 'layout' reserved and furthermore DCC 
Highways comment that: "the parking areas these would remain in private ownership and not adopted 
by the Highway Authority; therefore, provisions will need to be made for this to be maintained 
privately."  This would have to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement to ensure that the 
parking area remains maintained in perpetuity.  Had concerns or even objections been received from 
DCC Highways this may have been insisted however this is not the case and it would not be in the 
public interest to pursue such an arrangement for something that may be sporadically used, if at all.  
Even with the provision of a Section 106 the area could become a focus for anti-social behaviour and 

Page 248



would have the potential to become an 'eye-sore' to the detriment of the character and appearance of 
the area.   
 
A DCC Highways officer visited the site both during the 'school run' period and a time outside this and 
commented as follows:  
 
"On both occasions I noted there was a "road ahead closed" at the junction of the access road. 
However, this actually related to a minor road beyond the proposed development area, rather than the 
road that leads directly site; from previous site visits, I do not believe this impacted on overall traffic 
flows. During the school run, I noted that the area is relatively congested. This includes car 
movements where 'give and take' is required to pass, as well as pedestrians mixing in what is 
effectively a shared surface. As a result of the above conditions, vehicle movements were slow. 
 
For other periods of the day traffic volumes were observed as being light and traffic speeds were 
within the posted limit and reasonable for the conditions. I appreciate that the proposed development 
will increase traffic movements in the area, as well as pedestrian movements. It is possible that 
families with primary school age children will also live in the proposed dwellings and need to walk to 
the local school. However, it is also necessary to take into consideration the mitigation measures 
being offered as part of this application; namely, the public parking spaces and footway across the 
site frontage. In addition, a check of the Collision Database has revealed that there are no recorded 
collisions in the area over the past five year period. Having taken the above into consideration the 
above factors, including the increased generation, the mitigation works and the present traffic 
situation, I am satisfied that the resultant highway issues could not be considered 'severe' and the 
application offers 'safe and suitable' access, as is the test of the NPPF." 
 
As such it is considered that a residential development of three dwellings on the site would have a 
negligible cumulative impact upon both existing and future highway users and would therefore be 
acceptable and in accordance with policies DVT18 and DVT19 of the Local Plan, paragraph 32 of the 
NPPF and the guidance contained within Manual for Streets. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
Policy DVT11 of the Local Plan requires development to secure or maintain amenity appropriate to 
the locality, with special regard to the likely impact on neighbours, neighbouring uses and future 
occupiers/visitors to the site.  
 
The NPPF promotes both good design and the promotion of healthy communities within sections 7 
and 8. This includes ensuring that "access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and 
recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well being of communities."  Local 
Plan Policies DVT9 and HSC13 currently provide guidance as to the level of open space to be 
provided in new housing development. 
 
Layout and appearance are matters reserved for later consideration. The indicative plan shows a 
density which is considered a good use of the site and complies with the supporting text to Policy 
HSC3 of the Local Plan. There would therefore be sufficient space within the site to accommodate 3 
dwellings without being a detriment to the residential amenity of existing and prospective residents. 
The indicative site layout could provide properties with satisfactory internal space to comply with the 
National Space Standards and this would be assessed further within any subsequent reserved 
matters application.   
 
Revised plans were received during the application process and included the potential for the scheme 
to incorporate some public open space to the rear of the application site.  The application is in Outline 
form and further detail would be required in any subsequent Reserved Matters application.  
Furthermore, a Section 106 agreement would be needed to ensure the open space was maintained in 
perpetuity.  Whilst the approach is welcomed it is considered unnecessary for the size of the 
proposed development and no third parties have made any reference to the need for the open space.  
As such it is considered that it would not be in the public interest to pursue such an inclusion.  It does 

Page 249



however demonstrate how the Applicant has tried to work with surrounding third parties in providing 
planning betterment to the area.   
 
It is considered that the proposal complies with Policy DVT9, DVT11 and HSC13 of the Local Plan 
and national guidance with regards residential amenity.   
 
ECOLOGY 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the Torridge District Local Plan through Policies ENV1 and ENV10, which require 
development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats. 
 
A preliminary ecological appraisal was carried out on the application site on the 24th August 2017 by 
North Devon Ecology, the findings of which are summarised as follows: 
 

- There are no statutory or non-statutory designated sites in the near vicinity, and there are no 
priority habitats recorded on or adjacent to the site; 

- The site has negligible potential to support protected species due to a lack of suitable habitats, 
and there are no impacts predicted to any protected species; and 

- There are potential impacts to nesting birds should the formation of new access points and 
site clearance take place during the nesting season. 

 
A number of recommendations have been included in the ecology report and a condition will ensure 
that these are followed. 
 
As such, in light of the findings of the ecology report and the subsequent recommendations for 
mitigation and enhancement as well as Natural England's standing advice on protected species, no 
further survey work or mitigation strategies are considered to be necessary. The proposal is 
considered to comply with Policies ENV1 and ENV10 of the Local Plan. 
 
CONTAMINATION 
 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF states that to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land 
instability, planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its 
location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural environment or 
general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse effects 
from pollution, should be taken into account. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability 
issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 
 
Whilst a contamination assessment was not undertaken this is not uncommon for sites of historical 
agricultural use.  For the avoidance of doubt however a standard three phase contaminated land 
condition will be recommended and this was echoed on consultation with the Council Environmental 
Protection.  As such the proposed development can be made safe for a residential development and 
therefore complies with paragraph 120 of the NPPF. 
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 
 
Policy DVT24 states that development will be permissible in unsewered areas where it is to be 
provided with adequate means of foul and surface water drainage and where there will be no 
unacceptable risk of off-site flooding or increased flood risk; or to the quantity and quality of potable 
groundwater sources or private water supplies. In areas served by mains sewers, planning permission 
for the use of septic tanks or cesspools will not be granted.   
 

Page 250



Guidance for building within areas at risk of flooding is contained largely in the NPPG and sits behind 
the policy information contained within paragraph 100 of the NPPF. 
 
A flood risk assessment (FRA) has not been submitted however this is not uncommon for small 
Outline planning applications like this that are located within flood zone 1 (least likely of flooding).  
South West Water were consulted as part of the application and have no objection.  Conditions can 
be used to request full details of foul and surface water drainage to be provided.   
 
Subject to suitably worded conditions, the proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy 
DVT24 of the Local Plan and paragraph 100 of the NPPF and the guidance within the NPPG. 
 
CONCLUSION  
 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must be taken into account in the 
preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The need to "boost significantly the supply of housing" (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) is paramount, 
regardless whether a Council can or cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. It is 
considered that 3 dwellings, with associated infrastructure and mitigation, could be physically 
accommodated within the site and this has been demonstrated within the submitted indicative site 
layout plan. Taking the three dimensions of sustainable development in turn; there would be social 
benefits in the provision of 3 houses which will boost the supply of housing. The proposal would fulfil 
the economic role of sustainable development by the creation of new jobs generated during 
construction and to the local economy from 3 new households. There would also be further 
associated economic benefits in terms of additional Council tax revenues and the New Homes bonus. 
With regards environmental considerations, the application site is entirely brownfield and located 
within a village which has access to some services, facilities and public transport and is located in 
close proximity to existing residential development.  All development will lead to an element of harm 
to the environment however due to its location this can be minimised with a suitable layout that 
includes ecological mitigation, landscape enhancement and drainage mitigation and enhancement as 
explained in this report.   
 
Paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the Government's view of what 
sustainable development in England means in practice for the planning system. The harm, as 
identified, fails to significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Local Plan and the NPPF as a whole and having considered all the planning issues, on 
balance, a recommendation for approval is therefore made. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         Approval of the details of (delete matters approved at this stage) 
  

Page 251



 a) layout, 
 b) scale, 
 c) appearance, 
 d) access, 
 e) landscaping  
  
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
                                  
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

                                  
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                  
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 4         No works or development shall take place above foundation level until full details (including 

species, type and size at time of planting) of all proposed tree planting and landscaping and 
the proposed times of planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those 
times specified.  If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree, that 
tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or 
becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
 5         No works or development shall take place above foundation level until full details of all 

proposed boundary treatment have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
 6         Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
           (a) the timetable of the works; 
           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

Page 252



           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
           (l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
           (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 

of any work; 
                                  
           Reason: To provide safe traffic movements and protect all highway users 
 
 7         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway 
                       
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
 8         The turning area, parking spaces and access drives shall be laid out and maintained for those 

purposes in accordance with teh drawings to be submitted for approval. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate facilities within the site for the traffic generated 

by the development. 
 
 9         The proposed development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations and 

mitigation methods outlined in the submitted Preliminary Ecology Appraisal prepared by North 
Devon Ecology on 24th August 2017. 

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in a harmful impact on 

protected species. 
 
10         If unexpected contamination, which has not been previously identified, is found at any time 

when carrying out the approved development all work must be ceased and the part of the site 
affected by the unexpected contamination along with the nature of the contamination be 
immediately reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. In addition to any assessment 
already provided with the planning application, an investigation and risk assessment to assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site and relating to the affected area , 
whether or not it originates on the site, should be then be undertaken by competent persons, 
and then a written report submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

                                  
           The investigation and risk assessment must include: 
                                  
           (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
                                  
           (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
                                  
           - human health, 
           - property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 

service lines and pipes, 
           - adjoining land, 
           - groundwaters and surface waters, 

Page 253



           - ecological systems, 
           - archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 
                                  
           (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
                                  
           This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
                                  
           Review by the Local Planning Authority of the site investigation and risk assessment will 

confirm whether there is a need to undertake remediation measures. If required a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and to the natural and 
historical environment must be prepared by competent persons, and be approved in writing by 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme must then be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the re-commencement of any development on the site. 

                                  
           The remediation scheme must include: 
                                  
           -  all works to be undertaken 
           -  proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria 
           -  timetable of works and site management procedures. 
                                  
           The scheme must ensure that following the remediation works the site will not qualify as 

contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report 
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Where an approved remediation scheme 
includes a requirement for a monitoring and maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over time, a report setting out monitoring and 
maintenance requirements must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when 
the remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of 
the monitoring and maintenance produced, submitted to and approved by  the Local Planning 
Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
11        No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a foul and surface 

water management plan is submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  

                                  
           Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is managed in accordance with 

the principles of sustainable drainage systems and suitable foul water discharge. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

            

PAL.02 REV. A  03.11.2017 
                  

 

Informatives 

 

Page 254



 
01. The Applicants attention is brought to the content of the Council Landscape Officer 

consultation response and in particular the request for an Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
(AIA) and an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) to be submitted as part of any Reserved 
Matters application. 

 

 Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) require local planning authorities 
to work positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
  
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
  
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 255



 
Committee Report – 10th May 2018 

 
 
              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0053/2018/LBC 

Registration date: 10 January 2018 

Expiry date:  7 March 2018 

Applicant:  North Devon Museum Trust  

Agent:  Mr Peter Christie 

Case Officer:  Sarah Chappell 

Site Address:  North Devon Maritime Museum,  
Odun House,  
Odun Road, 
Appledore, 
Bideford,   
Devon 

Proposal:  Infilling a Tuscan porch with glass panels 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 256

Agenda Item 11j



 

Reason for referral: 

 

The application has been called-in by Cllr Pennington  
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/0281/1977  
NOTICE BOARD ODUN 
HOUSE, ODUN ROAD 
APPLEDORE, NORTHAM 

PER 21.04.1977 

   

1/0796/1978 RECONSTRUCTION OF 
PORCH CANOPY ODUN 
HOUSE, ODUN ROAD, 
APPLEDORE 

PER 01.08.1978 

   

1/2535/1989 RESTORE RAILINGS TO 
FRONT GARDEN 

PER 14.02.1990 

     

LB/0716/2016 Draught lobby, repaving and 
lowering of rear courtyard 

XPE 03.11.2016 

   

LB/0795/2016 Proposed works to listed 
building 

XPE 20.01.2017 

   

1/0084/2017/FUL 8 metre flagpole in front of 
existing property 

PER 30.03.2017 

   

1/0085/2017/LBC 8m flagpole in front of 
existing property 

WDN 28.03.2017 

   

1/0800/2017/LBC Infilling a Tuscan porch with 
glass panels 

WDN 13.12.2017 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
The Site 
 
The site  comprises of one a number of double fronted Gentlemens' residences which are grade II 
listed.  The street is  sited within the conservation area designated for Appledore.  The site is on the 
higher land on Odun road which runs parallel with the Quay but halfway up Richmond Road running 
with the contour of the land which gives views over the estuary and these dwellings were allegedly 
constructed for Ship owners.  Odun house is and imposing a 3 Storey structure set back from the 
road within a walled forecourt.   
 
The Proposal 
 
The scheme proposed seeks listed building consent for a glazed porch/vestibule structure to be 
installed within the existing porch structure.  The proposal is to have a glass box which sits adjoining 
the building  and projects forward from the building by 1 metre  and encloses the front door and step.  
The structure ends behind and sits between the columns which support the existing porch structure 
leaving a 20 cm space between the box and the columns. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
It was resolved to comment that Northam Town Council were happier with the previous proposal. 
 

Page 257



Conservation Officer:  
Infilling of Tuscan Porch with glass panels. Odun House, Appledore 
This proposal has been formally submitted after pre application discussions.   
My comments from November 2016 were as follows: 
 
The storm porch is something that as Conservation Officer, I have real reservations about.  This was 
expressed to the members of the committee that I met on site and advised if they wished to make an 
application then Torridge would consider it but the proposal has potential to harm the appearance of 
the building and the setting of this elegant street. 
 
The consideration will need to detail how any porch would be fitted and evaluate the harm caused by 
fixing glazed panels to the existing pillars.  The details of the panels themselves.  The only reason it 
may be worth applying for this is that a glazed undercroft has been approved at Torrington but this 
element of the refurbishment has not been carried out.  I have assumed that this is because there are 
cost and technical implications of such a proposal and in the undercroft situation the method of 
concealing the fixings will be marginally easier. 
 
The vision for the porch would be that the structure would be entirely transparent so that aluminium 
frames around the door would achieve the aim of leaving the porch as the most visually dominant 
feature. 
 
I consider that some construction details would be helpful and that a brochure from the company or at 
least some images of their other schemes would be helpful. 
 
The follow up from the agent at the time conveyed that the trustees had taken on board the 
complexities of glazing the porch. 
 
The application now presented following the withdrawal of application 1/0800/2018  proposes what is 
effectively , a glass box within the porch area.  The box  of 1.6 metres wide will be  installed between 
the columns which are 1.8 metres apart so that the glass structure sits between the columns when 
viewed from the front..  however  the glass box will project 1.05 m  from the front of the building and 
top behind the column . This means the front of the glass structure and the glass door  will be 
screened from the side by the column itself.  The height of the box is shown as 3 metres which 
appears to join the underside of the ceiling of the porch roof. 
 
There are no details of the method of fixing the panels and none of the hardware.  The concerns 
remain of how the hinges and locks will affect the structure and its visual appearance.   
 
The location is a light and exposed location on the front of the building where there are no other 
projections of this style  on the frontages within  this run of buildings  along the street and this would 
add to the concern that this overtly modern solution to draft proofing would be a overly modern feature 
which does not blend with the character of the area. The use of safety glass and fixings would mean 
the resulting structure would not be as open as the drawing would suggest.   
 
The concern remains that this porch contributes to the architectural interest of the building by being 
open and of its time.  The modern intervention is at odds with the predominant unchanged character 
of these Merchant's Houses sited along Odun Road with unbroken views down to the estuary below. 
The proposal is considered contrary to paragraph 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings  and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in that the proposal does not preserve' the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.' 
 
The proposal is considered to cause less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage 
asset under guidance in paragraph 134 of the NPPF but this visual harm is not considered to be 
outweighed by the public  benefit as there are other solutions to improving the energy performance of 
this building which have less visual harm on  the listed building and the wider  street scene which is 
sited within the Article 4 conservation area designated for Appledore. 
 

Page 258



In this case I oppose the proposal to enclose this front entrance and re-iterate my previous advice that  
creation of an internal  vestibule would be more appropriate and equally effective at providing draft 
proofing the interior of the building. 
  

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  3  Number of letters of support:  1 
Number of representations received:  1 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 

Policy Context: 

 
Draft North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Status: 
 
The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan Development Plan Document (DPD) ‘the Plan’ was formally 
submitted, in accordance with Part 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to the 
Secretary of State on the 10th June 2016 for independent examination. This followed formal 
‘publication’, in accordance with regulation 19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) that was achieved on the 26th June 2014. Under the 
provisions of paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), decision-takers may 
give weight to relevant policies in an emerging plan once formal ‘publication’ has occurred (from the 
day of publication). The NPPF goes on to note in paragraph 216 that the weight that may be afforded 
to such relevant policies is however dependent upon: the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
the extent of unresolved objections to the relevant policies; and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF. 
 
The Plan is in the advanced stages of formal preparation, with hearing sessions taking place in 
November/ December 2016 and January 2018. Consultation concluded on further proposed Main 
Modifications in April 2018 and the Council now awaiting receipt of the Inspector’s Report on the 
Examination of the Plan. It is therefore considered appropriate, in accordance with paragraph 216 of 
the NPPF, to apply weight to the policies of emerging Plan, with limited, moderated or significant 
weight applied to individual policies of the emerging Plan; based on the extent to which they have 
been subject to change as part of the examination process and taking account of the proposed main 
modifications the Local Plan (Examination documents: SUB8 – Main Modifications (May 2016) and 
MMD01 – Further Main Modifications (July 2017)).  
 
In line with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF the Saved Policies of the Torridge District Local Plan 1997 – 
2011, will continue to form part of the Development Plan for Torridge until formally replaced by the 
North Devon and Torridge Joint Local Plan on its adoption, with the weight to be afforded to the 
individual Saved Policies dependent upon their consistency with the NPPF.  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations are: 
 

- The impact on the listed building  
- Ecology considerations. 

 
The impact on the listed building 
 
The  Council as Local Planning Authority has a duty to consider the impact of the proposal under 
section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 which requires the 
Council to have 'special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.' 
 
The proposal introduces a structure constructed out of modern material in an attempt to create an 
invisible external porch area which would protect the front door from drafts.  The volunteers would like 

Page 259



to keep the front door open during the museum opening times but there is no inner door to protect 
them from the wind and with the rear door  sited in line with the front door this creates a wind tunnel 
effect for the volunteers in the reception area.   
 
The sole consideration in relation to the application is as set out above in that the visual impact of the 
structure and its impact physically on the building.  In this case the philosophy of the scheme is 
understood but the practicalities of providing a structure of this type raises issues with the physical 
works necessary to construct the glass box.  The comments of the conservation officer are 
reproduced earlier in the report and as a result there are reservations that this scheme can be carried 
out without harming the appearance of the building and the wider views of the building on Odun Road 
which form its setting. 
 
The lack of information as to how the structure will be fixed together and to the building as well as the 
method of securing the door and if the porch will need locks and bolts have not be specified.  The 
solution to improving the thermal performance of the building is not a traditional solution and in this 
case is considered to harm the traditional character and appearance of the building and would be a 
visually intrusive feature in this section of the street which comprises a group of listed buildings along 
the north side of Odun Road from Bude House.  The list description states: 
 
'Odun Road is an attractive early residential road above the town, open on one side and taking 
advantage of the fine view' 
 
In this case the proposal is considered to cause harm to the significance of this heritage asset.  The 
level of harm is considered to be less than substantial and so under guidance as expressed in 
paragraph 134 of the NPPF the harm must be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  
There is an alternative solution to create a vestibule and in this case the proposal is considered to 
visually intrude into the public domain with no public benefits of the proposal in this case.  The 
proposal should be resisted for the reasons above. 
 
Ecology considerations 
 
The local planning authority also has a duty under Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006 to have regard to biodiversity in exercising its functions. This duty 
includes the requirements to have regard to protected species. 
 
In this case the proposals are contained within the existing built footprint  of the building and will not 
affect the potential or existing habitat of protected species.  As such Officers are satisfied that the 
provisions of the NERC Act have been observed. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposal  is considered to form an overtly modern and alien feature in the street scene 
adversely affecting the appearance of the Heritage asset, Odun House. The proposed glass 
structure is considered to affect the setting of the adjoining listed properties along Odun Road 
and the character of the conservation area within which the proposal is sited (Odun Road).   

 
2. The proposal is considered to be contrary to section 16 of the Planning (Listed Building and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in that it does not preserve the building or its setting and 
visually disrupts the unaltered exterior and special architectural  interest of the front elevation 
in terms of its elegance and simplicity .  The proposal is also contrary to paragraph 134 of the 

Page 260



NPPF in that the harm to the visual appearance of the building is not outweighed by any public 
benefit. 

 
 
 
 

Page 261



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 16 February 2018 and 27 April 2018 

 

List of Applications 
 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

  PERMITTED   

 
     
1/0135/2018/
TCA 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Fell - 1x Willow - Biskey How, 
Kingscott, Torrington. 

Mrs Carey CATO 
20.03.2018 

 
1/0244/2018/
TCA 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

One Sycamore to be felled - 2 
Castle Cottages, Buckland Brewer, 
Bideford. 

Mr Christopher 
Layton 

CATO 
13.04.2018 

     
     
     
1/0175/2018/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Agricultural building - Land Adjacent 
Beaford House, Beaford, Devon. 

Mr Steven 
Squire 

PD 22.03.2018 

 
     
 
1/0111/2016/
OUTM 

Mr 
David 
Cooper 

Construction of up to 61 dwellings 
together with associated parking, 
roads, sewers, children's play area 
and access (resubmission of 
1/1162/2013/OUTM) - Land East 
And West Of Manteo Way, East The 
Water, Devon. 

Mr K Pyne PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0310/2017/
SEC106 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Removal of informative 2: 
adherence to S106 of planning 
permission  1/0804/2008. The 
definition of 'zero carbon' is unsafe 
and Section1 of the S106 obligation 
cannot be discharged.  Lift 
obligation to certify dwelling is 'zero 
carbon'. - Footprints, Derriton, 
Holsworthy. 

Mrs A 
MacKenzie-
Payne 

PER 
21.02.2018 

 
1/0346/2017/
OUTM 

Sam 
Dewar 

Outline application with some 
matters reserved (all bar access) for 
the development of up to 70 
dwellings (Additional Highways 
Information) - Kingsley Plastics Ltd, 
Western Barn Road, Winkleigh. 

Kingsley 
Plastics Ltd 

PER 
10.04.2018 

Page 262

Agenda Item 12



 
1/0455/2017/
FULM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion of former care home 
into 9 apartments and 5 dwellings, 
including associated works and 
partial demolition of extensions - 
Fairlea Residential Home, South 
Lea, Northam. 

Barton Grange 
Properties 

PER 
22.02.2018 

 
1/0625/2017/
SEC106 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Deed of variation application to 
change the mix of affordable 
housing under planning reference 
1/0251/2013/FULM - Land At 
Buckleigh Road, Buckleigh Road, 
Westward Ho!. 

Wainhomes 
(South West) 
Holdings Ltd 

PER 
05.04.2018 

 
1/0766/2017/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Retrospective application for an 
agricultural worker's dwelling 
(Affecting a Public Right of Way) - 
Land To The North West Of 
Halgewills, Halwill, Devon. 

Mr Michael 
Jordan 

PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/0954/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Retrospective application for 
retention of temporary agricultural 
workers dwelling - Oakfields, 
Ashwater, Devon. 

Mr Charlie 
Currah 

PER 
14.03.2018 

 
1/1045/2017/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed works to listed building to 
include enlargement of loft hatch in 
kitchen, loft hatch in west wing 
bedroom, secondary glazing in 
bathroom, loft access on landing 
and blocking serving hatch between 
kitchen and living room - 28 
Bridgeland Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr William 
Isaac 

PER 
01.03.2018 

 
1/1046/2017/
FUL 

Sam 
Dewar 

Amendment to previous approval 
1/0120/2016/FUL to create revised 
car parking layout - 76 Atlantic Way, 
Westward Ho!, Devon. 

Clearsky 
Developments 
Ltd 

PER 
23.02.2018 

 
1/1101/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Agricultural building - Glen View, 
Chilsworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr Machen PER 
28.02.2018 

 
1/1113/2017/
FULM 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Variation of Condition 14 of 
application 1/1250/2011/FULM to 
reduce the western visibiity splay 
from 215m to 170m to allow re-
instatement of original boundary 
hedge and fence - Land At 
Dunsland Cross, Brandis Corner, 
Devon. 

Mr Tony Marsh PER 
16.02.2018 

 
1/1110/2017/
ADV 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Retrospective application for 
external signage scheme including 
part-illuminated signage - Kings 
Arms, 7 The Quay, Bideford. 

Mr Brierley PER 
29.03.2018 

 

Page 263



1/1111/2017/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Regularisation of external signage 
scheme including part-illuminated 
signage. - Kings Arms, 7 The Quay, 
Bideford. 

EI Group PER 
29.03.2018 

 
1/1134/2017/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Installation of extraction/ventilation 
flue through rear roof to replace 
wall-mounted extraction/ventilation 
unit - Rock Pool Cafe, 2 Golf Links 
Road, Westward Ho!. 

Mr Graham 
Persson 

PER 
06.03.2018 

 
1/1136/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Retrospective application to develop 
existing stable block into 3 further 
guest rooms with disabled access, 
wetroom/shower and erection of a 
conservatory - Barton Gate Farm, 
Pancrasweek, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Francis 

PER 
26.02.2018 

 
1/1154/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Erection of an agricultural building - 
Badges, Clawton, Holsworthy. 

Mr A Coleing PER 
21.02.2018 

 
1/1170/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Single storey side extension - 
Whitcott House, Bucks Cross, 
Bideford. 

Mr David 
Morgan 

PER 
05.03.2018 

 
1/1175/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Parterre, including retrospective 
permission for existing steps and a 
wall to the east of the house. - 
Ebberly House, Ebberly, Winkleigh. 

Ebberly Farm 
Partnership 

PER 
26.02.2018 

 
1/1191/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Proposed refurbishment of existing 
agricultural workshop and change of 
use to business use for equine 
storage, together with proposed new 
workshop/equine laundry for 
business use - Barn Park Farm, 
Staddon Road, Holsworthy. 

Mrs C. Barker PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/1201/2017/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey extension - Chasty 
Barn, Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr Bryan and 
Polly Sentance 

PER 
06.04.2018 

 
1/1203/2017/
REMM 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Application for approval of reserved 
matters pursuant to 
1/0313/2015/OUTM (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for 
100 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure) - Land At Atlantic 
Park, Clovelly Road, Bideford. 

Persimmon 
Homes South 
West 

PER 
02.03.2018 

 
1/1204/2017/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed extension to existing 
dwelling - West View Farm, Staddon 
Road, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs D 
West 

PER 
06.04.2018 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



1/1207/2017/
OUT 

James 
Clement
s 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for three dwellings - 
Affecting a Public Right of Way - 
Land At Lower Way Farm, 
Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mr Jon Schiller PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/1208/2017/
OUT 

James 
Clement
s 

Outline application for two dwellings 
with all matters reserved - Land At 
Lowerway Farm, Bradworthy, 
Devon. 

Mr Jon Schiller PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/1209/2017/
OUT 

James 
Clement
s 

Outline application for one dwelling 
with all matters reserved - Land At 
Lowerway Farm, Bradworthy, 
Devon. 

Mr Jon Schiller PER 
16.03.2018 

 
     
 
1/1223/2017/
FUL 

Sam 
Dewar 

Demolition of existing petrol filling 
station and redevelopment to 
provide a new petrol filling station 
facility with forecourt shop/sales 
building, customer car parking and 
associated services - Bude Road 
Garage, Bude Road, Holsworthy. 

BP Oil (UK) Ltd PER 
28.02.2018 

 
1/1225/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of detached dwelling - The 
Old Cottage, Henderbarrow Corner, 
Halwill Junction. 

Mr Ashton PER 
06.03.2018 

 
1/1231/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Erection of agricultural livestock 
building as extension to building 
permitted under 1/0661/2015/FUL, 
to form cattle collecting yard, milking 
parlour, bulk tank housing and office 
- Great Dinworthy, Bradworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr A. Pomeroy PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/1242/2017/
LBC 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Refurbishment of storage room to 
convert ground floor to ancillary 
accommodation. - 3 The Square, 
Merton, Okehampton. 

Mr Leigh 
Winsbury 

PER 
20.02.2018 

 
1/1247/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Proposed extension and alterations 
to farm house to include new 
sewage treatment plant - Leworthy 
Barton, Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Sealey 

PER 
29.03.2018 

 
1/1258/2017/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Conversion of agricultural building to 
office workshop and associated 
works - Kingsford Farm, Woodacott 
Cross, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Priest PER 
09.03.2018 

 
1/0039/2017/
NMAT 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Non-material amendment to 
materials following planning 
permission 1/0166/2017/FUL - 
Ebberdown, Frithelstock, Torrington. 

Mrs Melanie 
Lewis 

PER 
20.02.2018 

 

Page 265



1/1267/2017/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolish former garage / workshop 
walls and replace with an extension 
to dwelling - 8 Tuckers Park, 
Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr Stephen 
Townsend 

PER 
06.03.2018 

 
1/1268/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of garage - 1 Newton 
Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Mark Smale PER 
12.03.2018 

 
1/1272/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to form new entrance 
lobby, accessible WC and internal 
alterations - Catholic Church Of The 
Holy Family, Gas Lane, Torrington. 

Father R Candy PER 
02.03.2018 

 
1/1273/2017/
COU 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Change of Use from retail food 
outlet (A1) to hot food takeaway 
(A5) (new information regarding the 
extractor fan specification) - Bargain 
Brands (Devon) Ltd, 12 South 
Street, Torrington. 

Miss N 
Skridulyte 

PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/1274/2017/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Conversion and extension of 
attached outbuilding to form sun 
lounge/breakfast room with 
alterations to existing porch ( 
Affecting a public right of way) - 
Nutton Farm, East Putford, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs G & C 
Harding 

PER 
09.03.2018 

 
1/1275/2017/
ADV 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Advertisement consent for 
replacement fascia sign (Amended 
info: New Fascia Sign Design) - 
Bargain Brands (Devon) Ltd, 12 
South Street, Torrington. 

Miss N 
Skridulyte 

PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/1278/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Change of use from restaurant to 
residential. - Percy's Country Hotel 
& Restaurant, Coombeshead Park 
Farm, Virginstow. 

Mr & Mrs Tony 
And Tina 
Bricknell-Webb 

PER 
08.03.2018 

 
1/1279/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Demolition of existing garage and 
erection of new dwelling - Land 
Adjacent Lilden, Glentorr Road, 
Bideford. 

Mr Ewan Butler PER 
13.03.2018 

 
1/1280/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Agricultural building to form roof 
over existing dung heap - 
Windsmoor Farm, Highampton, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr L. Cleave PER 
22.02.2018 

 
1/1281/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Three car parking spaces - 75 
Barton Tors, East The Water, 
Devon. 

Mr John Harris PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/1282/2017/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed loft extension including 
new roof lights. - Phoenix Cottage , 
16 Market Street, Appledore. 

Mr & Mrs 
Owens 

PER 
01.03.2018 

 
 

Page 266



1/1288/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Demolition of two stable blocks and 
erection of multipurpose agricultural 
building - Land At Aller Cottage, 
Dolton, Devon. 

Dr Phil Nadin PER 
12.03.2018 

 
1/0011/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed extension - Packwood, 
Halwill Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr N Cleaver PER 
14.03.2018 

 
1/0012/2018/
DIS 

Kristian 
Evely 

Discharge of condition 3 of planning 
permission 1/1238/2017/FUL - Two 
Rivers, Torridge Road, Appledore. 

Mr R Brend PER 
17.04.2018 

 
1/0014/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of outbuilding to form 
ancillary accommodation and new 
roof - 4 Newport Terrace, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr Golding PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0015/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Loft conversion and extension - 47 
Pathfield, Torrington, Devon. 

Mrs Eileen Sing PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0017/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

2 No. replacement AC units and 
minor shop front decoration works. - 
The Co-operative Food, 22 South 
Street, Torrington. 

The Co-
Operative 
FoodThe Co-
Operative Food 

PER 
16.04.2018 

 
1/0019/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey extension - 26 
Southfields, Bridgerule, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Saunders 

PER 
11.04.2018 

 
1/0020/2018/
CPE 

Angelo 
Massos 

Application for a Certificate of 
Lawfulness in respect of non-
compliance with Condition 5 of 
permission 1/1986/1978 - Silverweir, 
High Bickington, Umberleigh. 

Ms Susan 
Middleton 

PER 
09.04.2018 

 
1/0021/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Enclosing of open aspect of the 
existing conservatory and the re-
covering of conservatory roof with 
glazing - Stable Barn, Langtree, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Mcvinnie 

PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0024/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Installation of dormer window in 
bathroom and replacement of Velux 
roof light in bedroom with dormer 
window. - 36 Coldharbour, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr S. Sanders PER 
26.04.2018 

 
1/0026/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Retrospective installation and re-
siting of a biomass boiler flue 
through existing roof - Belle Vue, 
Beaford, Winkleigh. 

Mr Murphy PER 
05.03.2018 

 
1/0029/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use of barn from 
agricultural to equestrian - Land At 
Powlers Piece, Powlers Piece, 
Putford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Blackmore 

PER 
11.04.2018 

 
     
 

Page 267



1/0034/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Extension to rear of bungalow, 
incorporating conversion of roof 
space to provide first floor 
accommodation & installation of 
Juliet Balcony - Littlecroft, Avon 
Lane, Westward Ho!. 

Mr & Mrs 
Graham 
Holmes 

PER 
07.03.2018 

 
1/0040/2018/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Part retrospective application for 
installation of additional Velux 
rooflight to east roof elevation and 
approval of surface water drainage 
details. - 14 Moorfield Road, St 
Giles On The Heath, Launceston. 

Mr A Colwill PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0041/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Ground floor extension and roof 
alterations - 11 Alpha Place, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs B 
Hughes 

PER 
07.03.2018 

 
1/0042/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Two storey extension to rear - 8 
Lever Close, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr James 
Bellamy 

PER 
20.03.2018 

 
1/0046/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Part-retrospective alterations and 
change of use from shop, office 
accommodation, flat and maisonette 
to shop, self-contained flat and 
maisonette - Flat 1, 20 Market 
Street, Appledore. 

Robeda 
Construction 

PER 
12.03.2018 

 
1/0048/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Creation of passing place - Land At 
Grid Reference 248122 113241, 
Peters Marland, Devon. 

Devon County 
Council 

PER 
14.03.2018 

 
1/0054/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Demolition of existing cafe and 
erection of new cafe - Beach 
Kitchen, Westbourne Terrace, 
Westward Ho!. 

Mr Birch PER 
12.03.2018 

 
     
 
1/0058/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

New double garage - Higher 
Kingdon Barn, Gammaton, Bideford. 

Mr Nigel 
Blowfield 

PER 
22.03.2018 

 
1/0060/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

New dwelling - Land At The Oaks, 
Clawton, Devon. 

 PER 
12.04.2018 

 
1/0063/2018/
CPE 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Certificate of existing lawful 
development for occupation of 
building as a single dwelling - 
Riverview Bungalow, Weare Giffard, 
Bideford. 

Mr Geoffrey 
Goult 

PER 
09.04.2018 

 
1/0004/2018/
NMAT 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Non material amendment to 
application 1/0117/2017/FUL - 61 
Irsha Street, Appledore, Bideford. 

Mrs David And 
Louise Mason 

PER 
20.02.2018 

 
 
 
 

Page 268



1/0064/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of 9 holiday cabins with 
external decking, access bridge, 
extension to existing internal access 
road and associated works - Land 
At Orchard Lakes, Winkleigh, 
Devon. 

Kingsley Cabins 
Ltd 

PER 
13.03.2018 

 
1/0065/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use of first floor of 
building from Class B2 to C3(a) for 
ancillary residential use as a one-
bedroom flat with connecting door to 
workshop with additional separate 
entrance and a Juliette Balcony. - 
The Old Dairy, Golf Links Road, 
Westward Ho!. 

Mr Andrew 
Hughes 

PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0067/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Construction of a polytunnel for 
agricultural use - Hayne Cottage, 
Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr Charles 
Swingler 

PER 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0069/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion of reservoir building to 
dwelling (Revised Plans) - Black 
Torrington Reservoir, Black 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Tony 
& Jane 
Beresford 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0076/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Increase in roof height with 
provision of dormer windows and 
construction of roof balcony - 24 
Staddon Road, Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs Ryder PER 
14.03.2018 

 
1/0078/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Demolition of existing extension and 
replacement with single storey 
extension - Knockworthy House, 
Huntshaw, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Jessop & 
Cooke 

PER 
20.03.2018 

 
1/0082/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

First Floor Extension - Foxdown 
Manor, Parkham, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Dolton 

PER 
07.03.2018 

 
     
 
1/0084/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Extension of existing building to 
create covered yard over livestock 
gathering area - West Vognacott, 
Chilsworthy, Holsworthy. 

Luxton And 
Matthews 

PER 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0090/2018/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Extension to existing factory - Smart 
Manufacturing Ltd, Clovelly Road 
Industrial Estate, Bideford. 

Mr Martin 
Murch 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0091/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

First floor extension to expand 
domestic accommodation (re-
submission of 1/1119/2017/FUL). - 9 
Hatchmoor Estate, Torrington, 
Devon. 

Mr & Ms Glover 
& Braund 

PER 
15.03.2018 

 
 
 
 

Page 269



1/0095/2018/
FULM 

Sam 
Dewar 

Redevelopment of existing 
prefabricated flats into 31 affordable 
new dwellings (Resubmission of 
1/0689/2016/FULM) - Land At 
Newton Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Westward 
Housing Group 
Ltd 

PER 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0096/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Side and rear extension - 3 Apple 
Orchard, Taddiport, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs A 
Ralph 

PER 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0098/2018/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Part retrospective application for 
decking in rear garden and retention 
of summer house - 11 Town Park, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs 
Ashleigh Carroll 

PER 
13.03.2018 

 
1/0103/2018/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Part retrospective change of use of 
ground and part first floor from 
drinking establishment (A4) to shop 
(A1) and associated works. - D Js 
Sports Bar, 9 & 10 Cooper Street, 
Bideford. 

Braddicks 
Leisure Ltd 

PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/0110/2018/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement chimney - The Old 
Post House, St Giles In The Wood, 
Torrington. 

Mr Steve 
James 

PER 
10.04.2018 

 
1/0111/2018/
CPL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Certificate of Lawfulness for single 
storey conservatory to rear - 8 
Taylor Crescent, Westward Ho!, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Gibbins 

PER 
20.03.2018 

 
1/0114/2018/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Retrospective application for the 
continued use of Weekstone 
Cottage as holiday accommodation 
- Weekstone Cottage, Holsworthy, 
Devon. 

Mrs Elaine 
Wishart 

PER 
29.03.2018 

 
1/0116/2018/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed extension - Barland, 
Peters Marland, Torrington. 

Mr Robert 
Beasley 

PER 
03.04.2018 

 
1/0119/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of a porch to the front of 
the dwelling (Resubmission of 
1/0402/2017/FUL) - 99 Chanters 
Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs Jackie 
Boswell 

PER 
22.03.2018 

 
1/0125/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

First floor rear extension, including 
replacement and enlargement of 
dormer and works to the front to 
include two roof lights and the 
replacement of the front door and 
windows - 5 Odun Terrace, 
Richmond Road, Appledore. 

Advanced 
Pallet Systems 
Ltd 

PER 
22.03.2018 

 
1/0126/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey rear extension and 
detached double garage - 
Crossways, Sanctuary Road, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Jeffrey 
Salter 

PER 
13.04.2018 

 
     

Page 270



 
1/0005/2018/
NMAT 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Non material amendment to 
application 1/0001/2017/FUL - 6 
Fairlea Crescent, Northam, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Jodie 
Martin 

PER 
16.03.2018 

 
1/0129/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey extension - The 
Cottage Woolaton, Peters Marland, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs John 
Pittman 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
 
1/0130/2018/
LBC 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey extension - The 
Cottage, Peters Marland, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs John 
Pittman 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0132/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of a two bedroom chalet 
bungalow with associated parking. - 
Land At Newlands, School Lane, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs W 
Stapleton 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0133/2018/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Rear single storey bedroom 
extension - resubmission of 
1/1034/2017/FUL with enlarged 
extension. - 3 Pebble Close, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr Shapland PER 
19.03.2018 

 
     
1/0141/2018/
OUT 

Sam 
Dewar 

Outline Proposal for the Demolition 
of an Existing Redundant 
Residential Building and the 
Erection of Two Dwellings 
(Resubmission of 
1/0820/2017/OUT) - Hills Services, 
The Garage, Stibb Cross. 

Mr & Mrs Hearn PER 
10.04.2018 

 
1/0144/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to existing converted 
Barn - Little Homeleigh, Buckland 
Filleigh, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Kirk PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0151/2018/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Replacement of existing structure 
with conservatory - 4 Tuckers Park, 
Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mrs R Lillicrop PER 
17.04.2018 

 
1/0154/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to agricultural bulding and 
covered yard area - East Croft, 
Halwill, Beaworthy. 

NC & RM 
Skinner 

PER 
11.04.2018 

 
1/0157/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Alterations to front of church to 
provide a disabled access ramp - 
Northam Methodist Church, Cross 
Street, Northam. 

Trustees Of 
Northam 
Methodist 
Church 

PER 
06.04.2018 

 
1/0155/2018/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Works to listed building including 
internal alterations and minor 
repairs to roof - 22 The Strand, 
Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Daniel 
Bulmer 

PER 
10.04.2018 

 
     

Page 271



 
1/0159/2018/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Creation of bedroom and bathroom 
in loft space including installation of 
three velux windows - 1 The 
Stables, St Giles In The Wood, 
Torrington. 

Mr Alan Ryder PER 
10.04.2018 

     
1/0169/2018/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Retrospective change of use of 
agricultural land to garden and 
erection of single storey shed - The 
Beeches, Horns Cross, Bideford. 

Anita Priest PER 
12.04.2018 

 
1/0173/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of one dwelling - Orchard 
House, East Street, Sheepwash. 

Mr & Mrs Jones PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0178/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of agricultural building. - 
Ward Farm, Torrington, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs 
Adams 

PER 
23.04.2018 

 
1/0181/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Extension to rear shower room and 
installation of window to rear - 15 
Irsha Street, Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr Nigel Kidson PER 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0182/2018/
LBC 

Angelo 
Massos 

Extension to rear shower room and 
installation of window to rear - 15 
Irsha Street, Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr Nigel Kidson PER 
17.04.2018 

 
1/0186/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Replacement balcony - Yardarm, 
72A Bay View Road, Northam. 

Mr A Burke And 
Ms Z Svensson 

PER 
18.04.2018 

 
1/0187/2018/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Two storey extension - Cookworthy 
Buddle, Halwill, Beaworthy. 

Mr Sam White PER 
26.04.2018 

 
1/0188/2018/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey rear extension, 
internal alterations and raised 
decking. - 4 Capern Road, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr & Mrs 
Renshaw 

PER 
18.04.2018 

 
1/0007/2018/
NMAT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Non-material amendment to 
Planning Approval 1/0518/2012/FUL 
- alterations to cladding and 
fenestration - Lime Court, South 
Street, Sheepwash. 

Redrock Homes 
SW LTD 

PER 
19.03.2018 

 
1/0201/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Installation of 4 posts to support 
festoon and festive lighting 
(Affecting a public right of way) - 
Golf Links Road, Westward Ho!, 
Bideford. 

Northam Town 
Council 

PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0202/2018/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Proposed re-siting of school 
substation, with associated works 
including the laying of underground 
HV connection cables and 
earthwires (Affecting a Public Right 
of Way) - Land At Route 39 
Academy, Bucks Cross, Devon. 

Route 39 
Academy Trust 
And Wilmott 
Dixon 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
 

Page 272



1/0203/2018/
OUT 

James 
Clement
s 

Application for Outline Planning 
Permission with all matters reserved 
except access, for 3 new dwellings - 
Mount Pleasant, Parkham, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs Brook PER 
23.04.2018 

 
1/0205/2018/
OUT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved except access for one 
dwelling - Land Adjacent The Old 
Rectory, Weare Giffard, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Boundy 

PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0210/2018/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

New internal openings - 18 The 
Quay , Bideford, Devon. 

Seldons LLP PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0212/2018/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

New shopfront, new postbox, 
relocate existing ATM, red dotted 
vinyl applied to inside of glazing and 
new ramp  
 
 - Santander, 16 The Quay, 
Bideford. 

Santander UK PER 
23.04.2018 

 
1/0213/2018/
ADV 

Kristian 
Evely 

1x new 46" digital merchandising TV 
within a metal shroud - Santander, 
16 The Quay, Bideford. 

Santander UK PER 
24.04.2018 

 
     
1/0225/2018/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use from 2 no. garages 
to form 2no. ground floor 
apartments - The Store, 2A Pitt 
Lane, Bideford. 

Mr Martyn 
Branch 

PER 
26.04.2018 

 
1/0230/2018/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of existing conservatory 
and replacement with single storey 
rear extension - 25 Oaklands, 
Bideford39, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Slee PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0231/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

New garage door to front elevation 
and cladding to side elevation - 
Caer Bryn, Hele Lane, 
Frithelstockstone. 

Mr Christopher 
Bosher 

PER 
26.04.2018 

 
1/0009/2018/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non Material Amendment to 
1/1194/2017/FUL - Alterations to 
proposed porch - 11 Saint Teresas 
Court, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr David 
Bonfield 

PER 
06.04.2018 

 
     
1/0008/2018/
NMAT 

Helen 
Smith 

Non-material amendment to 
application 1/1319/2015/FUL to 
amend parking provision and 
location of bin store - Land At 
Balleroy Close, Shebbear, Devon. 

Corloe 
Construction 
Ltd 

PER 
20.04.2018 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 273



1/0010/2018/
NMAT 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Non material amendment to 
planning application 
1/0930/2016/FUL (change of roof 
materials) - 16 Bude Street, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Ms Leila 
Farmer 

PER 
25.04.2018 

 
1/0081/2018/
AGR 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Renovation of agricultural storage 
barn - Staddon Farm, Lewdown, 
Okehampton. 

Mr Ian Hodgetts PERDET 
16.02.2018 

 
1/0108/2018/
AGMB 

Helen 
Smith 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to No1 
dwelling under Class Q - Land At 
Orchard Farm, Monkleigh, Bideford. 

Mr And Mrs 
Martin 

PERDET 
04.04.2018 

 
 
1/0145/2018/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed storage building for 
foresty purposes - Land At Brimford 
Farm, Brimford, Bradworthy. 

Mr N Hayes PERDET 
27.02.2018 

 
1/0147/2018/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Agricultural storage building for 
machinery and animal feed - Berry 
Barns, Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr John 
Whitten 

PERDET 
13.03.2018 

 
1/0160/2018/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Agricultural Building - Rooks Farm, 
Yarnscombe, Barnstaple. 

Mr Darren 
Woollacott 

PERDET 
14.03.2018 
 

 
 

1/0087/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Reduce crown of oak by 1m all over 
– College View, 5 Hatchmoor Road, 
Torrington. 

Mrs Karen 
Owen 

TPOA 
09.03.2018 

 
1/0115/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Prune 3x branches on TPO birch – 
Land Adjacent To The Green 
Dragon, Fore Street, Langtree. 

 TPOA 
09.03.2018 

 
1/0170/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Crown lift copper beach to 4 metres 
– Goodamoor, Grange Road, 
Bideford. 

Stewart TPOA 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0199/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Crown lift, re-shape and reduction 
by 20% T16 – Cherry Tree – 
College House, Belvoir Road, 
Bideford. 

Mr N Hughes-
Whiffing 

TPOA 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0236/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Sycamore (T1)- fell due to 
significant decay at base of tree. – 
28 Laurel Avenue, Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs Shaddick TPOA 
24.04.2018 

 
 
 
 
 Page 274



1/0237/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Oak (T1)- reduce overhang over 
buildings (as marked on attached 
image 001), 3 lower limbs back to 
growth points at 3ft, higher 
secondary stem  reduced back to 
main union due. – Andy’s Auto 
Services, Units 12 To 13, Little 
Court. 

Mr Andrew 
Short 

TPOA 
24.04.2018 

 
1/0253/2018/
TRE 

Mr 
Bruce 
Macfarla
ne 

Prune 17 sycamore trees by 
maximum of 2m – Land Between 
Stanwell Hill & Fosketh Hill, Fosketh 
Hill, Westward Ho!. 

Mr Ken 
Clutterbuck 

TPOA 
24.04.2018 

 
REFUSED 

 
1/0329/2017/
FUL 

Lewis 
Andrews 

Retrospective application for the 
temporary siting of a mobile home to 
support a growing agricultural 
enterprise. Resubmission of 
1/1321/2015/FUL & 
1/0940/2016/FUL – Hobbit House 
Mobile Home, Hartland, Bideford. 

Mrs Lesley 
Gillam 

REF 
28.02.2018 

 
1/1092/2017/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Rear single raised platform 
incorporating first floor balcony 
(Revised Plan – Balcony) – 9 
Greenacre Close, Northam, 
Bideford. 

Mr Rodney 
Daniel 

REF 
22.02.2018 

 
1/1148/2017/
OUT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Residential development 2 dwellings 
with all matters reserved except 
access (Resubmission of 
1/0497/2017/OUT) – Additional 
information 
(landscaping/elevations/sections) – 
Land Opposite St Mary’s Close, 
Taddiport, Devon. 

Mr M Rogers REF 
07.03.2018 

 
1/1249/2017/
SEC106 

James 
Clement
s 

Deed of variation to remove Local 
Needs element of Section 106 
agreement – Lower Orchard, 
Cookbury, Holsworthy. 

Mr Brian 
Russell 

REF 
28.02.2018 

 
1/1257/2017/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Refurbishment & alterations of 
existing holiday cottages including 
creation of 5 additional units. – 
Northway Holiday Cottages, Horns 
Cross, Devon. 

HPB Assurance 
Limited 

REF 
09.03.2018 

 
1/0036/2018/
CPE 

Angelo 
Massos 

Use of Unit 2 as a single 
dwellinghouse without compliance 
with holiday accommodation only 
condition – Winscott Barton, Fairy 
Cross, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs Mark 
and Tracey 
Shawyer 

REF 
06.04.2018 

 
 

Page 275



1/0050/2018/
FUL 

James 
Clement
s 

Proposed erection of 6 dwellings 
(including 2 – 2 bed bungalows for 
affordable rent) (Affecting a public 
right of way) – Land Adjacent To 
Welcombe Village Hall, Welcombe, 
EX39 6HF. 

Mr D Cornish REF 
12.03.2018 

 
1/0100/2018/
CPE 

Angelo 
Massos 

Certificate of lawfulness to show 
implementation of Rosie’s barn from 
holiday to full residential use was 
commenced following variation of 
condition application 
1/0111/2013/FUL – Rosies Barn, 
Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr George 
Carlin 

REF 
06.04.2018 

 
 
1/0138/2018/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey kitchen extension – 
Ladford Mill, Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Williams 

REF 
13.04.2018 

 
1/0222/2018/
CPE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Lawful development certificate for 
continued use of garage as 
residential property – Hole Station, 
Highampton, Beaworthy. 

Mr Gregory 
Brown 

REF 
25.04.2018 

 

NOT PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT  
 
1/0158/2018/
AGMB 

Kristian 
Evely 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural buildings to No3 
dwellings under Class Q. - Berry 
Farm, Petrockstowe, Okehampton. 

Mr & Mrs Jones NPD 
27.03.2018 

 
1/0266/2018/
AGR 

Helen 
Smith 

Agricultural building to store hay and 
straw - Otterburn Farm, Halwill, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr D Stevenson NPD 
20.04.2018 

 
1/0255/2018/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of an open fronted 
agricultural barn - Barn At Winter 
Garlands , Highampton, Beaworthy. 

Ms Anna 
Williams 

NPD 
06.04.2018 

 
1/0256/2018/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of an agricultural barn - 
Barn At Winter Garlands , 
Highampton, Beaworthy. 

Ms Anna 
Williams 

NPD 
06.04.2018 

 
1/0333/2018/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the erection of a 
shed for the storage of forestry 
tools, machinery, equipment and 
materials - Land At Deptford Lane 
Pond , High Bickington, Devon. 

Mr Daniel 
Davies 

NPD 
25.04.2018 

 

Page 276


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Appeal Decisions Summary
	8a - APPEAL DECISION [1-0614-2017-OUTM] - LAND AT TORRIDGE ROAD
	8b - APPEAL DECISION [1-0032-2017-AGMB] - GYPSY BRAKE
	8c - APPEAL DECISION [1-0067-2017-FUL] - THE WHITE HOUSE
	8d - APPEAL DECISION [1-1133-2016-SEC106] - MANTRE
	8e - APPEAL DECISION [1-0547-2017-FUL] - 3 SILFORD COTTAGES

	10 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	11a Planning Application 1/0256/2017/FULM
	11b Planning Application 1/1246/2017/FUL
	11bi - APPENDIX 1 [1-1246-2017-FUL]
	11bii - APPENDIX 2 [1-1246-2017-FUL]

	11c Planning Application 1/0153/2018/FUL
	11ci - APPENDIX [1-0153-2018-FUL] (1)

	11d Planning Application 1/0221/2018/FUL
	11e Planning Application 1/1289/2017/FUL
	11f Planning Application 1/1165/2017/OUTM
	11g Planning Application 1/0702/2017/OUT
	11h Planning Application 1/0246/2017/OUTM
	11i Planning Application 1/1105/2017/OUT
	11j Planning Application 1/0053/2018/LBC
	12 Planning Decisions

